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CHAIRMAN'S FOREWORD 

This report represents a significant milestone m the short history of the Public 
Ac.counts C.Ommittee. 

It is the first occasion that a report of this C.Ommittee has been made to the 
Parliament based on evidence adduced in public hearings. It is also the first occasion 
where proceedings of the C.Ommittee and the evidence taken has attracted other than 
cursory interest from the public and media 

At all stages the performance of the C.Ommittee has been subject to intense public 
scrutiny and although on occasion some criticism was probably warranted, in general, 
the C.Ommittee worked harmoniously in pursuit of common objectives. That harmony 
is reflected in the presentation of this unanimous report. 

The inquiry into Dalway was the most complex and detailed yet undertaken by the 
C.Ommittee. The search for detail and truth was somewhat complicated by the nature 
of the C.Ommittee and the fact that, notwithstanding some attempts at orchestration, 
Members largely followed their own agendas. That does not imply criticism of the 
Members but rather the system under which they operate. 

It is my considered and strong view that when in future embarking upon an inquiry of 
this complexity the C.Ommittee appoint legal counsel to ~ist it in its dehberations and 
examination of witn~. That in itself would have expedited the inquiry and 
subsequent deliberations and obviated the need to critically re-examine all aspects of 
the inquiry prior to the completion of the report. 

It is not the role of this C.Ommittee to evaluate Government policy. It is however the 
role of this C.Ommitteee to critically evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness with 
which policy is implemented. Whilst that evaluation process may involve cost, both in 
terms of time and money, it is important that the mistakes of the past are not 
repeated; mistakes can be avoided by putting into plare appropriate procedures or 
guidelines. No organisation however is perfect. Mistakes will be made. 

I extend my thanks to C.Ommittee Members for their efforts in this Inquiry and the 
positive approach taken by them. I also publicly record the C.Ommittees' thanks to the 
C.Ommittee's Secretary, Sue Lee, and her ~istant Judy Herring, for their ~istance in 
the conduct of the Inquiry and preparation of this report. 

I recommend this report to the A$embly. 
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CHAYI'ER 1 - THE NORTHERN TERRITORY PUBLIC 
ACCOUNTSCOMMIITEE 

1.1 ROLE OF PARLIAMENTARY COMMITrEES 

Tu general terms the principal role of parliamentary committees is to perform those 
functions which Parliament is not, due to time and other constraints, well suited to 
perform. For instance, parliamentary committees are often utilise.d as fact-finding 
bodies which are called upon to examine witn~ and evidence in complex matters 
and to report their findings and conclusions to Parliament. This is the function this 
C.Ommittee has sought to perform in the present Inquiry. 

Of necessity, the procedures governing the activities of committees are flexible and 
open to variation. 

This flexibility enables committees to sit as regularly or irregularly as required, 
organise public and private hearings, convene its hearings at the most advantageous 
locations and to carry out visits and inspections as required. 

C.Ommittees also act as a oonduit for information to Parliament. 

1.2 STATUS OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITIEE 

The Northern Territory Public Aax>unts C.Ommittee was established by temporary 
Standing Order 21A of the Legislative Assembly on 16 August 1986. 

The C.Ommittee's status was altered, by way of a motion of the Chief Minister on 
23 August 1988, from a ~ional C.Ommittee on a trial basis to a Standing C.Ommittee 
of the Parliament. 

As a C.Ommittee of the Legislative Assembly, its authority is derived from the Northern 
Territory (Self Government) Act (of the C.Ommonwealth) and the Legislative Assembly 
(Powers and Privileges) Act (of the Northern Territory). 

The C.Ommittee is comprised of five (5) members, presently three (3) Government and 
two (2) Opposition members. 

The duties of the C.Ommittee under Standing Orders are: 

(a) to examine the accounts of the receipts and expenditure of the Northern 
Territory and each statement and report transmitted to the Legislative 
Assembly by the Auditor-General, pursuant to the Financial Administration 
and Audit Act; 
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(b) 

(c) 

to report to the Legislative Assembly with such oomments as it thinks fit, any 
items or matters in or arising in oonnection with those accounts, statements or 
reports, or in connection with the receipt or disbursement of the moneys to 
which they relate, to which the C:Ommittee is of the opinion that the attention 
of Parliament should be drawn; 

to report to the Legislative Assembly any alteration which the C:Ommittee 
thinks desirable in the form of the public accounts or in the method of 
keeping them or in the method of receipt, control, ~e or payment of public 
moneys; 

( d) to inquire into and report to the Legislative Assembly on any question in 
connection with the public accounts of the Territory -

(i) which is referred to it by a resolution of the Assembly; or 

(ii) which is referred to it by the Administrator or a Minister; and 

( e) to examine . the reports of the Auditor-General laid before the Legislative 
Assembly with the accounts of a Public Authority of the Northern Territory 
(including any documents annexed or appended to those reports). 
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CHAPTER 2 - IDSTORICAL BACKGROUND LEADING TO 
INQUIRY 

In 1971 Mr John Pastrikos and a number of his family established a joinery business in 
Darwin. The joinery used the traditional jobbing production method which prod~red 
high quality joinery products but was very labour intensive. 

Between December 1988 and May 1989 a new factory was built at Winnellie, Darwin, 
by the Pastrikos Family which revolved around oomputer aided design and 
manufacturing equipment. This system was designed to facilitate high volume 
production methods and thus greatly enhance production efficiencies. The new factory 
oommenred operations in May 1989 and a new company, Darwin Joinery & Furniture 
Manufacturing Pty Ltd (TI~), was incorporated. 

DJFM borrowed heavily to fund the construction and set up of the factory to an 
amount of some $52 million. Lenders at the time were: Territory Insurance Office 
('TIO'), $25 million; ANZ Banking Group, $15 million and &anda Finance, $12 
million. 

Major problems were experienced by DJFM in setting up its production facility and 
CAD/CAM systems1

• Unexpected construction, setup and commi~ioning costs and 
delays placed severe pressure on the liquidity of the company. The company 
approached the Department of Industries & Development ('DID') in September 1989 
seeking financial ~istance to get it over its initial problems and to enable the 
company to meet its debt commitments. A total package of ~ce was thereafter 
put together with the aid of consultants which included: 

(i) 
(ii) 
(iii) 
(iv) 

Government loan 
Further TIO loan 
Increased overdraft facility 
Moratorium of loan and lease 
repayments to ANZ Banking Group 
and &anda Finance 

SM 

0.20 
030 
0.10 

028 
0.88 -

In January 1990 DJFM was again suffering liquidity problems and approached the 
Government for further funding of $15 million. Reasons given for its problems were 
that a delay in the commenrement of the State Square Project had occurred (it was to 
have been completed by December 1989) and certain other potential contracts had not 
been obtained. 

1 Computer Aided Design/Computer Aided Manufacture 
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A review of DJFM's financial projections was undertaken by DID and a decision was 
ultimately taken to not simply make a further loan of $1.5 million to DJFM but rather 
to set up a loans and equity package. 

In essence, the package whlch was put in place was to purch~ the ~ts and busin~ 
of DJFM and to take over the Government related loans via a shelf company which 
was 100% owned by the Government. On 15 March 1990 the ~ts of DJFM were 
purchased for $2.0 million by the Government via Dalloway Pty Ltd ('Dalloway'), later 
to change its name to Dalway Pty Ltd ('Dalway'). In addition, a working capital loan 
of $1.5 million was provided to Dalway to meet its operating requirements. 

The package did not addr~ the fundamental ismie arising from the previous review of 
DJFM, being that it was almost entirely debt finanred (which resulted in high interest 
costs being expensed in the profit and I~ statement, and prevented the company from 
repaying borrowings). The main advantage of the purchase arrangement appeared to 
be that the liabilities of the company were effectively capped. 

A Board of Directors was appointed by the Government on 15 March 1990 and the 
company continued operations under the Board's stewardship until the shares in 
Dalway were sold on 25 May 1992. 

The financial results of the business oontinued to be poor after the ocquisition by 
Dalway of the ~ts of DJFM, with an apparent net I~ of $0286 million for the 
three and a half months ended 30 June 1990. 

U~n receipt of the 1991 financial statements and after advice from the Board, the 
Minister for Industries & Development, the Hon. Steve Hatton, ~ that the 
~mpany would not be able to meet its financial oommitments beyond 30 June 1992 
without a further injection of Government funds. As a result the Minister 
reoommended to Dhinet that the busin~ be sold. 

In November 1991 consultants w~re appointed to sell the business. On 25 May 1992 
the _company _was ~ld on a walk-m walk-out basis for $1.75 million to a consortium of 
busmessmen mcluding Mr John Pastrikos. 
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CHAYfER 3 - TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall Perron, following extensive debate oonrerning 
the Government's involvement in Dalway, referred the following Terms of Reference 
to the Public Accounts O>mmittee on 30 June 1992: 

To inquire into and report on: 

1. The trading operations of Dalway Pty Ltd and spedfu;ally 

(a) the reasons for its continuing losses during the period of 
Government ownership; 

(b) the write down of the value of the assets from the time of 
purchase to the time of sale. 

2 Whether the sale of Dalway Pty Ltd was conducted in an appropriate 
manner and in a manner which ensured the maximum amount of money 
was returned to the public account. 

It was the view of this O>mmittee that to properly discharge its obligations under the 
Terms of Reference it was n~ for the O>mmittee to look at the circumstances 
leading to the decision by the Government to purchase the ~ts of DJFM as those 
circumstances are critical to any reasoning as to why the diminution in the value of the 
assets of Dalway occurred from the time of purchase by the Government. 
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CHAPTER 4 - BACKGROUND TO INQUIRY 

4.1 INTRODUCTION TO THE INQUIRY 

4.1.1 Historical Development of Accountability 

The Westminster system of Government divides the functions of Government into 
three discrete arms; the Legislature, the Executive and the Judiciary. From this 
division springs the doctrine of the separation of powers which is intended to ensure 
adequate accountability and control in the operation of Government bureaucracies and 
the exercise of Executive power. 

The central notion of the doctrine is '... the separation of powers according to which 
the legislative, executive and judicial powers are each entrusted to separate persons or 
groups of persons who may not encroach on each other's authority.'2 

An essential concept of the doctrine of the separation of powers is the principle of 
'responsible government'. The separation of powers goes to the need to ensure that 
the power of government is constrained, whilst responsible government is more directly 
concerned with accountability. 

The Westminster model rests on three fundamental conventions: 

(i) the Crown can only act on the advice of respoilSlble Ministers; 

(ii) the Executive is collectively resp<>D.SJble to Parliament; and 

(iii) individual Ministers are individually responsible to Parliament for the 
administration of their portfolios. 

Although there appears to have been some blurring of these conventions in the six 
original Australian States, especially those which are unirameral, the C:Ommonwealth, 
has tended towards maintaining the distinction between roles and has put into place 
important means which ensure public scrutiny of executive action. These means are 
more generally referred to collectively as the 'new administrative law' and comprise the 
elements of: 

2 

Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act - which appointed the 
Federal C:Ourt to review the legality of government actions. 

Report on Review of Parliamentary Committees, Queensland, October 
1992 
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The establishment of the Administrative Appeals Tnbunal to review 

decisions on their merits. 

The Freedom of Information Act to ensure reasonable ~ to 
information held by Government. 

The Ombudsman Act which allows for independent inquiry into 

Government action. 

In the Northern Territory only the latter of these provisions has a specific legislative 
base. This tends to emphasise the importance of the rommittee system. 

4.1.2 Ministerial Responsibility 

Of prime concern is the changing role of the Minister, who, before ~e days of the 
'information explosion' was held personally responsible through the Parliament for any 
and all actions which flowed from executive action or decisions under his oontrol. It 
has however been reaJisffl of rec.ent times that no longer is a Minister effectively 
involved in the minutiae of day to day decision making within his sphere of 
responsibility and that delegation of power is n~ to allow bureaucracy to 
function. 

The ultimate responsibility of a Minister is to present a full and accurate account of all 
matters pertinent to his (her) portfolio to the Parliament through a reliance on the 
integrity, competence and efficiency of his (her) appointed delegates. 

In recent times the vilaJiJy of some of the traditional conceptions of ministerial 
responsibility have been called into question and there is little evidence that a 
minister's responsibility is now seen as requiring him (her) to bear the blame for 
all the faults and shortcomings of his (her) public service subordinates.3 

4.1.3 Unicameralism 

The absen~ of an up~r house of review in the Northern Territory arguably means 
!11at th:re is no ~echamsm. for the review of decisions of the Legislative ~mbly and 
m particular of rts Exerutive Members. Under such circumstances the Committee 
System can perform a not ~imilar function. 

4.1.4 Membership of Parliamentary Committees 

Th~ gro~ in the scale of. ~ove~ent activity and the increasing complexity of 
policy-~akin~ has led to a d1mmut:Jon of control and accountability. The traditional 
generalist skills of Members of Parliament have become inadequate for the exacting 

3 
Royal Commission on Australian Go vernment Administration, 1976. 
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tasks of specialist scrutiny and it can be argued that the activities of parliamentary 
committees provide a means for Members to become better informed and better able 
to review the decision-making proce&S, thus making the Executive more accountable. 

4.1.5 -Functions of Committees 

The Fitzgerald Inquiry drew attention to a range of functions by which committees 
c.ould improve their ability to review legislative activity and public administration; 
Fitzgerald referred to them as the research arm and as an independent source of 
information to aid Parliamentary debate.4 Those functions were as follows: 

a) Monitor the executive 

b) Shift the balance of power away from the executive and back to the 
Parliament 

c) Focus investigations 

d) Enrourage wider public debate 

e) Conduct detailed investigations 

f) Provide ~ to expert advire 

g) Enable effective use of the skills of backbenchers 

h) Enhanre the skills of backbenchers 

i) Provide a bi-partisan approach to Parliamentary scrutiny. 

4.1.6 Public Accounts Committee 

The proper discharge of the duties of the Public Accounts Committee of the Northern 
Territory should result in increased public accountability to the Legislative ~mbly 
and the public of the Northern Territory. 

In discharging its duties, the Committee can pursue the following objectives against 
which its own performanre might be ~= 

4 

to increase the efficiency and effectiven~ with which government 
policy is implemented. 

Commission of Inquiry into Possible Illegal Activity and 
Associated Police Misconduct, G.E. Fitzgerald, 1989, p. 124 
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to increase the public sector's awaren~ of the need to be efficient, 
effective and accountable for its operanons; and 

to increase the awareness and understanding of parliamentari~ and 
members of the public of the financial and related operatmns of 

5 government. 

4.2 METHODOWGY 

4.2.J. Public Hearings 

Difficulty was experienced initially by the Committee ~ determining . wheth~r any 
necessary hearings should be held in camera. The Commrttee resolve4 m the light of 
the public interest and the apparent magnitude . of the l~ _of taxpayer's mone~, to 
conduct its hearings in public exrept where, m the oprmon of the Commtttee, 
sensitivity of information overrode the public interest or where particular witn~ 
requested confidentiality. 

In the event, in camera evidence was taken on only three occasions.6 

4.2.2 Resources 

Given the limited resources of the Committee and the highly technical ~ues to be 
canv~ (financial and design and manufacturing packages new to the Northern 
Territory), the Committee decide4 in accordance with accepted practice, to seek 
expert advice where n~ through the employment of relevant ronsultants. To 
this end, Coopers & Lybrand, Chartered Acrountants, were engaged to assist the 
Committee. 

The Committee also sought legal ~istance and advice from Cridlands, Barristers & 
Solicitors, and Mr Colin McDonald, a Darwin Barrister, in the preparation of this 
report. 

To t~e ext~nt that th~ co~tants notified the Committee of likely or perceived 
conflicts of mterest, therr retamers were acrordingly restricted. 

To assist ~ the initial analysis of evidence and the initial compilation of this reJX>rt, 
the Comnuttee approved the temporary employment of a 4th year Eoonomics/Law 
student, Mr John Ingram. 

5 
Public Accounts Committee (NT), Annual Report, 1991. 

6 
See p.17 
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It was also nece&Sary for the Committee to seek an additional financial allocation to 
fund the inquiry since its total operational budget (excluding personnel oosts) for 
1992-93 is only $66,000. 

The Committee does not normally budget for consultant's fees. These appropriations 
are ~ught on a needs b~ and will vary significantly from time to time. 

4.2.3 Advertising for Information 

A media rele~ by the Committee on 22 July 1992 announced this Inquiry and called 
for written submissions from interested persons.7 

The advertisement was restricted to the NT News as it was felt that this Inquiry and 
the matters likely to be addr~ were ~ntially Darwin isrues. 

Public response was disappointing, with only one written submission being made. 
However, in response to the advertisement8 several oral communications were 
received by the Secretary and individual members of the Committee. 

4.2.4 Conduct of the Inquiry and Procedural Fairness 

Advic.e was sought and received from the Department of Law and the Offic.e of the 
Oerk of the Legislative ~mbly of the Northern Territory on the isrue of affording 
persons involved with the inquiry procedural fairn~ (natural justice). 

The Department of Law advised that the Committee was: 

... not bound by the rules of natural justice ... The remedy for Jailing to accord 
natural justice to witnesses is political It may bring the Committee into public 
disrepute or may lead to action by Parliament.9 

This view w~ supported by the Oerk of the Legislative ~mbly, although he went 
on to say: 

7 

8 

9 

10 

I believe it to be practical and politic for a Committee to have regard to Natural 
Justice when dealing with witnesses.10 

Appendix 3.1 

Appendix 3.2 

Appendix 3.3 

Letter of advice to the Public Accounts Committee from the Clerk 
of the Legislative Assembly dated 18 August 1992 
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. -~A al fairness stated shortly, oblige a tnbunal of fact to: 
The requrrements of prU\.NUur ' 

. Jved or affected by the issues at hand a fair 
(a) accord all persons mvo 

bearing; and 

(b) remain impartial (the rule against bias). 

· · d farr· bearing requires that those concerned with the hearing 
The obliganon to accor a · ed d be · 
be 

·ded ·th an outline of the questions or issues to be consider an given 
provi wt . · h · · 

an opportunity to comment on the quest10n or IS.SUes at the eanng. 

Jt is a fundamental rule of the common law doctrine of naru:al justice ex:press_ed 
in traditional terms that, generally speaking, when an or~~ is to be ~ which 
will deprive a person of some right or interest or the ~ ex:JX!ctatwn of a 

b 
,fit he · -~#,ed to Jazow the case sought to be made again.St him and to be ene1 ,,., lS enuu ,;. , · ht 

given an opportunity of replying to it (citations omitted) ... . The re1erence to. ng 
interest' in this fiormulation must be understood as relating to personal liberty, 

or · · hts 
status, preservation of livelihood and reputation, as well as. to prof!netary ng 
and interests: Kioa v Minister for Immigration and Ethnic Affairs (1985) 62 
ALR 321, 345 per Mason J.) 

4.2.5 Is the Committee bound by Procedural Fairness? 

The O>mmittee, as a Standing O>mmittee of the Assembly, is charged to inquire into 
certain matters and report its findings and conclusions to the Legislative Assembly. 

The O>mmittee is, in ~nee, a fact finding committee. It is not empowered to 
enforce its findings and accordingly its reports do not alter existing rights. Even if 
findings are made which may result in an appropriate body initiating its own inquiries, 
it is not the report of this O>mmittee per se which creates or alters legal rights, but 
the subsequent actions of others. Accordingly, it is the view of the Committee that is 
not n~ obliged to accord procedural faim~ at its hearings. 

Ilowever, the O>mmittee is aware that, notwithstanding its actions do not alter legal 
rights, its activities or reports may expose persons to the risk of having certain aspects 
of their private and/or commercial dealings uncovered and to the risk of having 
unsubstantiated allegations made against them. Hence it was n~ from time to 
time to ~ither suppress the publication of rertain evidence or to close the hearing to 
the public as was the case in the evidence given by the Polire Commi~ioner. 

The ~mmittee is also mindful that the very requirement to appear before it may 
cause distress and result in injured reputations. 

Ac.cordingly, Guidelines were drafted and p~ by the Legislative ~mbly on 
20 August 199.2 to safeguard, as ~ar ~ was practical, the interests of those appearing 
before commrttees of the Legislative Assembly, including the Public Accounts 
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Committee. Copies of these Guidelines were made available beforehand to those 
appearing before this Committee. 

Of particular note is paragraph (3) of the Guidelines which provides that: 

A witness shall be given reasonable notice of a meeting at which the witness is to 
· appea_r, and shall be supplied with a copy of the Committee's terms of reference, a 

statement of the matters expected to be dealt with during the witness' appearance, 
and a copy of these [Guidelines]. Where appropriate, a witness may be supplied 
with a transaipt of relevant evidence already taken; 

Paragraph (15) of the Guidelines further provides that: 

Where evidence is given which reflects adversely on a person ... , the Committee 
sha.ll provide reasonable opportunity for tha.t person to have access to tha.t 
evidence and to respond to tha.t evidence by written submission and appea,rance 
before the Committee. 

The Committee, whilst rerognising that it is not required to accord procedural faim~ 
considers that the Guidelines adequately balance the need to protect the rights of 
those appearing before it and its duty to discharge its obligations to the ~mbly in 
the most effective and expeditious manner. To the extent that the Committee did not 
conduct itself as though it were a court of law it has accordingly tempered its views in 
this report, and refrained from inappropriate speculation. 

4.2.6 Privilege 

All evidence and documents presented to this Committee at its hearings and this 
report attracts, and are thereby protected by, parliamentary privilege. 

The evidence given by witnesses to the Public Accounts Committee is of the same 
status as speeches made by Members of the ~mbly within the precincts of the 
~mbly and cannot be tendered or admitted into evidence before a Court or 
Tnbunal for any purpose. 

4.2.7 The Hearing 

a) Witnesses 

Due to the lack of response to advertising, the Committee examined the 
company records of DJFM, Dalway, Departmental files and employed local 
general knowledge to determine an initial list of witnesses. As the hearings 
progr~ this list was expanded in the light of evidence adduced. 
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. eel to attend hearings oersonally, however, having reg~ 
Witnesses were requrr. . t -~ed by conference phone and therr 
to cost, a number of witnesses were ID em 
evidence recorded and transcnbed. 

b) Scope of Inquiry 

. ocussed . . estigation on the events beginning with the 
The Olmnuttee t DJFM thrrts mvgh to the sale by the Government of its shares 
initial TI 0 loan to , ou 
in Dalway and its aftermath. 

· th r-.,..,.mmrtt· ee was obliged to examine both relevant and 
In so domg e ~ . · h 
irrelevant material and to call witnesses whose evidence added ~o~g toh w ~t 
was already known. This included questioning a nun_iber of Minist~rs w . en. rt 
was thought that they may be in a position to ~ISt the Committee m its 

dehberations. 

c) Right to Legal Representation 

The Olmmittee permitted witnesses legal represen~tion at the hearin~ in an 
advisory capacity to witnesses but such representatives were not permrtted to 
play an active part in the questioning pr~. 

d) Standard of Proof 

To properly discharge its functions, it is appropriate for the Committee to 
inquire and report whether there had been any corruption, illegal ronduct, 
improper conduct or incompetence on the part of any party in respect of the 
matters addr~. The Olmmittee oould also report whether any matters 
should be referred to an appropriate authority with a view to the institution of 
proceedings. It follows that because of the potential for the Committee to 
make findings which might bring about litigation or cause damage to 
reputations, it was important that an appropriate standard of proof be applied 
in reaching those findings. The standard of proof applied by this Committee 
was as in a civil action, being proof on a balance of probability, mindful 
however of the gravity of the allegation being considered. 

e) Hearsay Evidence 

The ~mmittee w~ required to conduct as thorough an investigation as it 
could mto the vanous matters referred to it. It was not adversarial in the 
sense that th~re were no opposing parties to the Inquiry. This created 
problems, parbcularly when dealing with hearsay evidence. The Committee 
could not, and did not, conduct itself as if it were a court of law. In some 
hearings hearsay eviden~ was permitted, not as evidence going to establish 
the truth of what was bemg asserted, but to enable further investigation to be 
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undertaken. This was particularly so in expanding the list of witnesses 
summoned as the dearth of sub~ions was an initial handicap to the inquiry. 

f) In Gmiera Hearings 

Problems of confidentiality and the reluctance of people to provide voluntary 
statements prompted the C.Ommittee to use in ram.era hearings in three 
instances. These involved the police evidence which, if given in public, might 
have compromise4 an on-going investigation, and at their request the evidence 
of Mr Mannion and part of the evidence of Mr Caldwell. 

Upon completion of such hearings, the evidence addured was examined by the 
C.Ommittee to determine whether it was of sufficient materiality to be used in 
further hearings. Aspects of Mr Mannion's evidence were later used in this 
fashion. 

g) Passage of Time Since Events 

It follows inevitably that, with the passage of time, recollections of events fade. 
Furthermore, a matter which now appears to be material may not have 
seemed important to a participant at the time who ronsequently may not have 
seen any reason to specifically note it or remember it. Some events happened 
up to five years ago and human memories of events that long ago tend to be 
unreliable, particularly in relation to details, dates, time sequences and the 
like. The C.Ommittee, however, did exp~ some conrem during the hearings 
at the number of times witnesses resorted to 'I don't remember' or 'I cannot 
recall'. It was not always ~ble to distinguish between a genuine instance of 
forgetting and one of intentional dissemblance. 

h) Relevance of Evidence 

An inquiry is, by its nature, different to an investigation of facts by a court of 
law in civil or criminal proceffiings where relevance is determined by the 
~es defined by the parties. 

An inquiry could be descnbed as a 'fishing expedition', digging and probing to 
find a clue or a lead to ~ it. Thus, if any ooncept of relevance is 
applicable to this Inquiry, it is a different ooncept from that which is 
applicable in an ordinary civil action. 
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CHAPTER 5 - CHRONOLOGY OF EVENTS 

In order to gain an overview of the sequence of events which led to the purchase, 
operation and subsequent sale of Dalway, it is useful to tabulate the course of the 
more significant events based on the evidence available to the C.Omminee comnu~ncing 
with the initial decision by the Pastrikos family to expand what in 1987 was a small 
family joinery busine&S. 

DATE EVENT 

October 1987 ~ Darwin Joinery (precursor to DJFM) unsu~fuJ in tendering 
~ for work for C.Ommonwealth Government. Reasons: The 
~ factory was seen to be too small to cope with the work. This 
~ led to the decision to seek funds in order to undenake 

expansion. 

17 Oct 1987 Lener from Mr John Paruikos ('Paruikos') to Territory 
Insurance Office ('TIO') with regard to ~hie equity 

: partnership. 

30 Nov 1987 Request from TIO for proposed business plan. 

24 Dec 1987 Second request from TIO for busin~ plan. 

8 Jan 1987 Submission from Paruikos to Minister for Industry & 
· Development, the Hon. Marshall Perron, requesting assistance 

with expansion. 

11 Jan 1988 Visit to Darwin Joinery by Ms Christine Flaheny, DID. 

13 Jan 1988 Acknowloogment of receipt of submission from the Office of 
. the Minister for Industries & Development. 

2 Feb 1988 Submission for ~istance from Paruikos to Mr C.01 Fuller, 
Secretary, DID. 

4 Feb 1988 Reply to letter 8/1/88 received by Pastrikos from Minister for 
. Industries & Development. 

22 Feb 1988 Pastrikos rereived third letter from TIO re busin~ plan. 

25 Feb 1988 Lener from Secretary, DID, that a recommendation would be 
· made to Government that the proposal was worthy of suppon. 

3 Mar 1988 Meeting between Pamik:os and TIO re equity partnership . 

. Busin~ plan presented to TIO. 
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DATE 

22 Mar 1988 

29 Mar 1988 

6 Apr 1988 

15 Apr 1988 

20 Apr 1988 

26 Apr 1988 

9 May 1988 

16 May 1988 

17 May 1988 

1June1988 

2 June 1988 

15 June 1988 

16 June 1988 

30 June 1988 

EVENT 

l Financial analysis of DJFM forwarded to TIO from Ernst & 
. Whinn ; ey . 
• 
j Request to Pastrikos from TIO for further information. 

l TIO requested funher information from Pastrikos. 

j DID produced assessment of DJFM's application for financial 

; ~istance. 
i 

j Grant by DID of $3 750 to Jaguar Joinery Pty Ltd ('Jaguar 
1 Joinery') for production of Advenising material . . 
~ Meeting between TIO, DJFM and Ernst & Whinney to further 
~ di~ the proposal for a new factory . 
• 

~ McGregor Marketing Pty Ltd: Darwin Joinery Research 
: Report for Ernst & Whinney on behalf of TIO ('McGregor 

Report'). 

TIO rejects DJFM plans b~ on marketing report. 

Letter from DJFM to TI 0 justifying sales projections 
! contradicted by McGregor Repon. 

~ Request from TIO to DJFM to oonduct new market survey 
: b~ on criteria supplied by TIO. 

. 

Letter to TIO from DJFM detailing alternative funding 
proposals . 

~ Response by TIO to proposals. 

Touche R~ commissioned by Pastrikos to conduct market 
survey for timber b~ furniture production. 

DJFM informed DID that TIO accepted oommi~ioning of 
· Touche R~. 

Memo from Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall Perron, to 
Trearurer, the Hon. Barry Coulter, supporting DJFM project. 

: Memo from Chairman of TIO, Mr Phil Temple to Treasurer, 
j the Hon. Barry Coulter re TIO investments of $2.5M by way 
~ of fully secured convertible loan. 

j Letter from Touche Ro~ to TIO re market survey. 
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DATE 

1July1988 

13 July 1988 

14 July 1988 

EVENT 

TIO Board Meeting: agreed to proceed with investment of 
$2.5M in Darwin Joinery Manufacturing Unit Trust subject to 
suitable Heads of Agreement being drawn up. 

Letter to TIO from Pannell Kerr Forster re appropriateness of 
the proposed operating structure of DJFM. 

Lener to DJFM from DID re encouragement for further 
~istance. 

16 July 1988 Lener from DJFM to Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall 
Perron, re confidence in project despite Hungerford collapse. 

28/29 July 1988 TIO Board Meeting confirmed decision to support DJFM 
expansion. N.B: The then TIO Deputy General Manager, 
Mr Michael Nyunt, voiced concern at this support. 

3 Aug 1988 Letter from DJFM to Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall 
Perron, re TIO diffiailties. 

4 Aug 1988 TIO rescind 1st July decision to proceed with investment in 
Darwin Joinery Manufacturing Unit Trust and revert to June 
resolution to invest $2.SM by way of convertible notes. 

8 Aug 1988 Letter from TIO to Chief Minister and Treasurer, the Hon. 
Marshall Perron, seeking approval for investment of $2.5M in 
DJFM. Secured by first mortgage over land on comer Hook 
and Coonawarra Roads, Winnellie. 

19 Aug 1988 Letter from TIO to DJFM setting out terms and conditions for 
. mortgage loan of $240,000 to be used to repay ANZ (loan for 

original property) and $70,000 to acquire additional land from 
Government. N.8: This is to be deducted from loan of $2.5M 
approved by Treasurer. 

November 1988 Construction begins on new factory. 

8 Nov 1988 Loan agreement between TIO and DJFM for $2.SM signed. 

6 Dec 1988 Breakfast launch for factory construction. 
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DATE 

23 May 1989 

23 May 1989 

28 June 1989 

30 July 1989 

August 1989 

31Aug1989 

22 Sept 1989 

25 Sept 1989 

25 Sept 1989 

EVENT 

DJFM commenced operations in n~ factory with state of the 
art computer integrated manufactunng system. 

DJFM almost totally debt-funded: 
TIO $25M 
ANZ $15M 
DID $036M - Interest Subsidy 

ESANDA $1.2M 

Stock and equipment transferred from Pastrikos family 

busin~ to DJFM - $0.SM. 

Darwin Land Servire valuation completed. 

DID assistance, including interest on the interest subsidy from 

DID, calculated at $405,000 

DID Interest Subsidy drawn down and deposited with ANZ 

Bank. 

DJFM face serious liquidity problems. 

Period May to August 1989 operating loss of $1.2M includes:-

$400,000 cost overrun on construction 
$73,000 relocation/establishment oosts 

$102,000 diffirulties in commi~ioning computer equipment 
$122,000 additional material c.ostslproduction inefficiencies. 
$472,000 payments to subcontractors to complete work in 

pro~ on hand 

First meeting of Steering C:Ommittee of DJFM as result of 
conrerns expr~ by ANZ. As a result Touche Ross were 
requested to oonduct an investigation into DJFM and report 
on its financial position. 

Report on C:Omputer Integrated Manufacturing ('CThf) 
requested by DID. C:Onsists of two reports: 

1) C:Omputer Aided Design/C:Omputer Aided 
Manufacturing facility -

2) MRPII System 

Letter from DID to Touche R~ outlining ismies of interest to 
DID which were required to be ad~ in first report. 
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DATE EVENT 

28 Sept 1989 First Touche R~ Report, rommissioned by Pastrik:os, 
presented to DID. Forecast need for an additional $700,000 
for working capital. 

28!29 Sept 1989 TIO Board Meeting at which roncem re future viability of 
DJFM was expr~. 

29 Sept 1989 DID negotiated ~istance package of $0.88M 

Oct 1989 

16 Oct 1989 

12 Dec 1989 

15 Dec 1989 

19 Dec 1990 

19/20 Jan 1990 

$200,000 Government loan 
$300,000 TIO 
$280,000 Moratorium on le~ and loan payments 
$100,000 increase in overdraft facility. 

South Australian Centre for Manufacturing presented a report 
on the MRPII system which consisted of an 'Empire' 
Ac:counting package. 

F J. Mullin & ~ates Report presented on CAD/CAM 
system. 

DJFM again suffering liquidity problems - Government loan 
drawn down. 

Advire from Capel Court to DID re ways of enhancing 
financial structure of DJFM to provide an opportunity for 
further equity and debt raising. 

Capel Court report to DID stating that sales projections from 
First Touche Ross Report would lead to requirement for an 
increase in working c:apital. 

'Second Touche Ross Report' sent by Pastrik:os to TIO and 
Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall Perron, with the object of 
seeking a further $15M to meet creditor payments and 
provide for projected working c:apital requirements. 

Payment of creditors, partial discharge of ANZ and Esanda 
loans and the provision of working c:apital brought total 
required to $35M. 

Pastrik:os family to be personally liable for remaining debt due 
to ANZ & Esanda.. 

Fradkin Report rereived by TIO. 
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DATE 

24 Jan 1990 

29 Jan 1990 

30 Jan 1990 

1Feb1990 

2 Feb 1990 

7 Feb 1990 

9 Feb 1990 

9 Feb 1990 

14 Feb 1990 

EVENT 

DID prepared briefing paper in relation to DJFM and sent it 
under cover of a memorandum dated 24 Jan 1990 to the Hon. 

B 
O>uher Minister for Industries & Development for 

arry ' . . th H 
noting and to be passed to the Chief Minister, e on. 

Marshall Perron. 

Further memorandum prepared by DID for the Hon. Barry 
O>uher, Minister for Industries & Development. Mr C.Oulter 
prepared memorandum to Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall 

Perron. 

Cabinet approved $2M loan to remove all rommerciaJ 
financiers other than TIO - Cabinet Decision ('CD') 6338. 
Thereafter officials of DID continue to analyse information 
available including 'Second Touche Ross Report'. Legal 
advire was also sought from Mr Geoff James of Mildrens 
regarding the proposed arrangements. 

ANZ & ESANDA agree to ac.cept 33c and 66c respectively in 
the dollar to discharge existing securities. 

Meeting between Pastrikos and Chief Minister, the Hon. 
Marshall Perron - arrangements and conditions given to 
Pastrikos of proposed purch~ by the Northern Territory 
Government. 

Letter from Mildrens to Directors of Dalloway Pty Ltd (shelf 
company later renamed Dalway Pty Ltd) re proposed rescue 
package. 

Memorandum and brief from Secretary of DID, Mr Otto 
Alder, to Minister for Industries & Development, the Hon. 

· Barry O>ulter outlining current position with DJFM and 
reasons for $35M funding requirements. 

Memorandum and brief from Secretary of DID, Mr Otto 
Alder to Minister for Industries & Development, the Hon. 
B~ Couher, documenting reasons for increased funding 
reqwrement. 

Brief fo~arded to Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall Perro~ 
from Minister for Industries & Development, the Hon. Barry 
Coulter. · 

TI 0 refuses to provide perf ormanre guarantees. 
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DATE 

14 Feb 1990 

16 Feb 1990 

22 Feb 1990 

23 Feb 1990 

EVENT 

Memo from Acting Secretary, DID, Mr S R Cavanagh to 
Minister for Industries & Development, the Hon. Barry 
Coulter, providing additional information in relation to $3.5M 
funding requirements and also stating that a reasonable 
proponion of State Square Joinery work could still stay in 
Territory if DJFM were to stop trading. 

Cabinet approved revised rescue package of $3.5M by 
rescinding CD 6338 and substituting CD 6359. 

Letter from Mr Otto Alder, Secretary of DID to Chairman of 
TIO, Mr Phil Temple, stating the marginality of the busin~ 
despite the rescue package. 

TIO resolved to extricate itself from DJFM. 

Meeting between Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall Perron, 
Deputy Chief Minister, the Hon. Barry Coulter, General 
Managermo, Mr Phil Temple, and Secretary of the Chief 
Minister's Department, Mr Alan Morris re TIO's decision to 
withdraw. 

TIO Board contacted by phone by General Manager/Chairman 
- resolved 3-1 to continue involvement. 

15 March 1990 Government acquired ~ts of DJFM using Dalloway, name 
subsequently changed to Dalway Pty Ltd. 

21 March 1990 

22 March 1990 

29 March 1990 

29-30 March 
1990 

Balance of interest subsidy ($113,408.95) appropriated by ANZ 
as pan of settlement. 

Dalway ~ed liability for pre-existing TIO loans totaJJing 
$2,887,992.50. The total debts of Dalway now stands at 
$6, 706,497.34. 

First Dalway Board meeting. 

Minister for Industries & Development, the Hon. Barry 
Coulter, signs $3.5M loan agreement. 

Extraordinary General Meeting of members resolved that 
DJFM be wound up. Total cost to Government of 
reoompensing unserured creditors $909,095 instead of initially 
suggested figure of $500,000. 

TIO Board meeting rescinds previous decision of '23(1/90 and 
replaces with an agreement to transfer its loan. 
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DATE 

13 April 1990 

18 April 1990 

27 Apr 1990 

15 May 1990 

16 May 1990 

24 May 1990 

30 May 1990 

30 June 1990 

October 1990 

EVENT 

l Letter from Pastrikos to Mr p Caldwell, ~istant Secretary,, 
Industry & Economic Policy, DID, re visit to Mr Ian Kneale s 

factory situated on the Gold Coast. 

: Mr Caldwell sends copy of abovementioned letter to Mr d~ Bell 
~ and Mr s Margetic but not to Mr I .Kneale or Mr B Fra n 

~ (Directors of Dalway). 
I ! Mr Dennis Edwards' employment terminated. . 
~ Mr Kneale resigns ~ Director of Dalway. . 
~ Mr Edwards initiates legal proceedings for unfair dismisW. 

Letter from Pastrikos to DID re repurchase agreement. 

Letter to Pamikos from DID re Comfort Letter 

: Operating I~ financial year 15/3/')() to '30/6/')() stands at 
~ $285,904 . 
• 

~ First draft of option agreement sent to DID by Pastrikos. 
I 

November 1990 ! Mr Tony Pamikos dismis~ as oompany accountant. 

2 Jan 1991 ~ Mr John Yeudall commenced as new General Manager of 
E Dalway . . 

1Feb1991 

4 Feb 1991 

24 Apr 1991 

30 June 1991 

16 July 1991 

30 July 1991 

31 July 1991 

8 Aug 1991 

; Mr Tony CahiJJ commences as new accountant Dalway there 
having been no acoountant for some 10 weeks. 

Letter to DID from Pamikos re option agreement sent in 
October 1990. 

Confidential letter from Pamikos to Mr Graham Lucas, 
Ministerial Adviser to the Hon. Steve Hatton, Minister for 
Industries & Development, re survival of company. 

Operating I~ of Dalway from 1n !'JO to 30/6/91 stands at 
$1,294,548. 

Letter from Mildrens to P~os re option agreement. 

Dalway Board Meeting sacks several middle managers. 

Mr Y eudall sacked as General Manager. 

Letter of awaren~ provided by DID to TIO re state of the 
company. 
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DATE 

19 Aug 1991 

28/29 Aug 1991 

-
9 Sept 1991 

10 Sept 1991 

11 Sept 1991 

11 Sept 1991 

13 Sept 1991 

14 Sept 1991 

17 Sept 1991 

20 Sept 1991 

24 Sept 1991 

25 Sept 1991 

20 Nov 1991 

30 Nov 1991 

10 Dec 1991 

17 Dec 1991 

EVENT 

Lener from Pastrikos to Mildrens rejecting their draft of the 
option agreement. 

TIO Board Meeting makes proposal to Government re future 
strategies concerning Dalway. 

Mildrens on instructions from DID requests Pastrikos to resign 
as Director. 

Cabinet decided Dalway to be sold and approved appointment 
of independent consultants in this regard. 

Lener to Mildrens from Pastrikos regarding continuation as 
Director. 

Media release re sale of Dalway. 

Lener of comfort from DID to Dalway Directors re TIO loan. 

Advertisement placed for consultants re sale of Dalway. 

Caveat lodged over Dalway land on comer of Hook and 
C:OOnawarra Roads by Nictarios (sic) Pastrikos. 

Preliminary proposal from Pastrikos to buy back at a 
commitment of $45M over 10 year period - interest-free . 

Pastrikos removed from the Board of Dalway. 

Pastrikos receives reply from Minister of Industries & 
Development rejecting buy-back proposal. 

Joint consultancy of Desliens Busin~ Consultants and ANZ 
Capel Court appointed to effect sale of Dalway. 

DID received valuation of Dalway from Australian Valuation 
Office advising that land, plant & equipment and buildings 
were worth $2.365M. 

Deed of Indemnity granted to each Director. 

Minister for Industries & Developmen~ the Hon. Steve 
Hatton, reconsiders liquidating Dalway - Directors refuse to 
sign accounts. 

Consultants instructed to sell company ~ a going concern. 
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DATE 

18 Dec 1991 

19 Dec 1991 

19 Dec 1991 

25 Feb 1992 

April 1992 

21 April 1992 

14 May 1992 

15 May 1992 

15-20 May 1992 

22 May 1992 

23-24 May 1992 

25 May 1992 

29 May 1992 

EVENT 

1 Mr Nectrarios (sic) Pastrikos ~ues Su~reme Court . 
i ___ ..t:~ ainst the Northern Temtory of Australia and 
= pr~gs ag · · · · t estrain the 
~ Dalw seeking inter alia, an intenm m1unct1on o r 
. ay ' . f th t ~ sale of Dalway's ~ts and an extension o e c.avea 

j previously lodged. 

~ Supreme Court Order inter alia extending operation of caveat 

~ until further Order . . 
~ further letter of comfort from DID to Directors re future 

~ commitments . . 
~ lnf ormation memorandum published and sale of Dalway 
: advertised internationally, nationally and loe4lly. 

Fifteen expr~ions of interest received and negotiations 

ensued. 

Pastrikos submits buy-back proposal. 

: Summons ~ed by Dalway in Supreme Court seeking orders 
= that the original writ ~ued by Mr Nectrarios Pamikos did not 

disclose a c.ause of action against Dalway and that the caveat 
be discharged. 

Two firm written offers to purchase the shares in Dalway 
received from parties aswciated with Pamikos ('the Pamikos 
Consortium') on the one hand and Mr Jeff Blake on the other. 

Negotiations between oonsuhants and both interested parties. 

Consultants recommend that Dalway be sold to Pamikos 
Consortium for $1.75M on walk-in walk-out basis. 

Approved by Cabinet - Pastrikos Consortium advised of 
decision. 

Contract negotiations oompleted. 

Dalway sold to Pastrikos Consortium - contract of sale 
executed and sale announced. Mr Blake advised. 

Supreme Court proceedings disc.ontinued. 

~ttlement effected - TIO paid $2.8M and agreed to forgo 
mterest on outstanding loans. 
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DATE 

1 July 1992 

12 Aug 1992 

EVENT 

Accrued interest to 30/6/92 was to be brought to account and 
full capitalised debt would have become due. 

Statement by Australian Securities Commission that there was 
no breach of Corporations Law. 
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CHAPTER 6 - PURCHASE 

6.1 ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 

It is recognised that the Northern Territory economy lacks a sound manufacturing 
base and that this limits growth of our economy. Whilst service industries have 
developed on a small scale as the popuJation of the Territory has grown, the economy 
is historically based upon the grazing, mining and public sector with tourism playing an 
increasingly important role. Attempts have been made to diversify activity, e.g. the 
Trade Development Zone, but such ventures have had limited su~. 

The Government at the relevant time was also faced with a situation where cattle herd 
numbers had been significantly redured by the BTEC program and traditional beef 
markets for Territory cattle had imposed quotas on imports thus reducing industry 
income. At the same time, there was a general economic downturn in the Northern 
Territory. 

Growth in the Public Sector had slowed as a result of stabilisation of Government 
employment after some ten years of self-government and the Commonwealth 
Government had redured its redistnbution of tax revenue to the States and Territories. 

It was against this background the Government pursued policies to support the 
establishment of industry in the Northern Territory as a means of creating lasting 
employment opportunities, especially for young Territorians, and to stem the outflow 
of population to the south. 

During the same period there was a national reduction in investment which lead to a 
downturn in private construction which flowed through to what was said to be the 40 
joineries then operating in the NT. The only bright spots on the horizon for the local 
construction industry were the State Square and the Waler Barracks projects. 

6.2 INTRODUCTION 

An approach was made to the Government by Mr Pastrikos early in 1988 for financial 
support in relation to the planned expansion of his operations in Darwin. It was 
recommended that he seek investment from the TIO as an equity partner. What 
occurred as a result of the subsequent approach to TIO is dealt with in detail at 63. 

Although Mr Pastrikos had been referred to the TIO, it was decided that DID could 
offer a subsidy on the interest payable on funds borrowed. This was approved by the 
Minister, the Hon. Marshall Perro~ on a rerommendation made by Mr CJ Fuller, the 
then Secretary of DID. The initial subsidy of $360,000 on the loan from TIO 
ultimately, however, amounted to $405,000 including interest which accrued between 
the grant and eventual drawdown. 
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The grant by DID was made on the basis of the TIO's involvement as prime lender 
and was apparently regarded as an opportunity to create lasting empl?yment and 
training for Territorians. It does not appear how_ever that D:r:J? made ~ mdepe_ndent 
assessment of the venture in any real way, but relied upon the infonnation supplied by 

Mr Pastrikos and the TIO. 

A series of events then occurred which are dealt with in other parts of this report 
culminating in Mr John Pastrikos writing to the Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall 

Perron, Ml.A, on 20th January 1990.11. 

Enclosed with that letter was a report on the financial posrtmn of DJFM, its 
achievements and future prospects. During the course of the public hearings this 
became known as the 'Second Touche Ross Report' because of the involvement of 

Touche Ross in its preparation. 

The letter stated in part: 

You will note from this Report that unless immediate cash funding is 
made available to the exJent of $1.5 million, this business is unable to 

amy on. 

The letter sought support and ~ce in obtaining an injection of funds and 
suggested three alternative sources: 

Deferred interest payment loan for an amount of $15M until an 
equity investor was found. 

Oth_er ~propriate forms of ~istance for the same amount until an 
eqwty mvestor was found. 

Equity investment by TIO of $15 million. 

' to e Secretary, DID. A copy of the report was also sent to TI 0 and directly th 

Mr Perron forwarded the report to DID . th Industries and Development) estin VIa . e Hon. Barry O>ulter (then Minister for 
him to speak to the then Ch= f Tig 

0
a bnefing paper on the application to enable 

an ° , Mr P F Temple. 

11 Tabled Document 30 
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6.3 TERRITORY INSURANCE OFFICE ROLE 

6.3.1 The Territory Insurance Office 

The role of the Territory Insurance Office looms large in this Inquiry. Before 
analysing the role of the TIO, it is helpful to understand its status, functions and 
powers. 

The TIO was established as a body corporate in 1979 by Section 4 of the Territory 
Insurance Office Act (No. 59 of 1979) ('the Act'). 

The functions of the TIO are set out in Section 5 of the Act. They are: 

(a) to act as the insurer in respect of the ~ts and prospective liabilities 
of the Territory and statutory corporations; 

(b) to transact workers compensation insurance in respect of persons 
required by the Workers' Compensation Act, or any Act replacing that 
Act, to insure; 

( c) to administer any motor accident compensation scheme established by 
or under an Act; 

( d) to cany out such functions in relation to the management and control 
of moneys and other ~ts of the Territory and statutory 
corporations, and on such terms and conditions, as the Minister in 
writing directs; 

( da) to provide such financial servires as are approved by the Minister; 

( e) to transact such general busin~ of insurance as the Minister directs; 

( f) to promote and participate in the promotion of road and industrial 
safety; and 

(g) such other functions as are, from time to time, imposed upon it by or 
under any other Act. 

It is apparent from a review of the statutory functions of the TIO Act, the TIO is 
subject to Ministerial direction from the Minister responsible for TIO matters. 

The powers of the TIO are conferred by Section 6 of the Act (which include the 
power for the purpose of c:arrying out its functions to 'acrept deposits, make loans and 
investments ... ' and 'to invest its money in any investment available to the Public 
Trustee under the Public Trustee Act and in investments or investments of a cl~ of 
investments approved by the Minister': sub-section 6(2)(ma) and (n) of the Act). 
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. e TIO are to be c.onducted by the Board of the 
The Act stipulates that the affarrs of th ists of five members all appointed by the 
TIO (Section 9). The Bo~d of the TI~ c.o: The accountability of the TIO to the 
responsible ~er (Secti0~ lO(l) of e S:~on 7 of the Act, the TIO in the 
Minister is clearly set out ID the Act. . . f its powers, is subject to the written 

f its functions and the exercismg o dir 
p~rfoi:nance o . . the Act expressly empowers the Minister to ect 
direcnons of the Minister. Tbus,f . functions or the exercise of its powers, and 
the TI 0 in the performance o rts . th TI 0 
contemplates such directions being part of life for e · 

The Act, as currently in force, provid~ ~at the TIO is very much subject to the 

overriding direction of the responsible Minister. 

In 
· t rts. fun~ons the TIO was subject to a Ministerial direction, which 

carrymg OU "'" . . th TI 0 . 
a ars to be still current, namely, that in providing a finanetal seIVIce e . IS to 
f~row sound commercial and business principles and adopt sound commercial and 

business practices.12 

6.3.2 Introduction 

Darwin Joinery was a well established, su~ful jobbing joinery which w~ _in 1~86, 
the largest such venture in town. It boasted a staff ~f ~five and w~ tr~g ei~t 
apprentices. From 1986 to 1988 the company grew m size and employed an mcreasmg 
number of people which was approximately 70 in 1988-1989. The company w~ owned 
and run by the Pastrikos Family, who were well-known in the local building industry, 
and had established a good reputation for quality carpentry joinery work. 

In response to a failure to attain a contract with the Commonwealth Government, 
Mr Pastrikos identified the need for larger premises in order that company growth 
could ensue. Plans were developed by Mr Pastrikos and Mr T Williams to build a 
complex at Winnellie consisting of a workshop, employing 'state of the art' computer 
technology which could be programmed in all aspects of manufacture and control of 
furniture production, and a considerable amount of showroom and retail sales space. 

Mr Pastrikos approached the TIO by letter of 17 November 1987 with a view to its 
involvement in the project on the basis of a 47% equity participation in the venture. 

Discussion in respect of the proposal subsequently ensued on 19 November 1987 
between Mr John Pastrikos, on behalf of DJFM, Mr Phil Temple and Mr Viv Hawke 
on behalf of the TIO, and Mr P Ranson from DID. The then General Manager of 
the TI?, Mr Hawke, wrote to Mr Pastrikos after this meeting on 30 November 1987 
and said: 

12 
See Hansard 22-24 September 1992 , PP 1120-1121 
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In order for TIO to con.sider your proposal, it will be nece~ for you or your 
accountants to provide us with aurent financial data of your organisation plus a 
feasibility study of your proposa.ls suilable for examination by equity participants. 

By letter dated 8 January 1988, Mr Pastrikos wrote to the then Minister for Industries 
& -Development, Hon. Marshall Perron, giving the Minister an outline of the 
achievement, work and the bright future of the company. The letter sought assistance 
from the Government in respect of establishing a new industry of furniture 
manufacturing. In response, by letter dated 4 February 1988, Mr Perron wrote to Mr 
Pastrikos noting the company's achievements and proposals for the future. Mr Perron 
expressed himself to be 'impressed' with the information conveyed. He stated that 
despite budgetary constraints the Government 'is ever keen to assist worthwhile 
enterprises to the maximum extent po~ible'. Mr Perron referred Mr Pastrikos to 
officers of his Department for 'whatever Government assistance may be po~ible to 
your company'. 

The approach to the TIO from Mr Pastrikos raised squarely the prospect and 
po~ibility of equity participation by the TIO. The TIO's response was to consider 
equity investment at its next Board meeting in the broader oontext of local investment 
policy. 

6.3.3 Local Investment Policy 

A discussion paper dated 25-26 February 1988 was presented to and subsequently 
approved by the Board of TIO which set out the rationale for and the guidelines 
governing equity investment in local projects. It was rerognised that such investment 
bore higher risks than simple lending situations and the paper put forward minimum 
requirements in order to afford the best protection of the shareholder's interests. The 
key factors were the achievement of a balanre between a foreseeable need for 
liquidity, in the event of a cyclone, and profit considerations in an area where returns 
were less speedy than through simple loans. This was addressed by imposing 
conditions to ensure: 

Maximum investment of $1M in any particular equity venture, (special 
exceptions pe~ible) 

Maximum interest of less than 51 % of the total shares 

Representation of TIO on the Board of the borrower 

Return commensurate to risk 

Gearing ratios in line with industry standards 

Suitable and qualified management of the venture 
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Provision of an independent busine&S plan and forward projections 

based on statistic.al data 

Audited accounts 

Financial results for the previous three years 

Satisfactory supply of labour and other resources 

The applicant companies must be genuine Northern Territory based 
and controlled organisations. 

A special Board meeting of the TIO was held on 7 April 1988 which considered the 
local investment policy and made resolutions as summarised above and set out in full 
in Appendix 3.4. 

It is the Committee's understanding that similar guidelines are used when the Board 
oonsiders loaning money as opposed to injecting equity into a busin~. It is therefore 
surprising that TIO proceeded with the loan, given that so many of the conditions 
listed above were only partly, and in some instances not, complied with. 

6.3.4 Feasibility Studies 

In respect of the Pastrikos sub~ion, on 7 March 1988, TIO instructed Ernst & 
Whinney to carry out the following brief: 

. analysis of the project 

. verification of the financial figures 

. tax implications 

. recommendations in regard to TIO's participation 

In ~eir response of 22 March 1988 the following comments were made by Ernst & 
Whinney: 

a) 

b) 

The accoun~g systems and information are unsophisticated and lack 
a formal costmg ~em. (However, Ernst & Wbinney were impressed 
by clear and concise manual records maintained and believed th t 

fin
Mr J ~astrik~ maintained good control over the business and :S 

ancial affarrs.) 

Profit projections prepared by D · . 
d tail arwm Jomery suffered from a lack of 
~ to_ support future turnover and market penetration predictions 

e proJ~ed gr~ profit margin was optimistic in th initial . 
far exceeding the historically achieved percentages. e years, 
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c) Doubt was ~ upon the valuation of plant and equipment and 
goodwill which was effectively all that Mr Pastrikos was bringing to 
the deal. 

d) · Additionally, some doubt was cast upon the value of land and 
buildings and the projected statement of ~ts and liabilities as at the 
date of sale from Darwin Joinery to DJFM. 

Amongst other recommendations, Ernst & Whinney advised that: 

The proposed capital expansion programs be limited initially 
in size and the planned building program be conducted over 
two or three stages. 

A satisfactory ~em of rosting and financial control be 
installed as a matter of high priority. 

The TIO's investment be based on figures for net assets plus 
agreed goodwill established at an agreed date and such 
figures be subject to audit by a firm appointed by the TIO. 

A contrary view to a) was later expressed by Mr Dewsbury of Touche Ro~ the 
company which was commissioned to conduct an audit which was a condition to the 
later loan approval by 110.13 

These and other conrerns, such as staged development, were communicated to 
Mr Pastrikos on 6 April 1988. 

If the project were staged, it would allow the company to earn a more attractive 
return in the early years without tying up c:apital unnecessarily. As demand grew, 
and the company's sales forecasts were confirmed, it would be possible for the 
shareholders to inject more funds for the f aclory to be extended at a later date. 14 

In correspondence dated 19 April 1988, these concerns were refuted by Pastrikos' 
accountants, Mal Sciacca & Associates. 

13 

14 

Whilst the directors agree that a staged proposal would provide for increased rate 
of return in the first two years, they believe that the additional cost of increasing 
the size of the project at a later date, and the disruption c:aused, will be 
detrimental to the development of the overall concepL 

File note of 10 October 1988 by Mr Cook, Manager of Financial 
Services, TIO. 

Letter from TIO to Mr J Pastrikos dated 6/4/88 
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In the light of the conjecture surrounding the projected sales and gross profit margins, 
TIO commissioned a verification by way of market survey, to be conducted through 
Ernst & Wbinney, known as the McGregor Repart. This re~rt into the. wood b~ 
furniture market in the Northern Territory reached conclUSions and estunates which 
were half those put forward by Mr Williams. On 16 May TIO rejected the 

proposal.15 

It appears that TIO at no stage undertook any market or other research into the 
achievability or otherwise of the turnover and market penetration predictions prepared 
by Darwin Joinery in respect of the joinery market (as distinct from the wood based 
furniture market which is all that the McGregor Repart attempted to analyse). This 
research was warranted. Had the TIO conducted such research, the joinery turnover 
projections as prepared by Mr Williams might well have been shown to have been 

optimistic. 

In 1987, Darwin Joinery's joinery turnover was $23M. The figures submitted by it, in 
suppart of its application for TIO involvement, projected an annual joinery turnover of 
$3.985M, an increase of 73% over the 1987 result. 

Given the. prevailing commercial circumstances and the reasonably anticipated size of 
the. D~ market, the ~ual turnover growth of the magnitude as.swned by the 
pro1ecttons was suspect, partJcularly over a sustained period. The commercial climate 
and prevailing commercial circumstances should have been known to the TIO. 

The E~ & Whinney repart of 22 March 1988 certainly highlighted doubts about 
~ture 1omery turnover in general terms. It suggested that some overseas and 
mte.rstate markets would need to be captured if the proiected results t be achieved. J were o 

It appears that at no stage did the TIO ever attempt to analyse h th 
markets could realistically be captured ( . en D . , . ~ e er export 
transportation costs) how this could be hi~ eel, . arwmh s _relatively high labour and 

All 
. ' ac ev m w at tune-frame and 1 h 

were cruoal questions to the viability" f D . . . a w at cost. 0 arwm Jomery's expansion plans. 

Moreover, while TIO appears to have reoo "sed the Pastrikos family nor any of the D . lj'~ at an early stage the fact that neither 
either in furniture making or lar scalarwm ornery employees had any real experience 

· . ge e automated manufacturin · · 
obvious questions arising from that recogniti . g, it failed to ask the 
n~ expertise, and at what cost? on, ~.e. wo~d they. be able to acquire the 
Mr Pastrikos purchasing the correct lant . d Giv~n his relative inexperience, was 
he was pro~sing? Evidence beforep the ~~wpment for an enterprise of the type 
these questions, had they been cmked, uld h ee suggests that the answer to both 

wo ave been 'no'. 

15 Tabled Document 60 
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6.3.5 Loan to DJFM 

On 1 June 1988, Darwin Joinery Pty Ltd submitted a proposal to TIO requesting a 
loan of $2.5M in lieu of the previously declined equjty participation plan. This loan 
was intended to be co-dependent or conditional upon a loan from ANZ Banking 
Group of $1.5M, giving the $4M required to put the project on-stream. The security 
for the TI 0 loan was a fully-secured first mortgage on the land and buildings. The 
ANZ loan was to be secured by Pastrikos Family Trust property. 

TIO's response of 2 June 1988 was encouraging but further market analysis of the 
sales projections was sought. At a meeting between Darwin Joinery and TIO on 6 
June 1988 it was agreed that DJFM rommi~ion Touche Ro~ to ronduct such survey. 

It was at around this time that support for the project was expressed in a note sent by 
the Hon. Marshall Perron as Minister for Industries & Development to the Hon. 
Barry Coulter, Treasurer and Minister for TIO: 

With buildings like TIO/Courthouse/Parlitzment there's a grea,t opportunity for us 
to employ dozens of people including (I think 40) apprentices. 16 

Much of the information collected in support of the equity proposal was utilised in 
~ing the loan application. It was, acoording to the evidence of Mr Temple, a far 
less risky investment with a known rate of return and clearly defined the liability of the 
borrower. 

After further negotiation with Mr Pastrikos, a loan a"angement was entered into, 
with an option to convert to equi1y. Tha.t loan was for $25M, interest rate of 
125%... The interest was to be capitaJiSNi after three years.17 

At 30th June 1992, when the interest was due to be capitalised, the combination of the 
loan and capitaliSNi interest would have been in e~ of $4M. 

The Ernst & Whinney report of 22 March 1988 cautioned the TIO about the level of 
capital injection and that it would not be ~ible to construct the propoSNi $4M 
factory. 

Mr Temple's assertion in evidence that Darwin Joinery's revised loan proposal was not 
a 'far less risky investment' is difficult to understand. On ordinary lending principles, 
it was crucial for TIO to satisfy itself that the value of its securities would be adequate 
to support a loan of over $4M, and that DJFM's cashflow would be able to service a 
debt of that magnitude. 

16 Note from Hon M B Perron to Hon B Coulter 

17 Transcript of Mr P Temple, pp. 2-3 of 4 November 1992 
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. . that the loan proposal was properly ~' 
Although Mr Temple _stated m evidence assessment on TIO's files. On its face, a $4M 
there is little or no evidence of such an eal rty worth little more than that amount 
loan secured only by a m~rtgage over r bepropell outside normal commercial lending 
on a 'cost to build' basis, appears to we 

practice. 

. e furniture turnover projections (which gained some 
Moreover, with th~ exceptmn of ~uche Ross Adelaide report), virtually none of the 
support from findings of the T aised by th earlier Ernst & Wbinney and McGregor 
numerous doub~ and <:<>ncems r had ca~ TIO's Board to reject the previous 
Mar:ket~g studies (whiposalch togenlytherabout six weeks before), had even been further 
eqwty mvestment pro o 
addressed. 

These concerns were just as relevant to a loan application as to the earlier equity 

proposal. 

Y · nn· g of 1 July 1988 the TIO Board approved a $2.5M loan to DJFM, et at 1ts mee ' til th 
with interest 10 be capitalised at 30 June 1992 (i.e. with no loan repayments un at 

time). 

Moreover, the Touche R~ Adelaide report was rereived by TIO only a few days 
before this decision, on 27 June. It is difficult to believe that TIO officers could have 
had adequate time to analyse its findings, although Mr Temple did state in evidence 
that many of the Touche R~ findings were conveyed to TIO orally before the formal 
report was received. 

The Touche R~ Adelaide report found that DJFM could hope to achieve a 
maximum annual furniture sales figure of around $13M. While this w~ considerably 
more optimistic than the earlier McGregor Marketing study, it w~ a long way short of 
some of the extravagant projections that were later used to justify the various DJFM 
'rescue' packages (see later). 

Moreover, the Touche Ro~ Adelaide report was rommi~ioned and paid for by DJFM 
rather than TIO (although TIO had some input into its terms of referenre), and it 
appears that much of the data collection was undertaken by DJFM's consultant, 
Mr Williams. These facts should have caused the TIO to treat the report at least with 
some caution, particularly when its findings conflicted so clearly with the earlier 
McGregor Marketing research which was independent of the proponent. 

It should be noted that the evident deficiencies in TIO's evaluation of the DJFM loan 
~ropo~, to~e~er with ~e apparent haste with which the Board effectively reversed 
rts e~lier rejection ( albert of a revised proposal), caused some Committee Members to 
question the possibility of political intervention or persuasion. 

Ce~ handwritten not~ by Mr Perron, on an internal DID memorandum, are 
suggestwe (as Mr Perron himself agreed in evidence) that he (Mr Perron) intended to 
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have a meeting with Mr Temple shortly before the TIO Board meeting of 1 July 
1988.18 

However, both Mr Perron and Mr Temple deny having any record or recollection that 
such _a meeting in fact took place. There is no reliable evidence to say that such a 
meeting took place. In any event, Mr Temple strongly denied in evidence that there 
was any political intervention in the Board's decision of 1 July 1988. 

The Committee has no reason to believe that there was any substantive political 
intervention in TIO's July 1988 decision to approve the initial loan to DJFM. But for 
whatever reason, the TIO's assessment of DJFM's 1988 loan application was seriously 
flawed. 

6.3.6 The Building Contract 

The contract to build the DJFM factory complex was awarded to KP Builders Pty Ltd, 
another company owned and run by the Pamikos family. 

Although there is nothing wrong with this oommercially, it appears to have been a 
most unsatisfactory arrangement given the particular circumstances. With an entirely 
debt-funded project (much of it Government subsidisro debt), neither the owner nor 
the builder had any particular incentive to keep building costs under control. 

This fact was pointed out to the TIO in a file note dated 8 November 1988 from the 
Property Manager, TIO, to the Manager, Financial Services, TIO. 

The contract appears to be an agreement between two companies who have the 
sa.me ownership and there/ ore is fairly well worthless as any brea,ch of contract is 
not likely to be challenged as the owner would in effect be suing himself. 

Mr Palmer: In relation to safeguards on rise and fall or rise and rise cost over 
runs, you were Slltisfied that the necessary safeguards were there, as one would 
expect to be in place with the builder ... 

Mr Temple: Well it was a fixed price contract, so any cost over runs were a cost 
to Mr Pastrikos.19 

Although this was true, the oost over-runs which resulted contributed to the need for 
the first Government rescue package barely three months after the company 
oommenced operations. 

18 Tabled Document 56 

19 Transcript of Mr P Temple, p. 26 of 4 November 1992 
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. d to the n~ity for close monitoring of the 
Concern was expr~ ~TI<? m regar . Board meeting of 30/31 July 1989 it was 
financial affairs of Darwm Jomery. At rts 

stated that: 

. . 
1 1 · the essence to sucassfu1 development of the potential of 

... Fznancui contro IS 

DJFM ... 

. · A gust 1989 the company incurred an operating lo~ of 
During the penod May to ~ . 
$1.2M consisting of the followmg rtems: 

$400,000 cost overrun on construction 

$ 73,000 relocation/estabJishment oosts 

$102,000 costs in co~ioning computer equipment 

$122,000 additional material oosts through production inefficiencies 

$472,000 payments to subcontractors to complete work in hand. 

As a consequenc.e of the l~ the 'first' Touche Ross Report was commi~ioned on 
25 September 1989, to be completed by 28 September, and although this study was 
commissioned by Mr Pamikos and ultimately paid for by DID through the NIES, it 
should be remembered that this report used figures supplied by Mr Williams of DJFM 
which subsequently proved to be optimistic. The O>mmittee expresses cone.em that a 
report, which was completed in just three days and using figures supplied by DJFM, 
was relied upon by Government to the extent it was when the purpose of the report 
was to induce financial institutions to lend money to DJFM and not an objective 
assessment of DJFM's future. 

6.3. 7 First Rescue Package 

Both DID and TIO wrote to Touche R~ setting out isrues they felt needed to be 
addr~. In addition to cash flow and management, DID specifically requested they 
c:ons.1der peak requirem~nt for additional funding. TIO requested comment on the 
likelihood of su~ with regard to winning contracts for the construction of State 
Square Stage 1. 

It is interesting to note, however, that on 26 September 1989, TIO instructed Ward 
Kell~r to prepare the necessary documentation for TIO to appoint a manager or 
r~wer ~d manager _to DJFM. It was stressed that this was one of several options 
bemg c.ons1dered at this stage by existing lenders. 

On 29 September 1989 a meeting was held between representatives of Touche Ros.s, 
DID, ANZ, DJFM and TIO. Touche Ross expressed the belief that the company had 
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a strong ~ibility of trading out of the current difficulties. Cash flow forecasts 
indicated a requirement for $700,000 which was subsequently increased to $0.88M. 

The DID assistanc:e package of $0.88M comprised: 

$200,000 Government loan 

· $300,000 TIO loan 

$280,000 moratorium on lease and loan payments 

$100,000 increased overdraft facility 

6.3.8 Additional Consultancy Reports Commissioned 

6.3.8.1 South Australian Centre for Manufacturing 

The South Australian Centre for Manufacturing was requested to prepare a report on 
the implementation of the computer information system called Empire MRPII, 
installed but not running effectively, at DJFM. The major problem was that DJFM 
was the first Australian buyer of this US product and there was virtually no local or 
national backup. In the summary of their report, which was received in October 1989, 
the consultants stated: 

... DJFM is an organi.sa:tion tluit is very innovative with its people having plenty of 
drive and initiative. Wzth these attributes, they can succeed with this MRPII 
implementation but need to allocate some additional resources and introduce 
effective project management techniques ... 

6.3.8.2 Mullen Report 

The Mullen Report, which was also presented in October 1989, reviewed the overall 
operation of DJFM, especially the computerised manufacturing process. It concluded: 

... Danvin Joinery & Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd has begun its transition 
from a traditional joiner!fitout business into an integrated manufacturing 
organisation producing joinery, office and domestic furniture, and components. 
There have been problems in the transition, to a large extent resulting from under­
estimation of the resources of people and the time required to implement the 
technology. As stated previously, the strategic planning for the organisation and 
the selection of technologies and techniques have l>een c:arried out in a most 
professional manner; the diffiailties now being addressed are those associated 
with implementing these techniques and technologies in the organisation to enable 
the ultimate goal of integrated manufacturing to be achieved ... 
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6.3.8.3 Specification for Position of General Manager 

In addition to their original report, Touche Ross were employed in November 1989 to 
prepare a specifiration for the position of General Manager. 

6.3.9 Events Subsequent to the First Rescue Package 

Mr Pastrikos, on 6 October, wrote to TIO reaffirming his commitment to sell off 
commercial property owned by the Pastrikos Family Trust in an atte~pt to r~1:1c.e 
debt loading. He also co~ioned Touche R~ to prepare a financial sub~1on 
which would be aimed at lenders prepared to take a long-term view of the operation. 

At its Board meeting 28!29 October the Chairman of TIO, Mr Temple stated: 

... It is important that a top level manager is appointed as soon as possible to 

take fall control of the operation ... 

In a note dated 21 November 1989, the General Manager TIO Finance, Mr Nayler, 
wrote to the Chairman stating that he had spoken to Mr Finch of Touche R~ (who 
had been retained by DJFM as advisers) on the deteriorating profit and l~ position 
and specific areas of management. The note records Mr Finch's comments: 

He states that he can manipulate the companys c:ash flow to keep it 
trading until at least the end of January when State Square is on-stream. 

He cannot yet identify why direct costs are so far out of kilter. 

He admits that there is certainly room to cut staff but says that Pastrikos 
is reluctant to address the situation and that in fall production for State 
Square, they would be again required. 

6.3.10 'Second Touche Ross Report' 

On 20 January 1990 Mr Pastrikos forwarded a further report on the financial position 
?f. D~, purportedly prepared by Touche Rossa>, which identified the need for the 
IDJectJOn of a further $15M in order that the company might continue trading. He 
r~uested that TIO consider an equity arrangement to the extent of 1,500 000 fully 
paid shares of $1 each. ' 

20 
This. report was clearly labelled 'DJFM'. In 

8 d b submission receive y the Committee after th h · 
Marwick (Incorporating Touche R e earings from KPMG Peat 
this report was vehemently den. odssb)' any alleged involvement with 

ie Y the company. 
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The report states: 

The financial position shows DJFM is too dependent on fwu1s bo"owed 
from its creditors. Without the support of the financiers, DJFM is unable 
to meet its debts as and when they become due. The accum11lated losses 
to 31 December 1989 has almost extinguished the unit holders 
contribution. 

If there are likely to be continuing losses, DJFM is unlikely to survive in 
the short term without continuing support from its financiers and/or 
additional fwu1s being introduced by way of equity. 

If no additional fwu1ing is provided to DJFM, it is unlikely the business 
can continue payments to meet employees wages obligations and the 
suppliers of goods and services which will cause the business to cease. 

Further, the additional equity is required to be introduced during 
February 1990 ($JM) and May 1990 ($0.5M) in order that sufficient 
fwu1s are available for DJFM to meet its obligations as and when they 
become due. 

Touche R~ denied preparing such a second report which in fact bears the name of 
DJFM 21

• It is suggested that this was in fact a revamping of the original report, 
which was based on figures by Mr Williams, with little further analysis or research. 
The sensitivity of Touche Ross' position and its potential for conflict of interest, is a 
matter to which all parties including the TIO should have been more alert. 

In response to this report Mr Nayler, General Manager, Finance (TIO), instructed 
Mark Lewis of Olpel C:Ourt to produc.e an options report. Mr Lewis was asked to 
brief Richard England of Ernst & Y oung22 in the event that legal advic.e was required 
on management, sinc.e it was his opinion that: 

21 

22 

23 

... Geoff Finch of Touche Ross is UIUlble to act independently or decisively on 
our [TIO's] behaJf.n 

Tabled Document 16 

Formerly Ernst & Whinney 

Memorandum from Mr Nayler to Mr Temple of 23 January 1990. 
Tabled Document 79. 
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However the latter was 'never followed tJuough'.24 That it was never followed 
through ~ a matter for concern. The issues involved and the public money involved 
warranted complete independence both in fact and in appearances. TIO management 
should have addressed this i&sue head on. They failed to do so. 

It is unclear whether the concern expressed about Touche Ro~' independence was 
ever communicated to DID, which apparently continued to regard the firm as the 
Department's consultant. The Committee is of the view that Touche Ro~ were by 
this stage (late January 1990) in a situation of at least potential conflict of interest, 
and should have declined to ac.cept further instructions from either the Government or 
TIO, which involved ~ing DJFM's circumstances. 

Moreover, it is entirely unclear whether Mr Finch actually did any more work for DID 
or TIO following his preparation of the 'Second Touche Ro~ Report' for the 
Pastrikos family. Mr Tony Watson, a business analyst for DID, claims that Mr Finch 
did further in-depth analysis for DID. Mr Finch says he simply allowed Mr Watson to 
make use of his computer programme. Qearly if Mr Finch did no substantive work 
for TIO or DID, no question of conflict of interest can arise. 

The Capel Court report outlined some options available to TIO to safeguard its 
interests in DJFM but seemed more aimed at selling itself to TIO as yet another 
management and financial consultant. 

At about. this tim~ TIO ~e aware of an approach made to the Chief Minister by 
Mr Pastrikos seeking an IDJectlon of $1.5M, however the Board resolved at its meeting 
on 25 January to: 

~onitor the Government's pliins to enszue tha.t the proposed a"angements do not 
znvolve any further commitment or reduction in secunty· fcor T/O's current position 
with this firm 

6.3.11 Proposed Second Rescue Package 

Mildrens, ~arristers and Solicitors, were retained by the directors of shelf company 
n-:~wiiFM On 7_Feb~ l~'. they proposed a number of options which would 
en e ~o retrre a:rtam significant debts and provide sufficient workin ca ital 
for the enterpnse to contmue, at least for the short term. g p 

24 

25 

Transcript of Mr Nayler, p. 63 of 5 November 1992 

Later to be renamed Dalway Pty Ltd 

46 



On 8 February 1990, Mr Watson sent a fax to TIO stating that the proposed rescue 
package of $3.5M was going to Olbinet next Tuesday.1b He indic.ated that Option 3, 
direct acquisition, was preferred and that TIO may have to ~ist with performance 
guarantees of $150,000. 

On 14 February 1990 TIO replied to DID stating that the Board had resolved on 25 
January that the present level of exposure was the maximum to which TIO was able to 
go, and therefore performance guarantees would require special Board approval.Tl 

Mr Otto Alder of DID wrote to Mr Temple on 22 February asking that the Board 
reconsider their position in regard to performance guarantees. 

On 23 February TIO responded expr~ing concern that Mr Alder's letter put them on 
notice that even with the rescue package, the working capital of the company would be 
'particularly tight.'28 

Accordingly the Board of TIO instructed the Chairman to advise that TIO's current 
offer to participate in the rescue had lapsed and they now wished to make the 
following alternative offers: 

that the TIO will rede its interest in the mortgage and mortgage 
debenture for a consideration of $2.5M to be paid within twelve 
months. 

alternatively the TI 0 would be prepared to ~gn the mortgage to the 
Northern Territory Government in consideration for $32M, being 
regarded as a tax credit for 1989-90 and later years under s28 
Territory Insurance Office Act and/or as a credit against any directions 
under s26. 

Later the same day Mr Temple was requested to see the Chief Minister, the Hon. 
Marshall Perron. Also present at this meeting were Mr Nayler of TIO, the Deputy 
Chief Minister, the Hon. Barry Coulter and the Secretary, Department of the Chief 
Minister, Mr Allan Morris. 'J9 

According to Mr Temple's recollections, the Chief Minister advised him that <:abinet 
wished to save the company because of the potential loss of employment of 70 

26 Tabled Document 81 

27 Tabled Document 82 

28 Tabled Document 85 

29 Tabled Document 86 
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workers. The Chief Minister apparently went on to say that neither of 1,10's l~test 
options were acceptable and that Cabinet was prepared to accept Tl~ s prevmus 
option which was to transfer the mortgage to the new company, Dalloway. 

Mr Temple apparently responded that the Board doubted that the project would be 
commercially viable even after the injection of more funds, and that TIO wanted to 
withdraw from the project completely. He told those present that ~ th~ Government 
wanted TIO to transfer the mortgage, it could issue a written directton under s.7 
TerriJory Insurance Office Act. 

As already referred to in 63.1 hereof, Section 7 of the Act provides: 

Except as provided by or under this or any other Act, the Office, in the 
perfonnance of its functions and the exercising of its powers, is subject to the 

written directions of its Minister. 

Also, as already noted, the Act clearly puts the Minister in a position to direct the 
TI 0 in what it does. 

According to Mr Temple, the Chief Minister said he would be prepared to employ this 
section if necessary. The Deputy Chief Minister said that he feh that this action was 
unnecessary and that Mr Temple should ronsult with the Board members again.31 

Mr Temple rang the Board members from Mr Morris' office. It was agreed by the 
majority (3-1) of them that the TIO acrede to the Chief Minister's request and 
transfer the mortgage thus reversing its previous decision. Curiously, Mr Temple 
voted in favour of transferring the loan. One member of the board, Mr Trimmer, 
could not be contacted but later refused to endorse the majority change of mind. 

Mr Parish: ... the Chief Minister asked you to tell all the board members that if 
they didn't make that decision, he would direct them anyway. 

Mr Temple: No. I was asked to put to the board the conversation I had had with 
the Chief Minister and the Deputy, which obviously included tJwse comments. 32 

Mr Temple went on: 

It was clea.r that the government wanted to rtnu you know keep the · . U-J, , company uz 
operation .... 

30 
Tabled Document 86 

31 
Tabled Document 86 

32 
Transcript of Mr Temple, p. 71 of s November 1 9 92 

48 



Their reasons for wanting tha.t were stated dearly. They were to do with the loss 
of employment, and tha.t was relayed to the board members. 33 

At its Board meeting of 29/30 March 1990 members were asked to confirm the 
positions they took in relation to the transfer of the mortgage to the new company. 
Mr Bradley and Mr Trimmer dissented. 

In a prepared statement to the Committee, regarding that meeting with Mr Temple, 
the Chief Minister said: 

... I made Cabinet's view known to Mr Temple. I have said tha.t the TIO board 
did not have a substantive position ... 34 

There was no board decision as to what action it would take if their offers were 
rejected. Implied however is TIO's withdrawal, forcing the company into insolvency 
and precipitating an asset fire sale. The jobs and technology would be lost for ever. 
The TIO would lose money and so would the Government.35 

There appears to be a clear contradiction in that TIO had, at its board meeting, 
decided that they wanted out of any further involvement with DJFM, which would 
seem to be a fairly 'substantive' position. 

The Deputy Chief Minister gave evidence of his reoollections of the same meeting; 

33 

34 

35 

36 

Mr Coulter: Anyway, he (Mr Pe"on) was responsible for the passage of the 
legislation of the TIO tluough this Assembly and he did not have to be reminded 
by the Chairman of the TIO, but the Chairman just sort of was being flippant, I 
believe. 

Mr Parish: Well, is not the wlwle point, Mr Coulter, because he was not 
reminding Mr Pe"on of what the Act said, or purporting to do so. What he was 
saying was: "you have got the power, we are not going to do it voluntarily, if you 
want us to do it, you will have to direct us". 

Mr Coulter: Not at all Not at all Those word.s were never, ever mentioned by 
Mr Temple. 36 

Transcript of Mr Temple, pp 71-2 of 5 November 1992 

Transcript of Hon M B Perron, P· 6 of 12 November 1992 

Transcript of Hon M B Perron, p.6 of 12 November 1992 

Transcript of Hon B Coulter, P• 87 of 13 November 1992 
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· Jy said in this respect on the 
It is not possible to conclude confidently what was precise 
evidence. 

Conclusion 

Th d ·d f the TIO plainly evinres its intent to withdraw from any 
e ocumentary evi ence o . · had ·ected 

further participation in supporting DJFM. Logically, then, once. Cabmet . . reJ TIO 
the options put forward in its letter of 23 February, the only ~on ~emammg to 
was to seek liquidation of the joinery. However, such actJon did n~t _eventuate 
because during a meeting with the Chief Minister and othen>: the . °:1aJonty of the 
Board, through telephone contact by the Chairman, reversed therr deos1on. 

The Committee concludes that the change of heart by the Board was, at least in part, 
the result of political persuasion. 

The TIO has developed into more than simply an insurance company since it has 
expanded into housing finance and investment. It is therefore n~, for the future 
well-being and growth of the institution, that public investors are assured that 
operations will be in line with normal, sound commercial practice and insulated from 
political direction. 

This does not mean that the Committee does not see a role for the powers of the 
Minister under s.7 TerriJ.ory Insurance Office Act. The sheer weight of evidenre 
however in this instance indicated that this venture would never be a commercial 
success; that extraneous reasons for its continued existence, namely saving jobs and 
continued local involvement in State Square, were insufficient to justify its survival. 
DJFM should have been left to market forces which would have ensured its demise. 

Other evidence received by the Committee points to job l~ in rival joineries 
resulting directly from the Government's decision to purchase DJFM and shield it 
from commercial reality.37 

Although it may have created administrative complexities, evidence indicates that local 
participation in the State Square project could have been maintained through the 
employment of other joineries in Darwin. 

The Committee has concluded that the establishment of DJFM w~ an ambitious 
venture, especially into furniture manufacturing. The sales projections were based on 
export ~arkets, into which little or no apparent research had been carried out, and 
on the lions share of the local furniture market. 

It is noteworthy that as early as the March 1988 TIO Board meetm· g f th be Mr . . , one o e 
mem rs, Merv Elliott, reqwred that the Minutes record his conrem that the 

37 
Transcript of Mr Mannion, pp 27-8 of 28 August 1992 
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Darwin Joinery proposal (as it then stood) did not comply ~,Mth the above investment 
guidelines. 

It should also be noted that the then TIO Deputy General Manager, Mr Michael 
Nyunt, also expressed conrems. Apparently these concerns were made known to the 
Board Meeting of July 1988 which approved the initial $25M DJFM loan. Mr Nyunt 
had concerns about its wisdom, particularly that it did not comply with TIO's 
investment guidelines. Mr Nyunt later put these concerns in writing.38 

Although it is understood that there may have been some emerging personality 
differences in TI 0 at this time on unrelated ~es, it is difficult to understand how the 
Board could apparently have so lightly dismissed the concerns of some of its senior 
management. 

The TIO failed in its responsibilities towards its shareholders in that it did not take 
sufficient cognisanre of the various reports it rommis.sioned into the furniture market. 
It apparently ignored the warnings contained in the reports of Ernst & Whinney, 
McGregor Marketing and Touche Ross, which resulted in it being swayed from sound 
commercial judgment. 

The structure of the loan, from the very start, was un1ike1y to be viable. Whilst 
acknowledging the need to support local busin~ the C:Ommittee believes that more 
stringent independent lending policies should be developed to ~ist realistic and 
commercially viable ventures in the Northern Territory. 

Recommendation 

That the power to direct the TIO under S.7 of the Act, where it may relate to 
investment or lending decisions of the Board, be limited to: 

1. A veto of proposed investments or loans; and 

2. General directions in relation to investment or loan policy. 

Such directions should be reported along with reasons to Parliament within six sitting 
days of the exercise of the Ministerial power. 

6.4 THE PURCHASE DECISION 

In response to receiving a ropy of the 'Second Touche Ross Report', which 
accompanied Mr Pastrikos' letter of 20th January 1990 to the Chief Minister, DID 
prepared a briefing paper in relation to DJFM and sent it under cover of a 

38 Tabled Document 68 
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memorandum, dated 24 January 1990, to the Hon. Barry Coulter for noting and to be 

passed to the Chief Minister'. 

Although the copy of the memorandum obtained from the DID files is not signed as 
'noted' by Mr Coulter, it appears that the briefing paper was used by Mr Coulter to 
brief Mr Perron. 

The memorandum in part stated: 

... DJFM has serious financia.l and related problems. 

... From a purely commercial viewpoint, it would be di.ffiadt to agree to 

the funding request in light of the inherent risks. 

... implications for local trade aeditors and the Pastrikos family would be 
severe. 

... delays in awarding the joinery component of the Stllte SqUllre project to DJFM 
has had a serious effect on the cash flow of the business. 

... the blunt reality is that they require a sum of $1m-$1.5m, injected 
perhaps progressively over the next tluee months, but with an immedia1e 
injection of at least $300,000, just to survive until cash flows improve. 

.... a:~ditions wif l hav_e to be accepted by DJFM which will promote 
vzabilzty. More Ume will IJe needed to determine these conditions. 

The briefing paper addr~ the following issues: 

Corporate direction 
Sales and marketing 
Gr~ margin 
Management 
Board involvement 
Technology 
Culture 
Reputation 
State Square project 

The summary contained in the briefing paper has been included in Appendix 35. 

39 
Tabled Document 19 
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The paper also contains details of what it c.alls 'Stakeholders'. These were: 

Employees 
Trade creditors 
Secured creditors (TIO and ANZ Banking Group) 
Lease and instalment purchase creditors 
Pastrikos family 
DID 
Preferred creditors 
Northern Territory Government 
Smaller joinery busin~ 

Details have been included in Appendix 3.6. 

A further memorandum dated 29 January 1990 was prepared by DID for the Hon. 
Barry Coulter and dated 29 January 1990.40 

It included a commentary on possible approaches to the DJFM request for funds. 

In part the commentary stated: 

40 

... DJFM is unable to meet its current liabilities as and when these fall 
due. 

... Creditors are already in a position to institute insolvency actioTL 

... it will be several years before viability is restored. 

... achievement of projections is highly dependent on new management 
methods . 

... both ANZ Bank, providing an overdraft of $600,000, and Esanda, 
with equipment leases of $1.2m have immediate rights to terminate these 
facilities. ... Their forTTUll co-operation with any package is vital 

... DJFM is a showcase pioneer of the introduction of integrated 
manufacturing technology in the Territory... Its demise will cast a pall 
over fature attempts to proceed in this directioTL ... Any justific.ation for 
Governmental financial assistance rests on this broader consideratioTL 

... Both ANZ and Esanda have little expectation that their funding will 
be returned. 

Tabled Document 20 
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ntly each may be prepared to be taken oui at a substantial 
... Conseque , 
discount. 

· if ,.~~r1nnce i.s aoreed. One i.s the 
... Thus there are two primary optwns z .~IJ""' o· · other 
injection of $1.Sm combined with retention of ANZ(Esando.. TJu: 
is the injection of $20m (which will ~~ry ~ccor~ to the . discount 
achieved but known by the time the deaswn is requued) combined with 
the removal of these internal firuinciers. 

Following on from the memorandum, Mr Coulter prepared a memorandum to 

Mr Perron which included: 

Draft arrangements and conditions which might apply to any funding 

covenng: 

The Investment; 
The Company; 
The Pastrikos Family; and 
The Board of Directors. 

Issues regarding the Board. 

The draft arrangements and conditions and the ~es regarding the Board have been 
included in Appendix 3.7. 

On 30 January 1990 c.abinet made a decision (c.abinet Decision 6338) in favour of the 
$2.0 million option the result of which would be to pay out ANZ Banking Group and 
Esanda. The decision stated: 

... Cabinet authorised the Chief Minister and Minister for Industries and 
Development to firulli.se a"angements to assist the on-going operations of 
Darwin Joinery and Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd up to a maximum 
of $2m, subject to the company accepting appropria.te conditioru. 

The Hon. Marshall Perron met with Mr John Pastrikos on 2 February 1990 m 
Mr Perron's office. No other person was present at the meeting. 

Mr Perron recalls that meeting as follows: 

... I informed him that if the government as was (sic) going to continue 
to support the factory it would take over the compa.ny and that he and 
his family had lost everything. I believe I also told him to go off and talk 
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fwther with DID officers with a view to reaching an a"angement which 
may allow the family to buy back the company at some future stage. 41 

Mr Pastrikos was ultimately given by Mr Perron an edited version of the Draft 
Arrangements and C:Onditions noted above. The edited version is included at 
Appendix 3.8. Omitted from that edited version were the following paragraphs of the 
draft arrangements and conditions previously referred to: 

all of B. 'The company - DJFM' 

paragraph 3 of C. 'Pastrikos Family' 

Mr Pastrikos has alleged that the edited version of those Draft Arrangements and 
C:Onditions he received, along with oral representations made, oonstituted an 
agreement in relation to such things as a purchase option and a first right of refusal. 

The question of the alleged option arrangement, inter alia, is dealt with in more detail 
at 6.7. 

Following the Cabinet decision noted above, officials of DID, in particular 
Messrs Watson and Caldwell, continued to analyse the information available including 
the 'Second Touche R~ Report'. They had major concerns about ~ible 
unrecorded and unknown contingent liabilities of DJFM and the po~ible 

consequential dilution of the proposed Government funding. 

One of the objectives was that the provider of the funds would have control over the 
operations of DJFM. As a resuh DID had sought legal advire from the Department 
of Law who suggested that DID oontact an experienced commercial lawyer and 
insolvency accountant. The first legal firm contacted had a conflict of interest and this 
led DID to retain Mr Geoff James of the legal firm of Mildrens. 

Mr James advised that the objective of providing a loan and obtaining effective control 
of the recipient and avoiding unknown liabilities could not be achieved under the 
normal lender/borrower arrangement. 

It was therefore decided that the objective could best be achieved if the Government 
bought the business and ~ts of DJFM, via a shelf company (initially Dalloway then 
renamed Dalway), for an amount equal to that which was needed to pay amounts 
owing to unsecured and secured creditors. 

It was determined that the funding requirement had increased from $2.0 million to 
$3.5 million, of which $1.5 million was to be made available after 30 Jwie 1990 for 
working capital purposes. 

41 Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - p. 4 of 12 November 1992 

55 



From the evidence it appears that the issue of Dalway was further discussed by 
Cabinet at a meeting held on 7th February 1990 but no decision was recorded as 
having been made at that meeting. 

In a memorandum and briefing dated 9 February 1990 DID documented their reasons 
for the increase in funding requirement. The major reawn stated was a reduction in 
sales projections and more conservative timing of debtor collections. The reasons have 
been included in full at Appendix 3.9. 

On 16 February 1990, and after consideration of advice from DID, Cabinet made a 
further decision (Cabinet Decision 6359) which stated: 

... Cabinet -

(a) Rescinded Cabinet Decision No. 6338 of 30 January 1990. 

(b) Approved a package of restructuring the business operated by 
Darwin Joinery and Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd. This 
package is to include government nomination of the controlling 
majority of Directors on the Board; and 

(c) Approved the injection of funds of: 

(i) $2m in 1989/90, including an immedUzte injection of 
$0.lm; and 

(ii) $1.5m in 1990/91. 

Original reasons given for the decision were:•2 

42 

The Company {DJFM) was insolvent and unable to continue to 
operate, or meet its commitments. 

It was apparent ~a~ the previous management was unable to handle 
such a ~arge sophisticated, technologically advanced and highly geared 
enterpnse. 

This placed loans of $2.8 million from the TIO and · 
Government funding support of $0318 million at risk. , pnor 

Territory based creditors faced losses totalling approximately $0.5 
million. 

DID file 92/621 _ Folio 121 
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The jobs of seventy employees (including twelve apprentic.es) were at 
risk. 

The Joinery was a 'showcase pioneer' attempt to establish an 
integrated technologic.ally advanced manufacturer within the Territory. 
Its failure would have had a detrimental affect on prospects for 
establishment of such industry in the future. 

The business, assets and liabilities of DJFM were subsequently purchased by Dalloway, 
a Government owned shelf company with nominee shareholders, on 15 March 1990. 
Dalloway thereafter changed its name to Dalway. 

As a result of the purchase the amounts outstanding to the Northern Territory 
Government were as follows: 

Purchase price 
Working capital 
Previous loan 
ANZ Banking Group 

settlement (part of) 

$M 

2.000 
1500 
0205 

0.113 
3.818 

The working capital amount of $15 million was not made available until after 30 June 
1990. 

TIO transferred its outstanding loans from DJFM to Dalway as at the date of 
acquisition after initially deciding it wanted the Northern Territory Government to pay 
it out in full due to problems related to the perf ormanre guarantees it had given on 
behalf of DJFM. 

TIO's involvement from a financial view point was as follows: 

Original loan 
Additional loan (Oct. 89) 
Accrued interest 

SM 

2500 
0300 
0.088 
2.888 

DJFM was subsequently placed in voluntary liquidation on 29 March 1990. $0.622 
million was paid from the initial $2.0 million injection to the Liquidator of DJFM to 
pay unsecured trade creditors. A further $0316 million was also paid to the 
Liquidator from the second injection (working capital) to complete the payment of all 
trade creditors. 
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The disbursement and draw down of the $2.0 million and the $1.5 million respectively 

is detailed in Appendix 3.10. 

6.5 THE EVALUATION 

The financiers behind DJFM at the time of the Pastrikos letter dated 20th January 
1990 to the Chief Minister were: 

ANZ Banking Group; 

Esanda Finance; 

TIO; and 

DID 

On 5 September 1989 Mr Barry Loan (ANZ Loans Manager) had requested a meeting 
with representatives of Touche Ross (Mr Phil De'WSbury and Mr Geoff Finch). As 
stated by Mr Dewsbury, contact was made bec4use Mr Loan had some serious 
concerns about his bank's loan and bec4use he and the other financiers were not 
getting financial information from DJFM43

• 

As a result of this initial contact a Steering Committee was formed. The Steering 
Committee consisted of: 

ANZ Banking Group representative 

Esanda Finance representative 

TI 0 representative 

DID representative 

Mr John Pastrikos 

Mr Tony Pastrikos 

The Steering Co~ttee had its first meeting on 22 September 1989. As a result, 
Touche Ross were mstructed to conduct an investigation into DJFM d · 
fin ·al · · . an report on rts 

_anCJ posit.Jon. ~report was ~eel on 29 September 1989. It was titled Danvin 
Joinery and Manufactunng Pty Ltd Investigation Report. 

43 
Transcript of Mr Dewsbury - p. 3 of 28 October 1992 
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It has become known through the public hearings as the 'Firs' Touche Ross Report'. 

The report forecast that DJFM would require additional working capital of $0.7 
million to support it to 30 June 1990. 

As a result of the report and further meetings of the Steering C:Omminee, additional 
funding arrangements were agreed on as follows: 

$M 

DID loan 020 
TIO~an o~ 

ANZ Banking Group overdraft facility 0.10 
ANZ Banking Group and Esanda Finance 
moratorium on loan and lease 
repayments 0.28 

0.88 

The DID loan was drawn down on 12 December 1989. 

The first Touche R~ Report contained a significant disclaimer because of the 
unreliability of management information and the nature of the assumptions on which 
the report was based. 

The disclaimer read: 

... The repon and appendices are prepared from information supplied by 
the Company's management and are based upon a number of 
assumptions which have been explained in the reporL If there has been a 
material omission or mis-statement off act, the future viability and the 
financial position may not be as shown in this report. Accordingly we do 
not accept any responsibility, either to the persons for whom the report is 
prepared or to any other person, for the acauacy or completeness of this 
report. 

The report highlighted a number of major problems with DJFM including: 

Lack of reliable financial and management information 

The managers did not currently have the skills required to properly 
manage the company 

The busin~ and its management had no previous expenence of 
computer integrated manufacturing 

Work habits required re-direction 
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Production capacity was very limited because computer integrated 

manufacturing was not occurring. 

Further, on a suggestion from management, one of the ass~~tions with regard to 
future income was that DJFM would win the State Square 101nery contract worth 
approximately $4.0 million and that the project would be completed by 30 June 1990. 

The report stated in relation to fixed a§ets: 

... Land and buildings are shown at a cost of $3,433,000. The land and 
buildings located at Wmnel/.ie, Northern Territory has been independently 
valued by Mr PD Doyle FAW, SCV, FRGI, REW (Aust) of Darwin 
Land Services Pty Ltd on 23 May 1989 at a value of $4,150,000. 

The Budget, Profit and Los.s Statement (with the con~uation of the prop~. joinery 
and furniture manufacturing operation) as per Appendix C of the Report mdicated a 
net profit of $0248 million for the period September 1989 to 30 June 1990. 

The related Cash Flow Budget as per Appendix D of the Report indirated that $0.7 
million would be required by March 1990 and that these funds would need to remain 

in place until June 1990. 

The Report further stated: 

... These funds are required immediately in order tha.t aedit facilities ain 
be re-established wi1h the major suppliers and for the bank account to 
operate within its approval limit of $500,000. 

... DJFM will require assistance from a professional adviser to monitor 
the performance of management and the use of the funds for the sole 
benefit of DIFM to trade out of its present situation. 

The summary and recommendations of the First Touche Ro~ Report have been 
included in Appendix 3.11. 

As noted above, a package of $0.88 million w~ injected into DJFM by the financiers. 
~owever_ shortly after its injection it was reaJi~ that the projections and the 
information on which the funding decision w~ based were inac.curate. The financial 
situation of DJFM again reached crisis point. As a result, and due to the refusal of 
the members of the Steering Committee to provide further finance DJFM 
commissioned Touche Ross t~ ~repare a .submission for them which effectively 
amounted to a plea or an application for ~JStance. As previously mentioned it was 
~~~ with the Chief Minister, Hon. Marshall Perron, DID and TIO on 20 January 
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The evaluation proce&S subsequently undertaken with respect to that application for 
further assistance involved a number of key people who appeared before this 
C-ommittee. The transcripts of their evidence contain a volume of information, 
opinions and comments relating to the evaluation pr~. 

The key people are: 

Mr Geoff James (Mildrens) 

The Hon. Marshall Perron, MLA 

Mr Tony Watson (ex DID) 

Mr Peter Caldwell (ex DID) 

Mr Otto Alder (ex DID) 

Mr Phil Dewsbury and Mr Geoff Finch (Touche R~) 

Mr Geoff James 

Mr James carried out legal work for DID from early February 1990 to mid April 1990 
in relation to the purchase decision. He was a nominee shareholder on behalf of the 
Government and a director of Dalway in November 1991 following the removal of Mr 
John Pastrikos from the Board. 

He gave legal advice on the means of providing the n~ financial injection into 
DJFM and stated that: 

... It was a result of that counselling that Mr Watson came back to me 
and Sllid that as a ways and means of providing financial assistance to 
this vital industry, it had been resolved that a government-owned 
compa.ny would buy the industry (sic) for enough money to make sure all 
its existing aeditors of an unsecured nature got paid, and the company 
that did the purchase would be owned by the government and controlled 
by the government.44 

The basic intention appeared to remain unchanged; the Government wanted to inject 
funds into DJFM to ensure its immediate survival and to enable it to become viable. 
There was no intention to hold onto the busin~ and ~ts once it became viable. H 
the money, which the Government injected, was returned, then the business was 
apparently to be handed back to the Pastrikos family. 

44 Transcript of Mr James - p. 26 of 2 September 1992 
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In reply to the following question from Mr Bailey: 

... So when you said for the government not to loan money if that's what 
you wanJ.ed to do but to buy it there was no assessment whatsoever as"! 
the qUillity of what they were buying, it was only in relation to whether zt 

was legally co"ect for them to buy it, not lend?.
45 

Mr James responded: 

and 

and 

No. The former assessment is not one within my role.46 

... hardly my role to check that they have done their arithmetic properly.47 

... What I was presented with is, the Territory does not want to see this 
industry disappear for the Northern Territory. We are going to help iL 
We are going to provide it with money. This will ensure that the creditors 
of this organisation will be paid and it will ensure that 60 or 70 jobs are 
preserved in the community, and it will ensure that we don't lose this 
factory to some southern asset raider. That was roughly what I was told. 
And if I can go on and say, I agrelll with iL I thought it was a jolly 
good idea.. 48 

The Hon. Marshall Perron, MLA 

As part of his prepared statement which was given to the Committee at its hearings, 
Mr Perron stated: 

45 

46 

47 

48 

... Cabinet believed that, with good management and the injection of 
necessary funds, the Company had excellent chances of becoming 

Transcript of Mr James - p. 43 of 2 September 1992 

Transcript of Mr James - P· 43 of 2 September 1992 

Transcript of Mr James - p. 43 of 2 September 1992 

Transcript of Mr James - p. 43 of 2 September 1992 
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profita,ble. There were 70 jobs at risk and other Territory based 
burinesses facing losses of around half a million dollars. 49 

... Additionally there was consideration of the effect the company's failure 
would have on confuience in the Territory manufacturing in general.50 

... Had the company not been in serious trouble there would have been 
.. no need for government involvement.51 

... Cabinet, and most everyone else who took an interest, knew duit the 
work (State Square) was to be done and that only DJFM had the 
capacity or technology to fulfil the ma.jor contracts.52 

Mr Perron later stated that although a written submission in relation to the purchase 
decision was not made he recalled that Mr Watson of DID did make a presentation to 
Cabinet which enabled Cabinet to be comfortable in making its decision in that it had 
the latest, best advice that it could get. 

He also stated that the decision Cabinet reached had to be reached, because of the 
inevitable collapse of DJFM without the injection of $15 million. In relation to the 
decision to buy rather than lend, he further stated: 

... I would doubt duit any of us would have proceeded with this company 
if it had involved giving further fwu:ls to Mr Pastrikos to try and run it.53 

Mr Tony Watson 

Mr Watson believed that the $2.0 million price tag on the assets of DJFM bore no 
real resemblance to the actual value of the company as it stood at the date of 
purchase. Rather the $2.0 million was just the sum required to pay trade and other 
creditors including ANZ Banking Group and Esanda Financ:e. 

He stated that Touche Ross played a role in determining the cost to acquire the assets 
of DJFM, being how much it would cost to pay out all creditors. 

49 Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - P· 2 of 12 November 1992 

so Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - P· 2 of 12 November 1992 

51 Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - P· 7 of 12 November 1992 

52 Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - P· 7 of 12 November 1992 

53 Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - P• 45 of 12 November 1992 
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Mr Watson played the major role in negotiating the payout of the ANZ Banking 

Group and Esanda Financ.e. 

H believed 
that it was the Government's intention that if someone .offered to 

e . . ff · Mr Parnikos at that 
purchase Dalway at a certain pnce then rt would firstly o er rt to 
price and, if Mr Pastrikos chose not to or could not, the business could then be sold to 

the person offering to buy. 

He thought that the projected sales figures in the 'Second Touche Ross Report' were 

' ... wildly optimistic.' 

In an early analysis of the $15 million application he indi~ted tha~ $15 million would 
not be enough and would be expended in quite a short penod of tune. 

In his view, an overseas marketing drive was the last thing that DJFM needed. The 
company needed firstly to get its fundamentals right, including machinery and 
management and service the State Square Project, before embarking on an overseas 
marketing exercise. He stated that a marketing drive should, however, be a long term 

objective of DJFM.54 

He did not rely totally on the 'Second Touche Ross Report' but additionally carried 
out his own investigations, although the thoroughness of those investigations is open to 
question (see later). 

There were apparently agonising ~ions within DID as to whether or not the 
project should be supported, but Mr Watson never put details of his objections in 
writing. He apparently influenced the Secretary to put options to Cabinet, as opposed 
to reoommendations, and this was what happened. 

Capel C.Ourt, in a further report to DID dated 19 December 1989, had stated that the 
sales projections for the First Tonche Ross Report would lead to an increase in the 
working capital requirement. However Mr Watson stated that this was true only if you 
believed the sales projections in the First Touche Ross Report. He did not. 

The documentation used to put the options before Cabinet were: the two Touche R~ 
Reports; a report from McGuiness Fradkin & ~ates ('Fradkin Report') to TIO; 
two Capel C.Ourt Reports; and a DID analysis. 

Mr Watson ~d not feel a v~tion of the assets being purchased was n~ as the 
purch~ pnre, as stated earlier, was the sum of the trade and other creditors to be 
paid out. The m~tive. and intent of the Government did not require valuation of the 
~ts or a detemnnation of whether the Government was getting value for money. 

54 
Transcript of Mr Watson - p. 92 of 21 October 1992 
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Mr Bailey questioned Mr Watson as follows: 

... Were you quit.e dear in your recollection that the second Touche Ross 
Report was not for the department, not for the steering committee but 
was in fact just a private report for Mr Pastrikos.55 

Mr Watson replied: 

I honestly do not recall it being that black and white ... my recollection, 
and it is vague, is that the second report, ... was perhaps just the output 
of a continuing body of work that Touche Ross and the department was 
do . 56 uzg ... 

... my recollection of the events was that there was a high level of 
cooperation between various people to get an understanding of the 
financial state of the company and perhaps its financial future.SJ 

When reworked figures went forward in the 'Second Touche Ro~ Report', Mr Watson 
was as satisfied as he could be in the circumstances that they were accurate. He was 
apparently not clearly aware that the Report was not an objective accountant's 
analysis. 

When asked by Mr Parish whether he had read the evidence of Mr Finch from 
Touche Ro~ he replied in part: 

... I was moderately surprised at the way they spun the events out to this 
committee .58 

... When I read the transaipt, I couldn't help but think that if I was the 
managing partner of Touche Ross ... I would have been flabbergasted to 
hear senior partners of my firm presenting the firms involvement the way 
that they did ... 59 

Mr Watson believed that the documents presented to the Minister from DID in 
relation to the analysis, did in effect say to the Minister: 

55 Transcript of Mr Watson - P· 3 of 11 November 1992 

56 Transcript of Mr Watson - P· 3 of 11 November 1992 

57 Transcript of Mr Watson - P· 4 of 11 November 1992 

58 Transcript of Mr Watson - P· 8 of 11 November 1992 

59 Transcript of Kr Watson - P• 8 of 11 November 1992 
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... we have done as good a job as we think we can do _in ~ of (a) 
compiling the financials, (b) analysing them. But no~nding that 
the environment in which the financials were prepared zs such that you 
would still need to be wary.(>() 

He also stated: 

... I felt as good about the numbers that I could be under the 
circumstances. That is not to say that I was comforta.ble with the 
. ks 61 ns . 

Mr Finch of Touche Ross stated that his involvement in the evaluation of the 
projections in the second Report was inputting figures onto a spreadsheet model. 

Mr Parish asked a question of Mr Watson in relation to this ~rtion as follows: 

Are you saying you disagree that that was the extent of the assistance that 
Touche Ross gave you at that time to evahuzte the projections.62 

Mr Watson replied: 

... I think you used the word 1antasy' a moment ago. I would probably 
use that word to answer your question.63 

... It does not accord at all with my recollection of the events. Mr Finch 
may have a better memory than I, but I see there is a /air gap between 
his view of life and mine.64 

Further in relation to sales projections, Mr Watson stated: 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

... !f there was an area of concern right through the whole period of 
trying to come to grips with the finances of the business ... /think the 

Transcript of Mr Watson - p. 10 of 11 November 1992 
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sales, the revenue stream was dearly the most difficult to get com/ ortable 
with.65 

Mr Watson believed at the time that the re-worked cash flow assumptions, which 
resulted in a $1.8 million increase in projected funding requirement (the major reason 
for the increase in funding from $2.0 million to $3.5 million), were conservative. He 
was comfortable that, having regard to the fact that he had very little time, he had 
carried out as much analysis and testing as he reasonably could have been expected to 
perform. 

Mr Peter Caldwell 

Mr Caldwell became involved with the DJFM application to the Chief Minister of 
20th January 1990 after being asked by Mr Otto Alder, the then Secretary of DID, to 
assist Mr Watson in his analysis of the application. His sources of information for the 
decisions made were: 

The Touche Ross Reports 

DID file notes 

Information obtained from Mr Watson 

In relation to the role played by Touche Ross and who they were acting for, he stated: 

I am not certain that I would know. My wulerstanding is that they were 
acting for the steering committee, but I am not sure if they were reporting 
directly to the steering committee or to an individual member of the 
steering committee.66 

He believed that Mr Finch of Touche R~ was involved to a limited extent in 
deciding which course of action to take and in relation to determining the amount of 
money DJFM might owe. Following ~ions with Mr Finch, M~rs Caldwell and 
Watson became conc.emed about unknown liabilities and Mr Caldwell suggested the 
need for a lawyer. As mentioned, following ~ions with the Department of Law, 
Messrs Caldwell and Watson then met with Mr James of Mildrens. 

Mr James confirmed that there were potential difficulties with becoming more heavily 
involved in DJFM and suggested the alternative of purchasing the busin~ and assets 
of DJFM, with the Government providing a fixed amount to DJFM, (which would be 
put into voluntary liquidation) to pay its debts. 

65 Transcript of Mr Watson - p. 15 of 11 November 1992 

66 Transcript of Mr Caldwell - p. 2 of 22 October 1992 
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... The Government J wuierstood did not want to be trapped into a 
situation where unknown extensive debts could create some further 

difficulty. 67 

The Department of Law also suggested Messrs Caldwell and Watson seek ass~ce 
from an insolvency acc:ountant. This was not done apparently_ because of the _e~g 
contact with Mr Finch of Touche Ross whom Mr Caldwell believed had expenence m 
that area With regard to a po~ible conflict of interest, Mr Caldwell stated: 

The question of conflict of interest was in fact discussed. I discussed it, 
and maybe other people did as well with Geoff Finch and Geoff provided 
some assurances to us tha.t there was not an actual conflict of interest in 
him providing such advice to us.68 

Mr Finch's past knowledge of the busin~ was considered very important. 
Mr Caldwell did not have any concerns about the reliability of information being 
provided by Touche Ross. However he went on to state: 

... If I had been aware tha.t Touche Ross had been acting as you say for 
the recipient of the financial assistance rather tha.n for the steering 
committee, I would have regarded tha.t as an abnormal situation and 
would have been seeking an independent outside expert.fl) 

Mr Caldwell did not see that the consultant's report as being unusually optimistic ~ 
he understood that the future of DJFM did not lie in the Darwin market only. 

Mr Parish pointed out that this was in conflict with Mr Watson's understanding that 
the company would firstly concentrate on the Darwin market. Mr Caldwell did not 
remember having any such thoughts. 

Mr Caldwell stated: 

67 

68 

69 

70 

... I think from memory we regarded DJFM circumstances as being risky, 
and tha.t should the government provide further assistance there was a 
level of risk associated with it.10 

Transcript of Mr Caldwell - p. 4 of 22 October 1992 
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... a higher level of risk than a sta:ndard bank would accept.11 

With regard to the ANZ Banking Group and Esanda Finance negotiated payouts at a 
discount, he stated: 

... I wuiersttznd that both ANZ and Esanda regarded at the time the 
a"angement as equitable and I think that they would still be willing to 
agree that is so. 72 

In relation to the Touche Ro~ involvement in a further asse~ment of the needs of 
DJFM, Mr Parish asked whether it was ever considered that a firm which provided an 
analysis to indicate that $1.5 million was needed, should also be involved in deciding 
whether it was wrong and that $3.5 million was needed. 

Mr Caldwell replied: 

... As I recollect, the circumstances were dire financial circumstances, 
where there were prospects of the business being put into liquidation at 
any time. I do not believe that there was any possible option to get an 
independent third party to start from scratch and I think that concept 
was not even considered.73 

Mr Caldwell indicated that he had some concerns about whether the business would in 
fact achieve the profit forecasted. His concerns were not conveyed in writing to the 
Minister concerned but he did recall ~ing the downsides of the projections with 
both the Chief Minister and the Minister for Industries and Development. He told 
the Minister for Industries and Development at that time that no commercial lender 
would in fact rescue the business. 

The 'Second Tonche Ross Report' was apparently regarded by DID as the single most 
important piece of information it had as to the future of the business. DID appeared 
to work on the basis, in ~ing the situation and in providing advice to Government, 
that there had been an objective analysis done by Touche R~ on behalf of the 
Steering C.Ommittee. 

Mr Caldwell does not remember any statement by Touche R~ suggesting that it was 
not an objective report. 

71 Transcript of Mr Caldwell - p. 12 of 22 October 1992 

72 Transcript of Mr Caldwell - p. 22 of 22 October 1992 

73 Transcript of Mr Caldwell - p. 25 of 22 October 1992 
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Mr Otto Alder 

Mr Alder gave evidence that the documentation used to develop options on which the 
Cabinet could make a decision was: 

... supplemented by tfucussions and meetings held on the topic at which 
/;,.,,. .~,,./ · 74 the options and 1 ~u.1l!S were poureu. over, as 11 were. 

... We presented the /acts, an assessment in the time that was available to 
ihe Minister, and Cabinet made subsequent decisions about it.75 

With regard to the lack of any reoommendation from DID, Mr Alder stated: 

... The department ... had not reached a point where it could make a 
recommendation into that TTUltter. Clearly, however, the need for some 
decision in principle was urgent and Cabinet decided it would bite the 
bullet gi,ven the same judgement and purchase the compa,ny to give it 
some chance of survival We did not recommend that as you can see 
from the pa,perwork.16 

... we did not have all the information necessary to base that techniai.I 
recommendation. Tl 

Mr Bailey questioned Mr Alder as follows: 

... So what you are saying is a decision was made on purely political 
grounds?78 

In reply Mr Alder stated: 

74 

75 

76 

77 

78 

... Well, I would not say purely politic.al grounds, the information that 
they had before them is available to you. 

··· All I am saying is that whether a decision to try to save the TIO' . s 
uzvestment and the Department of Industries and Development's 

Transcript of Mr Alder - p. 36 of 22 October 1992 
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investment is a political decisio1L ... It is a financial decision as well as a 
political decision 19

• 

Toucbe Ross (Mr Phil Dewsbury and Mr Geoff Finch) 

In giving some background information on the Touche Ro~ involvement 
Mr Dewsbury stated: 

... we issued for DJFM a further position paper, or desperate application 
for funds ... duit is the so called second Touche Ross report. It was 
really a company report which we were the mouth-piece for the company, 
if you like, in taking their instructions of bringing duit report together for 
them.II> 

... The second report ... was done with the knowledge of the so.me steering 
committee, but more speeifu:ally for the company and for John 
Pastrikos ... 

In relation to comments on the 'blue sky' nature of the sales projections, Mr Dewsbury 
said that Touche Ross relied on forecasts prepared by DJFM marketing manager 
Mr Williams as per their instructions from DJFM. 

Mr Dewsbury indicated the main reason for the increasing sales projections was 
furniture manufacture which was the rationale behind the whole project; the 
infrastructure was there for the purpose of the production and sale of furniture; it 
wasn't however going to happen by itself; it had to be made to happen. 

He confirmed that, on the basis of the projections in the 'Second Touche Ross 
Report', DJFM would make losses to 30 June 1991 of $25 million without funding and 
$15 million with additional equity funding. Even with increasing sales projections the 
company was not however going to tum the comer for some time. 

Mr Dewsbury stated that DJFM never intended to rely solely on the Darwin market. 
Its whole basic philosophy was to export interstate and overseas. It was a fundamental 
belief that the only way to go ahead was to expand into interstate and overseas 
markets progressively from day one, otherwise there would be massive under 
utilisation of the very expensive machinery. 

79 Transcript of Mr Alder - p. 40 of 22 October 1992 

80 Transcript of Mr Dewsbury - p. 4 of 28 October 1992 
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Mr Palmer asked Mr Dewsbury: 

... based on your projections do you believe that a reasonable person 

would have invested in DJFM at that time.
81 

In reply Mr Dewsbury stated: 

... A commercial person would not have because we had been there, I 
mean the existing financiers wouldn't and I think ... that if the 
government didn't put in $1.Sm that company was at the wall and 

everyone knew it.82 

In relation to the sales projections Mr Dewsbury stated: 

... It is very easy to say now three yea.rs later thaJ they were optimistic, but 
parts of them were noL The contract joinery, not far off the mark, the 
whole issue is furniture. If the furniture happened, and I reiterate it was 
never going to be easy, but if it happened I will stand by that number.fD 

There is no disclaimer in the 'Seoond Touche Ross Report' nor any expr~ 
quaJification in relation to the Touche R~ involvemen~ as the report was ~ed by 
the Company and not by Touche R~. The report was handed to Mr John Pastrikos 
and no representations were made by Touche Ross to Government on behalf of the 
Company. It was not on Touche R~ letterhead. 

Mr De'WSbury's only recollection of his involvement was: 

... I might have spent some 'lime with Tony Watson where he wanted to 
revisit the figwes, and changed some of those, but other than that there 
would have been no other involvement.84 

Certainly both Mr Dewsbury and Mr Finch believed that Mr Watson, in his evidence, 
h~ vastly overstated their role in the Government decision. They agreed that the 
bnefing prepared by Mr Watson could have given the Government the impr~ion that 
!11ey were dealing with a proposition that had been objectively analysed by 
mdependent accountants. -

81 Transcript of Mr Dews bury - P· 23 of 28 October 1992 
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Mr De'WSbury and Mr Finch also believed that the way their role has been represented 
in Mr David Hunt's report on Dalway85 was totally incorrect. 

Mr Dewsbury has stated that Touche Ross had never prepared a report in isolation for 
DID. Nor had Touche Ross had any involvement in the ~ment of the value of 
the assets being purchased by the Government. 

... My recollection is that at no time were we asked to consider what the 
values of the assets were that were being acLJuired.86 

Touche Ross were not involved in any way in the discounted retirement of the ANZ 
Banking Group and Esanda Finance debts. 

Summary and Analysis 

The evaluation of the application for finance was conducted with the assistance of the 
foil owing documentation: 

First Touche Ross Report 

'Seoond Touche Ross Report' 

Capel C.ourt (two brief reports) 

Fradkin Report 

The 'Second Touche R~ Report' was regarded as the single most important 
document in the analysis and evaluation of the application. 

Touche Ross have stated firmly that this report was a report prepared solely for 
DJFM based totally on information ~umptions and projections provided by DJFM. 
Touche R~ ~isted by putting all the data together for DJFM but did not carry out 
an objective assessment. It is significant that the report was not prepared under the 
Touche Ross letterheado 

DID personnel however were apparently of the strong impression that it was prepared 
and analysed independently by Touche Ross. Mr Watson of DID developed over a 
period of time some of the financials included in the report. 

85 

86 

Prepared by Mr Hunt of DID at the request of the Hon. Steve 
Hatton 

Transcript of Mr Dewsbury - p. 57 of 28 October 1992 
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As a result, DID presented this report to the Governm~nt ~ an objective accountant's 
analysis of the present financial and future projected srtua~on D~ was and would 
be in. It was however re-worked and analysed by DID officiai:-. It JS not apparent that 
DID made any attempt, by independent enquiry, to confirm likely cash flows shown as 

coming from the State Square Project. 

DID believed that Touche Ross also had a continuing role in determining what course 
of action should be taken. Mr Tony Watson in particular had a different view of the 
Touche Ross version of events as regards their original and continuing role. 

The obvious potential for conflict of interest was discussed and DID was apparently 
assured by Touche Ross that there was no problem. Dill's impression of the Touche 
Ross role was quite different from what Touche Ro~ claim their role was. 

Even if the DID version of the Touche Ro~ role is accepted, and there is a clear 
conflict on the evidence about the ~ue, it is difficult to understand how DID could 
contemplate accepting advice from the accountants who were employed by the 
recipient of any financial assistance. 

In all the circumstances the O>mmittee does not believe that Touche Ross held itself 
out as standing behind the report or endorsing its figures and recommendations as 
authoritative or reliable. To the extent that DID personnel held a contrary impr~ion 
this was an error on their part, albeit perhaps understandable, given the pressure 
under which they were working. 

DID apparently believed that there was no time to obtain an independent third party 
opinion even if they wanted to because of the dire financial circumstances in which 
the company found itself. DID did not see that it was n~ considering its 
understanding of the Touche Ross role. 

The time factor - or lack of it - is important. DID personnel have stated in one way 
or another that they didn't have time to obtain and analyse all the information 
required to make a technically informed rerommendation. In Dill's opinion, it carried 
out as much analysis and testing as was possible in the time frame available and as a 
result, it put options and facts to the Minister and not a recommendation. A 
submission was not made to Cabinet although Mr Watson did, as mentioned, make a 
presentation to Cabinet. 

In all the circumstan~ even without the benefit of hindsight, it is difficult to 
understand. why DID did not at I~ look at some appropriate level of interim funding 
to D~ m order to buy more tune to undertake appropriate investigations and 
analysIS. That was a possible option that was apparently never explored. 

The decision to ~uy the ~ts and busin~ of DJFM and form a separate legal entity 
was_ based on advt~ ~~~ Mr Geoff James. It was said this oourse of action effectively 
avoided unknown liabilities and contingencies at the date of the takeover. 
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It is apparent that in deciding on the purchase price of the ~ts and the business, no 
valuation of the a&Sets was undertaken, nor indeed was it considered that one may 
have been required. 

Mr James in a letter dated 7 February 1990 from Mildrens addressed to the directors 
of Dalloway Pty Ltd87 stated: 

A comprehensive enquiry into the value of assets is not wa"anted in view of the 
spirit with which the matter is to be approached, i.e. a rescue. ... It is our 
understanding that we are instructed that the proposed capital injection is in the 
1Ulture of an ad off aith rather than a sound commercUil investment and hence 
you are not motivated to address the question of the relationship of the asset 
value backing that may reciprocate the proposed capital injectioTL 

As noted at 6.6, a retrospective valuation of the assets acquired was subsequently 
carried out by the Australian Valuation Offire {'AVO'). On the basis of that 
valuation, the historical cost values in the financial statements of DJFM appear to 
have grossly overstated the actual value at that point in time. On the basis of that 
valuation, the overstatement of $2.4 million had the effect of being an immediate 
capital loss in shareholders' equity and also reduced very significantly the level of 
security available to the Government. 

It is clear that the ordinary and accepted pro~ of due diligenre were not 
undertaken in relation to the evaluation. 

It should be noted however that in the brief to the Minister for Industries & 
Development, the Hon. Barry Coulter dated 24 January 1990 DID officers stated88

: 

... DJFM has serious fmancial and rela.ted problems. From a purely 
commercio.l viewpoint, it would be di.Jficult to agree to the funding 
request in light of the inherent risks. If the business was allowed to fail, 
the implications for local trade creditors and the Pastrikos family would 
be severe. 

The competing considerations are highlighted by a statement in a later briefing to the 
Minister dated 29 January 1990. 

87 

88 

DJFM is a showcase pioneer of the introduction of integrated 
manufacturing tecluwlogy in the Territory . ... Its demise will azst a pall 
over future attempts to proceed in this direction. 

See letter attached to Tabled Document 81 

Tabled Document 19 
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... Any justi.fu:ation for GovemmenJal firuincial assista.nce rests on this broader 
consideration. 89 

As noted in detail above, the Hon. Marshall Perron gave his reasons for the purchase 
decision. These reasons are complimented by the original reasons given for 1:11e 
purchase detailed at 6.4. It is apparent from these reasons that the ma~or 
considerations for the decision were 'non-financial' in nature, except for those relatmg 
to placing the loans of TIO and DID at risk. 

The 'non-financial' reasons for the decision to purchase were apparently based on 
policy considerations. However the fact that the financial aspects of the decision were 
not adequately considered casts doubt over the reasonableness of the decision on the 
whole. 

As previously noted, the sales forecasts in the 'Second Touche Ross Report' have 
proven to be vastly overstated. These forecasts were mainly reliant on the successful 
manufacture and sale of furniture in sufficient volume to achieve significant economies 
of scale. When the forecasts were prepared, not only did DJFM not have definite 
markets or even a marketing strategy, it was unable to mass produce furniture because 
of problems with the computer integrated manufacturing process and lack of employee 
and management skills. This should have c:ast great doubts over the reliability of the 
forecasts and therefore the reliability of the report. 

Those sales forecasts were also only a minor reworking of the sales figures in the First 
Touche Ross Report, which had been entirely supplied by a representative of DJFM, 
and relied on DJFM winning the lion's share of joinery and furniture contracts for 
both stages of State Square. There is no indication that this fact was even taken into 
account in the analysis undertaken by DID. 

~e forecasts also appear to rest on the assumption that virtually all the Stage Il 
JOmery work would be completed and paid for by 30 June 1992. As events transpired 
none of this work had even been commenced by that date. 

The forecasts also contain incredibly high projections for furniture sales within a 
known limited market. Given that Mr Watson indicated in his evidence that "an 
o~erseas marketing drive was the last thing the company needed~, DID should have 
gwen far more attention to the sales forecasts in its analysis of the proposal. 

89 
Tabled Document 20 

90 
Transcript of Mr Watson , p. 54 of 21 October 1992 
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In conclusion: 

The Second Touche R~ Report should not have been relied on by 
DID. 

DID held a false impression of the independenre of Touche Ro~ and 
thus the extent to which it could be relied upon. 

Dill's analysis of the Touche Ro~ reports was m any event 
inadequate. 

The proper pr~ of due diligence was not undertaken nor 
apparently were interim funding arrangements considered in order to 
buy more time. 

The value of the assets acquired was considered irrelevant to the 
decision making pr~ resulting in an immediate capital lo~ of $2.4 
million based upon the retrospective valuation undertaken by the 
AVO. 

The decision was made on the basis of 'non-financial' or politic:al 
considerations, as it was apparent that the financial considerations 
leaned strongly in favour of a recommendation not to purchase. 

DID officers did not make a reoommendation even though they had 
grave doubts as to the eventual viability of the busin~. 

There was no apparent research or analysis undertaken to determine 
whether DJFM was in fact a 'sho~ pioneer' - the very justification 
suggested by DID for Government financial ~ce. 

6.6 VALUATION OF FIXED ASSETS 

Any evaluation of a purchase/sale of busin~ decision would not be complete without 
an appropriate review of the fixed ~ts being acquired, or in the case of a lender, a 
review of the fixed assets being used as security for its loans. In any purchase of a 
busin~ appropriate due diligence checks would normally be undertaken by a 
purchaser to ensure not only the existence of fixed ~ts purchased but also the 
condition of those fixed ~ts and the market value of land and buildings and other 
fixed assets. 

It is apparent that when the Government acquired the ~ts of DJFM in March 1990, 
no review as to the market value of Ian~ buildings and other fixed ~ts was 
performed. 
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The valuation of fixed assets was extremely imPortant when the Government was 
deciding whether to effectively loan a further $3.5 million to Dalway, over and ~ve 
the $0318 million still outstanding directly to the Government, and the $2.888 million 

which was owing to the TIO at that time. 

In simple terms, the Government acquired the assets of DJFM through the purchase 
of those assets via Dalway. The Government, with the agreement of TIO, as.signed the 
TIO loan of $2.888 million from DJFM to Dalway (under a first mortgage 
arrangement) and transferred the Government's loan of $0318 million with DJFM to 

Dalway. 

To analyse what was acquired at 15 March 1990, the O:nnmittee used the audited 
accounts at 30 June 1990 as the basis of the assets ac.quired and simply added back 
depreciation charged between 15 March 1990 and 30 June 1990. This being the case 
the Government ac.quired via Dalway: 

Current ~ts 
Fixed assets 
Add back depreciation 

Goodwill 

4.849 
0.110 

SM 

1553 

4.959 
0.063 
6575 

A~ t~e same date the following loans were taken up by Dalway: TIO $2.887 million; 
existmg Government loan $0318 million; a further $2.0 million loan from the 
Government to ac.quire assets of DJFM; and a facility committed to by the 
Government to provide a working c-apital loan of a further $1.5 million (this amount 
was drawn down between August 1990 and December 1990). 

In. ~ummary the Government ~ad loan~ or oommitted loans to Dalway of $6.706 
million at 15 March 1990. (It is appropnate to include the $15 million commitment, 
even though ~ot drawn down at 15 March 1990, as the decision had been made by that 
date to commit.) 

On the surface it would appear that the Government loans and TIO loans were 
~~nably ~vered by gro~ assets (on a going concern basis). However if due 

gence reviews had been performed as would have been expected it can be 
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demonstrated that the fixed asset values were materially overvalued. The following 
table points to the extent of the overvaluation: 

Property Plant & 

Equipment (WDV) 

91 

92 

93 

94 

95 

96 

F1D8Dcial Australian Offers 
St••anents Valuation for ale 

omce 

15 March 30 June 15 March 30 June Pastrikos Territory 
1990 1991 1990 1991 Consortium Cabinets 
SM SM SM SM SM SM 

4.95991 457292 2565'3 2.36~ 1.45495 156096 

Per audited financial statements 30 June 1990 ($4.849 
million plus depreciation add back to 15 March 1990 
$0.110 million). 

Per audited financial statements 30 June 1991. 

Retrospective valuation performed by 
15 October 1992 Australian Valuation 
15 March 1990. 

Mr B Hunt 
Off ice as 

on 
at 

Valuation performed by Mr B Hunt on 5 December 1991, 
Australian Valuation Office as at 30 November 1991. 

Derived from Consortium offer of $1.75 million for total 
assets. 

Total Assets 
Less current assets* 

$M 

1.454 

1.750 
(0.296) 

* at estimated liquidation value per Desliene report of 
May 1992 

Per Territory Cabinets offer as noted in Deeliene report 
of May 1992. 
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It is the Committee's view that a due diligence review might have indicated tha~ the 
value of the property, plant and equipment was not as shown on purchase as thus. 

Property plant 
and equipment 

Goodwill 

SM 

4.959 
0.063 
5.022 

but more accurately might be shown as per Australian Valuation Office valuation as 

thus: 

Property plant 
and equipment 

Goodwill 

$M 

2.565 

2.565 

This brief analysis indicates that non-current ~ts were oveivalued on the first day of 
Government ownership. 

It is important to recognise this overvaluation from day one for two major reasons: 

(i) the security covering the Government loans was inadequate; and 

(ii) in ~ing the l~ of Government funds over the period of 
Government ownership of some $5.53 million it needs to be 
remembered that a significant amount was effectively lost on day one. 

Using the table shown above the offers to purchase the property, plant and equipment 
were extremely low, even having regard to the Australian Valuation Office value: 

Value per AVO 30 November 1991 
~ depreciation estimate 

from 30 November 1991 
to 25 May 1992 

Value placed by Pastrikos Consortium 
Abnormal write down 

SM 

2365 

(0.150) 
2215 
1.454 
0.761 

It would seem that the amount paid by the Pastrikos Consortium was $0.761 million 
I~ than the adjusted value by the Australian Valuation Office. 
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In total, the write down of fixed ~ts from date of purchase to date of sale by the 
Government would account for approximately $3218 million (after allowance for on­
going depreciation) of the ~ loss of Government funds of $5.53 million. It is 
the Committee's view that an overvaluation of fixed assets should have been identified 
before the Government purchase as a write down to fair value at that date, with the 
$0.761 million write off referred to above representing the peculiar circumstances of 
the sale of Dalway. 

6.7 SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS 

The special arrangements relating to the purchase involving the Pamikos family and 
which will be dealt with in this section are: 

Pamikos family right of first refusal/option 

Pamikos family veto on transfer of effective control until June 1992 

Composition of the Board of directors 

Employment contract with John Pamikos 

As noted previously, the Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall Perron met with 
Mr Pamikos on 2 February 1990 in Mr Perron's office where in part he told 
Mr Pastrikos: 

... to go off and talk further with DID officers with a view to reaching an 
a"angement which may allow the family to buy back the company at 
some future stage.91 

Again as previously mentioned, Mr Pamikos has alleged that the edited version of the 
Draft Arrangement and Conditions (which had been considered by Cabinet) along 
with oral representations made, constituted an agreement. 

Mr Pastrikos stated in evidenre: 

97 

... My understanding of the agreement made 2 February 1990 was that we 
have the first option to buy back the company by June 1992 With also 
an agreement made that any profits made by the company would reduce 
the cost that the government has put in during that time. And also it was 

Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - p. 4 of 12 November 1992 
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said that there would be three Directors from the sJuueholders and two 

from the Pastrikos family ... 98 

He also said: 

... TUJ June 1992 ... if anybody want to buy the business they had to approach me, 
either J say yes' or 'no: and well if I said 'no' that business would not be sold. 
Now after June 1992 I had I don't know if you call it option or whatever you 
want to call it, but after 1992 if they f owid somebody to sell it for $4 or $5m I 
had the option to either come up with the money within 30 days or a certain time 

· given and if I could not come the place would be gone. 
99 

Mr Pastrikos believed the actual deal was done on 2 February 1990. However 
Mr Perron believed that c.aJJing it an agreement was putting too great an importance 
to what was discussed and the documents exchanged. 

... This description accords too great a status on these documents .100 

However Mr Perron later stated: 

... I believe and always have there was at least a moral obligation to off er 
the Pastrikos family fust right of refusal if this company was sold before 
June this year ... 101 

Following the meeting between Mr Pastrikos and Mr Perron, M~ Waters, James & 
O'Neil (now Waters James McCormack) wrote to DID via Mildrens on 15 March 1990 
asking that a letter of comfort be issued with regard to various matters arising out of 
the purchase of the busin~ and ~ts of DJFM. In summary the letter asked for 
confirmation of:1m 

an option to purchase to 30 June 1992 and first right of refusal 

an employment contract 

98 
Transcript of Mr Pastrikos - p. 2 of 7 September 1992 

99 Transcript of Mr Pastrikos, pp. 4-5 of 7 September 1992 

100 
Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - p. 4 of 12 November 1992 

Transcript of Hon. Marshall Perron - p. 4 of 12 November 1992 
101 

DID File 92/294 - Folio 44 
102 
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In reply, on the same date, DID wrote to M~rs Waters James & O'Neil in a letter 
signed by Mr c:aldwell which stated in part: 

... So far as 'repurchase' is concerned, the principles outlined are 
generally acceptable .103 

When questioned about his understanding of the purch~ option, Mr c:aldwell stated: 

... It was my very dear wuierstanding indeed and a ma.tter of 
considerable time and effort and legal advice that the exchange of 
co"espondence on 15 March 1990, constituted a letter of comfort and 
they had aeated a moral obligation between the Government and the 
Pastrikos family that did not in its own right aeate any legal 
wuiertaking .104 

... I had extensive legal advice and my advice was that we were entering 
into an a"angement that was constituted in the documents that were 
signed, and that we had issue4 a letter of comfort, establishing a moral 
right which is not the same thing as a legal right.105 

Mr Watson who w~ also closely involved along with Mr c:aldwell at the date of 
purchase stated: 

... I believe that it was the intent of the politicians that the Pastrikos 
family should be given the opportuni1y to repurchase the business as a 
guiding principle and that should be on the basis that someone c:ame 
along to the Territory Government and said we would like to buy this 
business, the Government should give John Pastrikos or his family the 
fust right to buy and if they chose not to or could not, then perhaps the 
business could be sold to the third party. 1~ 

The Hon. Barry C.Oulter stated in the Legislative Assembly on 2 May 1990.107 

103 

104 

105 

106 

107 

... There is a moral obligation to give the previous owners of Darwin 
Joinery the right of fust refusal at any time when somebody may wish to 

DID file 92/294 - Folio 45 

Transcript of Mr Caldwell - P• 33 of 22 October 1992 

Transcript of Mr Caldwell - P· 44 of 22 October 1992 

Transcript of Mr Watson - P· 67 of 21 October 1992 

Hansard 2 May 1990 - Page 1497 
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buy the joinery ... /fa buyer does tum up .tomo"ow, ~e have a moral 
obligation to ask Mr Pastrikos whether he wishes to buy zt back. 

It is clear from the evidence noted in the above par~aphs that . there was an 
obligation at least moral to give Mr Pastrikos and his family a first nght of refusal. 
Attempts ~ere made by the Government and the P~os family t~ develop ~ formal 
legal agreement with no success. There is a substantial bo~y of eVJdence available on 
this issue in the form of correspondence between DID, Mildrens and Messrs Waters 
James & O'Neil. We do not propose to detail all this evidence here as, in the end, no 
written agreement was reached. 

The conflicting evidence in relation to the moral/legal isrue was how~er highlighted 
by the differing opinions of the lawyers which were subsequently obtamed. Mr James 
in evidence stated: 

... the spirit in which Mr Waters offered the letter of the 15 March, was 
that he was not seeking a contract or a legal commitmenL He was 
seeking an expression of policy for the com/ ort of his client It is my 
wul.erstanding that there is a major di.fference between a contract and a 
letter of comf orL .. 1~ 

However in a letter from the Solicitor for the Northern Territory dated 14 January 
1992 to DID signed by Mr Warren Day it is stated: 

... because of the broadness of the a"angement in that exchange of letters, I 
believe that if Dalway or its assets was sold to anyone else before 30 June 1992 it 
would be in breach of the Pastrikos family~ rights to repwchase. ... In my view 
the effect of your department's letter of 15 March 1990 prechules Dalway from 
selling to anyone else but the Pastrikos family until 30 June 1992. ... in my view 
the wording of the agreement rwched by the exchange of letters is in such broad 
terms that the Pastrikos family could well be able to mount a valid argument that 
the Territory cannot sell off the business of Dalway Pty Ltd to a third party prior 
to 30 June 1992 .. 10') 

The composition of the Board of directors was not an issue of concern in that it was 
decided that there would be five directors. Three were to be Government nominees , 
one a Pastrikos family nominee and Mr Pastrikos. 

Under the terms of the agreement to buy out DJFM, Mr Pastrikos was to be 
employed for the next two years. The employment of Mr Pastrikos, as will be seen 
later, was to have a serious impact on the future running of Dalway. The agreement 

108 
Transcript of Mr James - p. 84 of 2 September 1992 

109 
DID file 91/924 - Folio 180 
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originally did not specifically include this employment arrangement. This however was 
agreed to by Mr Caldwell on behalf of the Government at a meeting with Mr 
Pastrikos and his legal representative on the evening of 15th March 1990.110 

A fuller ~ment of the situation may have revealed the difficulties which such a 
rontract could create. 

In conclusion: 

110 

There was at least a moral obligation to give Mr Pastrikos and his 
family a first right of refusal up to 30 June 1992 

It is contested that a legal agreement in that regard was reached in 
February/March 1990 

The terms of any agreement relating to the special arrangements 
should have been formalised before or at the date of the contract for 
the purcahse of the assets of DJFM. 

Further legal advice on the validity of the alleged agreement is not 
warranted as this is an ~e that could only be appropriately 
determined in a oourt of law. 

Considering the position of DJFM and Mr Pastrikos in early 1990, 
being liquidation of DJFM or injection of Government funds, there 
was little or no room for him to bargain. It was not necessary for the 
Chief Minister to offer a first right of refusal, a position on the Board, 
guaranteed employment, and the like. 

The alleged option agreement/first right of refusal oould quite posmbly 
have affected serious bidders considering the purch~ of Dalway in 
early 1992. 

Because no formal agreement was reached it led to a caveat being 
plared over the land and buildings of Dalway by a member of the 
Pamikos family. This may have resulted in serious bidders being put 
off by the threat of protracted legal wrangling over ownership of the 
assets involved. 

Whilst it is reasonable to ~e that the caveat could easily have 
been removed by legal action it is likely that an interim injunction 
would have delayed any sale until the ~e could be litigated. No-one 

Tabled Document (unreferenced) dated 15 March 1990 from DID to 
Waters, James & O'Neil 
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however appears to have come to grips with the issue on behalf of the 

Government. 

As will be seen later, the special arrangements also led to 

management problems at Dalway. 

6.8 EFFECT ON OTHER JOINERIES 

Evidence presented suggested that the purchase of DJFM by the ~overnment had .an 
adverse effect on other joineries in Darwin and was partly responsible for the . denuse 
of Jaguar Joinery Pty Ltd ('Jaguar Joinery'), owned and run by Mr Peter Manruon. 

Jaguar Joinery apparently found itself in financial difficulties in mid 1990 and 
requested assistance from the Government. 

In a memorandum dated 29 May 1990111 regarding the financial circumstances of 
Jaguar to the Chief Minister, the Hon. Marshall Perron, from the Minister for 
Industries & Development, the Hon. Barry Coulter, it was noted: 

Mannion said as well that Dennis &lwards has been around and stirring but had 
been told to go away. It may be a coincidence but Mannion also says he has a 
copy of the Dalloway contrad with DJFM which details the real extent of NTG 
commitment. 

A loan of $100,000 was approved despite reservations by Mr Alan Sprigg (Ministerial 
officer to the Hon. Barry Coulter) who said: 

... If not for apparent 13-14 full time staff and six subcontractors I would 
recommend dedine assistance. Further loan equal prob. (sic) kiss our first 
$80,000 goodbye. Am still only lukewarm. Crunch point Monday 3/6. Needs 
decision prior to creditors meeting 3/6. Suggest first run past MBP ... 

This prognosis was borne out as Jaguar Joinery went into liquidation and was unable 
to repay either the initial $80,000 loan or the subsequent $100,000 loan. 

In a memorandum to the Hon. Steve Hatton from the Secretary of DID, 
Lyal Mackintosh, dated 6/4/92, it was stated: 

111 

... (It is quite obvious that the loan should never have been provided. However, it 
would appear that Mr Mannion 's claim that it was the Government's rescue of 
Dalw? Pty Ltd that was the underlying c:ause of his financial problems, seems to 
have uzfluenced the decisioTL Mr Mannion is recorded as claiming that all his 

Tabled Document 28 
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expansiolUlry policies were based on his perception that Dalway would Jail, and 
that he would subse.quentiy be in a position to c.apilalise on sa.me.) 

The actual effect of the purchase on other joineries is dealt with in detail m 
Chapter 7. 

The Committee concludes, however, that no apparent research was embarked upon by 
DID which might have sought to identify the impact that the purchase of Dalway by 
the Government would have on other joinery operations in Darwin. Furthermore, as 
detailed elsewhere, there was no apparent assessment of the c.apabilities of other firms 
to carry out the joinery work for the State Square Project. This should have been a 
critical element in pursuing a policy to maintain or expand local job opportunities. 

It is recommended that in future DID have in place a set of guidelines for granting 
financial assistance which includes a detailed assessment of the effect of such 
assistance on competing businesses and the market place in general. 

6.9 SUMMARY 

Based on all the evidence, it is the Committee's view that the purchase should not 
have occurred in the circumstances in which the decision was made. Independent 
advice and review of all the circumstances surrounding the proposal, including a 
detailed assessment of the proposed corporate strategy and the financial and non­
financial factors, may have led to a decision to purchase but, we believe, under very 
different arrangements and with a more definitive plan for the future survival of the 
company. 
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CHAPTER 7 - OPERATION 

7.1 INTRODUCTION 

The Committee's Terms of Reference require an examination of the trading 
operations of Dalway during Government ownership, and in particular inquiry into the 
reasons for Dalway's continuing l~ and the write-down of the value of its ~ts. 
Clearly, as has been mentioned, the write-down of the value of ~ts represented a 
major part of the l~ realised after the sale of the company, and so the two are 
related. 

There are four areas of the company's operation which, in the Committee's view, 
contributed to the unsatisfactory financial performance of the company and which will 
be dealt with in more detail. 

They are: 

1. Structure and corporate strategy 

2. Practical management problems 

3. Operational factors 

4. Value of fixed assets. 

7.2 STRUCTURE AND CORPORATE STRATEGY 

7 .2.1 Overview 

DJFM had two distinct product lines: contract joinery and retail furniture. The major 
product line was contract joinery (85%) for the commercial building industry, where 
custom made built-in furniture and fittings and wall panelling made up the bulk of 
such work. In addition the company produced a range of furniture for home and 
office including desks, chairs, work stations, reception desks, bookcases, tables, dining 
suites and bedroom suites. 

The factory was designed for long run production methods and not for one-off or low 
volume production. 

The manufacturing equipment that the company used was designed to operate under 
the control of an integrated CAD/CAM system for automated cutting and drilling 
processes. This machinery was supposed to enable the company to provide an 
extremely high degree of acarracy in the components for its products thereby 
enhancing the quality of its final product. 
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Specifically, the system was designed for mass production of 'flat-p~ furniture with a 
view to exporting to Asia and for Commonwealth Government furniture contracts. It 
was not particularly suitable for contract joinery work, and the failure to recognise and 
act on this shortcoming was a significant factor in the difficulties experienced by the 

company. 

7.2.2 Lack of Corporate Strategy 

Conventional management practice requires strategies and policies which give structure 
and direction to a company's operations. 

Corporate strategies provide cohesion for all ~ of a company and its operations. 
They provide a plan for current and future operational requirements to allow a 
company to operate su~fully. Corporate strategies would normally address such 
issues as: 

• Finance 

planned or proposed financial structure 

financing arrangements and servicing requirements 

achievable performance budgets with profit and I~ projections and 
yearly balance sheets with sensitivity analyses (including revenue by 
product type, geographical market and contnbution margin for each 
product) 

cash flow projections for busin~ volume 

projected return on funds invested 

. Sales and Marketing 

current market definition, target market and future growth prospects 

achievable marketing strategies including n~ research 

compe~tors - actual and prospective - and their pricing and marketing 
strategies 

any competitive strategic advantage held and impact on cost or 
revenue structure 

projected. revenue. identified by product and geographical market and 
contnbunon mar gm for each product 
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. Staffing 

organisational structure 

levels of staffing required 

key positions and specific qualities required for key positions including 
management 

management structure and responsibilities 

• Production 

production and operational capabilities (including volume) 

break-even production levels 

product range and tum around time in the manufacturing pro~ 

identification of materials and resources required 

sourc.e and security of supplies of labour and materials 

required research and development work 

• Information Systems 

identification of information needs of users and management 

acoounting systems required to provide management information 
needs and to provide n~ acoounting controls 

timetable and plan for development/implementation of 
information/acoounting systems 

accounting systems to be used in interim while specialised systems are 
developed and implemented 

• Management/Board 

identity of management team, specific qualities available and relevant 
experience or background of key management and Board personnel 

organisation chart and chain of command 

reporting responsibilities of management to the Board 
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frequency of reporting 

types and contents of reports 

Although the above represents a reasonably oomprehensive list of what a c.ompany 
should consider in determining its corporate strategy, each aspect would need to be 
considered and tailored with the particular company's circumstances in mind. 
However, all these factors should be considered to some degree. 

Such an enoomp~ing plan was not produced for either DJFM nor for Dalway, 
although elements were addressed in the somewhat optimistic business plan produced 
by Mr Williams and subsequent reports referred to in Chapter 6. Recommendations 
as to some aspects were made but never implemented. 

Apart from these reports, no other formal documented marketing strategies appeared 
to exist for DJFM or Dalway. None were prepared by the new directors after the 
purch~ of the business by the Government in March 1990 although minutes of Board 
meetings ref er to joinery oontracts obtained and the potential for retail sales. 

As a result there was an apparent lack of overall direction which appears to have 
resulted in loss of real control and purpose, with crisis management, as will be seen, 
becoming the order of the day. 

7.2.3 Direction 

Mr Barry Fradkin, in his report to the TIO on 19 January 1990, stated that the 
company had a number of problems including: 

··· a lack of dear understanding of the direction it should take. Unless these 
impediments are rectified in the near future, I believe the business will not be able 
to survive and realise the returns that would appear to be available to it ... 

Mr Fradkin also identified the following major problems: 

... The need to change its overall direction away from joinery to furniture 
manufacture. This is the aux of DJFM's dilemma. 

To utilise the new equipment and facilities effectively, DJFM needs to 
produce ~flea~ greater volumes of /umiture products in a process 
manufa~ envuonment. This requires different marketing, selling 
and production management skills and experiences to that which DJFM 
has had or currently has available. 

There is no detailed marketing, prodllction or business plan that has been 
~repared to show how DJFM intends to change its culture from a skilled 
1ob shopper to a volume processor and estah';.,.L __ the b11c.-ri"oC'e< b. · u..vu.:s ~..,.~ o '}ectl.ves, 
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as well as the relevant marketing, production and financial 
strategies. .. 1 u 

Mr Bell also recognised the need for Dalway to obtain large volume work for its 
factory. He stated in his evidence: 

... The very first month I was there, the month of May 1990, we put through 
everything we had that was of a mass-prodz,ction, anything that looked like new 
production, and that was when we put through the library for the Supreme Court. 
But the thing is we use.d it all up and then for the next umpteen months we had 
one-ofs and two-ofs and bits and pieces, and you just can't function on that 

113 

Dalway continued to take on various joinery projects which in certain instances were 
not suited to large volume production, but rather were more labour intensive projects. 

Mr Parish asked the following question of Mr Bell: 

... would it be true to say as a general proposition that, altJwugh if you look at the 
gross bottom line stages of the State Square, they look to be big jobs of the sort 
that a mass production factory would be well-fitted to handle. That in fact, when 
you actually look at the detail of them, they were a lot of little but very expensive 
jobs that, where really the high-tech machine was not of a particular advantage ... 

Mr Bell replied: 

... It was useless. That is very right The thing is that as well as in that building 
there was a lot of one-offs ... 114 

Mr Fradkin also identified the need for Dalway to move away from the one-0ff joinery 
projects into m~ production to realise sufficient levels of sales to support the capital 
investment in plant and equipmen~ thus: 

112 

113 

114 

... That is the point that I made earlier, that I felt that for this business to survive 
it had to move away from joinery, I mean, the factory was set up to get 
efficiencies out of high volume processing which means you have to get into 
repetitive type prodz,ction work. Which is really furniture, bec:ause joinery does 
not always give you that opportunity ... But basically you had got to get into 
markets where you could sell high volume repetitive manufacturing. Now that is 

Fradkin Report, 19 January 1990 

Transcript of Mr Bell - p. 12 of 27 October 1992 

Transcript of Mr Bell - p. 8 of 27 October 1992 
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a manufacturing thing which neither John nor his people had ever had experience, 
·--1 . . 115 

Teal expenence ui .•. 

The directors were well aware of the n~ity for the company to pursue large scale 
volume production, which needed to come from markets outside Danvin. The 
directors also were aware of the need to move away from joinery jobs. However, 
Dalway continued to accept one-off joinery projects without any significant effort 
being made to move to obtain contracts for high volume production of furniture. As it 
turned out, the course of action taken by the Board in this regard did not facilitate the 
long term viability of Dalway. 

However, it must be noted that m some respects the Board's strategies (or lack 
thereof) were understandable. 

Mr Fradkin stated that the Board did not pursue sales due to the problems with the 
company's operations, thus: 

... we Juul two choices at the time. We Juul to work really hard for sales, and if 
you go for sales with an unstable environment there is a danger you can't deliver 
and one of our problems was, can we actually do this. You know, is this place 
up to doing the things that it is suggested it can do and so the balancing that was 
needed ... do you go for sales or do you go for trying to get stability and some sort 
of controls into plilce ... understanding ... what yow capabilities are as a 
production and manufacturing group ... 116 

Mr Parish then asked: 

··· you made a decision in effect to run it as a holding operation while you 
assessed what . the difficulties were and tried to fix them rather than pursuing 
growth, expanswn or sales ... 

Mr Fradkin replied: 

... Yes ... u1 

The evidence is that the Board held back on marketing initia~yes · furniture od · . .uv' mm~ 
pr uctJon, whi~h appears to have resulted in lower than budgeted sales, whilst it 
came to terms With Dalway's production and operational problems. 

115 

116 

117 

Transcript of Mr Fradkin - p. 28 of 27 October 1992 

Transcript of Mr Fradkin, p. 7 of 27 October 1992 

Transcript of Mr Fradkin, p. a of 27 October 1992 
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Attempts were made, however, to change the focus of the operation. 

From Mr Fradkin's evidence to the Committee it is clear that an attempt was made to 
remedy the shortcoming with regard to the production of f umiture by appointing 
Mr Y eudall as General Manager: 

... One of our stra'tegies, and probably one of die more successful stra'tegies in 
terms of generating sa.les was to move die compa.ny in tlwt directio1L That was 
one of die main reasons ... in hiring John Yeudall ... he had a strong experience 
with furniture and die marketing and retailing of furniture ... 118 

Apart from the employment of Mr Yeudall, however, there seems to have been no 
direct attempt to address the important management of sales and marketing. There is 
no apparent evidence that a sales strategy was developed to further the original goals 
of furniture export, either nationally or internationally. Most marketing was restricted 
to the Darwin region. 

Given that Dalway was able to complete the hbrary for the Supreme Court project 
satisfactorily, Mr Fradkin's statement that the Board did not want to market the 
company, as the Board was unsure as to Dalway's overall capabilities, does not seem 
to accord with the facts of Dalway's operations. It obviously had certain capabilities 
which could have been marketed. 

Conclusion 

With a significant debt to service, it appears that Dalway could not succeed without 
increasing turnover through the m~-production of furniture. It seemed that the 
whole purpose of the original expansion of DJFM from a small family joinery into a 
furniture factory had been forgotten, though it had been recognised from the start that 
Darwin, or even the whole of the Northern Territory, was an insufficient base to 
support such an operation. 

1.2A Role of DID 

A significant factor which appeared to inlubit the Board's ability to pursue profitability 
was the oonstraints plared upon it by the shareholder, via the Department of 
Industries and Development. 

According to evidence provided by Mr Otto Alder, the Board was advised by DID in 
making the oompany a profitable entity: 

118 Transcript of Mr Fradkin, p. 32 of 27 October 1992 
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... The Board was charged wiJh making the company into a viable and proflta_ble 
concern if that was able to be achieved. And before them were the trend lines 
established in the budgets which had been prepared at the ouJseL 

119 

This is supported by the testimony of Mr Steve Margetic to the Committee on 

7 September 1992.w 

The DID files contained a proposed agenda for the initial meeting of the new 
directors of Dcµway and DID on 20 March 1990, which made reference to a number 
of Government investment objects as follows: 

To preserve the technology in the Territory 
Mainiain employment skills 
Protect aeditors and the flow on effect 
To dispose of the investment as soon as reasonably possible. 

121 

Dill's role in monitoring the investment was also defined: 

No direct DepartmenJal involvement unless called for by the 
Board 
The Board to provide the Secretary (or nominee) with a 
quarterly report - fust being as at 30-6-9<P2 

Although there were no minutes of this meeting, evidence given by Mr Margetic would 
indicate this meeting took plare: 

119 

120 

121 

122 

123 

... At the initial board meeting the Directors met with the exzstmg General 
Manager ... representlltives of the Department of Industries and Development and 
other consultants that had provided services to the Government ... The new 
directors were given a run down on the state of affairs of the business ... 123 

Transcript of Mr Alder - p. 7 of 22 October 1992 

Transcript of Mr Margetic - p. 4 of 7 September 1992 

Dalloway pty Ltd - Meeting of Proposed Directors with Secretary 
of DID, 4.00 pm, 20 March 1990 

Dalloway pty Ltd - Meeting of Proposed Directors with Secretary 
of DID, 4.00 pm, 20 March 1990 

Transcript of Mr Margetic - p. 2 of 7 September 1992 
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Further on in evidence, Mr Margetic was asked what directives were given to him as a 
Board member by the principal shareholder and what the objectives were of the 
shareholder. 

Mr Margetic responded: 

... Yes, they indicated that their desire was to make the facility a profitable 
operation, and their advice at that time was that their intention was to sell it, 
when it was in a profitable situatioTL 124 

In addition when asked was he, as a Board member, operating under any constraints, 
he replied: 

... The desire was to ma.intain the labour force that was there; yes. 

When asked if this constrained rationalising the workforce, he replied: 

.... Yes, it ditL 

Mr Margetic also went on to state that such reductions would not have turned the 
business around. H~ agreed with a suggestion put to him by Mr Parish: 

... you would have had to downsize the whole operation; 

... Machinery, the size off actory ... 

Mr Margetic also stated in his evidence: 

... The reason Dalway was unprofitable in the first place was the structure of the 
business. 12.5 

He also agreed with the suggestion put to him by Mr Setter as follows: 

124 

125 

... it is far easier to be profitable on jobs like State Square now, (since the sale in 
May 1992) because of the greatly re.dilCe.d overheads than it was for Dalway to do 
so. 

Transcript of Mr Margetic - p. 7 of 7 September 1992 

Transcript of Mr Margetic - p. 48 of 8 September 1992 
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Mr Margetic: 

... That's co"ect. 126 

and in response to a question by Mr Parish on the difficulties of managing Dalway: 

... The gearing or the structure of the business was their biggest problem. 127 

This all -indicates that at least Mr Margetic felt the ability of the Board to operate 
commercially was hampered by restrictions being placed on the Board. 

If Dalway's overheads, debt burden and cost structure was such that it made it 
unprofitable, then restructuring of the debt, operations and the manufacturing pr~ 
may have solved certain of these problems. There is evidence that the Board knew of 
these problems but never conveyed them to Government by indicating restructuring 
was necessary. This lack of communication may have resulted from the directions 
given to the Board by DID at the outset to maintain the workforce, preserve the 
technology and protect the creditors and flow on effect. 

DID not only directed the Board to tum the company into a viable concern, but also 
restricted the Board with certain conditions imposed at the outset in achieving that 
aim effectively limiting any action the directors may have taken in the beginning to 
rationalise the busin~ into a profit making venture. 

DID also appointed Mr Pastrikos as an employee of the company to be paid by the 
company under an employment contract for two years from 1990. Again, this 
constrained the Board in how it oould oversee the operations of Dalway. The Board 
was not totally free to appoint its own management and affect such changes as it 
thought necessary. Mr Margetic stated: 

... His (John Pastrikos's) role as production manager did ajfed the ability of a 
number of the recommendations being implemented, and the perception in the 
workforce as I have stated in my report also made more difficult implementing 
change.128 

Similarly, ?ID did nothing at the outset to either formalise or dispel the 
understanding held by Mr Pastrikos with regard to his option to re-purchase the 
company and his right of veto in the event of a proposed sale to any other party. 

126 
Transcript of Mr Marqetic - p. 40 of 8 September 1992 

127 
Transcript of Mr Margetic - p. 22 of 8 September 1992 

128 
Transcript of Mr Marqetic - p. 9 of 7 September 1992 
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These factors effectively limited the extent to which the Board could operate in a fully 
commercial sense and to turn Dalway around into a profitable situation. 

Conclusion 

The restraints imposed upon the Board effectively hamstrung the restructuring 
necessary to tum Dalway into a commercially viable concern. 

DID created a paradoxical situation in which Dalway was supposed to act as a private 
company under the control of the Board, but at the same time was subject to 
interference which curtailed that Board's freedom of action through apparent 
obedience to bureaucratic directives. 

7.3 PRACTICAL MANAGEMENT DIFFICULTIES 

7.3.1 Directors and Management 

7 .3.1.1 Directors 

Prior to the purch~ of Dalway by the Government there was a need to appoint a 
Board of Directors. This was mentioned in the DID Briefing Paper of 24 January 
1990.129 It was felt that more control over public funds could be achieved by 
installing a majority of Government representatives on the Board and that these were 
to be appointed by DID. It was also recommended that the General Manager should 
not be a member of the Board but should attend Board meetings at the discretion of 
the Board. 

As a result, representatives of the Pamikos Family on the Board of Dalway were 
Mr Pamikos and one other Pamikos nominee. This nominee was a well-known local 
businessman, Mr Steve Margetic who Mr Pamikos had frequently dealt with and 
regarded as a suitable person. 

Clearly, the failure of the previous management to oorrect the problems within the 
business n~itated significant changes in control. A board was established which 
consisted of Messrs Fradkin, Margetic, Pamikos and Kneale. Mr Jim Bell was 
appointed as Chairman on 24th April 1990 and Mr G James was appointed as an 
alternative director during Mr Bell's absence overseas. Mr James also served on the 
Board for six months prior to the sale of the Government's interest in Dalway. 

129 Tabled Document 19 
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Details of the Directors are as follows: 

Mr Jim Bell (Chairman): 

Appointed by DID as Chairman of the Board on 24 April 1990. Mr Bell had 
at one stage worked as a building contractor, and had for some years ~ a 
joinery busin~ ancillary to his building activities. He had no prev10us 
experience in CAD/CAM mas.s-production of furniture and had no apparent 

working knowledge of computers. 

Mr Barry Fradkin: 

Mr Fradkin had been a management consultant with McGuin~ Fradkin & 
Aswciates Pty Ltd and for some 25 years had acted as consultant to a number 
of manufacturing companies, but never in the areas of joinery or furniture 
production. His experience lay mainly in the area of corporate strategic 
planning rather than in production control. He was based interstate and came 
from interstate in order to attend board meetings. 

Mr Ian Kneale: 

Mr Kneale was initially appointed Chairman of the Board of Dalway because 
of his experienre in running a su~ful joinery and had made furniture for 
some years on the Gold Coast. He had specific expertise in designing, 
producing and marketing furniture. His oonnection with the company, 
however, lasted only some five weeks after which he resigned from the Board 
following a dispute over expenses. 

Mr Steve Margetic: 

Mr Margetic is managing director of Sitzler Brothers (Darwin) Pty Ltd and 
was experienred in the oonstruction industry. He had no specific expertise in 
furniture production and only a very general exposure to the joinery busin~. 
He was one of two Pastrikos nominees to the Board of Dalway. 

Mr John Pastrikos: 

Mr Pastrikos was the former founder of DJFM which sold its ~ts to 
~~ay. His experienre lay in the area of general construction and contract 
JOmery. ~e. h~ no previous experience in large-scale furniture production 
and no tra1n1ng m ~e use of CAD/CAM methods prior to the inoorporation 
of DJFM. Mr Pastrikos was removed from the Board at the insistence of the 
other directors on 24 September 1991. 
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Mr Geoff James: 

Mr James is a senior legal practitioner practising in DaJ~win. 

As previously mentioned in more detail the new directors of Dalway met as a Board 
on 21 March 1990, with representatives of the DID being in attendance by invitation, 
and were informed as to the financial position of the company. The directives given to 
Board members by the Government were the: 

. ... desire ... to make the facility a profitable operation, and their advice at that 
time was that it was their intention to sell it, when it was in a profitable situation 

130 

The constraint applied to the Board by the Government was: 

... The desire was to maintain the labour force that was there ... 

This was taken to mean that although the Government wanted the busin~ to become 
viable, it was not to be achieved at the expense of the labour f orce.131 

The Board also appears to have been frustrated in its attempts to implement changes 
to the busin~ which economic n~ity dictated in the light of the deteriorating 
position of the company. Its frustration appears in part to have been caused by 
inadequate recording and reporting of stock, work in progr~ creditors and debtors. 

There was constant friction between some Board Members apparently precipitated by 
a refusal by Mr Pastrikos to realise that the busin~ was no longer his sole 
responsibility. Eventually the Board was fared with the problem that when its 
members made certain decisions with which Mr Pastrikos did not agree, he went to 
either the Secretary of DID or even the Minister himself. 

This situation culminated in the forced removal of Mr Pastrikos from the Board on 24 
September 1991. 

7 .3.1.2 General Management 

The major feature of the management of Dalway whilst under Government ownership 
was the instability created by major changes in key personnel. 

130 

131 

Transcript of Mr Margetic, p. 7 of 7 September 1992 

Agenda for f iret meeting between the Board of Dal way and DID, 
20 March 1990 
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Mr Dennis Edwards was installed as General Manager in March 1990, but after 
concerns raised by the Board, he was dis~ on 27 April 1990. 

Mr Kneale resigned as a director on 15 May 1990. However, at its meeting on the 

15 May 1990, the Board resolved: 

... that the firm of Cordiner King Warburton [recruitment ~~nts] . be as~ to 
wait until such time as Dalloway is in a profitable posztwJL Until that tune 

Mr Jim Bell will assume the responsibilities of General Manager under the 

heading of Executive Director ... 132 

Mr Bell acted as General Manager until the appointment of Mr John Yeudall in 
January 1991, although the roncurrent holding of a management and Board position 
ran rontrary to the original Briefing Paper reoommendations. 

The services of the subsequent General Manager, Mr John Yeudall, were dispensed 
with after six months with the rompany as it was the Board's view, according to the 
evidence of Mr Margetic, that Mr Y eudall was not in fact the right person for the job 
as General Manager, since his expertise lay in the field of furniture marketing and he 
was not experienced in the area of actual production. Accordingly, the Board did not 
extend the term of his employment beyond the original six month trial period. 

Mr Bell again acted as General Manager from August 1991 until May 1992 apparently 
because of the impending sale of the Government's interest in the company. Mr Bell 
was not qualified in a 'state of the art' manufacturing business which is really what 
Dalway was supposed to be about. He was apparently not computer literate and 
appears to have had difficuJtly in following the general ledger and other functions of 
the CAD/CAM system. Given that Mr Bell did not have the appropriate qualifications 
or experience to run romputerised production systems, his appointment as General 
Manager appeared inappropriate and appears to have exacerbated the management 
problems of Dalway. It must be remembered however that the Board w~ under the 
impr~ion that the sale of Dalway would proceed with greater expedition than it in 
fact did. 

It is clear from. this history ~f management that no management plan could be 
formulated and_ 1D1plemented smce those involved in management appeared not to 
have the expenenre n~ to run the sophisticated production system installed 
along the lines for which it had been designed. 

132 
Minutes of Board Meeting of Dalway, 15 May 1990 
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7.3.1.3 Financial Management 

The accountant for Dalway, Mr Tony Pastrikos, was dis~ in November 1990 since 
it was felt by the majority of the Board that he was too inexperienced to run the 
sophisticated accounting package installed in the computerised system. 

His replacement, Mr Tony Cahill, did not commence work until 4 February 1991 and 
stated in his evidence that the company had operated without an accountant for twelve 
weeks. Mr Cahill had previously been employed by the Government in a finance 
capacity and lacked experience in the private sector let alone a manufacturing industry. 
His credentials in the use of the accounting package installed were not apparently 
significantly better than those of Mr Tony Pastrikos. 

It was stated by Mr Wayne Bastion of Ernst & Young, the company auditor, that: 

... Tony Cahill, I don't believe, ever came to grips with the accounting system. I 
do not think he was really competent in that regard.133 

It was the lack of an appropriately qua1ified accountant experienced in the accounting 
system employed by the company which led to many of the problems with the 
reporting of the company's financial status. This appears to have been a fatal flaw 
since efficient and effective management ralls for an accurate and immediate appraisal 
of current financial status. 

7.3.1.4 Contracts Management 

Mr John Pastrikos acted as Contracts Manager and apparently from mid-1991 as 
Factory Manager. He was well experienced in the joinery industry but had no 
practical experienc.e in the m~ production of furniture prior to the incorporation of 
DJFM. His role is dealt with in more detail later in this chapter. 

7 .3.1.5 Staffing 

As mentioned, the First Tonche R~ Report made reference to organisational 
structures and the special problems created by the production methods and staffing 
foreshadowed by the purchase of the CIM system, which was primarily purchased to: 

133 Transcript of Mr Bastion, p. 18 of 22 October 1992 
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... f aciliJate a change in iJs production metfwds fro"! a jobbing basis to a 
production flow through in order to achieve economies of sea.le and factory 

efficiencies from volume throughput 
134 

This ·d tified ·gnificant shift from how the busin~ used to operate to how it 1 en a s1 . . 
would need to operate to achieve a profitable return and to use the eqwpment at Its 

best. Touche R~ noted in the Report: 

... The business and its management has had no previous experience with this 
method of prodiu:tioTL 135 

The report also stated: 

... The work habits of the skilled labour force will require redirection to the new 
prodi1ction flow metfwds rather than the current jobbing practices. The benefzts 
of these new prodi1ction methods will require incorporation into the present 
working behaviour in order to minimise resistance to change from the old 
ma,nuf acturing metfwds ... 

... DJFM prodi1ction c:apacity i.s very limited by its present operating methods. 
Work is currently allocated on a jobbing basis to the production employees 
depending on their level of skill 136 

The report reoognised the specialist nature of the new system and the ~ated 
skilled labour force needed to use it. However, no review was undertaken by 
management when the Government acquired D~s assets to ensure this mue was 
being addressed. This should have been incorporated in a revised corporate strategy 
prepared by management at that time. 

The 'Second Touche R~ Report', dated 20 January 1990, also recognised the 
problems raised by implementing this system, thus: 

134 

135 

136 

... The development and implementation of the computer facilities has taken 
longer than previously anticipated because of the time being taken to train 
employees, the delay in ma,nua/s being supplied by the manufacturers, and the 
amount of resources required to fully integrate the system. 

DJFM Investigation Report dated 29 September 1989 prepared by 
Touche Rose paragraph 2.3 

DJFM Investigation Report dated 29 September 1989 prepared by 
Touche Rose - paragraph 2.3 

DJFM Investigation Report dated 29 September 1989 prepared by 
Touche Ross - paragraph 2.3. 
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and 

... Further, the Directors recognise their limited experience to implement 
prod11ction management techniques and welcome participation from persons 
outside of the business at that level 137 

This can be interpreted as a plea for help as the DJFM management began to 
recognise the difficulties they faced with implementing the new CIM system. 

Mr Fradkin, in his report to TIO of 19 January 1990, also stated: 

... These levels of production are outside the experience of DJFM's management 
at all levels. 1he nature of the production management activities, controls and 
strategies is also tliff erent to that which all levels of management at DJFM have 
experienced. 138 

This extract confirms Mr Fradkin's appreciation of the emerging problems and thus it 
is puzzling why the Board did not request that these ~es be addressed early in 1990 
with carefully developed and documented busin~ strategies; thus providing 
management with an appropriate level of guidance given their reoognised inexperience. 
Mr Fradkin's recommendations included the following: 

... DJFM should urgently recruit a production manager with appropriate 
manufacturing experience to re-organise, control and subsequently manage the 
production environment as an effective processor. 139 

It is therefore unclear why no moves were made by the Board to ensure that 
appropriately experienced management were emplo~ or failing this, that 
experienced consultants were employed to give the required level of guidance and 
advice. 

Conclusion 

The C.Ommittee is of the view that the instability and lack of appropriate experience in 
management of the company at the production, marketing and financial levels 

137 

138 

139 

DJFM Funding Requirement Report dated 20 January 1990 for DID 
prepared by management of DJFM with the assistance of Touche Ross 
- paragraph 3.2 

Report by McGuiness, Fradkin and Associates to TIO, 19 January 
1990, Paragraph 2.2 

Report by McGuiness Fradkin and Associates pty Ltd to TIO on 19 
January 1990 - Paragraph 3.5 
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significantly hampered any attempt to make the company co~ercially vi~Je. In 
effect, management of Dalway did not have . the appr~pnate e~nence or 
qualifications in the sucressful application. ~f the .eqwpment to rts appropnate task. and 
was thus ineffective in achieving the ongmal aun of DJFM of large scale ~ture 
manufacture. As a result it seems that the emphasis returned to contract JOtnery 
which was never, according to the market surveys, likely to be sufficient to service the 

debt. 

That management should have recognised its limitations in implementing a system in 
which it had no previous experience was crucial, however, no General Manager or 
Production Adviser with such experience was ever subsequently employed by Dalway. 
This led to significant implementation problems with the oomputer, production 
processes, accounting systems and related internal controls over stock and work in 

pro gr~. 

7.3.2 The Pastri.kos Factor 

As mentioned, Mr Pastrikos had for many years operated, with apparent su~ a 
Darwin joinery busin~. The expansion into computer-aided control and production 
systems appears however to have been beyond his level of technical appreciation. The 
system leased and installed by DJFM turned out to be an 'orphan' in the computer 
sense with virtually no technical back-up available in Australia. 

The dreams of a furniture manufacturing, retail and export busin~ coupled with an 
obvious lack of expertise, appear to have led Mr Pastrikos into an untenable situation 
from the beginning. However, through all the financial troubles he appeared to have 
continued to see the project as his own, even after actual ownership of the busin~ 
p~ to the Government. 

It appears that from the time that Dalway purch~ the ~ts of DJFM there was 
continual conflict between Mr Pastrikos as Director/O>ntracts Manager/Production 
Manager and other Board members and the General Manager(s). 

This dish~ony was eviden~ by ~veral witn~ including Mr Bell, Mr Margetic, 
~ ~rad.kin and even Mr Pastrikos himself. The sourre of the friction apparently lay 
within the terms of the alleged agreement between the Pastrikos family and the 
Government which Mr Pastrikos, DID and the Board believed gave Mr Pastrikos 
significant rights with regard to the future of the company. 

The lack of conclusivity and a final determination about the alleged agreement were 
muc~ to ~lame for the uncertainty and helplessness experienred by the Board in its 
dealings with both management and staff. 
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Mr Fradkin said: 

... one of the most significant problems we, as the Board, faced right tJuoughout 
that time was that John (Pastrikos) believed it was his business and we were 
in1erim trustees. 140 

Similarly, the Chairman of the Board gave evidence before the Committee m 
reference to constraints placed upon his chairmanship .. 

Mr Bell said: 

.... I had basically full control but I could not sack John Pastrikos, that his salary 
was set at $75,000 per annum and that he had a car and that car would be 
serviced by the company, registration and the maintenance etc, and that would be 
set for two yea.rs. Well I took fit] that was from 15 March [1991] to 15 March 
1992 .. but in later events, that was apparently extended to 30 June 1992 .... but I 
do not think I actually got it in writing ... 141 

Mr Fradkin regarded the fact that Mr Pastrikos remained on the Board after the 
purchase of the busin~ as a 'conflict of interest' and identified other problems and 
said in that respect: 

.... the problem of this conflict of interest for John Pastrikos and the problem for 
us of managing that, and the problem of most of the key employee senior 
managers in the business that had come across from Danvin Joinery seeing Joluz 
as their boss, being told, as I understand it, by him that he is the boss knowing 
that he will be the boss again in two years time, [made it] pretty hard for an 
interim, if you like, management, Board and general manager .... there was conflict 
almost from day one ... 142 

At the shop-fl<Xlr level the work force was apparently similarly divided as indicated by 
the after-work meeting held at the home of Mr Max Bysouth and attended by 21 
Dalway workers. Under such circumstances, the decision-making function of 
management and the implementation of directions was seriously impaired. 

In a letter dated 30 August 1991 from the directors of Dalway to Mr Otto Alder, it is 
stated that: 

140 Transcript of Mr Fradkin, P· 19 of 27 October 1992 

141 Transcript of Mr Bell, p. 4 of 27 October 1992 

142 Transcript of Mr Fradkin, P· 21-22 of 27 October 1992 
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... The role of John Pastrikos has been a continual problem_ f o~ us. _In ou: _view 
his numerous attempts to undermine the Board by communu:atuzg with Muusters 
without advising us, places us in an intolerable positio1L .. 

This was a reference to incidents such as when Mr Pastrik~ sought personal 
intervention by the Minister for Industries and . Deve~opment m . respo~ to the 
dismissal of the four Pastrikos faction workers, mcluding Nectanos Pastrikos and 

Cosmos Pastrikos. 

Ultimately, the other Directors requested Mr Pastrikos' resignation from the Board on 
9 September 1991, and he was removed as a Director by a meeting of shareholders on 
24 September 1991. 

The removal of Mr Pastrikos from the Board, however, apparently did not relieve the 
obvious tensions, since all the directors and workers were under the impr~ion that 
Mr Pastrikos could not be dismissed from the workplace and he continued in a 
managerial role until told to take leave prior to the sale of Dalway on 14 May 1992. 

During the period of Government ownership of Dalway, Mr Pastrikos was responsible 
for estimation and quotes on various jobs. It has been alleged that he underquoted in 
order to buy work, a contention strongly denied by Mr Pastrikos on the b~ that it 
was in his interest to make the company a success as he intended to buy back control 
within two years. 

Having purchased the ~ts of DJFM, it was the responsibility of the Government to 
plainly state, in writing, the terms and conditions as they applied to Mr Pastrikos so 
that there would be no room for the uncertainty which appears to have existed in the 
minds of all other parties. This was a failure which appears to have undermined the 
attempts to get Dalway back on any sound management and production path, and 
frustrated the attempts by the other directors to rationalise and reorganise the 
company's affairs. 

Conclusion 

The advice regarding control of the company put forward in the DID Briefing Paper 
before the purch~ by the Government appears to have been ignored, allowing 
disputes to get out of hand. With the benefit of hindsight it would have been better to 
~~e. removed Mr Pastrikos completely. The argument that he had exceptional skills 
m JOmery and that he w~ essential to the operations of Dalway, however c:annot be 
completely dismissed. ' 

His employment contract together with his alleged right to re-purchase and the loyalty 
of forme~ DJFM employees (or family members) appears to have resulted in the 
Board bemg in oontinual oonflict with Mr Pastrikos. The influence of Mr Pastrikos 
apparently became so great as to counter what experience had been brought to the 
Board and management when the Government purchased Dalway. 
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By the time the option of paying out Mr Pastrikos' contract ·was canv~ by Mr Bell 
it was an extra expense which Dalway could ill afford, and was probably too late to 
save the business in any rase. Even without the benefit of hindsight, however, the 
Directors should have more fully explored the options available to them: his 
suspension on full pay or his dismissal. 

7.3.3 Financial Reporting 

7 .3.3.1 Internal Reporting 

The difficulties experienced by the Board in obtaining accurate and reliable financial 
information hindered its efforts to tum Dalway around. 

In 1990, Dalway installed a new oomputer accounting system (TABS) which required 
completely new subsidiary systems for debtors, creditors, fixed ~ts, payroll and stock 
including the general ledger, to be set up. Whilst being a time consuming exercise, the 
system had been fully implemented except for stock and job cost modules by the time 
the first accountant, Mr Tony Pastrikos, left in November 1990. However, the stock 
and job cost modules were never fully implemented. 

The lack of accurate inventory reporting was a major weakness which made it 
impossible for the Board to determine Dalway's profitability on individual rontracts. 

Management information was prepared monthly for the Board by the Company 
Accountant, the Contracts Manager, the Sales Manager and the General Manager. 

The General Manager prepared an operating report of significant matters or matters 
requiring Board approval. 

Financial information such as actual sales, costs of sales and overhead rosts against 
budget were prepared for each Board Meeting and were submitted for consideration 
by the Board. 

Other information which was supplied to the Board included the detailed aged debtors 
ledger and creditor ledger listings, bank reoonciliations and jobs quoted position. 
Other information would be supplied at Board request, however, the Board was 
apparently not able to obtain reliable job cost comparisons between actuals and 
estimates to enable them to effectively monitor the profitability of jobs completed or 
held work in progr~. 

Conclusion 

The financial reporting by Dalway management to the Board was deficient in at least 
one significant ~ which did not allow the Board to readily c.arry out its 
responsibilities, that being the lack of accurate jobbing records and actual costs against 
estimates. Without this information the directors could not effectively determine if the 
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company's individual contracts were profitable with or without allowances for 

overheads. 

7.3.3.2 Reporting to the Shareholder 

The Board or its representatives reported to DID on at least a quart~rly b~is to keep 
it advised of Dalway's activities. Although the Board had concluded ~April 1991 that 
without accurate job cost information they could 'no longer effectJvely manage the 
business'1-'3, no evidence has been provided to confirm that the Government was 
formally briefed by the Board on this issue. 

However, Mr James, who attended the Board Meeting as Mr Bell's alternative director 
on 4 July 1991, reported his concerns in a letter dated 5 July 1991 to Mr Otto Alder 
of DID: 

... Mr Fradkin highlighted the fact that the company does not have in place a 
'cost to complete' review technique to enable it to monitor the potential success or 
otherwise of these contracts. It was Mr Fradkin~ rather convincing analysis that 
on the review technique currently being applied, the company is not in a position 
to know, midway through the performance of such a contract whether it shall 
make a profe on those contracts ... As an observer, I was somewhat 
uncomfortable at this prospect and felt that it would be appropriate to inf onn you 
of it ... 

There is also no evidence that DID was informed in April/May 1991 when the 
directors held major concerns about the on-going viability of the company. Similarly, 
there is no evidence that Mr Alder took seriously the comments made by Mr James. 
In fact, on 15 July 1991, Mr Caldwell was responsible for a memorandum to the 
Minister for Industries & Development, wherein he advised the Minister. 

... I suggest that you confinn that management has advised that past difficulties at 
management level have been resolved and that the management team is working 
well together for the benefe of the company. 

You could also say that there were initial operating losses when Dalway took over 
the business, but it is now profeable (this is true for recent months) ... 

Given that Mr James had expressed the view already stated that it was im~ible to 
know whether the company was running in profit and the fact that every physical 
stocktake resulted in an increase in the cost of goods sold, the position outlined by 
Mr Caldwell appears plainly incorrect. 

143 
Minutes of Dalway Board Meeting, 30 April 1991 
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O>nrem was ultimately expressed by the Minister for Industries & Development in a 
Memorandum dated 12 August 1991 that the Department was 'not keeping him 
properly informed.' This ~e was addressed by the Department both in 
correspondence and in oral evidence before the O>mmittee.1" 

However, in response to a question from Mr Parish: 

... It would be a pretty serious matter, would it not, for the Minister to be coming 
to the department and saying, 'You are misleading me: You are not keeping me 
properly informed of what is going on in this ma.tter. Not the sort of thing you 
would forget, is it? ... 

Mr Caldwell replied: 

Well the note does not say the Minister said, 'You are misleading me~ It says 
'not keeping you properly inf onned, which is not quite the same thing ... 

Whilst the claim by Mr Caldwell that the company was actually profitable at that small 
point in time may or may not be true, it is undeniable that the trend was towards a 
dismal financial outoome for the year. 

7.3.3.3 Detail of the Financial Management 

Under the original set-up, the Empire Systems (as part of the CIM) were installed to 
provide financial information such as general ledger and ~ated subsidiary control 
ledgers. Management apparently never came to grips with the Empire System. It was 
replaced in mid April 1990 when the TABS System was installed to supply general 
ledger, subsidiary ledgers and other asset rontrol functions. 

In his evidence, Mr Tony Pastrikos stated that this was because of the lack of 
professional support for the Empire Systems. He stated 145

: 

and 

144 

145 

... It was a package from Americ.a, and we were just f aeing brick walls every time 
we went JUrther, and just the lack of supporL It was too complex in a sense that 
you nee.tkd a work force to run the computer instead of a small administration 
personnel 

... It was far too big for our operation, yes. ' 

Transcript of Mr Caldwell, p. 24 of 9 November 1992 

Transcript of Mr Pastrikoe, p. 4 of 9 September 1992 
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Once the decision was made to install the TABS system, not only did accounting 
resources have to be directed towards making the new system work, but the problem 
was compounded by a workforce, which had been used to . operating in . a small 
environment under manual methods of stock control, who did not apprecJate the 
importance of rorrect requisitioning. 

The implementation of the TABS System resulted in a general ledger, cashbook, 
debtors, creditors payroll and fixed ~ts systems being implemented over the time Mr 
Tony Pastrikos was acoountant up to November 1990. However, as previously 
mentioned, no proper stock costing or stock rontrol moduJes were in place at 
November 1990 when he was dismissed. 

Ernst & Young conducted an initial systems review and reported thereon prior to 
undertaking their final audit of the acoounts for the year ended 30 June 1990. In their 
report dated 28 June 1990 they indicated that their main conrem was: 

... in relation to the inventory system, for which there is TW recording system other 
tha.n a recently introduced bin card system for Juirdware stock ... in rela.tion to 
other materials, components and finished goods, there is no inventory record 
maintained. Consequently, this limits the amount of control over such 
stocks. 1'6 

This deficiency in the inventory and job costing system also led the auditors to state: 

... Because of the lack of appropriate inventory records it may be di.fficult to 
determine if all materials utilised have in fact been charged to a job ... 

This report was addressed to Mr Bell, in his capacity as a director of Dalway. 

Mr Bell's response to this letter was in the form of a Management Report addressed 
to the Board Meeting on 10 July 1990 which stated: 

··· . ~) Inventories - Mr Mike Redmond of TABS system will be giving the staff 
tuition over tluee days from 4th, 5th and 6th July inclusive; over the next few days 
we hope to have this problem taken aire of 

... c) lob Costing System and Materials - This is inter-related with the inventories 
system, and with the inventories system up and running, this will be next in line. 

The Board then resolved: 

146 
Letter from Ernst & Young to Mr J B 11 

e dated 28 June 1990, pp 1-2 
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... that Ernst & Young be commissioned to assist. in the implementation of a 
Month Reporting Package from 1 July 1990. 141 

The Board at its initial meeting of 21 March 1990, was aware of the stock control 
deficiencies as one of its resolutions was that: 

... A cost control system be incorporated with the financial accounting records. 

The Board also resolved that monthly management reports were to include detailed 
work in progr~ reports. 

How, therefore, was management controlling work in progr~ costs and ensuring that 
jobs were being run profitably? In Mr Tony Pastrikos' evidence, he stated that about: 

e.. September/October we were analysing the job costing. What we used to do with 
John [Pastrikos] is every Sa.turday we used to get all invoiced jobs at that time, sit 
down and go through each job file. The laboiu was not a problem ... But it was 
the material requisitions that were not going in. 148 

At September 1990, because there was no inventory control module in place and 
material requisitions were not always being recorded, it followed that the stock and job 
cost information supplied to the Board was not and could not be reliable. 

At the Board Meeting of 23 August 1990 Mr Bell submitted a proposal by Ernst & 
Young to assist with implementing an integrated costing system. Mr Bell noted: 

... I feel sure that this is just what we want, but as Mr Tony Pastrikos has been 
anchored down with auditors and liquidators, it is not much use engaging 
someone at $1000 per day unless he is free. Another alternative is ... Merv 
Sullivan, the auditor ... at approxima.tely $500 a day. We can ma.ke that decision 
on Tuesday 21 August. 149 

The Board minutes do not record any decision apart from a resolution in the Board 
minutes of 10 July 1990 to engage Ernst & Young to assist in preparing the monthly 
ac.counts package. 

Mr Cahill, Dalway's accountant from 4 February 1991 to the sale of Dalway in 1992, 
stated in evidenre that the company had no aanuntant for Derember 1990 and 

147 

149 

Minutes of Dalway Board Meeting of 10 July 1990 

Transcript of Mr Pastrikos, p. 9 9 September 1992 

Management Report by Mr Bell to the Board of Dalway, 23 August 
1990, p. 2 
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January 1991, after Mr Tony Pastrikos had been dismissed and he had been employed. 

He also stated: 

... there had been no postings to the cashbooks fin the two months]. N_one of the 
records had been posted. So my fust role was to bring the postuzgs up to 
date. 150 

It must be remembered however that it was the practice of the company to close down 
fre>m Christmas until the end of January. 

Mr CahiJJ also stated that once he spoke to Mr John Pamikos about the work in 

progre&S: 

and 

... And it was only then fin May/June] tha.t I realised apart from the non-filling in 
of the requisitions etc at what a mess their job costing was in. 

... What they [the Board] were very concerned about was yow work-in-progress 
figwes which I knew was high, and it was only until I sat down with John 
Pastrikos about the end of May, and we went tluough every job, job-by-job and 
looked at the job transaction reports on those jobs, and I think we wrote off 
something like $400, 000 ... 151 

This would indicate that inventory and work in progress were mis-stated. 
Furthermore, nobody was apparently checking either with Mr John Pamikos or the 
projects managers to determine what jobs were oompleted or checking for invoices 
raised against jobs within the work in progr~ system. 

Dalway carried out a stocktake on 28 February 1991 which resulted in a $0272M stock 
discrepancy. This was noted in the Board minutes of 30 April 1991. As a 
oonsequenc.e, the Directors advised: 

150 

151 

152 

... tha.t unless a significant improvement in the acauacy of Stock Control/Job 
Cost reporting is evident in the next four weeks the Board am no longer effectively 
manage the business... Any staff member who doesn't comply with company 
instructions to complete doaunentation for stock usage must 'be either trained, 
disciplined or ultimately dismissed.152 

Transcript of Mr Cahill, p. 3 of 9 September 1992 

Transcript of Mr Cahill, P· 6 of 9 September 1992 

Minutes of Dal way Board Meeting on 30 April 1991, page 2 

114 



This threat does not appear to have been rarried out, apparently because the Board 
was led to believe that the neressary changes were being implemented153• 

The Board provided a memorandum to Mr Yeudall and Mr Pastrikos on 5 July 1991 
indicating its dissatisfaction with the deficiencies in the ac.counting system which had 
not been corrected. 

... We recognise that considerable effort has been expended in moving to a 
solution to these problems; however we are still faced with a business that is 
making operating losses, maintaining incomplete control methods over major 
activities and reluctant to take co"ective action to resolve cost inefficiencies. 

... You will need to put in place the following minimum actions before we will 
agree to forming a view that the business has the potential to become viable. 154 

The Directors then listed a number of requirements for information presented to them 
and for job costing control and in particular, for comparison of work in progress to 
budget. They then stated: 

... All of the auditor's requirements in their 3 July 1991 letter will be implemented 
immediately ... (a) and (b) ... [i.e. job costs and work in progress actual to budget 
comparison] have been asked for continually by the Boa.rd. They must rww be 
provided or the executive responsible for not providing them must be asked to 
resign_ 155 

The Board was advised at its meeting of 30 July 1991 that a further $0382M needed 
to be written off work in progr~ at 30 June 1991. As a result the Board resolved 
that: 

... all outstanding jobs at the end of each month are to be reviewed by the 
General Manager before they are included in the work in progress.156 

The auditor's report of 3 July 1991 also noted significant fluctuations in gr~ profit 
percentages from November 1990 onwards: 

153 

154 

155 

156 

Transcript of Mr Margetic, pp 20-22 of 7 September 1992 

Memo to Mr Yeudall and Mr John Pastrikos from the Board on 5 July 
1991 

Memo to Mr Yeudall and Mr Pastrikos from the Board on 5 July 1991 

Minutes of Dalway Board Meeting, 30 July 1991 
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.. . It is uncertain precisely why this has arisen, Jwwever it is believed the primary 
area of concern has been in resped of the job costing system and the corred 

recording of purchases and material usage.
157 

The auditors also noted key reports for each system such as general ledger and 
monthly debtors ledger reports were not being generated and that a number of 
monthly computer accounting reports had not been kept. 

Following a request from the directors, the auditors investigated the accountability of 
inventories. Their findings were: 

... The compa.ny's usage of inventories ainnot be readily accowzted for primarily 
because of one major shortcoming, namely the lack of an inventory recording 
system... Inventories are a manual item of the company and unless an. invent~ry 
recording system is maintained, the system of internal controls over uwentones 
will rema.in weak with the potential risk that loss may be sujf ered tJuough poor 

• ·-~,.'J..i/itu 158 accouruu.uuu J. 

The major shortcomings underlying these comments related to: 

no formal goods rereived recording to support goods rereived from 
suppliers 

no inventory recording system to account for inventories 

lack of an audit trail due to there being no inventory system to record 
stock items being used and to record stock against the jobs on which 
they were used 

The auditors also noted that this matter was raised with Mr Tony Pastrikos in October 
1990 and that it was intended to have two systems implemented in February 1991. 
However, Mr Cahill replaced Mr Tony Pastrikos and he was unfamiliar with many 
aspects of the accounting system, particularly stock and work in progr~ until mid-
1991. This meant that this important aspect of the accounting and management 
systems was never adequately addressed. 

The auditors presented their report on 21 October 1991 on the system as at 
30 September 1991. In this period Mr Bell had taken over as General Manager. 
There is no evidence of any remedial action taken by Mr Bell to ensure the required 
inventory and job costing systems were implemented, notwithstanding that he was also 

157 

158 

Letter to the Board of Dalway from Ernst & Young, 3 July 1991 

Review of Accountability of Inventories produced for the 
directors of Dalway, 21 October 1991 
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a director and must have been aware of the deficiencies which existed in this area 
prior to August 1991. 

Events culminated in the stocktake conducted on 28 February 1992 which was 
reviewed by Ernst & Young. It was revealed that a discrepancy of $0.473M existed. 
Whilst $0.lM was identified as errors in the stock system, the remaining $037M could 
not be adequately accounted for. 

The auditors however stated: 

... Stock defalcation cannot be proved unless the accounting records and the gross 
profit review process is to such an extent where it can be relied upon.159 

A review of the estimates and the job oost reoords indic:ates it was not possible to 
accurately check actual materials and labour used on jobs. Estimates would give 
detailed breakdowns of labour hours and materials to be used, but would not indicate 
if they were to come from stock or he purchased direct. As actual details of materials 
and labour used on jobs was not able to be accurately checked, it was not possible for 
the C.Om.mittee to then determine if the quoted jobs were making a I~ or a profit. 
Dalway management's own estimates would generally indic:ate that a 30% to 40% 
gross profit margin should have been realised. 

Conclusion 

Due to the state of the accounting records, actual details of costs incurred were not 
always available or reliable. 

Given these difficulties with the ac.counting systems, particularly stock and work in 
progr~, and the inability of the directors to be able to review actual costs against 
estimates on jobs, and the inaccuracies in management information supplied to the 
Board, it would have made Dalway difficult to effectively manage. This was 
exacerbated because Dalway had taken a oomplete change of direction in its 
manufacturing and joinery operations which meant that timely and accurate 
information for management and the Board was essential. 

The C.Ommittee ooncludes that since management of oosts of work in progr~ was 
fundamental in determining if Dalway made profits or losses, this should have been 
one of the first systems implemented. The two ac.countants employed were able to 
implement debtors, creditors and set up a general ledger package but they were 
unable, even with the ~istance of TABS who produred the system, to su~fully 
implement a stock and job oost oontrol system. 

159 Ernst & Young Report to Mr Bell on the stocktake of 28 February 
1992 
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It is clear how critical these aspects of oontrol were to effective management. 
Insufficient attention was given to the problem until at least April 1991, at which 
stage Dalway had been operating for thirteen months and was making significant 
losses. 

7.3A Summary 

The management of Dalway was lacking in a number of respects including the lack of 
appropriate experienc.e in n1nning a mass production furniture manufacturing 
operation at senior management level and in the production area. Continual change 
and upheaval in management, with a lack of continuity in general manager and 
accountant positions, disrupted the management of Dalway and the implementation of 
policy decisions. 

The company also lacked the services in the management team of an appropriately 
skilled individual with a depth of understanding of the furniture market, not just in 
Darwin, but in Australia and overseas, and the skiJls to su~fully tap those markets 
for Dalway. Although the Board attempted in employing Mr Yeudall to addr~ this 
~ue, there is no evidence that a significant effort was made in that direction even 
whilst he was general manager. 

The role of Mr John Pastrikos in the management of Dalway also resulted in conflict 
and disharmony with the general manager and the Board. 

Given the upheaval in management and lack of appropriate skills, Dalway did not have 
a sufficiently effective management team or approach to su~fully deal with its day 
to day affairs. 

7.4 OPERATIONAL FACTORS 

7 .4.1 Stock Discrepancies 

7.4.1.1 Stocktake of 28 February 1m 

Given the difficulties referred to at 7 33 above, it is hardly surprising that a stocktake 
woul~ reveal some. discrep~ci~ in the levels of stock and work in progress. The 
magrutude of the discrepanCies is, however, surprising. 

On 25 March 1?92 Ernst & Young wrote to Mr Bell attaching a stock report detailing 
reasons for vanants of stock levels of Dalway as at 28 February 1992160. The book 
stock figure was $931,385 compared to the physical stock take done at the time which 
was $458,860, giving a deficiency of $47~25. 

160 
Tabled Document 39 

118 



Approximately $100,000 was identified as errors attributed to: 

1. Invoices entered twire into stock 

2. Non stock items posted to stock 

3. Non postings of requisitions 

4. Internal jobs relating to non stock items posted to stock 

This meant that $370,000 was unaccounted for and could be due to any of the 
following causes: 

1. Stock was stolen; 

2. Material requisitions were not being completed, resulting in stock not 
being allocated to jobs, resulting in higher than actual gro~ margins; 

3. Material requisitions were not completed where stock was delivered 
direct to a job; 

4. Furniture from the showroom was not requisitioned to a job. 

Ernst & Young went on to say that: 

The estimating procedures are not detailed enough in many c:ases for us to 
determine whether all material relating to a job has been accounted for co"ectly. 

This proposition was supported by Mr James, in his capacity as Director, in a letter to 
the Secretary of the DID dated 5 July 1991, wherein he stated: 

... the company does not have in place a 'cost to complete' review technique to 
enable it to monitor the potential success or otherwise of these contracts ... 

All of the above, excluding theft, were apparently occurring to some indeterminate 
degree, which meant that the company's financial reports/reoords were inaccurate. 

7 A.1.2 Witness' reactions to stock discrepancies 

This was not the first time the book to actual stock was inaccurate. At a stocktake 
carried out at the end of the 1991 financial year, the stock discrepancy was $381,970. 
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The original accountant, Mr Tony Pastrikos stated
161

: 

... At the time of my involvement I performed tluee stocktakes. One being 3rd 
June 1990 when Ernst & Young was there. One at 5 September 1990 and the last 
one was around about October. Due to my last stocklake wuiertaken in October 
there was a discrepancy in the computer stock module to the physical stocktake of 
approximately $100,000. This resulted in my termination 

Mr Setter asked: 

... Mr Pastrikos were you getting negative feedback from the general manager or 
the Board with regard to the way in which you were producing financial accounts 
and the perf onnance of the accounts section generally? ... 

Mr Tony Pastrikos replied: 

At that time it was in an implementation phase. I believe the general ledger, the 
c.ash-book was working okay. But bec.ause it was integrated and to be effective 
the stock contro~ job-costing had to work all in together as one ... 

Mr Setter went on to ask: 

... The job costing had to work all in together. Can you explain that? ... 

Mr Tony Pastrikos responded: 

... There were sales and the cost of goods sokl In the cost of goods sold the job­
costing module had to work properly for it to hit the profit and loss ... 

O>ntinuing, Mr Setter asked: 

... Was the information being fed in from the shop floor by way of people on the 
shop floor completing documentaJion [i.e. stock requisitions J which c:an then be 
fed into the computer by you? ... 

Mr Tony Pastrikos replied: 

... No, it was not, because it was still in the implementation stage. 

Similarly, Mr John Pastrikos identified the problem as stemming from the failure of 
staff, who ~er~ using materials, to rorrectly fill out the forms which went to the offire 
for pr~mg mto the oomputer. 

161 Transcript of Mr Tony Pastrikos, pp 8-9 of 9 September 1992 
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... they have got to make a requisition so it can be costed to the job. A lot of 
purchases have not been requisitioned to go to the job so they remained in the 
computer's stock module ... 162 

Further corroboration came from directors Mr Margetic and Mr Bell. Mr Margetic 
said: 

there were requisition forms, it was originally done on just blank pieces of 
paper. Requisition forms were provided for the area supervisors to fill out, or to 
collect from the employees each day, to fill out on what materials they had used 
and what job it had gone to. It was evident over a period of time 'though that this 
was not happening in all cases ... 163 

Mr Palmer asked Mr Bell: 

... it seemed that it was just impossible to get both the workforce on the floor and 
others to recognise the need for proper stock control? ... 

to which he responded: 

... All the information, the Boord and ourselves was getting was that it was 
basically a computer problem It was not going in and it was not coming oUL It 
was just not organised by the accountant. 164 

Finally the auditors, Ernst & Young, oonfirmed the inadequacy of oontrol over stock 
in their evidenreo 

Mr Parish asked Mr Bastion of Ernst & Young: 

162 

163 

164 

... Despite requests made to the company to identify precisely when and to which 
jobs spedfic stock items were charged. This matter has remained unresolved. 
1he above matter would indicate that control over stock is lacking to the e.xtenJ 

that the tracking of stock movements is difficult and hence the company may very 
easily suffer loss in this area without detectioTL ... Would you consider that the 
failure to address that contributed in a material sense to the further major stock 
discrepancy of $470,000 that you later identified in February 1992, only tluee 
months later? ... 

Transcript of Mr Pastrikos, p. 36 of 7 September 1992 

Transcript of Mr Margetic, p. 20 of 7 September 1992 

Transcript of Mr Bell, pp 21-22 of 27 October 1992 
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Mr Bastion answered: 

165 ... Yes. They were ... 

7 A.1.3 Allegations of Theft 

Following the stocktake of 28 February 1992, and the Ernst & Young report of 
25 March 1992 in which the auditors said: 

. ... We are not able to rule out the possibility of material stock amounts being 
subject to theft ... 

Mr Bell instituted a number of changes to existing procedures. He: 

engaged Wormalds to replace the existing security system 

emphasised strongly to staff the importance of material requisitions 

directed monthly stocktakes to commence at the end of April 

directed gross margins to be followed up and reviewed especially 
where they varied from budget. 

Mr Bell initiated his own enquiries upon disrovering that some stock had been 
addr~ to the previous Darwin Joinery premises. However, the supplier, CSR 
Wood Panels ~ed him that all their deliveries had been made to the oorrect 
address for Dalway.166 

The security measures continued, although a stocktake was not carried out on 30 April 
1992 as directed, until the ismle of stock theft arose in the Parliament on 12 May 1992, 
in the form of a question from Mr Parish: 

... ls the Minister aware of two stock:Jakes ••. Has the Minister been made aware 
of any stock losses as a result of tlwse stocktakes? Can such losses be attributed 
to theft? ... 167 

The Hon. Steve Hatton's reply was: 

... questions ... should be direcled to the Board of the company ... 

165 
Transcript of Mr Bastion, p. 10 of 22 October 1992 

166 
Tabled Document 40 

167 
Hansard 12 May 1992, page 806 
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The Hon. Barry C.Oulter said at that time: 

... If you have any knowledge of it you should make it available to the police ... 

On Friday 15 May, the Hon. Steve Hatton phoned C.Ommissioner of Polire, 
Mr Palmer, in regard to the allegations of theft. The C.Ommissioner, through Assistant 
C.Ommissioner Chalker, approached Detective Sergeant Matt Sodoli of CIB HQ and 
asked him to visit Dalway and speak to Mr Bell. 

The reason Mr Bell gave for not contacting the polire earlier was that the Board had 
given him the option of c.aJJing in a security firm or the police. He chose the former 
as he felt morale was bad enough as it was without being exacerbated by a police 
investigation. 

Mr Bell informed Detective Sodoli that the Ernst & Young audit report had not ruled 
out the ~ibility of theft and that he asked the police to look into the matter. 

Detective Sodoli informed Mr Bell that: 

... it was not a police function to conduct an audit into a company to first 
establish if a criminal offence had occurred bui that it would be up to his own 
accountants to cklrify the alleged discrepancy and indU:ate that a criminal offence 
had indeed been committed ... 168 

He left the premises having discussed further matters not relevant to the allegations of 
theft, and reported that there was no evidence at this stage to indicate any criminal 
acts. 

Detective Sodoli then conducted a series of informal interviews with a number of 
individuals in an attempt to ascertain whether there was any foundation to the 
allegation. 

As a result of his investigations, Detective Sodoli submitted a report and in his 
evidence before the C.Ommittee concluded by saying: 

... I was unable to confum any suggestion of a criminal offence having been 
committed in relation to the stock discrepancy ... 169 

168 Tabled Document 51 - In Camera evidence of Detective Sergeant 
Sodoli, p. 2 of 24 October 1992 

l69 Tabled Document 51 - In camera evidence of Detective Sergeant 
Sodoli, p. 11 of 24 October 1992 
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Ernst & Young on 25 March 1992 recommended that monthly stocktakes be 
undertaken. The failure to act on that recommendation makes it im~ible to 
ascertain whether or not theft was a significant factor in the stock discrepancies. 

Conclusion 

The Committee was unable to conclude that any criminal offence had been committed 
in relation to the stock discrepancies. 

The Committee is of the opinion that the stock discrepancies resulted mainly from the 
failure of either the shopfloor staff to fill out stock requisitions or the front office staff 
to record those requisitions appropriately, ultimately leading to inaccurate financial 
reports through an understating of the value of goods sold. Further, the C:Ommittee 
believes that management/Board failed sufficiently to rerogn.ise the seriousn~ of the 
problem, or if they did, failed to accord it sufficient priority, as this problem existed 
throughout the whole period of Government ownership. 

7.4.2 Performance 

7 .4.2.1 Budgeted Performance against Actual Performance 

The sales forecasts for the 1990 and 1991 years prepared in the First Touche R~ 
Report relied heavily on winning the State Square contracts (valued at $4.0M each) in 
each of those years. This would in hindsight appear at the least to be very optimistic. 
The original concept identified joinery work as being subsidiary to the major thrust of 
long-run furniture production and the revenue from this area does not appear to enter 
the equation even at this early stage. 

Projected sales from the budgets prepared at 20 January 1990 have contract sales for 
the six months to June 1990 of $1.9M and for the twelve months to June 1991 and 
1992 of $5.0M and $42M respectively. 

A review of original to revised budgets indicates none of them were close in estimating 
the actual sales. 

7.4.2.2 Initial estimates of the available market for Dalway in the Northern Territory 

Market projections included in the First Touche R~ Report of 29 September 1989 
for DJFM indicated: 

••. The_ market ~ for wood based furniture in the Northern Territory was 
determined to be zn the order of $9M for the financial year ended 30 June 1989 ... 
the potential market share of this market was estimated to be worth apprarimately 
$1.3M to DJFM ... 
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Budgets prepared and included in this report for the years ended 30 June 1990 and 30 
June 1991 under the proposed oontinuation of the joinery and the furniture 
manufacturing operations indicated the following: 

Budget Actual Budget Actual 
Sept 1989 to Mar 1990 to 30 June 1991 30 June 19'Jl 
June 1990 June 1990 

$,000 $,000 $,000 $,000 
Sales 

TIO 466 
State Square 4 000 3 597 
Parl. House 4 000 
Other Joinery 2 510 1 665 4 500 
Chairs/Furn 175 1 450 756 

7 151 1 665 9 950 4 353 
U>mparable 
budget to actual 2 502 1 665 9 950 4 353 
sales for period 66% of budget 44% of budget 

Budgets per the 'Second Touche R~ Report' on 20 January 1990 are as follows: 

Budget Budget Budget 
1 Jan 19'JO to 30 June 19'Jl 30 June 19'12 
30 June 19'JO 

$,000 $,000 $,000 

Joinery 1 900 5 000 4 200 
Furniture 1100 4 050 6 550 

3 000 9 050 10 750 

Whereas actual results achieved were: 

Actual Actual Actual (unaudited) 

1 Mar 19'JO to 30 June 19'Jl 31Mar19'12 

30 June 19'JO 
$,000 $,000 $,000 

Joinery 1 665 3 597 2 274 
Furniture 755 674 

1 665 4 352 2 948 

95% of budget 48% of budget 36% of budget 
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These budget projections indicated that DJFM expected to receive a significant level 
of work from the two stages of the State Square Project. The 'Second Touche Ross 

Report' stated that: 

and 

... DJFM recognises that a large part of its present production capacity in the 
contract joinery work is dependent on its~ _tender for the ~rate Sqzm:e 
project, other contracts will be required to maxuruse the productwn c:apa.aly 

available. .. 

... The budget has been prepared on a conservative basis and is believed 'to be 
achievable on a successful implementation of the marketing stT'f-tegy and 
incorporation of production processing work methods. The gross profit margin 
will improve with the change of sales mix by increasing furniture production and 
sales, being benefits from utilising production capacity, while maintaining a 
consistent level of contract joinery ... 

The budget prepared in 1989 projected sales 35% higher than 1990 actual results and 
65% higher than 1991 actual sales. The State Square Project was the major 
contnbuting factor in the anticipated growth. Dalway eventually received $3.0M for 
State Square Stage I spread over 1990, 1991 and 1992. The letter of intent for Stage 
II was only signed in May 1992 at $15M and no revenue had been received at March 
1992. 

Actual furniture sales were only 52% of budget predictions determined in 1989. From 
June 1991 onwards, furniture production had not proceeded to the level predicted in 
the 1989 budget. Retail furniture sales commenced at the end of June 1990 when 
Dalway opened a showroom and oommenced small-scale furniture retailing. Attempts 
to distnbute furniture through other retailers was not greatly sucressful. 

The revised January 1990 budgets by DJFM more closely matched the 1990 activity, 
but again over-estimated activity for 1991 and 1992 significantly. 

Earlier in 1988, Ernst & Whinney (now Ernst & Young) had commi~ioned the 
preparation of a research paper into the local furniture market on behalf of TIO and, 
although very limited in scope, it found that: 

170 

··· Opportunities for entry inlo the small commercial and domestic markets are 
limited because purchasing is often centralised interstate. 

From our small sample, it would appea,r that the overall market is statir zif not 
. 170 ~ contractmg ... 

McGregor Report, p.2 
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The revised budgets actually used by Dalway for the relevant period were as follows: 

Joinery 
Furniture 

Budget 
1 Jan 19'JO to 
30 June 19'JO 

$,000 

2 043 
287 

2 330 

Whereas actual results achieved were: 

Joinery 
Furniture 

Actual 
1 Mar 19')0 to 
30 June 1990 

$,000 

1 665 

1 665 

Budget 
30 June 19CJ1 

$,000 

6 490 
592 

7 082 

Actual 
30 June 1991 

$,000 

3 597 
756 

4 353 

Budget 
30 Jone 19'J2 

$,000 

2 840 
1 026 

3 866 

Actual (unaudited) 
31Mar19'J2 

$,000 

2 274 
674 

2 948 

Even Dalway's revised estimates appear to have significantly over-estimated its ability 
to achieve sales inrome. In 1991, sales inrome was primarily from oontract joinery. In 
1992, furniture sales were significantly lower than budget whilst contract joinery was 
only 80% of budget. 

Mr Bell was asked the following questions by Mr Parish171
: 

But with the erception of that particular job, I take it your evidence is that really 
there is not a substantial market in Darwin for anything that would make optimal 
use of mass-production machinery such as Dalway had? 

Mr Bell replied: 

171 

... No (sic), at the present moment I think they [CFM Joinery Pty Ltd] are 
working a 4-day week with only about 20-odd people out there. .. 

Transcript of Mr Bell, pp 11-12 of 27 October 1992 
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Question: 

... aitJwugh you were not involved obviously in the pw-_chasing ~cisions that were 
made for the initial plant and equipment, I take_ it that with the benefit . of 
hindsight you would certainly question the wisdom of those purchasing 

decisions? ... 

Mr Bell replied: 

.:. Yes, that factory would be all right in the middle of Sydney or Melbourne, but 
not here in Darwin with a population of 60, 000 ... 

Mr Parish also asked: 

... So really you were foisted with an establishment which was just out of kilter 
with what was in the Darwin market? 

Mr Bell replied: 

... That is correct. 

Mr Fradkin, when questioned ~ to why Dalway oontinued to make I~ responded: 

... There is a number of /actors. One that you cannot overlook is that Australia 
was going tluough a pretty horrendous, and still is, downturn ... And the 
construction industry was one of the hardest hit industries, and Dalway 
suffered.172 

From Mr Bell's evidence it is also apparent that the Board did not consider the 
Darwin market as sufficient to provide an adequate sales arena for a manufacturing 
pr~ like Dalway's. 

In 1989, Touche Ross had made the situation quite clear when it stated: 

... Additional markets need to be established to ensure the achievement of 
production volumes necessary to maximise efficiency and profitabilily ... 

Conclusion 

Each of the numerous surveys and reports produced appear to use the figures and 
~umptions which were originally produced by Mr Williams of DJFM for financial 
backing from TI 0, ANZ and Esanda. These figures, as pointed out in the McGregor 
Report, were optimistic. In the later projections, all that appears to have been done is 

172 Transcript of Mr Fradkin, p. 20 of 27 October 1992 
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a reworking, in the light of contemporary developments, of the originals. There 
ap~ t~ have _been a lack of ~dependently researched and recalculated figures, 
especially m the light of the changmg and more restricted role adopted by Dalway. 

As the national economy contracted, especially in the construction industry, the only 
hope for Dalway would appear to have been to exploit its economies of scale (mass­
production of furniture) and its economies of soope (diversification between local 
joinery and export furniture) . 

In the end, as budgeted income was so gro~ly over-estimated with regard to the State 
Square Projects and operations were restricted, the target figures were never 
realisable. 

7 A.3 Unique Capabilities of DJFM 

Both Jaguar Joinery and DJFM had sought assistance from the National Industries 
Extension Scheme ('NIES') for a diagnostic review of their operations. Mr Finch from 
Touche R~ was selected to conduct both reviews. 

In respect of his report on Jaguar Joinery, Mr Finch said: 

and 

... Jaguar's design abilities, using the computer-aided design techniques available 
from The Detailer' computer software system [which has 'become the Australian 
sta,nda.rd] enables architects, builders and domestic renovators to see their product 
designed in a finished f onnat prior to constructio1L 

... Jaguar Joinery Pty Ltd is ideally plac.ed to plan for and achieve controlled 
growth in future years including the potential to develop export marke~ ... 

In the report produred for DJFM, Mr Finch said: 

and 

... [DJFM] has changed its direction from a large joinery shop to a sophisticated 
computer integrated manufacturing operation to enable production efficiencies 
from batch production medwds. ... management believe the system is essential for 
DJFM to maintain its competitive advaniage and to produce reliable information 
concerning the performance and costing from furniture prodJlction ... 

... The next largest manufacturer in Northern Australia [i.e. Jaguar Joinery] is 
approximately a quarter the size of DJFM and does not have the te~~ 
advantage or the capacity to handle large scale contraru (no~~ 
Jaguar's involvement in the Crocodile Hotel project] ••· l1J!.M differentuztes itself 
in the market place in the following critical areas: the ability to """!"facture to 
the client's spedfications ... DJFM current marketing strategy for ma1or contracts 
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is based primarily around the tender process. ~M, has establis~ str~ng 
relationships with builders and architects wlw consistentiy favour theu inclusion 

in their own projects. 

DJFM is strategically located to significant export markets located in the south 

eastern region of Asia. 

Although each company apparently had the inten~on to specialise in diff ~rent 
products (i.e. Jaguar in flat-pack kitchens and D~ m large ~e n;i~-producb~m), 
this capacity was never realised and they ultnnately remamed m a ~tennally 
competitive position, in a diminishing market, for the same products and services. 

It was claimed by Mr Mannion that prior to the purchase, the joineries in Darwin 
cooperated to the extent that three might tender for a large job but that the winner 
would use the others on a subcontract basis. 

He said: 

Wei~ what happened was it was confused because at the time we had agreed 
not to tender because it [the Supreme Court tender] was going to be done like a 
consortium bid and then I am not sure of the mechanics of what happened 
because you know the Government bought out DJFM and the whole thing 
changed around ... 113 

... the work was to be shared depending on the size of the joinery as to what you 
got and DJFM expected about $1.5M, I expected $750,000 and I think Wdly (sic) 
(Olsen) expected $300,000 ... 174 

Mr Mannion claimed also that no attempt by the Government was made prior to the 
purch~ by the Government of the ~ts of DJFM through Dalway to determine 
whether there were other joineries in the area which rould handle the available work 
should Dalway be liquidated. 

Mr Mannion said: 

173 

174 

... I have had all these experts for the last tluee years, including people like Terry 
Smith, telling me how incredible things could be made there (Dalway) and not 
~anywhere else. My computer saws are the same capacity as theirs. Fred 
Finch has never even been to our factory. He does not know what our turnover is 

Transcript of Mr Mannion, pp. 20-21 of 28 August 1992 

Transcript of Mr Mannion, p. 21 of 28 August 1992 
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... they gave my monthly turnover as my yearly turnover. There was no attempt to 
check what was available in the market place ... 11s 

A number of witnesses commented that only DJFM/Dalway had the c:apacity to rarry 
out the work required for the State Square Project. Mr Caldwell stated in evidence: 

... I understand that it was considered that no other enterprise in the 
Northern Territory had the technic.al capability of providing the type of 
ft.tout that was required for State Square and if DJFM did not exist as a 
business, that all those contracts would be lost to interstate 
contractors .176 

Mr Linton, the project co-ordinator for Tipperary Developments, said in his evidence: 

... it became apparent that there was only one company large enough to do the 
volume of work with the sufficient aipadty to produce it in time.1n 

and later 

Dalway was obviously the people to do it, on the lxzsis that they had the 
expertise, the machinery and the capacity to tum the stuff out very quickly. 118 

Mr Findlay, the Chief Architect, said: 

... I was not aware of any other [um that aime near [John Pastrikosj in terms of 
quality of complicated and intricate joinery such as we would have in the 
Supreme Court. 179 

However, it does not appear that any of the people concerned carried out or caused to 
be carried out any evaluation or analysis of the respective c:apacities of joinery 
companies in Darwin. Mr Linton relied upon people such as Mr Roger Linklater (the 

175 Transcript of Mr Mannion, P· 9 of 28 August 1992 

176 Transcript of Mr Caldwell - P· 12 of 22 October 1992 

177 Transcript of Mr Linton, P· 2 of 19 October 1992 

178 Transcript of Mr Linton, P· 3 of 19 October 1992 

179 Transcript of Mr Findlay, P· 22 of 20 October 1992 
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documentation architect) and Mr Richard Galton of T & W. Mr Galton had no 
particular knowledge, and relied on Mr Findlay. Mr Findlay in tum said

1
iri: 

It is a matter of knowing ... generally from day-to-day I know what the quality is 

of various firms and what they c.an produce.. 

It is an ongoing analysis ... I sat down and went around and talked to everybody. 
It is an ongoing analysis like an ongoing analysis of contractors. 

The view that only DJFM bad the n~ facilities to undertake the size of the 
State Square contract within the allotted time scale was significantly countered in the 
evidence of Mr John Brears, the manager of Multiplex, who, having physically 
examined the facilities of both DJFM and Jaguar Joinery, considered that had DJFM 
gone into liquidation, as was generally expected, (see evidence of Mr Mannion), 
Jaguar Joinery had the ability to complete the works to the required standard, 
although it may have required an extension of time.181 

In the event, DJFM/Dalway was unable to complete the work to the contracted 
schedule so the difference may have been inconsequential. 

It does appear, therefore, that had DJFM/Dalway not been in the market, other 
joineries in Darwin could have performed the joinery work required on the State 
Square Project, although there may have been a need for smaller contract 'packages', 
leading to greater administrative oomplexity. In addition conrerns such as those 
expressed by Mr Gaitan in relation to uniformity and ronsistency of finished 
product182 were no doubt also relevant. 

7 .4.4 Under-quoting 

It is apparent from Mr Blake's evidence that he believed that Dalway habitually under­
quoted. Other evidence also suggests that this was the case. 

Mr Mannion complained th~t after the purchase of DJFM, tenders were submitted by 
Dalway below cost. Refemng to a tender for work on some units for the P~alis 
Group, he said: 

180 
Transcript of Mr Findlay, p. 22 of 20 October 1992 

181 
Transcript of Mr Brears, PP 10, 34, 40 and 46 of 19 October 1992 

182 
Transcript of Kr Galton, p. 21 of 19 October 1992 
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... they dropped it [the tender J below cost and their managing director Jim Bell 
even questioned it before they accepted the contract but Pastrikos Sllid, 'No, it is 
alright'. They lost $100,000 on the job. 183 

Mr Mannion's allegations of underquoting were based on his past experience with 
DJFM where he claims that their respective prices were generally within 5% of each 
other and his claim that Jim Bell had told him that this was the rase.184 

In the Jaguar Joinery NIES Diagnostic Report of May 1990, it was stated at 43 of that 
report that: 

... Jaguar's management believe Dalloway (DJFM) have been successful at 
winning market sha.re by sacrificing profit ma.rgin. Further, Jaguar's management 
believe Dalloway currently enjoy more favourable terms concerning progress 
payments in respect of the St/Jte Square Project than are available to Jaguar or 
are commercially normal as a direct consequenc,e of the Northern Territory 
Government's apparent support to Dalloway ... 

Mr Perry Miller operated a business under the name Kitchen Warehouse, which 
functioned for almost twelve months from around May 1991. The firm was set up to 
ooncentrate on producing kitchen cupboards, but primarily one-off type joinery work, 
at the upper end of the market. 

Mr Miller specialised in 2-pack polyurethane finishes and subcontracted with Dalway 
to do the lacquer finishes for the Supreme C:Ourt Project. In his evidence to the 
Committee he said: 

... we could never get the work to do i1 "because of Dalway's costings 
practice. ... Anything in the mid-range pricing against Dalway would just be a 
waste of time. 

Mr Parish asked: 

... Your evidence in genera~ to sum it up, is that you ascribe the failure of your 
business almost wholly to Dalway wulercutting the market, is that co"ect? 

Mr Miller responded: 

Tha ' -t-1.n 185 ... t S u~ •• 

183 Transcript of Mr Mannion, P· 27 of 28 August 1992 

184 Transcript of Mr Mannion, P· 28 of 28 August 1992 

185 Transcript of Mr Miller, P· 17, 21 of 20 October 1992 
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Mr Miller was, however, unable to present supporting documentation since some 
documents went to the Liquidator when the firm went into liquidation whilst others 
appear to have been destroyed. 

Mr Miller gave evidence that he had worked as an employee for Jaguar Joinery and 
upon its demise, for Dalway Pty Ltd as a subcontractor where he worked on the 
lacquer finish of items for State Square. Whilst working in this capacity he claimed 
that he was charging Dalway $20 per square metre for finishing work which Dalway 
had quoted at $5 per square metre.186 

Danska Cabinet Making ('Danska'), is a cabinetmaking firm owned by Mr Villy Olsen, 
engaged in a 50/50 mix of domestic and commercial contracting, employing an average 
of nine people over the last eight years. Mr Olsen admitted that it was his policy not 
to directly undertake Government contracts but that he had participated in such as a 
subcontractor. The firm did not engage in the production of free-standing furniture. 

Danska has never apparently applied for nor was it given any financial ~istanre by 
the Government. 

Mr Olsen admitted a downturn in busin~ after Dalway was purchased by the 
Government but was unable to either confirm or deny that Dalway had taken away 
work by under-quoting in its tenders. 

Mr Poole asked: 

... Do you attribute that (shrinking in business) to the competition in the market 
place or specific.ally to the effects that Dalway had on the market place? 

Mr Olsen replied: 

m It is di.fficult for me to put it down to one particular thiMn but we did fieel the 
inch last 

187 W NI "6' 
p yea.r •.. 

Danska did not submit tenders for State Square since Mr Olsen ronsidered: 

186 

187 

188 

... _It was probab_ly getting a little biJ t.oo political for me, t.oo much controversy I 
think, and I decided to stay away from iL .. 188 

Transcript of Mr Miller, p. 11 of 20 October 19 92 

Transcript of Mr Olsen, p. 4 of 20 October 19 92 

Transcript of Mr Olsen, p. 5 of 20 October 1992 
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Mr Olsen was aware of allegations against Dalway in regard to under-quoting and was 
asked whether there were any situations in which he had experienced this, to which he 
replied: 

... We did get the impression, particularly last year ... tha,t we were missing out on 
a few jobs. We got feedback from the builders tha,t their (Dalway) quotes were 
lower tha,n previously ... 189 

Mr Olsen admitted that he had no proof that Dalway was under-quoting.190 He 
went on to say that some of his unsuccessful bids were won by Jaguar Joinery as well 
as Dalway but could not give a percentage of which jobs went where. 

In his evidence, Mr Olsen referred to the size and technical advantage held by Dalway 
which enabled it to produce some items more efficiently than Danska 

Having regard to the totality of the evidence before the O>mmittee, it is far from clear 
that Dalway did in fact habitually under-quote. In any event, the O>mmittee is of the 
view that the relevant question to be asked is whether Dalway deliberately under­
quoted. There is no evidence that the Board or the General Manager ever had such a 
policy and the O>mmittee does not believe this was ever the case. 

It is probable that Dalway was under-quoting, but accidentally and inoonsistently due 
to the lack of effective cost-monitoring or stock-control systems. To the extent that 
there was evidence of under-quoting it appears to have been worse during the last 
twelve months of Government ownership of Dalway. 

7 A.5 State Square Tender Process 

7.4.5.1 Background 

As has been previously noted, the various sales projections upon which Dalway's 
survival was predicated rested heavily on the company winning the lion's share of 
joinery and furniture contracts on both stages of the State Square Project. Some 
witn~ particularly M~ Mannion and Blake, expressed a belief that Dalway was 
improperly favoured in the State Square tender pr~. Documentary evidence 
received by the O>mmittee suggests that the proprietors of Mode Office Furniture, at 
least at one time, held a similar view. 

Acting on information stemming from a meeting between Mr Pastrik~ and 
representatives of T & W, Mr Watson noted in August 1989 that acoording to 
Mr Pastrikos, the Minister for Transport & Works (Hon. Fred Finch) seemed to 

189 Transcript of Mr Olsen, p. 5 of 20 October 1992 

190 Transcript of Mr Olsen, p. 6 of 20 October 1992 
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indicate that DJFM would have the inside running to win the joinery contract for the 
State Square Project. This was said to be a contract worth $15M over 42 months and 
wouJd create an estimated 150 new jobs at its peak191

• Mr Pastrikos asked DID and 
TIO to use their influence to ~ist DJFM in securing the contract. It was decided by 
those present at the meeting that no such action be taken at that stage. 

Mr Pastrikos continued to communic.ate with Mr Watson, expr~ing his fears with 
regard to cash flow problems. He informed Mr Watson of the preparation of a report 
by Touche Ross to determine DJFM's cash needs in relation to the State Square 
Project in preparation for presentation to financiers for increased funds (i.e. the first 
rescue package). Mr Watson subsequently oontacted Mr Finch of Touche Ross on 
18 September 1989 to 'register our interest'192

• 

A file note dated 27 September 1989193 describes a meeting between Mr Pastrikos, 
Mr Watson and Mr Findlay, with regard to DJFM's involvement in the Supreme Court 
contract worth $4.lM. It was noted that DJFM would be offered the contract for 
Stage II subject to its performance on the Supreme Court contract (Stage I). 

A decision was taken by the Project Control Group for the State Square Project 
('PCG'), consisting of representatives from Tipperary Developments, Multiplex and T 
& W, to offer the furniture, fittings and equipment package ('F F & E') as one 
contract. 

DJFM approached the PCG with their proposal to act ~ supervisor for a consortium 
of local firms to undertake the F F & E contract and, ~ part of those arrangements, 
to sub-contract the supply of goods and services, representing between 30% to 50% of 
the work to other oonsortium members. This 'management' role w~ to be for a 
proposed fee of around 3% - 4% of the value of the work done. 

The proposals made by DJFM appear to be threefold: 

191 

192 

193 

Mr Parisk· ... at various stages there were tluee separate proposals which blurred 
together ... The fust one was that DJFM would be the project supervisor, if you 
will, for the joinery component The second one was that they head a consortium 
who would jointly bid for the joinery work and /arm it out between them, so to 
speak. And the third one, which I think was embodied most precisely in 
~r Pastrikos' document of 8 August [1989], was that Darwin Joinery in its own 
nght tender for the work ... and then subcontract it out effectively. I think that 

File note by Mr Watson, DID, dated 9 August 1989 

File note of 18 September 1989 by Mr Watson, DID 

Annotated 'tw0989014' 
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proposal also contained some element of project supervisiotL Would you agree, 
generally, that those were the three proposals that were considered? 

Mr Findlay: Yes, they were developments. But they were not three sepa.rate 
proposals ... were developments until we ri'AChed this document here on 8 August 
which is probably the most realistic of all the proposals. 194 

This proposal was in fact forwarded to T & W via Mr Linton. Some four days later 
the Department, as mentioned, gave their support to the proposal by letter. 

Considerable concern was expr~ by Mr Linton in regard to the prices quoted by 
DJFM and cost comparisons forwarded to Mr Crehan of T & W on 14 December 
1989, since the overall quote of $4.8M exceeded the budget by $700,000. 

It was suggested in a Minute of 14 December 1989195 that: 

Perhaps the most acceptable solution would be to allow DJFM to undertake work 
on the more standard 'type of joinery on which their prices, whilst in excess of 
budget, are within reason 

with the balance being tendered to southern firms. 

That DJFM appeared to be taking advantage of its favourable position, referred to by 
Mr Davis in the Minute of 14 December 1989, was also highlighted quite clearly by Mr 
R Norris of T & W, who stated that: 

Mr Pastrikos was not prepared to review his time allowed for labour even after it 
was pointed out that he possibly had allowed 700 hours to make one judge's 
bench196

• 

A decision was then made by the PCG to split the large contract into several smaller 
ones and this enabled other firms to participate. However, the bulk of the work still 
went to DJFM (i.e. all the actual joinery work went to DJFM whilst other firms 
supplied loose furniture and whiteboards not manufactured by DJFM). There was 
however, after extensive negotiations, a price reduction from $4.8M to $4.lM but, it 
would appear, at the expense of postponing the fit-out of three courtrooms. 

194 

195 

196 

Transcript of Mr Findlay, p. 12 of 20 October 1992 

Tabled Document 103 

T & w Ministerial Briefing, dated 15 December 1989 and signed by 
R Norris, Public Works Division 
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It is also clear that DJFM was in a favourable position in relation to the S~p~me 
Court contract since the agreement provided for payment for wo~k done within a 
fortnight of its oompletion. This extended to payment for matenaI:' purch~ by 
DJFM but not yet processed into the finished product, a term not mcluded m the 

original 'tender documents'. 

7.4.5.2 The Attitude of the Department of Transport and Works 

Mr Galton, Project Manager, State Square Project, made the interests of 
T & W clear in his letter to Mr Linton, 20 December, in which he said: 

... You are to enszoe tha1 Darwin Joinery have the opportunity of quoting on all of 

the F and E Works197
• 

This included the supply of loose furniture which DJFM did not produce locally and 
which they would have to source from interstate. 

This led on 6 December to a complaint from Mode, a local retailer, which as the sole 
Territory distnbutor for Brownbuilt furniture was upset when DJFM contacted 
Brownbuilt direct 'demanding prires'. The implication is that DJFM would source 
direct from Brownbuilt and usurp the margins which, in normal practice, would be the 
prerogative of the local distnbutor .198 

From the evidence, it is clear that every effort was made to direct work towards 
DJFM, and in any event, as admitted by the Hon. Fred Fin~ as Minister for 
Transport and Worksm, the amount of joinery sub-contracted to other local firms by 
DJFM amounted to only 13% to 15%. 

It is noted in an Internal Minute of T & W dated 29 December 1989 that DJFld had 
discussions with the Minister for Transport and Works, and that the final decision on 
who gets the work was that of the Govemment.:m 

Mr Linton expressed his fears regarding cost over-runs if DJFM were granted the 
contract and the requirements in regard to pre-payment for materials. However, in a 

197 

198 

199 

200 

T & W file reference SQD 0011S8 

Fax to Hon Fred Finch, Minister for Transport & works, recordea 
as received by the Minister's Office, Folio No 2279 

Transcript of Hon. Fred Finch, p. 33 of 27 August 1992 

Recorded as Folio No 24/31 
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facsimile from T & W on 16 February 1990, Mr Linton was instructed to ensure that 
DJFM was awarded the contract that day.2D1 

Mr Linton later voiced his ooncerns over media reports that DJFM may be 're­
structured'. :m 

The reply from Mr Galton of T & W denied knowledge of any situation which might 
affect the ability of DJFM to perform to contract.~ 

The major reason for the way in which DJFM was treated in respect of the joinery 
contract for Stage I appears in the evidenre of several witnesses who, as previously 
discussed, felt at the time that only DJFM had the n~ facilities to undertake the 
size of the contract within the allotted time scale. However, as mentioned, there 
seems to have been no real investigation to support this ~ption. The raison d'etre 
for the computerisation of DJFM to make it a m~ produrer of large numbers of 
identical articles seems to have been mistaken or ignored. 

A further reason given for the awarding of a single contract was to ensure consistent 
quality in materials and finish which, it was sai~ would not be po~ible if different 
contractors had sourced their timbers independently. 

Evidence from the Minister for Transport & Works, the Hon. Fred Finch suggests that 
the interpretation of the letter from Mr Linton of 8 August to T & W in regard to the 
negotiation and awarding of the joinery contract to DJFM was a matter of some 
dispute. 

The letter, in part, read: 

... AltJwugh Darwin Joinery now has the most sophisticated system of production 
in the Territory, we are concerned as to how we could enswe that the final price 
is the keenest possible figure which is obtainable on behalf of taxpayers in the 
light of the non-competitive nature of the proposal ... 

The interpretation placed on this by Mr Finch was that it was not expressing concern 
about the non-competitive nature of giving the contract to DJFM as against putting it 
to open tender, but rather an expression about the non-competitive nature of 
tendering locally rather than interstate.~ 

201 Handwritten instruction, T & W reference SQD 0011-SS 

202 Letter dated 13 March 1990, recorded as Folio No 38/26 

203 Letter from Mr Galton to Mr Linton, dated 13 March 1990 

204 Transcript of Hon. Fred Finch, p. 66-7 of 11 November 1992 
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In a 'summary' of a meeting between Messrs Linton, Britton, Pastrikos, Haas, Findlay, 

Crehan and Davis, Mr Davis of T & W wrote: 

... My opinions of the previously mentioned circumstances and proposals are 

noted below: 

Our bargaining power is limited due to the requirement to use local c:'ntra~ors .... 
This problem is compounded and ensures a monopoly to Darwm Joinery by 
agreeing to the Darwin Joinery consortium proposal ... 

Mr Finch, ·however, pointed out that 1:11e agreeme~t was subj~ to price '!11d that 
considerable negotiation took place which resulted m a reductmn of DJFM s quote 
from $4.8M to $4.lM.:!lS This, to some extent, tends to support the view that the 
Government still maintained some control over prices. 

It is clear, however, that the conrerns of Mr Linton related to Dalway's proposed 
monopoly, and not to the non-competitive nature of tendering locally rather than 

interstate. 

7 .4.5.3 Losses on Stage I 

Only one part of the contract was awarded before the purchase of DJFM by Dalway, 
the others being concluded after the ~ts of DJFM were sold to Dalway. 

It is interesting to note the claim made by Dalway that a loss was incurred on the 
contract awarded to DJFM for the Supreme C.Ourt: 

Mr Palmer: Mr Bell, over the period of your involvement with Dalway you are 
not going to dispute that the company continued to operate at a loss? 

Mr Bell· There were many reasons for the various losses which were mff ered. 
One of them, I believe, was the contract which we inherited from wha.t you could 
aill the Supreme Court n> 

Mr Bell went on to explain that Dalway was unable to achieve the economies of scale 
for which the factory was established because of the individual nature of the tasks 
undertaken. The company continued to operate in a jobbing mode, a prime example 
being the production of eight judges' benches at a total oost of $230,000. In effect, the 
natur~ of Stag~ I was such that it did not take advantage of the specialised production 
techniques which DJFM/Dalway claimed put it ahead of local rivals. 

205 Transcript of Hon. Fred Finch, p. 8 of 11 November 1992 

206 Transcript of Mr Bell, p. 7 of 27 October 1992 
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Mr Parish: ... ~That in fact, when you actually look at the detail of them, they 
were a lot of little but very expensive jobs where really the high-tech machine was 
not of particular advantage. 

Mr Bell: It was useless. That is right.1JJ7 

7.4.5.4 Local Content by Agreement 

It is clear that whilst on the one hand there was concern that work on Stage I of the 
State Square Project should go to public tender in order that costs be minimisffi~ there 
was also the potentially ronflicting ~e of preference for local content and 
participation in order that jobs were created and maintained for the Territory work 
force. 

It is the extent to which the latter policy was carried out in terms of favouring not just 
Territory companies to the exclusion of southern bidders, but rather in terms of 
favouring DJFM, which attracts the allegations of politic:al interferenre in the 
tendering pro~. 

As previously mentioned, a proposal was put fotward by DJFM that the joinery 
contract for the Supreme Court be awarded entirely to DJFM apparently on the 
understanding that 30% to 50% of the work would be given to other, smaller Darwin 
concerns. 

In a letter from DJFM to Mr Linton, Tipperary Developments Pty Ltd, dated 
8 August 1989, it was said: 

and 

... In addition to that we understand it is of major concern to the Government 
that as much of the work as possible be done by Territory contractors, without 
compromising quality, but within reasonable price limits ... 

... An agreed portion of this work (somewhere between 30% and 50%) will be 
subcontracted out to suitably qualified businesses in the Territory .... 

The nature of such negotiated contracts was much canvassed by the Committee 
members during the course of the hearing. It is apparent that in one instance, where 
the price quoted for a particular job by DJFM was 192% of that which the quantity 
surveyor indicated might be r~nable, further negotiations took place in ~ effort to 
reduce the price of that item. Such negotiations seem to have occurred only m respect 

207 Transcript of Mr Bell, p. 7 of 27 October 1992 
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of joinery, not in other areas of construction, as attested to by Mr Terry Maddox. the 
current Project Coordinator, Tipperary Developments.ni 

7.4.5.5 State Square Stage II 

As indicated earlier, ultimately Dalway was the major beneficiary of the awarding of 
contracts for joinery work on Stage I of the State Square project. In a file note of 27 
September 1989 by Mr Watson of DID, it was predicted that, with regard to Stage Il, 
Parliament House: 

... This contract would be offered to Darwin Joinery subject to perf omulnce on the 
Supreme Court project ... 

Although this was written some time before the Government bought the ~ts of 
DJFM, that company had already received considerable moral and financial support 
from the Government. The TIO was exposed to severe financial losses should DJFM 
fail and these debts would have to be ultimately borne by the Government. 

Comments made by Mr Mannion of Jaguar Joinery in his evidence suggest that the 
tender period for Stage II of State Square was extended to advantage the bid by 
Dalway. 

Evidence from Mr Brears, Manager of Multiplex in relation to that tender, contradicts 
the assumption by officers of DID that the work could only be handled by Dalway. In 
response to Mr Setter's question as to whether he felt it was odd that Jaguar did not 
tender on the Parliament House oontract, Mr Brears replied: 

... I was very surprised that they di.d not put in a tender for the wlwle package. 
My feeling is that they had the c:apability to do the work, had the expertise. They 
had drawn the documents so I was very surprised. .. 3>'J 

Mr Mannion explained his failure to tender in his evidence before the Committee: 

208 

209 

210 

... Well we prepared a tender and we felt that we had a significant competitor 
advantage when we prepared it through the use of di.ff erent materials ... we 

contacted Multiplex to ensure that there were going to be no extensions (to the 
tender period). We were assured by Multiplex that there was no way that the 
tender would be extended and that it would definitely dose on the Monday ... 210 

Transcript of Mr Maddox, p. 11 of 10 November 1992 

Transcript of Mr Brears, p. 40 of 19 October 1992 

Transcript of Mr Mannion, p. 4 of 28 August 1992 
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From the evidenre of Mr Pastrikos it appears he had at some stage, close to the close 
of tenders, sought an extension of the closing date but was refused211, and there is 
no evidence to suggest that Mr Pastrikos' request had any bearing on the decision to 
extend the closing date. Mr Brears, however, was unaware of the reasons for those 
extensions, stating that the direction to extend the tender date probably emanated 
from the Government, and were conveyed to him by Tipperary Developments. It 
should be noted that the extensions related to all tenders, and not only the joinery 
component. 212 

The tender period was actually extended twice and finally closed a week later than 
advertised, on 17 September. Mr Mannion did not submit the tender he had prepared 
since he apparently believed that Dalway was bound to get the work. 

The letter of intent from Multiplex to Dalway regarding Stage II was not received until 
some three weeks before the sale of Dalway by the Government. The actual contracts 
were not signed and returned before the sale. Evidence indic.ates that the hold-up was 
due to an impasse with regard to an original demand by Mr Pastrikos for an unusually 
high rise and fall clause which was in excess of that normally approved by T & W. 
Mr Pastrikos required an increase of 5%, compounded, for each six monthly period 
for which the contract was on foot. This would have meant that the Principal would 
have been liable for a further $200,000 to $250,000 on top of the oontracted price. 
Evidenre presented to the O>mmittee suggests that this demand was far in excess of 
movements in construction cost indires and the general CPI at that time. 

It appears that shortly before the sale of Dalway there was much activity designed to 
get the contract in place and this involved the Minister for Transport and Works, 
Mr Bell and Mr Brears. The rise and fall clause was in fact ultimately negotiated 
along more usual lines and close to the formula required by T & W. The resulting 
increase in cost over the period was held to around $38,000 which approximates to the 
allowance of $34,000 originally proposed by the use of T & W guidelines. 

Conclusion 

The O>mmittee believes that the tender pr~ for both stages of the State Square 
contract may have been flawed by the as&llDption that Dalway was the only local 
company which could handle the job. 

It was proposed during the second half of 1989 that DJFM ~ favour~ for State 
Square work to the extent that it would be awarded work without gomg to open 
tender. Whilst not ultimately implemented, this was contrary to normally accepted 

211 Transcript of Mr Pastrikos, p. 57 of 7 September 1992 

212 Transcript of Mr Brea.rs, p. 3 of 19 October 1992 
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tender procedures and should not have been considered. It is arguable that. DJFM, 
because of its prior familiarity with the scope and nature of the works, gamed an 
advantage as a result of the original negotiations over that prop<><.>al. 

There is a fine balance to be achieved between economising on the expenditure of 
taxpayer's dollars and the targeting of local industry fo~ Goverome~t support. ~nder 
the appropriate conditions of open government and disclos~e, this may ?e achieved 
with the understanding, if not total approval, of the local busmess commumty. 

Recommendation 

That, where contracts of more than $3,000 are awarded through negotiation without 
first going to tender, the details of such contracts and reasons for not going to tender 
should be published. 

7.5 FIXED ASSETS 

7.S.1 Reasons for Loss 

Reference was made at 6.6. to the immediate but unrealised capital loss upon the 
purchase by Dalway of the busin~ of DJFM. The Committee recognises that the 
circumstances there outlined contnbuted significantly to the overall loss suffered by 
the Government as a result of this venture. 

7.5.2 The External Auditor's Role 

7.5.2.1 Reports 

Statutory 

In brief, an auditor's responsibility is to report to the shareholders whether or 
not a comp~~s financial ~tements are properly drawn up (a) so as to give a 
true and farr VIew, (b) are m accordance with the Corporations Law and (c) in 
acoordanre with acoounting standards. 

Ernst & Young were appointed as auditors of Dalway with effect from 15 
March 1990 following a tender by the oompany. 

Ernst & Young conducted an audit and submitted their report upon the 
company's financial statements to the shareholders for the following periods: 

(i) period from 15 March 1990 to 30 June 1990 
(ii) twelve months ended 30 June 1991 
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The audit report for the period ended 30 June 1990 was signed by the auditor 
on 31 October 1990 and contained an opinion stating that: 

the accounts gave a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the company and the I~ to the company for the period 

the accounts complied with the C.Orporations Law and 
accounting standards. 

However, the audit report as at 30 June 1991 was qualified. This report is 
~ in more detail later in this section. 

Management Reports 

During the period of Government ownership of Dalway the external auditors 
wrote a number of reports to the Board of Directors covering accounting 
problems that had come to their attention during the audit pr~.. The more 
significant matters raised are summarised as fallows: 

Date 

28/6/90 

21/10/<Jl 

5/11/<Jl 

Matter 

Inventories - apart from 'hardware items' there are no inventory 
records maintained for materials components and finished goods. 

Costing system - no system in place to determine if all materials 
utilised have been charged to a job. 

Monthly Reports - lack of fundamental reports such as monthly 
general ledger and debtors ledger reports. 

Gr~ profit perrentage - significant fluctuations month to month. 
It is believed the primary area of ooncem is the job oosting system 
and recording of purchases and materials usage. 

Inventory recording system - no inventory recording system in 
place which means the system of internal oontrol over inventories 
is weak with the potential for I~ through poor accountability. 

Monthly accounts - no evidence of adequate internal control 
procedures in plare to ensure that the accounts were being 
regularly monitored. 

Monthly accounts were being presented to the Board without 
having been subject to proper analysis and review. 
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Date 

25/3/92 

Matter 

Report to Mr Bell after completing a review of stock discrepancies 
at the request of Mr Bell. Summary: 

... We have not been able to quantify the effect of many poor or 
deficient accounting procedures which were being followed by the 
compa.ny's staff during the period to Febnmry 1992. An amount 
of $100,000 had already been identified prior to ow visit and we 
are in agreement with those en-ors however, our review indicates 
that the accounting records continue to be poorly maintained 
and do not provide any trail to be able to determine where the 
precise breakdowns have occurred. As a result, although we 
believe that the majority of the discrepancy would have occurred 
due to poor paper work in the accounting trial, we are not able 
to rule out the possibility of material stock amounts being 
subject to theft ... 

7.S.2.2 Comments on Reports 

213 

Statutory 

The audit reports signed by Ernst & Young for the y~..ar ended 30 June 1990 
and 30 June 1991 stated that the financial statement gave a true and fair view 
of the operations and state of affairs of the oompany. 

Before the 1991 financial statements were signed, the Directors themselves felt 
unoomfortable with the financial oondition of the rompany, especially in 
regard to the onerous responsibilities on directors imposed by the 
Corporations Law. The Directors sought and received from the Government 
a deed of indemnity from any liability arising out of holding the office of 
Director of the company. Additionally, in a letter to the Board, the Minister 
for Industries and Development stated: 

... I advise you that the Northern Territory Government agrees to 
underwrite the operating expenses of Dalway Pty Ltd whilst ever the 
Government is the sole owner of the Company, provided such expens~ 
are incurred in the normal course of prudent business.213 

The 1991 Audit opinion was subject to the oompany being given rontinued 
financial support from its shareholder and the TIO. It would seem entirely 

Undated letter to the Board of Dalway from Hon. Steve Hatton1 

See Appendix 3.12 
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214 

appropriate that the 1991 financial statements should carry the rider - 'subject 
to continued financial support from the Government'. 

The following table however points to an apparent overstatement of value of 
fixed assets as shown in the audited financial statements: 

Property 

Plant& 

Equip. 

.. Fmancial Statements 

30 June 

1990 

SM 

4 849 

30 June 

1991 

SM 

4 572 

AVO Valuation 

30 June 

1990 

SM 

2 565 

30 June 

1991 

SM 

2 365 

Oiiers (or 

Sale 

Consortium Territory 

Cabinets 

SM SM 

1454 1560 

It appears that neither the Directors nor the auditors adequately considered 
the carrying value of the fixed ~ts in the financial statements. 

In evidence, the Ernst & Young audit partner, Mr Wayne Bastion indicated 
that: 

(i) the value of the fixed assets in the financial accounts was on a 
cost basis. 

(ii) he was aware that the Corporation Law required diredors to 

take reasonable steps to enszqe that the value of fixed assets 
shown in the financial statements is appropriate and not 
misleading. 

(iii) considering the Australian Valuation Office valuation, it 
appeared that the diredors had not complied with their 
obligations. 

(iv) at no time did he recommend to the diredors that they should 
have obtained a valuatioTL 

(v) he agreed that it would have been prudent for the Government 
,L """rtly rtto • • · 214 to obtain a vahmtion at or snu a1""r acqWSltlOn. 

If, for instance, the value of the property, plant and equipment in the 19_90 
and 1991 financial statements had been written down to the Australian 

Transcript of Mr Bastion, pp 31-32 of 22 October 1992 
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valuation Office valuations, the net deficiency of shareholders funds would 
have increased as follows: 

Deficiency per Accounts 
Write down of fixed assets 

1990 
$M 

(0285) 
(2285) 
(2.570) 

1991 
$M 

(1580) 
(2207) 
(3.787) 

Given the position posited above, this matter should have impacted upon the 
auditor's report as to the truth and fairn~ of the financial statements. 

Management Reports 

An important theme flows through the auditor's management letters from the 
first letter dated 28 June 1990 until the last dated 25 March 1992, being the 
lack of a costing system and the deficient inventory system. 

Although the auditors raised the ~e on numerous <><MlSions, the Board did 
not or oould not act to fix the problem effectively. Major problems were 
noted at every stocktake with significant adjustments being made to final 
accounts after writing off book stock l~. By way of example, $0.475M was 
written off book stocks after a physical stocktake was oonducted as of 
28 February 1992.215 

These deficiencies were oontinually brought to the attention of the Board. The 
extent to which the Board and management ever dealt with those and other 
deficiencies is dealt with elsewhere in this report. In general, it is fair to say 
that some of these deficiencies were never adequately ad~. 

7.6 SUMMARY 

The financial performanre of Dalway was affected by a number of factors. Some of 
those were foreseen, some were not. The extent of the I~ was obviously not 
anticipated by the Government, when it first acquired the operations of DJFM via 
Dalway. 

The factors that eroded the Government's investment in Dalway up to May 1992 and 
the lo~ made over the years ending 30 June 1990, 30 June 1991 and the nine month 
period ended 31 March 1992 of $0.286 million, $1.295 million and $1.524 million 
(unaudited), respectively, were as follows: 

215 
Transcript of Mr Bastion, pp 24-25 of 22 October 1992 
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The constraints imposed on the Board by DID particularly in relation 
to the rationalisation of the workforce. 

Technical difficulties of implementing new technology in the form of 
the computer integrated manufacturing system 

Initial over-estimates of the available market for Dalway's products in 
the Northern Territory 

Failure to pursue larger markets to realise the necessary economies of 
scale of large volume production 

Inability of management to monitor the rosts arising on rontracts due 
to the lack of proper accounting systems 

Lack of reliable management and financial information to allow the 
Board and management to make effective decisions on a timely basis 

Signifkant levels of cost carried by the company compared to the level 
of actual operating activities. 

7.7 RECOMMENDATION 

The Committee reoommends that the rorporate strategies referred to in 7 22 be 
comprehensively addressed and form an essential element in any consideration by DID 
of applications for financial ~istance. H such strategies have not been 
comprehensively addressed by an applicant, then DID should consider bearing the cost 
of the preparation of such strategies, to the extent necessary to be able to assess the 
application on the basis of adequate and reliable information. 
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CHAPTER 8 - SATE 

8.1 REASONS FOR SALE 

8.1.1 Background 

At the time of the pur':11ase of the assets of DJFM, it was never envisaged that the 
Government wouJd contmue to conduct a joinery/furniture business for very long. The 
purchaSe was_ a temporary means of saving the only company apparently thought 
capable of domg the work fo~ State Square and the employees' jobs. It was a holding 
pattern to allow a restructunng of the company and to put it back on track whilst 
protect_ing it from the d~mands of creditors. However, it became clear that Dalway, 
for vanous reasons, contmued to be a loser and a drain on the public purse. 

The background section of the Departmental sub~ion which led to the Cabinet 
decision of 10 September 1991 to dispose of Dalway set out the options available to 
the Government. 

Permit or control a liquidation of the company 

Sell the business as a going concern 

Continue to operate the business 

Restructure the busin~ 

Restructure the finances 

Mothball the business 

8.1.2 The Continuing Performance of Dalway 

The unaudited financial result then available for the year ended 30 June 1991 
indicated a I~ of $1.02M. This came as a shock to those involved ~ the monthly 
results throughout the year were indirating losses of approximately $03M. Mr David 
Hunt, Business Analyst, DID, made a file note on 9 September 1991 to the effect that 
the loss was much greater than expected, and the reason given w~ an overstatement 
of stocks (of $03M) and of overstatement of work in progress (of $0.4M). He 
reported that Dalway had a negative cash flow of around $45,000 per month and that 
at the current rate, given the Company's cash position, it could continue trading for 
only a further four months. This ~imism extended to the 1991/92 budget estimates 
indicating a far poorer performance than that of the previous year. It w~ forecast 
that an injection of a further $05M would be n~ for the company to break even 
and that under the current conditions further propping up would be required in future 
years. Mr Hunt, recognising the future drain of public monies, reoommended that the 
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most commercially prudent action would be to dispose of the busin~ as expeditiously 

as possible. 

During the period immediately prior to the sale decision there. were many items of 
documentary evidence in the form of internal Dalway memos, mtemal DID memos, 
and correspondence between DID and Dalway. They dealt with the problems that the 
Directors were encountering and they assisted in the review of the decision to sell. 

In a file note dated 1 May 1991, Mr Hunt recorded his understanding of a meeting 
held with the Directors of Dalway (except Mr Pastrikos). He noted with regard to 
their concerns relating to the behaviour of Mr Pamikos: 

... It would seem the Government has instituted an almost impossible situation 
which needs to be solved promptly to enswe the continued viability of the 
company. 216 

He was referring to the problem of having: 

... a fellow director, both working in a subservient role to the Board's appoinied 
General Manager, and at the so.me time acting as 'pseudo owner; to the extent of 
circumventing the Board and making direct approaches to Government 217 

Mr Geoff James attended a Directors' meeting on 4 July 1991 as an alternate to the 
Chairman, Mr Jim Bell, who was on varation. On 5 July 1991 he wrote to the DID 
noting some of the concerns raised at the meeting. In relation to longer term 
contracts, he wrote:218 

... Mr Fradkin highlighted the fact that the company does not have in place a 
'cost to complete' review technique to enable it to monitor the potential success or 
otherwise of these contracts. 

In a letter dated 8 May 1992, Mr Bell wrote to the Minister and stated, in part: 

216 

217 

218 

219 

··· I wish to inform you that the board of directors of Dal way Pty Ltd feels most 

uncomfortable with the present situation of the company. The doubts about the 
company's future have dramatir.ally eroded its viability. 219 

DID file 91/108 - Folio 117 

DID file 91/108 - Folio 117 

DID file 91/108 - Folio 198-200 

Tabled Document • not numbered • • 
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and 

and 

... the current holding pattern is very expensive and becomes more expensive by 
the day as the affairs of the company become less and less settled. 12l 

... on OUT present circumstances the company is simply buying work in an effort to 
justify its existence. 721 

In a lette_r dated 30 August 1991 from the Directors of Dalway to Mr Otto Alder, it is 
stated that: 

and 

... The role of John Pastrikos has been a continual problem for us. In OUT view 
his numerous attempts to undennine the Board by communicating with Ministers 
wWwut advising us, places us in an intolerable positiotL m 

... Until this issue is resolved, we cannot take appropriate action to put in place 
eff ecti.ve management and fulfil our responsibilities as director. m 

8.1.3 Recommendation to Sell 

All the options available ~ noted above appear to have been considered but, from the 
evidence available, it is not clear whether sufficient in-depth analysis of the potential 
outcome of each option w~ carried out. 

The Government w~ apparently determined not to IDJect further funds into the 
project. This left the Government with only two options, namely: 

sale ~ a going conrem 

liquidation 

220 Tabled Document . not numbered. . 
221 Tabled document • not numbered. • 

222 DID file 91/501 - Folio 115 

223 DID file 91/501 - Folio 115 
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Because of the initial reasons for the purchase of~~ business and assets of DJFM, 
the liquidation option was, for non-financial or polincal reasons, the least preferred 

option. 

8.lA The Cabinet Decision 

In bis submission to Cabinet on 10 September 1991, the Hon. Steve Hatton, as 
Minister for Industries and Development, outlined the poor performance and 
prospects of Dalway and recommended that the company be sold. 

The Cabinet Decision124 
: 

approved the orderly disposal of Dalway 

authorised the engagement of a consultant to report on the best 
disposal options 

required any course of action to be endorsed by Cabinet 

~ed the company that 1992 loan repayments to TIO would be met 

if n~ 

required that all undertakings to Mr John Pastrikos and his family be 
withdrawn 

required the removal of Mr Pastrikos from the Board 

required liaison between DID and Tr~ in identifying the most 
appropriate disposal option. 

confirmed that relevant State Square matters be identified by the 
Minister for Transport and Works. 

The decision was disclosed in a press release on 11 September 1991 which indicated 
that the disposal would be handled by consultants but that the Minister's preference 
was for the sale as a going concern. Mr Hatton further stated that there was no 
longer any agreement with Mr Pastrikos with regard to a right to re-purchase. 

Mr Pastrikos refused to comply with a letter dated 9 September 1991 from Mildrens 
suggesting that he resign from the Board. A meeting of shareholders on 24 September 
determined to remove him from the Board. 

224 
Cabinet Decision No 5969 of 10 September 1991. 
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On the 17th September 1991, Nictarios (sic) Pastrikos lodged a caveat over the land 
owned by Dalway. These events led to legal action being taken which will be dealt 
with later. 

Conclusion 

Based on the evidence available, the Committee has formed the belief that the 
ciisposal decision was the correct course of action. However, the Government reduced 
its possible options and the ref ore possibly a better outcome by its determination to 
rease any further injection of funds and by ruling out, without full consideration, the 
liquidation option because of the non-financial and political reasons put forward for 
the original purchase decision. 

8.2 THE SALE PROCESS 

8.2.1 Appointment of a Sales Consultant 

As a result of Cabinet approval for the sale of Dalway, DID, on 14 September 1991, 
called for expr~ons of interest from consultants to advise on the disposal of Dalway. 
Thirteen bids were received and the short-listed group were med to present detailed 
proposals. A joint consultancy comprising ANZ Capel Court and Desliens Busin~ 
Consultants ('Desliens') was ultimately decided upon on 20 November 1991. 

The brief, contained in a letter of appointment from DID on 2 December 1991, 
required the consultants to: 

... prepare and execute a plan of action for the disposal of Dal way Pty Ltd, 
achieving the following objectives: 

To obtain the best possible selling price, with the maximum return to the 
Northern Territory Community. 

To seek to ensure that the business can remain based in Darwin as a 
viable business with regard to: 

work in progress and future business opportunities 

the capability of the plant and the desirability that Darwin be 
developed as an export base for furniture and joinery work. 

8.2.2 Recommendation to liquidate 

On 13 September 1991, DID wrote to the Directors of Dalway in re~ation to the TIO 
loan which w~ due to become repayable on 1July1992. The letter m part stated: 
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... You are assured that this department will ensure that all necessary and 
approprillte a"angements are made, on a needs basis from 'time to time, to ensure 
that the company's obligations to TIO will be discharged in full or otherwise 
resolved to the satisfaction of TIO. 225 

On 14 September 1991, the Board of Dalway wrote to DID and stated21ii: 

... It is also the opinion of the board that if the company were run in a genuine 
private enterprise manner, it would immediately cease operations and wind up its 
affairs ... you need to be aware that the company does not have the ca.padty to 

trade beyond early in the new year ... in order for the company to be preserved 
during this difficult period and to enable directors to work on issues other than 
their own protection, it is only common sense that the Territory provide the 
directors with cleiir instructions and an indemnity. 

The Directors required indemnities in relation to their duties as directors and a letter 
of comfort in relation to the oontinuanre of Government support in meeting the 
operating expenses of Dalway. 

The Deeds of Indemnity were provided under cover of a letter from DID of 
10 December 1991.m 

The Board of Dalway again wrote to DID on 29 November 1991 and stated:13 

... The Board's grave concern at presenJ however, is the matter of the company's 
ongoing funding requirements and therefore its present viability as detailed in my 
letter of the 14th November 1991 to which we urgently seek yow response. 

... I reiterate that the end of year accounts ca1UZ0t be signed until this most 
important factor is resolved. 

The Minister replied in an undated letter (probably iswed m January 1992) to 
Mr Bel1229

: 

225 
Tabled Document 121 
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... I advise you that the Northern Territory Government agrees to underwrite the 
operating expenses of Dalway Pty Ltd whilst ever the government is the sole owner 
of the company, provided such expenses are inaured in the normal course of 
prudent business. 

Prior to the ~e of this letter, DID prepared a draft Cabinet sub~ion for the 
Minister dated 17 December 1991 which in part recommended that Cabinet:230 

... decline the lxxud's request for a commitment to the provision of further 
funding to Dalway Pty Ltd ... approve of the winding up of the company by 
placing it into voluntary liquidation on 31December1991. 

The Minister recommended to Cabinet that the company be liquidated having regard 
to the reasons behind the Directors' refusal to sign the annual accounts and the 
liabilities that would arise under the State Square contract without a government 
commitment to further funding.n1 

In Cabinet Decision 7149 dated 18 December 1991, Cabinet declined the 
recommendation and opted to allow the appointed consultants the opportunity to 
secure a sale of the business as a going concem.m 

As mentioned, from the evidence available it is not clear whether sufficient in-depth 
analysis of the potential outcome of liquidation of Dalway was carried out. The 
emphasis of the letter of appointment of the consultants again appears to have been to 
keep Dalway afloat and operating despite the recommendation from Mr Lyal 
Mackintosh, the present Secretary, DID. In his evidence before the C:Ommittee he 
stated: 

... I fonned the opinion with others, that liquidation offered the government an 
opportunity to aip their exposure to a degree, not lawwing what the holding cost 
would be during the liquidatioTL 233 

In his evidence he went on to state that this was an opinion held independently from 
the similar view, of which at the time he was unaware, held by the Board of Dalway. 
His recommendation to the Minister and to Cabinet in December was that liquidation 
was the best prospect for limiting further l~ which were then averaging around 
$50,000 per month and would rontinue until the sale was completed. 

230 DID file 91/924 - Folio 18-35 

231 DID file 92/621 - Folio 173 

232 DID file 92/621 - Folio 173 

233 Transcript of Mr Mackintosh, P· 3 of 9 November 1992 
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8.2.3 Consultant's Interim Reports 

The Sale Consultants, in their initial advicen-4, identified senous shortcomings 
already apparent to those involved: 

there is a major problem with stock levels, materials recording and job 

costing systems 

the information systems are poor 

the integrity of the financial infonnation available is low (i.e. unaudited) 

They went on to point out that should the Government require the company t~ survive 
then those shortcomings would need to be sorted out before any sale. This would 
involve a full stocktake and audit to provide integrity in the figures put forward: 

... only then will there be any chance of making re.alistic projections on which to 
interest a buyer on a going concern basis. 

In addressing this ~e, the consultants sought the assistance of DID in having 
external auditors conduct an investigation of the accounts in order to verify them. 
This was noted in a memorandum dated 10 January 1992 by Mr Hunt.Z35 

The Secretary, DID, approved the appointment of Ernst & Young to carry out some 
limited ac.counting and auditing procedures on 13 January 1992 as the consultants were 
so concerned with the lack of credibility of the figures they received that they did not 
wish to ~e the memorandum. 

It is an unfortunate aspect of the time frame from when Cabinet decided to get out of 
Dalway in September to the appointment of the consultants, that the normal practice 
was followed whereby Dalway closed at Christmas until the end of January and the 
Sale Consultants were precluded from seeing the company in operation. 

With regard to the prospective market value, the Sale O>nsultants stated in their 
interim report on 6 December 1991: 

... a realistic expectation then would be in the range of $20M plus stock at say 
50c in the dollar. 

DID had commissioned the A VO to prepare a valuation report of Dalway's non 
current ~ts in November 1991. The value of land, buildings, plant and equipment, 

234 DID File dated 6 November 1991 
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fixtures and fittings and existmg business was put at $2365M so that some 
independent indication of the 'price range' was available to the consultants. 

The consultants forwarded a second interim report following the audit on 20 February 
1992236 and enclosed the Information Memorandum which was to be provided to 
potential buyers. This document made no mention of the caveat which Mr Nictarios 
(sic) Pastrikos registered on the land owned by Dalway claiming an interest in the land 
under the alleged Option Agreement. To the extent that there was no firm agreement 
relating to its removal, this was an o~ion since it represented a hindrance to the 
sale of Dalway. The evidence of Mr Gordon from Desliens was that he was told not to 
worry about it. He said 

... We thought we had undertakings that the caveat would be lifted and our 
instructions were not to worry about that option ... m 

The Information Memorandum set out: 

a full description of DaJway including its history, organisational 
structure, operations and assets. 

a market analysis together with historical financial performance and 
future projections based on the analysis and conclusions set out in the 
Information Memorandum. 

The Information Memorandum also carried an extensive disclaimer with regard to its 
contents and indicated that it was the responsibility of a potential purchaser to carry 
out an independent investigation prior to purchase. 

The document contained a summary of financial projections which, based on the 
~umptions set out, indicated sales incr~ing from $4.95M in 1992/93 to $8.lM in 
1996/97. Profits before tax were projected to improve from $0.467M in 1992192 to 
$1.925M for 1996/97. 

These figures were signifirantly more conservative than those previously provided by 
Mr Tom Williams and rontained in the First Touche R~ Report. 

The consultants undertook the promotion activities for the sale and rereived fifteen 
expr~ions of interest. 

236 Tabled Document 89 

237 Transcript of Mr Gordon, pp 31-32 of 2 September 1992 
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On 15 May 1992 two offers were received by Capel OJurt/Desliens: 

. The Pastrikos Family $1.75M 

. Territory Cabinets $1.474M 

Subsequent to the receipt of the offers, further clarification ~d negotiations occurred 
between the consultants and representatives of the above part.Jes. 

8.2.4 The Pastrikos Family 

In order to finance the family offer, Mr Pastrikos had originally obtained contingent 
approval of financ.e from the National Bank. This approval was subsequently 
withdrawn and made subject to the investment by way of equity of $0.5M by other 
parties. At the I~ moment, 21 May 1992, the equity partners secured by 
Mr Pastrikos withdrew from the venture. At the initiation of Mr Ollin James of Ernst 
& Young, an approach was then made to Mr Leo Ven~ (after Mr Venturin had 
expressed interest to Mr Bob C.Owling, one of Mr James' partners) who enlisted the 
support of Mr M Sitzler and Mr Marge tic to join Mr Pamikos in farming the 
consortium which made the sucressful offer for Dalway on 22 May 1992.238 

Mr Margetic immediately resigned from the Board of Dalway on beroming aware of 
Mr Venturin's proposition. Mr Pastrikos then wrote to the consultants oonfirming the 
funding arrangements. The oonsortium was informed of the sucress of their offer late 
on 22 May 1992, contracts were signed on 25 May 1992 and settlement took place on 
29 May 1992. 

8.2.S Territory Cabinets 

Mr Blake, of Territory Cabinets, made an initial offer for the business which was 
rejected by the oonsultants, but was asked to submit an alternative offer which he did. 
By way of background, Territory Cabinets had purch~ the assets of Jaguar Joinery 
after its financial demise and Mr Mannion was employed by the new oompany. 

Territory Cabinets wrote to the Chief Minister on 25 May 1992 in relation to two 
major ooncerns they had with regard to the ultimate rejection of its offer. The letter 
stated: 

238 

... We were given an understanding for and on /Jehalf of yow Government that no 
director of Dalway Pty Ltd would /Je a party to any purchase offer. We now find 
that a director of Dalway, Mr S Margetic, is the managing director of a member 
of the J!urchasing consortium. We are frankly bemused at how the purchasing 
consortumi could even /Je considered in such circumstances. 

This is supported by evidence given to the committee 
Mr Venturin and Mr Pastrikos 
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... In order to prepare our bid we requested a copy of Dal way's major contract for 
the fitout of the Northern Territory Parliament House. We were refused access on 
the basis that we were a competitor. No such restriction applied to the other 
tenderer who through Mr Pastrikos and Mr Margetic had complete knowledge of 
that partiallar tender . 

... We have now raised two fwu;JamenJaJ matters for yozu consideration. The first, 
t!ie clear conflict of interest within the purchasing consortium is a matter which 
will no doubt c:ause considerable public concern ... The second, the unfair 
manner in which the information was available to one tenderer but not the other 
has produced an wznecessa.ry loss to the public purse, is at best incompetence and 
at worst an attempt to subvert the tender process. 

The first concern raised above related to Mr Margetic and was investigated by the 
Australian Securities C.Ommi~ion who found there was no breach of the C.Orporations 
Law. Mr Margetic was a very late participant in the purchasing consortium. He 
resigned his directorship of Dalway immediately upon becoming a participant. Mr 
Pastrikos was not a director of Dalway during the sale pr~ and was stood aside as 
an employee of Dalway on 13 May 1992. At that point in time, however, based on 
evidence given to the C.Ommittee, it is clear that Mr Pastrikos was aware that Dalway's 
tender for the Parliament House Project had been su~ and that he was also 
aware of the final price. It is fairly clear that Territory Cabinets was not privy to the 
same information. 

The second concern, relating to the withholding of information from Territory 
Cabinets associated with the Parliament House rontract, has been acknowledged by 
the consultants who believed this was an appropriate oourse of action. In their 
opinion, it would have been commercially improper to rel~ sensitive contract details 
given that Territory Cabinets may have become a potential rompetitor of the 
purchaser of Dalway. Mr Gordon said: 

... it was improper for us to hand over the Parliament House contract 
documents. 239 

... Territory Cabinets were still a competitor and if unsuccessful they would 
continue to be a competitor. In that situation we believe it to be commerdally 
improper to make tender details available. Release of the contract doruments 
would have been a breach of confulentiality as Jar as Dalway is concerned ··· 1A0 

239 Transcript of Mr Gordon, p. 5 of 2 September 1992 

240 Transcript of Mr Gordon, p. 7 of 2 September 1992 
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... Our refusal to provide the contract documents has_ been ::'1°rsed by Mr Bell 
who was cluzinruln, Mr David Hunt ... and Mr Fred Finch ... 

It is the opinion of the Committee that the vi~ p
1

ut ~orward by ~ Gordon was in all 
the circumstances incorrect. It is the Commrttee s view that whilst Mr Gordon may 
have been justified in his stance initially, this information should have been made 

available to Territory Olbinets. 

In appropriate circumstances full disclosure of such vital financial details is essential in 
order that a proper ~ment may be made to determine the price which a 
prospective purch~r is prepared to offer. Had Territory Cabinets been fully 
informed of the terms of the contract, rather than having to rely on the recollections 
of Mr Mannion who purported to have prepared a tender which be failed to lodge for 
that job242, a revised offer may have resulted. They were clearly a serious bidder, 
and it remains possible that disclosure of the information sought ~ have resulted in 
a higher offer being received from Territory Cabinets. 

Indeed, the Territory Cabinets' bid was some $0543 million higher than the Pastrikos 
Consortium bid in terms of how much it wouJd pay for the total assets of Dalway. 
Territory Cabinets then reduced its bid by $0.75 million to take account of: anticipated 
losses on general oontracts of $035 million; specific losses on the Parliament House 
contract of $0.4 million; and a further $0.069 million in relation to the employee 
liabilities it would take over. Having regard to the evidence as to the operations of 
Dalway, the view taken by Mr Blake was certainly justified. In fact, the concerns 
which led to Mr Blake's reduction were apparently shared by Mr Gordon who, as 
previously noted, had reported serious shortcomings at Dalway, including that 'there is 
a major problem with ... job costing systems'. It is therefore difficult to understand 
why Mr Gordon did not immediately reoognise the legitimacy of Mr Blake's need to 
be fully satisfied as to the profitability of major future contracts. 

~g that Territory Cabinets had full ~ to the general contracts and after 
that assessment deducted $035 million from their offer to account for future Jo~ on 
those contracts, the specific Parliament House contract wouJd remain to be considered. 
If it oould be demonstrated to Territory Cabinets that there were no future losses to 
be incurr~ with the contract and the $0.4 million was not therefore required to be 
deducted~ ~t wo~d have meant the Territory Olbinets offer was $1.874 million, being 
$0.124 million higher than the Pamikos Consortium. 

However, the position taken by Mr Gordon was perhaps understandable in some 
respects. On his own evidenre, he believed that Mr Blake had or had access to the 
tender documents; apparently only one request for the information was made and not 

241 
Transcript of Kr Gordon, p. 7 of 2 September 1992 
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followed up; it ~as not entirely clear what he was actually seeking; and Mr Blake and 
Mr Garraway rejected the opportunity to have Mr Gordon go through the details line 
by line to ascertain whether the contract entered into was as set out in the tender 
documents in any event. 

However, the latter point ~es that Mr Blake actually had the tender documents 
available to him. Since he did not, it was not ~ible for him to go through them 
with Mr Gordon 1ine by line' or otherwise. Unfortunately, Mr Blake failed to make it 
clear to Mr Gordon that he did not have the tender documents for Stage II for the 
State Square Project. It appears likely that Mr Garraway, Mr Blake's ac.countant, may 
have believed that there was some negotiating advantage in not making Mr Gordon 
aware of this fact. 

Mr Garraway's and Mr Blake's evidence is, of course, contradictory to Mr Gordon in 
many respects. Overall, the state of the evidence is unsatisfactory, and the Committee 
is unable to draw any conclusion as to the true circumstanres. 

The Committee believes that the major concern should have been to obtain the best 
price po~ible for the Government, and the view taken by the consultants ~ have 
diminished the return of funds to the public purse. The Committee considers that the 
consultants, who stated that the decision was theirs alone, although subsequently 
endorsed by others, demonstrated an error of judgment in this respect, particularly in 
apparently failing to obtain specific instructions on the matter at the time. By the 
same token, however, the conduct of Mr Blake and Mr Garraway, in apparently not 
specifying what they required and why, did not ~ist the consultants in making their 
assessment. 

8.2.6 The Recommendation for Sale 

At the conclusion of some six months activity by the Sales Consultants, two written 
bids were rereived for the purchase of Dalway as at 21May1992. 

A report dated May 1992 was prepared by Desliens for the Government which set out 
the details of the final offers received, evaluated the offers (including the alternative to 
sale, namely liquidation) and reoommended that the Pastrikos Consortium offer be 
acrepted. 
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In summarised form the offers were as follows:
243 

Land and buildin~ 

Plant and equipment 

Debtors 

Stock 

Work in progr~ 

~ anticipated 

contract I~ 

Employee claims 

Purchase Price 

Pastrikos 

Comortium 

SM 

1.750 

--
1.750 
m::sas::: 

Tenitory Cabinets 

SM 

1.250 

0310 

0210 

0.287 

0.176 

2.293 

(0.750) 

(0.069) 

1.474 
~ 

liquidation 

SM 

1.100 

0200 

0.135 

0.143 

0.018 

1.596 

--
1.527 -=== 

Particular conditions accompanying the offers were as follows: 

(i) Pastrikos Consortium 

The liabilities of the DID, the TIO and all other external and trade 
creditors would become the responsibility of the Northern Territory 
Government. 

The Government was to indemnify Dalway in respect of oontingent 
liabilities. 

(ii) Territory Cabinets 

243 

Twenty-three conditions of sale (refer Appendix 3.14 for details) 

These particular oonditions were in the main normal warranties 
oommon to many purchase agreements, apart from item 19 which 
specified that '~ts to be physically present' and 'value to be not less 
than contained in this offer'. This oondition oould be particularly 
onerous as it effectively p~ the responstbility to the vendor. For 
example, the offer included land and buildings at $1.25 million; if 
subsequently the value was shown to be something 1~ than that 
value, then the Government may have had to make good the 
difference to Territory Cabinets. 

Per Desliens report dated May 1992, Appendix 3.13 
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Debtors - vendor to warrant the amount ($0270 million) and 
collectability within forty-five days. 

Stocks - vendor to warrant that purchaser will use raw material stocks 
within forty-five days. If not so used purchase price to be adjusted to 
writing down such unused stock to just 25% of cost (warranty against 
$0.193 million of stock). 

Work in progr~ - net realisable value to be ~ on the day of 
settlement. 

This left the oonsultants with a choice of four options: 

the Government to retain ownership 

liquidate the oompany and realise the ~ts 

sell to Territory Cabinets 

sell to Pastrikos Consortium 

(i) Option one would not have been acceptable to the Government as significant 
funds for working capital would have been required almost immediately. 

(ii) Option two - Liquidation 

The oonsultants oonsidered the liquidation alternative as follows: 

™Land and buildings (AVO) 
245Plant & equipment (A VO) 

Debtors 
Stock 
Work in progr~ 

Book 
Value 
SM 

1.900 
0.465 
0270 
0.287 
0.176 
3.098 

244 Per AVO report dated 5 December 1991 

245 Per AVO report dated 5 December 1991 
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liquidation 
Value 
SM 

1.100 
0200 
0.135 
0.143 
0.018 
1596 



The Committee bas not r~ the liquidation values ~culated by the 
Sales Consultants in any detail. However, ~ough rt does appear 
conservative, the following matters need to be considered: 

the A VO values shown above for land, buildings, plant and equipment 
are based not on a fire sale basis but asrume a 'willing but not anxious 
buyer and a willing but not anxious seller'. 

debtors at 50% appears a little too conservative, and a further $50,000 
to $60,000 could be expected. 

stock and work in progress appropriately reflects fire sale value of 
Dalway stocks. 

realisation and liquidation fees which would be charged by a 
liquidator may be in the order of $75,000 to $100,000. 

Based on this option the liquidation route could only be reoommended where 
no offers exceeded approximately $1.5 million. 

(iii) Option Three - Sell to Territory Cabinets 

This option was not able to be recommended as: 

the offer was $0276 below the Pastrikos Consortium's prire 

even at the higher figure, the Territory Cabinet's offer rontained a 
number of quite onerous warranties and conditions which may have 
had the effect of lowering the ultimate selling prire ronsiderably. The 
particular warranties mentioned above oould have been quite difficult 
for the vendor as they effectively transferred the responsibility for 
conducting appropriate due diligence reviews away from the purchaser 
to the vendor. For example, even after the offer was accepted, 
disputes could have arisen as to the value included in the selling prire 
of fixed ~ts and work in progr~; debtors uncollected after forty­
five days would be returned to the Government and the selling price 
adjusted by that mount; raw material stocks not used within forty-five 
days to be subject to an adjustment to the purchase price from 100% 
of cost to 25% of cost (this would be difficult for the vendor to 
control as production would be in the hands of the purchaser after 
settlement). However, it does not appear that any attempt was made 
to negotiate or explore reasonable alternatives to the unacceptable 
warranties and conditions in the Territory Cabinets' bid. In the 
interests of maximising the sale proceeds, some attempt at negotiation 
would have seemed appropriate, although Mr Gordon may have taken 
Mr Garraway's negotiating stance for intransigence. 
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(iv) Option Four - Sell to the Pamikos Consortium 

This option was recommended as: 

the prire was $0.276 million in e~ of the offered price of Territory 
Cabinets, and $0.233 million greater than liquidation value. 

the warranties and conditions were minor with no carried over 
disputes as to the value of fixed ~ts, stocks, debtors or work in 
progr~ and consequent adjustment of purchase price. 

In general, it appears that Mr Gordon may have failed to take full advantage of the 
competitive situation presented by the two bids. It would appear that more could have 
been done to play the bidders off against each other, thereby maximising the return. 

8.2. 7 The Purchase/Sale Agreement 

A purchase/sale agreement was drawn up with the following terms and conditions in 
summary form: 

purchase price $1.75 million for shares in Dalway 

all cash at bank to be paid by the Company to the vendor 

TI 0 loan to be forgiven 

Government loan to be forgiven 

rontract retentions and performanre guarantees to remain with the 
vendor 

vendor to asmnne liability for the Company's creditors (other than for 
wages, salaries, holidays and long servire leave) 

vendor to asmnne any liability relating to litigation relating to 
Mr Edwards 

vendor to indemnify the company and purchaser from all damages, 
l~ costs, and expenses that may be incurred by the company by 
reason of such litigation 

work in progr~ - no adjustment to price 

stock - no adjustment to price 

materials - no adjustment to prire 
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orders of materials - for undelivered purchase orders exceeding 
$90,000, the vendor to indemnify the oompany in respect of the excess 

over and above that sum 

debtors - no adjustment to prire. 

8.2.8 Sale Contract Conditions 

The contract conditions did not call for. 

a full stocktake of the levels and value of stocks, materials and work 

in progr~ 

review and audit of trade debtor balances 

review and audit of trade creditors 

A full stocktake was not carried out on the date of handover to determine the level of 
stocks. As a result, the level of stocks, materials and work-in-progr~ were open to 
manipulation, albeit there was no evidence to suggest such manipulation occurred. In 
effect, the Government had no idea whether Dalway was handing over say, $02M 
worth of stocks or $0.8M. The book stock figure had been totally unreliable 
throughout the period since purchase, yet no attempt was made to verify the level at 
or around the date of the acceptance of the offer or hand-over date. Stock levels 
could have been increased above normal levels (although there is no evidence to 
suggest it was) in anticipation of the sale. 

Trade debtors were not verified as at the date of sale. Again the Government had no 
idea what their exact level was at that point in time. It is possible, for example, that 
debtor cheques received just prior to the sale date were not lodged until a date after 
the sale was completed. Also, there was the situation whereby if for example, a large 
debtor paid $100,000 a few days before the sale then the Government got the money 
but if there was a delay in the post or the cheque didn't arrive until after settlement 
date then the cash belonged to the new owner. Cut-off procedures are critical in 
relation to the finalisation of a sale of this nature. There were no cut-off procedures 
undertaken. This was, based on the evidence available to the Committee, a further 
significant weakn~ on the part of those involved in finalising the sale arrangements. 

Trade creditors were not verified as at the date of sale and proper cut off procedures 
were not undertaken. As noted above this resulted in the emergence of approximately 
$02M of additional creditors. Creditors may have been artificially inflated prior to the 
sale by such methods as purchased stock in advance of needs and arranging for goods 
to be invoiced in advance of receipt. Again, whilst there was no evidence of such 
events occurring, there was the potential for such events to have occurred. 
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Conclusion 

On the basis of the evidence available to the Committee there appear to have been a 
number of potentially damaging decisions and errors made during the sale pr~: 

The failure to give Territory Cabinets information ~ntial to an 
informed bid 

The failure to resolve the ~e of the right of first refusal/option and 
the veto on the sale of Dalway created a situation which may have 
deterred contenders for the company which limited the applications 
and therefore the potential return of public funds. 

The failure to disclose to Territory Cabinets, until 14 May 1992, that 
Mr Pastrikos would be given the right to match any bid was unfair to 
Territory Cabinets. 

It is not clear that Desliens, after 21 May 1992 explored all 
alternatives to resolve onerous conditions in the bid by Territory 
Cabinets. 

Whilst recognising the dangers inherent in a 'Dutch-auction' of losing 
both bidders, it is not clear that Desliens took full advantage of the 
opportunity presented by two serious bidders to maximise the selling 
pnce .. 

A stocktake and audit to the extent neressary to verify the 
rompleten~ and aca.rracy of debtor and creditor levels should have 
been undertaken immediately prior to acceptance of any bid. 

The lack of a full audit or financial statements that rould have been 
the subject of approriate warranties was likely to deter some investors 
since no clear picture was available of the viability of a revamped 
organisation. 

The Government emphasis on the sale of Dalway as a going concern 
may have reduced the total return to the Government.. It was 
apparent that there would be rationalisation by any buyer which would 
result in signifirant retrenchments, and had others been able to 
purch~ the ~ts through liquidation, the equipment ~ay have bee~ 
utilised by local busin~ to maintain or possibly mcrease therr 
employment levels. 
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8.3 THE PASTRIKOS OPTION 

Although the circumstances surrounding the sale would indicate that it may have been 
convenient legally to sell Dalway to Mr Pastrikos, and that information requested by 
the alternate bidder was not given to allow a 'level playing field' in formulating that 
bid (which may have had the effect of reducing that bid below the Pastrikos bid), from 
the evidence presented to the Committee, there is no evidence for the Committee to 
conclude that the Government or its selling agent designed the sales pr~ to return 
the busin~ back to the Pastrikos Consortium to the exclusion of all others. 

However, the fact that DID failed to do anything about the issue of the Pastrikos 
option following the receipt of two advices from the Department of Law was not 
satisfactorily explained to the Committee, despite the fact that those advices suggested 
that there were potential difficulties in selling to anyone other than Pastrikos prior to 
30 June 1992. 

8.4 FINANCIAL RESULT 

The financial results of Dalway for the period of Government ownership can be 
summarised as follows: 

Operating loss 

Audited 1/3/90 to 30/6/90 
Audited tn/90 to 30/6/91 
Unaudited 1n190 to 25/5/92 

SM 

0286 
1.295 
1.860* 

•Latest internal accounts available to March 1992 showed a I~ for the nine 
months to be $1.525 million. This has been extrapolated to $1.86 million for 
the period to 25 May 1992 at $0.169 million I~ per month. 

At the date of sale loan funds owed to TIO and the Government were: 

TIO NTG Total 
$M $M $M 

2.888 0318 
2.000 
1.500 

2.888 3.818 6.706 

As previously iJ_tdicated, the sale of Dalway to the O>nsortium realised $1.75M but it 
must be recognised that the sale agreement p~ the responsibility for the creditors 
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fr~m _the company to the Government including repayment of the TIO's outstanding 
pnn~al. From the proceeds. of the ~e approximately $0575M was to be paid to 
creditors and to cover the vanous costs mcurred in the sale. Thus the net proceeds 
were reduced to approximately $1.175M. 

It must also be rec.ognised that a true ~ment of costs to the Government should 
include the loss of interest . which was due to be paid, together with the capital by 
1July1992. This foregone interest payment due to TIO was disclosed as $1.156M: 

A summary of the total loss to Government during its ownership of Dalway may be 
represented as follows: 

Funds lent to Dalway 
Foregone interest on loan 
Creditors and sale costs 

Le~ proceeds of sale 

Total I~ 

SM 
$6.706 
$1.156 
$0575 
$8.437 
$1.750 

$6.687 

The total loss figure above does not include any costs to Government incurred by it 
for consultant's reports, legal costs, etc. which would have been substantialo 

A further oost to the Government may be posited as the opportunity oost of using the 
interest foregone to invest elsewhere. This would be applic.able only in the case of an 
income-producing investment and may be ignored if the funds had been used in capital 
works or grants. 

8.5 CONCLUSION 

The expenditure of public funds on Dalway was motivated by the political desire to 
maintain employment opportunities and the genuine, although probably erroneous, 
perception that Dalway was a 'showcase pioneer' of high-tech furniture manufacture 
and the only joinery with the capacity to undertake the State Square joinery work. 
CFM, formerly Dalway, has now scaled down operations to the extent that the current 
level of employment is approximately twenty. Additionally, other joineries have 
collapsed with the I~ of further jobs. On balance, the Government's involvement in 
Dalway has saved very few jobs and added significantly to the erosion of the public 
purse, the burden of which must be borne by the taxpayers of the Territory in a period 
of general economic hardship. While some of the problems which ultimately led to 
this result could not have been anticipated, many of them should have been. 
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CHAPTER 9 - FRAMEWORK FOR l'HE FUTURE 

9.1 THE CORPORATE FRAMEWORK 

9.1.1 The Corporate Framework 

The company structure is based upon the legal fiction of establishing a separate and 
defined legal personality which is capable of the legal functions available to a natural 
person. 

Governments have recognised that by forming companies, with government as the 
primary and perhaps only shareholder, they may pursue policy goals freed from the 
shackles of the rules which normally control public sector activities. However, this 
does not imply that such bodies are free of all constraints since they will fall within the 
province of the Corporations Law and the general law. 

Apart from being a legal 'person', the company structure attracts, inter alia, a flat 39 
rents in the dollar tax rate, limited liability of the shareholders and a complete 
separation of the resources of the company and shareholders. 

Much has been made in recent years of the shortcomings of the Corporations Law. 
This has led in part to a review of directors duties of care and diligence and liability 
for insolvent trading. That review is embodied in the Corporation Law Reform Act 
1992. 

Oearly, any Government engaging in the establishment of companies such as Dalway, 
should be aware of the existing law partirularly as it relates to the obligations of 
directors. 

Evidence presented to the C:Ommittee clearly indicates that Dalway would have been 
cl~ified as insolvent had it not been for the Government ultimately agreeing to 
underwrite all oosts associated with the company until it was sold. 

The Directors at the relevant time of Dalway were sufficiently concerned about the 
solvency and general viability of the company that on 12 Derember that they wrote to 
the Secretary, DID seeking written ~ance from the shareholder (the Government): 

... that it shall make sufficient and adequate financial and contractual 
a"angements for the future support of the company in such a manner as_ s~l 
ensure that the company will have the capaciJy to pay and comply with Us 

financial and other obligations~ 
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This assurance was given in an undated letter from the Minister for Industries and 

Development, the Hon. Steve Hatton.:Mt> 

Prior to this, the Directors had been granted indemnity by the Government on 10 

December 1991 against: 

... all actions, proceedings, claims, demands, liabilities, losses, expenses .(legal and 
otherwise) and payments whatsoever arising out of any act or omission by him in 

. good faith as Director of the Company or in any way done or omitted to be done 
arising out of his holding of the office of Director of the Company. 

247 

In all the circumstances these indemnities and ~anres seem justified given that the 
existing law in appropriate circumstances involves the real prospect of unlimited 
personal liability on the part of officers of a company for debts and other obligations 
incurred by a company. 

9.1.2 Standard of Care 

The standard of care and diligence required of directors has been steadily increasing. 
In Commonwealth Bank of Australia v Freidrich (1991) 9 ACLC 946, Tadgell J, noted: 

As the complerity of commerce has grathUJlly intensified. .. the community has of 
necessity come to expect more than fonnerly from directors. .. in response, the 
parliament and the courts have found it necessary in legislation and litigation to 
ref er to the demands made on directors in more exacting terms. 

To speak of a director of ordinary, reasonable or average competence or 
prudence, or indeed of an ordinary reasonable or average director, is to give no 
very useful desaiption, whereas as a person seeking properly to perform the duties 
of a director of a particular company can be identified by reference to more 
specific criteria of which ordinariness, reasonableness and averageness are, or may 
be, merely ingredients. 

What constitutes the proper performance of the duties of a director of a particular 
company will be dictated by a host of circumstances, including no doubt the type 
of the company, the size and nature of its enterprise, the provisions of iU articles 
of association, the composition of i1s Board and the distribution of work between 
the Board and other officers. 

The Corpora~~ Law Ref~nn Act 1?92 imposes a more objective test as to the degree 
of care and diligence reqwred of directors, so that the conduct of an offirer is to be 

246 Appendix 3.12 

247 
Deed of Indemnity, 10 December 1991. See Appendix 3.15 
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judged having regard to what is reasonable to expect of any person holding such an 
office rather than the personal capacity of that person. 

Conclusion 

In the case of Dalway, it appears to be clear that the Directors were not given free 
reign to make decisions in the best interests of the Company, in particular bec.ause of 
the shareholder's policy aims of ensuring continued employment levels, 
notwithstanding the Company's financial position, and because of the perceived 
entitlements of the Pastrikos family, which burdened the implementation of 
appropriate ref arms. 

Recommendation 

That any Board of a company of which the Government is the shareholder be carefully 
selected for the personal qualities and competence now expected, and that each 
director be made fully aware of his or her liabilities, and be allowed to perform his or 
her functions free from artificial restraints imposed by the Government. 

9.2 AUDITOR-GENERAL 

It is the view of the Committee that audits of government-owned companies and 
instrumentalities should be conducted by the Auditor-General. The financial disarray 
of Dalway reinforces this view. Had the Auditor-General had an appropriate role, it is 
po~ible that the present outcome would be different. 

It should be noted that the Northern Territory Office of the Auditor-General h~ been 
using private sector auditors under contract to audit Government departments and 
statutory authorities sinre 1982. 

In its Report Number 12, this Committee <:anv~ the issue of appointing the 
Auditor-General as auditor of all Government owned companies, oorporations and 
trusts. 

In examining the issue of the Auditor-General's involvement in the a11dit of these 
entities, the Committee considered the arguments advanced by concerned parties, 
however, the Committee is of the view that accountability to Parliament and the 
people outweigh any potential breach of commercial confidentiality. 

The Committee heard evidence from the A11ditor-General of the Northern 
Territory, who tabled a statement lawwn as the 'Waita~ Sta~' from the 
( 1989) conference of Australian Area Auditors-General which said m part: 
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1. 

2 

3. 

All Government agencies should be accowztahle to Parliamem 
from which they derive their authority and should be subject to 

the scrutiny of the Auditor-General or his agent 

The responsibi/itie{\ of the Auditor-General extend beyond those 
of private sector auditors in that they have a wider legislative 
mandate designed to meet the needs of Parliament and to 

protect the interests of the public. 

If Auditors-General are to provide Parliament with adequate 
assessments of public sector accountabiliiy there slwuld be no 
restriction on audit scope. 2A8 

The following text is reproduced from that report: 

In a 1989 article 'Governments Hide Behind Exempt Sta.tus: in New Accountant, 
Professor Walker posed the following question: 

Why are govemmen:Js using exempt proprieta.ry compa.nies as vehicles to 
operate government business or administer government programs? 

Directors of such companies need not comply with public service rules requiring 
the formal authorisation of transactions. If they support a private sector auditor 
operating solely in terms of the local Companies Act or Code then the auditors 
need only report on whether the financial statements provide a 'true and fair' 
view. 

But the most signi.ficant feature of the use of exempt proprieta.ry compa.nies by 
governments is the fact that if they appoint an auditor and are subject to audit, 
then they do not have to place any financial statements on the public record. 

Professor Walker reinforced his view in his New Accountant article of 6 September 
1990 titled 'The SBV: Accounting Joke of the Year': 

The SBJl1A9 may be on the block, but Victoria should take steps 'lO ensure that 
henceforth the Auditor-General will be responsible for the audit of all state-owned 
enterprises, perhaps in association with a"angements for the appointment of 
private-sector auditors under contract. 

In its March 1991 review supplement, the Financial Review newspaper published an 
article 'Bureaucrats in Busin~' which stated in part: 

248 
Northern Territory Public Accounts Committee Report Number 12 

249 State Bank of Victoria 
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... that the Companies Code and commercial auditing standards are not su.fficient 
for public business. 

According to lames Guthrie, a lecturer in accowiting and auditing at the 
University of NSW, ma.ny pro-corporatisers are dangerously su.pportive of 
proposals to replace public sector scrutiny (emphasising probity and complia.nce 
with often-exhaustive rules for financial administration) with private sector audits. 
The reputation of private sector audits has been undeniably poisoned by the 
Rothwells example and others like iL In some cases, public enterprise has gone 
the same way. 

Given those opinions, and the fact that accountability to the Parliament and the 
people is an ~ntial pre-requisite of government, the C.Ommittee endorses the 
proposal that the Auditor-General be responsible for the audit of all government 
owned companies, trusts and corporations. 

The C.Ommittee expressed the same view in its Report on the Auditor-General's 
Reports 1989/90, Report No 16 of May 1992. 

In his audit handbook 'On Adding Value', the Auditor-General lists the types of audits 
which may be required by Public Sector audit mandates. These are: 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

financial statement audit - an examination of financial information for 
the purpose of attestation, being the expression of an opinion on financial 
statements to help establish the credibility of tlwse statements; 

compliance (or regularity) audit - an examination of financial 
information for the purpose of reporting on the legality and control of 
operations and the probity of tlwse dealing with public funds, and 
including the expression of an opinion on an entity's compliance with the 
statutory requirements, regulations, rules, ordinances or directives thaJ 
govern the activities of the entity; and 

performance (or value-/ or-money) audit - an examination of financial 
information and other records for the purpose of reporting on the 
controls, process and systems used to manage the entity's resources, 
money, people, physiall assets and information, and in many c:ases '!1 
make comment on the entity's operations in terms of the economy zn 
acquiring resources, efficiency in using resowces and effectiveness in 
achieving objectives. 

Jn respect of any particular type of public sector entity the rela~d audit 
requirement may spedfy one or a combination of the above types of audits. 
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Conclusion 

The Committee feels strongly that all Govemment--0~ed oompanies2SO . should ~ 
b.ect to the more stringent form of audit by the Auditor-General than IS found m 

SU ~ . th . f 
the private sector, especially audit type (c) referred to above. It IS e VIew o the 
Committee that the financial problems of Dalway would have been ~ _by such 
scrutiny at a time when some steps may have been take~ to correct the srtuatJon or a 
decision made to liquidate the company before the public purse suffered a la&s of the 

present magnitude. 

Recommendation 

That in all instances the Auditor-General be appointed auditor of all Government 
owned companies and instrumentalities. 

9.3 A ~ORK FOR THE FlJTURE 

A government is a most unsuitable vehicle through which to efficiently operate a 
private busin~ and government should refrain from such ventures even though the 
motive may be laudable. 

It is also important and relevant to ask the question: Why is the government lending 
funds to a private company? The usual answer will be that private sector lenders have 
assessed the company and found the risk of default too great to justify advancing 
funds. The Government must recognise that when it lends in these circumstanres it is 
tiling a much greater risk with public funds than a private sector lender is prepared to 
take. This being the case, the Government must take even more stringent steps to 
protect its position by performing an in-depth due diligence review, and putting in 
place a strong and formaJisc:xl on-going review and monitoring procedure. 

Further, the events surrounding the Government's involvement in Dalway 
demonstrates a blurring of the distinction between assisting industry and asslStlllg 
individual busin~. Doing the latter will not n~ achieve the former, and may 
in some circumstances have the opposite effect. 

9.3J Due Diligence 

It is the responsibility of potential investors or lenders to take such steps as to inform 
themselves fully before any decision is finaJisc:xl. Areas which would commonly be 
focused on would include: 

250 
As defined in Public Accounts Committee Report No. 12 
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management and oontrol 

industry and competitors 

human resources 

operations 

legal 

financial considerations 

Only after evaluating all those areas and compiling a oomprehensive report can an 
informed decision be made. Significant matters which would be considered under 
these broad headings would include: 

Management and C:Ontrol 

covers an evaluation of management roles in the organisation, 
their strengths and weakn~ lines of communication and 
management philosophy. 

Industry and competitors 

covers product lines, existing and new markets, industry trends 
and conditions, competitors. 

Human resources 

covers availability of key labour, stability, competence. 

Operations 

Legal 

covers review of plant, facilities and production pr~; 
inventory and oosting systems in place, and ensure purchasing 
function appropriate. 

investigates any legal proceedings and any legal gove~ent 
or other restrictions or impediments as to future operations 
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Financial considerations 

rovers 

financial analysis 
accounting policies 
operating results 
_ analysis of trends ID sales, gross profit, net 

income, return on assets 
financial position 
- cash (present and projected) 

debtors (collection problems) 
inventories (accuracy of mventories as 
recorded, basis of valuation, review significant 
write-offs) 
fixed ~ts (condition and valuation) 
creditors and provisions (completeness and 
accuracy) 
debt finance (repayment terms, security) 
equity 

forecast and budgets 
romputer systems 
taxation iswes 

Without this comprehensive review it is not ~ible to make a fully informed decision. 
It would seem useful to develop appropriate due diligence procedures which could be 
used by Government in compiling its report on an enterprise before a final decision is 
made to lend or purchase. The O>mmittee reoognises that, notwithstanding a final 
decision will not always be made purely on commercial grounds, any decision must be 
made on a fully informed basis. 

9.3.2 On-going Review 

After funds are lent or an investment is made, a lender or investor must then turn its 
attention to monitoring the company's performance and the security position. This 
monitoring function needs to be c-~ed out on a regular basis to ensure early warning 
is given of any significant deterioration, so that appropriate action can be taken on a 
timely basis. It follows that as the Government is dealing with public monies, its duty 
of care could be considered to be even greater than in the private sector. 

There are always early warning signs which a regular monitoring function will seek to 
identify. For example, there are environmental signs outside the control of the 
company which may give early warning of potential problems: 
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increases in interest rates 

low consumer demand 

government spending cuts 

industrial unrest 

In addition, internal early warning signs might include: 

lack of a comprehensive corporate and business plan 

fiscal disarray 

management squabbles and problems 

high stock levels 

fluctuating gro~ margins 

It would seem ~ntial to review the financial statements of a company on at least a 
quarterly basis, considering such matters as: 

negative financial trends 

operating losses 

negative cash flows 

deficiencies of share capital and reserves 

working capital deficiencies 

adverse key financial ratios (e.g. high gearing, quick asset ratio) 

comparison of actual results to prior years and budgeted results 

In addition to the review of financial statements formal meetings should be held with 
the Board at least on a quarterly basis to assess operational and other financial factors, 
for example: · 

loss of key management 

dependence on a particular project or oontract 

difficulties in realising current assets (e.g. stock and debtors) 
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liquidity problems 

corporate and busine&S plans and strategies 

As well as the financial statement review and formal meetings with the Board, the 
Government shareholder (or lender) should ensure that it receives, directly from the 
auditor, a copy of all auditors' periodic management letters sent to the Board. 
Management letters addr~ important ~es such as weakn~ and breakdowns in 
the company's system of internal control, ac.counting ~es, advice to management, 
and concerns of the auditor which may affect the performance of the company 
presently or in the future. At least once per annum the shareholder should meet with 
the auditor and discuss the oompany's performance and problems. It should be 
remembered that the auditor's first and foremost responsibility is to the shareholder. 

SUMMARY 

In summary, no decision to purchase or lend should be made without the Government 
being fully informed through appropriate due diligence reviews. It is the responsibility 
of a purchaser or a lender to ensure it knows what it is getting into. After funds are 
lent or an investment is made, the Government must ensure appropriate monitoring 
procedures are put in place to enable it to protect its interest. This can only be 
effectively done by receiving early warning of impending problems and taking an 
appropriate course of action. Regular reports on the financial soundn~ of an 
investor's busin~ and the adequacy of a particular security cannot be over 
emphasised. These reports would cover such performance indicators as: actual 
~hflows compared to budget; debtors; stock levels and trading results and should 
include ways of dealing with detected or potential commercial weakn~ revealed 
during the review pr~. It is often only when a company gets into financial trouble, 
and lenders are confronted with attempting to realise their security that it is 
discovered that they are not so secure after all. ' 
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CHAPfER 10 - SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendation • Page 51 

Tue power to. direct the TIO under S.7 of the Territory Jnszuance Office Act where it 
may relate to mvestment or lending decisions of the Board be limited to: 

1. A veto of proposed investments or loans; and 

2. General directions in relation to investment or loan policy. 

Such directions should be reported along with reasons to Parliament within six sitting 
days of the exercise of the Ministerial power. 

Recommendation - Page 87 

The Department of Industries & Development devise and put in place a set of 
guidelines for granting financial ~istance which includes a detailed ~ment of the 
effect of such ~istance on rompeting businesses and the market place in general. 

Recommendation - Page 144 

Where contracts of more than $3,000 are awarded through negotiation without first 
going to tender, the details of such contracts and reasons for not going to tender 
should be published. 

Recommendation - Page 149 

The corporate strategies referred to in Section 7 .2.2 of this Report should be 
comprehensively addressed and form an ~ntial element of any consideration by the 
Department of Industries & Development of applications for financial ~istance. If 
such strategies have not been addressed by an applicant, then the Department of 
Industries & Development should consider bearing the cost of the preparation of such 
strategies to the extent n~ to be able to ~ the application on the basis of 
adequate and reliable information. 

Recommendation - Page 175 

That any Board of a company of which the Government is the shareholder be carefully 
selected for the personal qualities and competence now expected, and that ~h 
director be made fully aware of his or her liabilities, and be allowed to perform his or 
her functions free from artificial restraints imposed by the Government. 

183 



Recommendation - Page 178 

That in all instances, the Auditor-General be appointed auditor of all Government 
owned companies and instrumentalities. 

Recommendation - Page 182 

That no decision to purchase or lend shouJd be made without the Government being 
fully informed through appropriate due diligence reviews. After funds are lent or an 
investment is made, the Government must ensure appropriate monitoring procedures 
are put in place to enable it to protect its interest. This can only be effectively done 
by receiving early warning of impending problems and taking an appropriate course of 
action. Regular reports on the financial soundness of an investor's business and the 
adequacy of a particular security c.annot be over emphasised. These reports would 
cover such performanre indicators as: actual c.ashflows compared to budget; debtors; 
stock levels and trading results and shouJd include ways of dealing with detected or 
potential commercial weakn~ revealed during the review pro~. 
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APPENDIX 1 - SUBMISSIONS NOT TABLED DURING 
INQUIRY 

1. Territory Cabinets 

2. KPMG (formally Touche Ross) 

NB: These submissions were sent to the Committee in response 
to evidence adduced during the hearings. 
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!Cabinets 

The Chairman 
Public Accounts Committee 
GPO Box 3721 
Darwin N.T. 0801 

22 January 1993 

Dear Sirs, 

RE; DALWAY ENQUIRY 
WRITTEN SUBMISSION - J.W. BLAKE 

SUMMARY OF SUBMISSION 

Evidence has been received that -

1. The sale process of Dalway conducted by Desliens/ANZ 
Cape 1 Court did not provide Territory Cabinets or 
any other third party with the information necessary 
to evaluate the true worth of Dal way because, in 
particular, no information was provided which would 
enable anyone outside of Dalway to put a value on 
the contracts in hand. 

2. The value of contracts in hand represented a large, 
and in fact the most variable factor in estimating 
the worth of Dalway, especially because Dalway had 
accru·ed- a large deficit both prior to and during 

Government ownership. 

3. Had the necessary information been provided to 
enable Territory Cabinets to properly calculate the 
value of contracts in hand their bid would have been 

higher than the successful bidder. 

4. The reason for the failure to supply the necessary 
information has not been adequately explained by 

Desliens. 
10 Totem Road 
CoconGPO ut Grove NT 

Box 147 
Darwtn NT 0801 

Phone: (089) 480 299 
Fax: (089) 851 987 
ACN OM IQ »t 



2 . 

Both Mr Blake and Mr Garraway have given 
evidence of their repeated requests for the 

necessary information. 

Mr sciacca's evidence corroborates the evidence 

of Messrs Blake and Garraway. 

Mr Gordon's evidence in this 
unsupported and unsupportable. 

TERRITORY CABINETS SUBMITS -

matter lS 

A. The sale process was fatally flawed by the failure 
to provide information necessary for Territory 

Cabinets to formulate its bid. 

B. Desliens/ANZ Capel Court knew or should have known 
that the purchasing consortium which included 
Pastrikos and Margetic had in-house knowledge about 
the worth of Dalway. 

Margetic, a director of Dalway and Pastrikos, a 
former director and the contracts manager had the 
ability from their own knowledge to put a precise 
figure on the value of the contracts in hand, which 
were profitable (and how much) and which were 
unprofitable (and by how much). The commercially 
unusual brevity of their bid should have put 
Desliens on notice that the purchasing consortium 
was relying on information available only to them, 
even if it was from the simple fact that a director 
and the contract manager were submitting a bid. 

The proper course for Desliens was to reject that 
bid and use the information contained in it to 
negotiate a better bid from Territory Cabinets. 
Desliens failure to do so cost the Northern 
Territory dearly. 

C · The sale process was unfair or at worst a sham and 
did not provide the Government with the best price 
obtainable. 



D. 

3 . 

Territory Cabinets bid was induced by 
representations that the sale process would be 
properly conducted, that all bidders would have an 
equal access to information, that Pastrikos did not 
have · an option, that Pastrikos would not be shown 
Territory Cabinet's bid, that Directors of Dalway 
were not involved in the sale process and that the 
offer to sell was made in good faith. None of the 
presentations were true. 

E. Territory Cabinets should be compensated for the 
costs of its bid and compensated for its loss of 
opportunity. 

SUBMISSIONS ON DESLIENS REASONS FOR REJECTING TERRITORY 

CABINET'S BID. 

1 . The difference between the bids of 
Cabinets and the purchasing consortium 
deduction made by Territory Cabinets for 
forward contracts. 

Territory 
was the 

losses on 

Had Desliens provided details of the forward 
contracts to Territory Cabinets its bid would have 
been higher than the purchasing consortium and 
estimated liquidation returns. 

No consideration was given to Territory Cabinets 
offer to perform the Parliament House at cost which 
would have made their bid greater than the 
purchasing consortium and estimated liquidation 

returns. 

2. The indemnity and warranty items requested by 
Territory Cabinets and said to be onerous were in 
fact normal. The final executed copy of the 
purchasing consortiums contract has not been 
produced for comparison purposes in any event. 

Even if the purchasing consortium's contract did not 
contain the normal indemnities and warranties ( 
which in itself would be unusual and supply evidence 
of in-house knowledge unfairly not available to 

h · d ·ti· es and warranties Territory Cabinets) t e in emni 



4 . 

sought were simp l y that what was said to be offered 

for sale was as described. 

3. The structure of the purchasing consortiums offer 
being different from Territory Cabinets reflects 
more on the difference of knowledge of Dalway which 
Margetic and Pastrikos were unfairly allowed to use 
and perhaps, the lack of ability of Desliens/ANZ 
Capel ~ourt to clarify the issues raised in the 

negotiating process. 

4. The standing of the majority of the shareholders of 
the purchasing consortium is by implication said to 

be higher than that of Territory Cabinets. 

Territory Cabinets shareholders consider the implied 
comparison without foundation. They have been 
successfully involved in the building industry in 
the Northern Territory for over 17 years and owned 
and operated Budget Homes Pty. Ltd. for 10 years. 

Budget Homes Pty. Ltd. builds over 100 homes for the 
private sector in the Territory each year and has 
done so for 10 years. It is of substance and is held 

in high regard by the financial community as are £ll 
the shareholders of Territory Cabinets. 

5. Territory Cabinets shareholders have and had at the 
relevant time the business capacity to ensure the 
ongoing financial stability of the existing company. 
As owners of an existing major cabinet making 
operation, the merger of the two businesses 

represented an opportunity to rationalise the 
oversupply of these services in Darwin. 

6. The alterative of liquidation of Dalway causing 
consequent job losses, against sale to the 
purchasing consortium which was supposed to preserve 
jobs, was clearly either not properly documented or 
set as a condition of the purchasing consortium's 
purchase. Jobs have been lost. Territory Cabinet's 
bid would have kept employee levels up because of 
the effect of the merger. 



FURTHER SUBMISSIONS 

The sale of Dalway represented an opportunity 
combine the two major cabinet making operations 
Darwin with consequent saving on overheads. 

5 . 

to 
in 

Dalway had been a maJor problem for cabinet makers 
in Darwin since it was purchased by the Northern 
Territory Government. Since that time Dalway had 
been operating at a loss by deliberately undertaking 
work at less than cost. The massive losses made by 
Government on the sale are proof of that. In fact 
an analysis of Dalway's financial position based on 
Dal way's own figures show Dal way has consistently 
undertaking work for 65% of the real cost. The 
directors and management of Dalway are responsible 
for the $5.26rn loss by Government. 

The purchasing consortium included Mr Steve 
Margetic, who was a director and Deputy Chairman of 
Dalway until the day before their bid and Mr John 
Pastrikos, who was the management person in Dalway 
responsible for preparing the underpriced contracts 
which caused the massive losses by Government. 

Territory Cabinets put in a bid for Dalway 
determined to stop Dalways underpricing policies. 
The Agents, Desliens/ANZ Capel Court, who were 
enga9e~ to sell Dalway for the Government produced a 
document for prospective purchasers which contained 
details of what was being sold, namely, the land and 
buildings, plant and equipment, debtors, creditors, 
work in progress and stock and contracts in hand. 

Territory Cabinets engaged two separate accounting 
firms to review Dalway • s figures presented by the 
agents. Both accountants advised that Dalway 
consistently lost about 35% on its contracts· The 
1991 Audited Financial Statements produced by Dalway 
show they make sales of $4.25m for a trading loss of 

$1.427m which is a loss of 35%. 



The valuation of the items for sale that is, 
buildings plant etc was made by experts in 
areas and included in Territory Cabinets bid. 

6 . 

land, 
those 

Territory Cabinets bid for those items was $2.293rn 
and was therefore the highest bid. However, because 
of the consistent underpricing practices of Dalway's 
board and management the bid as reduced to take into 
account anticipated future losses on underpriced 
contracts by 35% of the contract values. 

The total value of contracts which Dalway had 
obtained but not yet started was about $2.Sm. 
Territory Cabinets bid said that it would deduct 
$750,000.00 for the anticipated losses on these 
contracts QB do the work on a cost plus basis. 

During negotiations the Agents for Government told 
Territory Cabinets (Blake and accountant Garraway) 
the only item which made Territory Cabinets Bid 
lower than the Margetic/Pastrikos bid was the 35% 
deduction for expected losses on those contracts. 
The Agents also told Blake and Garraway that those 
contracts had been re-negotiated to make them 
profitable. In so doing they acknowledged the 
unprofitable pricing practises discovered by 
Territory Cabinets. 

When· Territory Cabinets asked to see the contracts 
said to have been re-negotiated to make them 
profitable so they could be sure what they were 
being asked to buy was worth having, they were told 
they could not see the contracts because Territory 
Cabinets was a competitor of Dalway. 

No documents at all were produced to support the 
Agents statements. In fact, during negotiations 
the Agents admitted in writing that the contracts 
were worth nothing and were not profitable. (See 
document prepared by Desliens 11 Territory Cabinets 
Pty. ltd. Comparison of Offer" which put no value at 
all on future contracts. The same position, ie. 
future contracts were worth nothing appears in 
Desliens recommendation to Government in the second 
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page of the Executive Summary of the part on the 
sale of Dalway, which shows both the purchasing 
consortium and Desliens valued the future contracts 
at NIL value.) 

The only people who had access to the information 
which showed whether or not the contracts were loss 
making, break even or profitable we~e the Board of 
Dalway,. including Deputy Chairman Steve Margetic, 
and John Pastrikos who prepared the contracts. 

The only difference between the Margetic/Pastrikos 
bid and the Territory Cabinet bid was the 35% 
deduction Territory Cabinets made for the contracts 
worth $2. Sm. Territory Cabinets was refused access 
to the documents to check the pricing. 

Territory Cabinets was not allowed to bid on equal 
terms to Margetic/Pastrikos. 

The people responsible for losing $5. 26m of public 
money were allowed to use the information they had 
on the loss making scheme they perpetrated to buy 

Dalway. 

I 
I 

· Yours ' faithfully 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I ,,, I 





PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE 

INQUIRY INTO THE AFFAIRS OF CALWAY PTY LTD 

- Further submission by KPMG Peat Marwick (incorporating 
the practice of Touche Ross since 6 April 1990) 

SWORN STATEMENT 

DEPONENT: PHILIP ASHLEIGH DEWSBURY 

·9 
SWORN: /.~ DECEMBER 1992 

I, PHILIP ASHLEIGH PEWS BURY of 9 Banksia Street, Nightcliff NT 0810, 

Chartered Accountant, and Partner of the abovenamed Firms, MAKE OATH AND 

SAY as follows:-

1. On 16 November 1992, immediately after the conclusion of scheduled 
examinations of witnesses on 13 November 1992, I wrote to the Chairman of 
the Public Accounts Committee requesting the opportunity to be re­
examined by the Committee. My reasons for so doing were set out in my 
letter of 16 November 1992, a copy of which is attached as 'ANNEXURE A'. 

2. On 10December1992 I received a response from the PAC Chairman (dated 
8 December 1992), advising that, 
"At this stage, the Committee has resolved to seek clarification of your 
concerns by way of sworn written submission·. 
A copy of that response is at 'ANNEXURE B'. 

3. This submission responds to that invitation. 

4. Mr Geoff Finch and I appeared before the PAC on the afternoon of 28 
October 1992: At that time we gave evidence, under oath, regarding our 
role in the DJFM/Dalway saga and took the opportunity to clarify numerous 
concerns we had at that time with evidence given by certain witnesses who 
appeared before us. 

5. Vital pieces of our earlier evidence warrant reiteration at the outset, since 
there has been much subsequent evidence which is contrary to our stated 
position; 

(a) Our report of 28 September 1989 (the first Touche Ross Report) was 
prepared for the Financiers Steering Committ~e pursuru:'t to 
instructions given to us at the Steering Committee meetmg held on 
22 September 1989. It was not commissioned solely by the 
Department of Industries & Development. 

r 
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(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

2 

The report issued on 20 January 1990 by us to Mr Pastrikos and in 
turn presented by him to the Chief Minister and to :r10 (the so-called 
second Touche Ross Report) was prepared upon instructions from 

Mr Pastrikos for DJFM. 

Touche Ross had no involvement in any other relevant formal report 
in relation to the financial affairs or prospects of DJFM subsequent to 

20 January 1990. 

Touche Ross was never engaged solely by the Department of 
Industries and Development to prepare any report upon OJFM 
exclusively for their use. 

6.1 In my correspondence to the PAC Chairman dated 16 November 1992 (copy 
at ANNEXURE A) I referred to my very serious concerns with the document 
titled "Calway Pty Ltd - A report prepared for the Minister for Industries 
and Development covering the Department's involvement in the 
Government's acquisition, ownership and sale of the Company", 
prepared by Mr David Hunt. 

6.2 Had we been given the courtesy of examining this document prior to its 
release we could have very easily saved Mr Hunt inevitable embarrassment, 
us a lot of anguish, and the PAC a lot of time. 

6.3 The abovenamed document grossly overstates and misrepresents the role of 
Touche Ross and Mr Hunt acknowledges in his own evidence that, 
(a) he was not at DID at the time when he alleges our involvement 

occurred. He commenced on 3 September 1990, long after the 
events of late 1989 to March 1990, which he describes so 
authoritatively. 

(b) he did not bother to check any details in his report with either 
Mr Watson (who was at least there at the relevant time but who 
unfortunately cannot remember much about what he did, when he 
did it, with and for whom), or ourselves. 

6.4 In this latter regard it gave us absolutely no satisfaction at all to learn from 
subsequent transcripts that at least some interested parties (eg. TIO} were 
given the courtesy of reviewing the document in draft form before its 
publication. 

7 .1 One of Mr Hunrs allegations (his report page 6 point 7) is that; 
·As a consequence, the Department, in conjunction with Touche Ross, 
formulated an arrangement which would effectively remove the Company's 
~om_n:.ercial borrowings, including a discounted retirement of the outstanding 
/Jab11it1es to both theANZ Bank and Esanda Finance·. 

7 .2 Despite our earlier evidence denying any involvement in the formulation and 
implementa~io~ of s~ch arrangements, the matter has been the subject of 
further confhctmg evidence subsequent to our earlier appearance. 
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7.3 We gai~ very little comfort from Mr Hunt's acknowledgement in his evidence 
(t.ranscnpt pages 154.3 and 154.4) that eventually admits his report is wrong 
VIZ. 

"Mr Hunt: I a~ree with ~ouche Ross's evidence that they to my knowledge 
from the readmg of the fJles were not involved in the negotiated settlement ,, 

It begs the question then as to why he put it in his report in the first place. 

7 .4 The facts are that this allegation, together with many others which grossly 
misrepresent the role of T ouche Ross, stand as they are in Mr Hunt's Report, 
a document which, in our view at least, is unfortunately a central piece of 
evidence before the PAC and others interested in the Dalway saga. 

8.1 Further instances of misrepresentation of our role and where Mr Hunt got his 
chronology all wrong and confused are on page 7, point 7 (continued) of his 
report viz. 

8.2 

8.3 

8.4 

8.5 

"The conditions precedent were that the Company would agree to the 
Department, in conjunction with Touche Ross and the Pastrikos Family, 
forming a Steering Committee to oversee the operation of DJFM PIL for a 
period of at least eighteen months, which was the projected period required 
for the Company to fully recover. 

Following the formation of that Committee, a critical review/analysis of the 
Company's position/financial projections etc was undertaken, which raised 
concerns as to the "assumptions' on which the original sales 
projections/cash-flow forecasts etc were based. 

As a result, the Department again commissioned Touche Ross to undertake 
a further review of all aspects of the operation of the Company, including 
forward projections/funding options, long-term viability, etc. 

A copy of that report is at Attachment A" 

All of this follows a reference to Cabinet Decision No 6338 of 30 January 
1990. 

Touche Ross reiterate that they are not aware of any such second Steering 
Committee convened in the circumstances and timeframe alleged above and 
deny any participation in any such formal Steering Committee Group. 

At least Mr Almond of DID in his evidence (pg. 164-3) supports our position 
that this second (post January 1990) Steering Committee never existed. 

Mr Hunrs alleged further commissioning of Touc~e Ross ~o undertake a 
further review as stated in his report, as above, 1s totally mcorrect. The 
report he refers to "at Attachment A· as being the result of that further 
review after 30 January 1990, is in fact the 20 January 1990 report prepared 
for Mr Pastrikos and presented to the Chief ~inister a.n~ to TIO. We trust 
that PAC members appreciate this important issue of timing, because there 



9.1 

9.2 

9.3 

9.4 

9.5 
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has been much confusing and contradictory evidence given by any number 

of witnesses on this point. 

Much has been said in evidence about the inordinate escalation in the 
quantum of the rescue package that was eventually settled at approximately 

$4 million. 

Criticism has been levelled at the serious errors and conservatisms in the so 
called "Second Touche Ross Report" of 20 January 1990 which identified an 
urgent need for $1 .5 million and this has reflected adversely upon the 
credibility and reputations of Touche Ross and Mr Finch and myself. 

The starting p9int of $1.5 million has been inappropriately linked with the 
eventual package of $4 million, inferring that the so called "Second T ouche 
Ross Report" got it manifestly wrong by $2.5 million. 

The facts are that the $1.5 million was assessed as the amount required 
urgently from the Government, as lender of last resort, to save DJFM from 
imminent liquidation. The 20 January 1990 Report anticipated $1.5 million 
as a deferred, subordinated loan or the acquisition of only a partial equity in 
DJFM. It certainly did not anticipate the acquisition by the Government of 
the whole of the assets and business of DJFM and the removal of the 
Pastrikos equity in its entirety. This is what caused the massive increase in 
the rescue package, not any manifest errors in the ·second Touche Ross 
Report". 

Whilst on the topic of this so called ·second Touche Ross Report" I feel 
obliged to make some other relevant observations. 

(a) I invite PAC members to read the document in its entirety, rather 
than to focus on selected ·suitable to the cause· extracts which 
have been raised in evidence by a variety of witnesses. 

(b) Irrespective of for whom the report was prepared (this is another 
issue entirely and has been raised earlier), the facts are that it 
presents, on balance, far from a glowing, rosy, picture. It identifies 
a v~ry co.nsiderable ~umber of significant problems; key staffing 
def1c1enc1es, accountmg problems, production inefficiencies and 
weaknesses, ·furniture manufacturing expertise deficiencies, 
computer problems inter alia, all of which had to be addressed as 
as matters of urgency within a formalised management strategy. 
The budg~ts and. cash flows attached to the report also predicted 
that ongoing tradmg losses would continue for some time. 

(c) Th~ report must be seen for what it was; an urgent plea for 
~s1stance by ~r Pastrikos on behalf of his Company DJFM which, 
w~th~ut th.at ~ss1~tance could not survive and would proceed forth­
with mto hqU1dat1on. The Pastrikos family had no more funds to put 
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in; the existing financiers would go no further; no alternative 
financiers could be identified; the Government was approached as 
the lender of absolute last resort. 

9.6 We were comforted somewhat by Mr Perren's evidence in this regard. It is 
apparent that he saw the report for what it was and this in itself is vitally 
important, after all he was one of the two people to whom Mr Pastrikos 

· presented the report. 

Mr Perron said at transcript 27 4-2 
• ........... Had the company not been in serious trouble there would have been 
no need for government involvement. The government rescued a company 
on the brink of insolvency in the belief it could be turned around by good 
management and interim financial assistance. ,. 

and further at transcript 280-4 

• ...... and the facts are that the company was facing imminent collapse, and 
this is all irrelevant to Mr Pastrikos's bid for $1.SM. Not irrelevant to, I guess, 
but notwithstanding. The company was on the verge of collapse, and the 
government had to make one of 2 decisions, I guess. That was, do you 
stand back and do nothing and let it collapse. Certainly an option, which 
loses money for the government and the TIO, as well as the jobs and the 
State Square contracts and the hi-tech capacity and so on, or do you say, 
what would it take to solve the problems the company faces, and I use that 
term, rather than simply how much money would it take, because it was clear 
my belief at the time for what reason I am not sure which documents I may 
have read or whom I may have talked to reach that conclusion, that it was 
not only additional funds that this company required. The Pastrikos family 
were clearly out of their depth, clearly, in my view, and so the Department of 
Industries and Development were to come forth with a new scenario that if 
the government believed that the factory should remain, on what basis could 
it do that, and once receiving that scenario, you then say can I live with this, 
can we the government live with this, and if you cannot, because it is either 
too much money, or whatever, then you say no we cannot and you weigh 
the 2 issues up and you say collapse is the option. Let it collapse and cut 
your losses and run. The decision which we subsequently made much 
later." 

10.1 A considerable volume of evidence has been tendered subsequent to our 
earlier examination in relation to the extent of work Mr Finch might have 
carried out with Mr Watson and the nature of any such work particularly in 
the period subsequent to the 20 January 1990 ·secon~ ~ouch~ Ross 
Report•. eg. (a) Mr Watson at transcript page 238.3 said, mter aJ1a 

and 

"Well it does not accord at all with my recollection of the events. Mr 
Finch may have a better memory than I but I see there is a fair gap 
between his view of life and mine." 

•Mr Setter, if you can accept that I cannot be spec!fic as to day, week 
or actually month, but in a period of time Geoff Fmch and I probably 
spent 60 hours a week for an extended period in trying to make 
sense of the company's financial state. I would have to say that 
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Geoff Finch and perhaps his colleagues, put in an en~rm~us effort. It 
occurs to me that if he was just using his PC model/mg figures that I 
gave to him or figures that Tom Williams gave to him, th~n he 
seemed to be pre-occupied. I wonder what else he was domg to 
consume all the time that we were spending together." 

(b) Mr Hatton and PAC members at transcript page 266-2 and 
266-3 said, 

"MR HATTON: Mr Chairman, perhaps I could clarify an issue which 
led to some consternation earlier in respect of the decision, the 
comments in my department's report on pages 6 and 7. I have been 
reminded that in fact immediately following the 30 January's decision 
that group of people did in fact meet quite extensively and to recast 
and more closely analyse the figures that were shown in the Touche 
Ross report of early January, it led to, the sum, I am told some 60 or 
70 hours of work between Mr Watson and the gentlemen from 
Touche Ross and others that led to the recasting and then coming 
back to cabinet saying look this $2M will not make it that is why it 
needs to go to $3.SM so in fact this area was referring also to that 
follow up discussion. 

MR PARISH: So to put it bluntly, you are saying, are you, that Mr 
Finch's evidence about this time, which was to the effect that all he 
did was input numbers into a computer that Mr Watson read out to 
him does not accord with your understanding from discussions with 
your departmental officers. 

MR HATTON: No, it does not. 

MR PARISH: And in order for us to evaluate those contradictions, 
did Touche Ross subsequently produce an account to the 
department which set out what work they did. 

MR HATTON: I am not aware one way or the other. I can seek to 
obtain that information. 

MR PARISH: I wonder if you could because one would suspect if 
they presented an account that showed 60 or 70 hours of work we 
can make our own assessments on their evidence given before this 
committee.· 

{c) Mr Hatton and PAC members at transcript page 267-6 said; 

·MR HATTON: I am surprised that you did not note the fact that in 
the !Jackgro~~d to this particular Ministerial, it says in line with 
Cabmet dec1s1on No 6359; 'officers of this Department with Geoff 
James of Mildren's and Geoff Finch of Touche Ross have 
documented a"angements to take over the business of Darwin 
Joinery and Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd, that answers the 
question you asked me earlier. 
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MR PARISH: Further evidence of Mr Finch's involvement was 
somewhat greater than he asserts. 

MR BAILEY: ............. .... ................. continued to be involved in some 
form or other.,. 

.. (d) Mr Coulter and PAC members at transcript page 293-6 and 
293-7 said inter alia; 

"MR COULTER: Well then you have got to understand and it is in Mr 
Watson's evidence and I think he gives the best insight into the 
development of these figures etc. I mean to say, as Mr Bailey has 
said that is simply a Pastrikos PR document, worked up with figures 
supplied by Mr Williams, etc. is to deny the evidence that you have all 
heard here during the course of this week from Mr Watson, who 
claims that in fact that he worked up to 60 hours, per week ....... . 

MR BAILEY: That was after the 30 February. (I think he meant 30 
January). 

MR COULTER: ..... no, Mr Watson, was also involved during this 
particular point in time. It is quite clear in his evidence that he gives, 
you have only got to go back and read the Hansard and you will 
come that conclusion. I do not really believe ...... . 

MR BAILEY: What happened after the 30 January. They went 
back and did the figures more realistically. 

MR COULTER: No, I have been asked a question, now if you want 
to keep him quiet, do so, but do it before he asks the question. Mr 
Chairman I would like to table indeed another account from Touche 
Ross, this is in fact, this footpath here is the going back to do the 
figures again as, and remember the Cabinet submission in January, it 
simply says that the Chief Minister and the Minister for DID negotiate 
up to $2 so there is no real $2M sort of approve we are working 
through these figures, things are happening on a day to day basis 
that this footpath here is my load of spreadsheet model, run that 
through your things, spit a few figures out and if we are talking about 
it took 6 days or 3 days to do the other one. We have an account 
another account here ...... . 

MR PARISH: I am not going to chance, I am not going to go the 
Maths again you can do them this time. 

MR COULTER: Well it is $5526 and this bill was submitted to us on 
301311990, hardly a flick pass Mr Speaker, almost as much as the first 
document and whether it goes by weight or number of pages I am not 
sure but there is another account that in the evidence that Mr Finch 
gave that this was simply, here is my model, spit a few words out and 
in fact Mr Watson, replied his 14 year old daughter would have been 
able to that so ..................... •. 
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(e) Later. Mr Coulter and PAC members. at transcrip.t page. 294-2, 
(after the T ouche Ross fee account had been photocopied) said; 

"MR COULTER: Mr Chairman if I could read in this for the benefit of 
the record, attending to all matters in respect of providing financial 
advisory seNicing including preparation of revis.ed cash. flow and 
profit projections to the 31 December 1990.. .Review the /1st of plant 
and equipment, stop work in progres.s, .. fm1sh stock a~d conduct 
physical inspection prior to the acqu1s1.t1on of t~e. business. from 
Darwin Joinery and Furniture Manufactunng Pty L1m1ted attendmg to 
meetings, DID to discuss meetings of Directors, attending to Directors 
Meetings and preparation of minutes. Attending to Statutory matters 
relating· to change of registered office. Mr Chairman, what it does, it 
certainly demonstrates that Touche Ross were still involved in this 
project through to some time after the second report. 

MR BAILEY: They have never denied that. 

MR PARISH: I don't know about that. 

MR BAILEY: What they have denied is the production of figures 
other than being asked to put in I mean this is quite clear. 

MR COULTER: I think if you read that in conjunction with the 
evidence that has been supplied by Mr Watson, that one can only 
conclude that a great deal of work in fact went in to the revised 
projection figures. 

MR COULTER: Well, I think what it points out really and I don't 
want to labour the point, but to suggest that it was merely a flick past 
and here is the model, spit some figures out, I think it puts that to 
rest. 

MR PALMER: I think you are right.• 

It g~es _on, on transcript page 294-3 

"MR COULTER: That may well be a satisfactory solution and I am 
pleased to say Mr Bailey is taking the time to provide the Chairman 
with an interpretation of the account in the manner that he has 
because he seems to be defending it quite well ........ . 

MR BAILEY: I am not defending Touche Ross 

MR C~UL TER: ........ or is in fact inferring that I am suggesting that 
anything other than that they were involved for a period of time after 
the report and one of those things was to do, now that may be the 
co.st of_ the flick pass of the figures, and that may be there Mr Bailey 
might like to offer what the cost in fact of that one-tenth is and if he is 
su_ggesting_ to us that it was $500 to do the revised figures then I think 
this committee has a problem in reaching any conclusion other than 
what I have provided here today. 
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MR PARISH: You would say would you, I mean I take it that you 
woul~ a_gree. that we have a decision to make as between a total 
cont/Jct m evidence between Mr Finch and departmental officers. 

MR COULTER: Certainly Mr ~Vatson. 

MR PARISH: Yes, and you would say I take it that this document 
provides fairly conclusive evidence that Touche Ross did a lot more 
work in analysing the figures than they claim to have done.· 

and page 294-4; 

·MR COULTER: ...... Can I just finish because the date is important, 
this date of this account is the 30 March which is about the time 
after ..... 

MR PARISH: That is what I was about to come to. 

MR COULTER: ..... we we, March 161 think the deal was .... 

MR PARISH: Sure, would you agree that it is probable that this 
relates to the work that Touche Ross did to revise that first report of 
20 January rather than work that they did prior to 20 January. 

MR COULTER: I would suggest that but I think that that question 
should be put to Mr Finch." 

10.2 To put to rest this multitude of gross misinterpretations and overstatements 
of Mr Finch's role, we have taken the time to compile a detailed extract of aJI 
time recorded in Mr Finch's client time diary as being charged to DJFM or 
Dalloway during the period 2 January 1990 to 30 March 1990. 

10.3 The two summaries are attached as ANNEXURES C & D respectively. 

10.4 By way of explanation I would point out (and this can be confirmed by the 
PAC Accounting Consultant. Mr Pridham) that it is customary practice in the 
Accountancy Profession for all staff to maintain a time diary to record 
chargeable time to clients. Times recorded in these diaries are then 
transposed periodically (at the relevant time, half monthly) into timesheets 
which are in turn processed through a computerised client Work-in-progress 
system. 

10.5 With regard to transcript extracts (a}, (b} and (d} above, an examination of 
ANNEXURE C reveals that in the three month period ended 30 March 1990, 
Mr Finch spent a total of 118.8 hours upon work tor DJFM. The narration 
and hours are a verbatim extract from the diary (which we are prepared to 
have examined by PAC members if considered necessary}. 

The analysis indicates an understandable heavy time invol~emen.t in the f.ew 
days prior to the issuance of the 20 January 1990 report, including workmg 
closely with Barry Fradkin. 
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The analysis also reveals no evidence of the exte.n~ive work (60 hours per 
week etc.) allegedly carried out with Mr Watson revising the 20 January 1990 
figures subsequent to that report. In fact the work performed o~ 21, 22, 23 
and 24 January 1990 is essentially the regular monthly preparation work for 
the Financiers Steering Committee meeting held on 24 January 1990. 

On 26 January 1990 Mr Finch spent a whole 2.5 hours making adjustments 
to the 20 January 1990 financial model, which of course is totally in accord 
with our earlier evidence given under oath, and totally at variance with the 
allegations quoted from transcripts above. 

A further 3.0 hours was spent with Mr Watson on 7 February 1 990 making 
similar revisions and adjustments, exactly as we said earlier during our 
evidence. 

We cannot help but think that Mr Watson must have Mr Finch confused with 
someone else, perhaps Mr Dennis Edwards, who he might have spent 60-70 
hours per week working with in this time frame? 

10.6 With regard to transcript extract (c) above we are totally comfortable that 
these matters are in complete harmony with Mr Finch's earlier evidence at 
transcript page 133-1. Frankly we fail to understand the point at issue here. 

10.7 In relation to transcript extracts (d) and (e) above where the Touche Ross 
fee account for $5,526 is introduced and there is much speculation as to 
what it might or might not encompass in terms of our involvement, we have 
appended, as ANNEXURE E a copy of that invoice supported by our Work 
in Progress (WIP) Summary Report of 30 March 1990 as ANNEXURE F. 

~ o put the various allegations in the abovementioned transcripts hopefully 
finally to rest. we make the following observations; 

(1) The fee account and our supporting WlP summary are 
on account of Dalloway Pty Ltd and not DJFM. 

(2) Our- client charge code (0075) for Dalloway Pty Ltd was 
only opened on 1/3/90 (refer ANNEXURE F). 

(3) An analysis of the content of ANNEXURE F reveals total 
costs incurred on the Dalloway P /L account as 
First half month to 1513/90 1.480.00 ' 
Second half month to 3013/90 4,046.80 

Amount of fee account raised 
30/3/90 per ANNEXURE E $5,526.80 

(4) Mr Finch is the pri~ci~al p~rson.charging time to the Dalloway P/L 
charge code and his time input 1n the period from commencement 
(1/3/90) to 30/3/90 is 35 + 60 + 55 + 184 = 334 time units 

= 33.4 hours. 
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(5) This 33.4 hours ties up exactly (and not coincidentally) with the 
abovementioned extract of Mr Finch's client time diary which is 
attached at ANNEXURE D. That Annexure can be referred to for 
the precise detail of the work which was carried out for Oalloway by 
Mr Finch. 

(6) By the foregoing disclosures we hope we have dispelled any 
misunderstandings as to the exact timing and nature of work done 
and billed, appropriately to Dalloway P/L, per the fee account 
tendered by Mr Coulter during his evidence, 
viz. it is nothing to do with revised projections with Tony 

Watson during the period 20/1 /90 to the time of the 
decision to purchase DJFM. (mid February 1990) 

Mr Finch's first involvement in relation to this fee 
account is on 9 March 1990 (per ANNEXURE D.) 

the involvement is totally in accord with Mr Finch's 
earlier evidence as recorded in the transcript eg. 
page 133-1 

we sent our fee account to Dalloway P/L C/- DID and 
DID, as the ·owners· of Dalloway paid our fee, and 
there is absolutely nothing sinister in that. 

We have numerous further concerns arising from our review of relevant 
transcripts of evidence given subsequent to our earlier examination on 28 
October 1992. 

We believe however that the foregoing, (which is already too long), 
supported by ANNEXURES A through F, satisfactorily disposes of the more 
significant issues which misrepresented our role, and/or reflected unf~irty 
and adversely upon the reputations and credibility of Touche Ross, Mr Fmch 

and myself. 

SWORN by the said ) 

PHILIP ASHLEIGH DEWSBURY 

at Darwin this 

) 

) 

) 

.....•..... ~~······ 
day of 1992 ) 

Before me: 

~.~ 
eeeeeeeeeee••••••••••~··•••••••••••••••eeeoeeeee•eeee 

G.L MATTHEWS 
COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS 

35 VRD DRIVE 
WOODLEIGH GARDENS NT 

PH:277829 



kPJl/15-J Peat Marwick 
Chartered Accountants 

This is the ANNEXURE marked A referred to 
in the Sworn Statement of Philip Ashleigh 

I~ .-,,.. ~ _/. 
Dewsbury s~n .......... day of .. ~ .. ~90, ~ 
before me ... ~ . ~'i"'i:::> •••• • • • • 

G.L. MATIHEWS 
COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS 

35 VRD DRIVE 
WOODLEIGH GARDENS NT 

PH: 277829 

19 Lindsay Street 
Darwin NT 0800 

GPO Box 1616 
Darwin NT 0801 

Telephone: (089) 818722 
Facsimile: (089) 410238 

FACSIMILE 

This message is intended for the use of the 1nd1v1dual or entity named 
below and may contain information that is confidential and privileged. If 
you are not the i_ntended recipient, you are hereby notified that any 
disse ... mination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly 
prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please 
notify us immediately by telephone and destroy the original message. 
Thank you. 

DATE: 

TO: 

FAX NO: 

FROM: 

FAX NO: 

SUBJECf: 

NO. OF PAGES: 

De~ Mr Palmer, 

16 November 1992 

Mr Mick Palmer IvfLA 
Chairman - Public Accounts Committee 

81 2528 

Phil Dewsbury 
KPMG Peat Marwick 

81 3973 

Dalway Enquiry 

3 (Including This Page) 

Self explanatory correspondence attached. 

Yours faithfully, 
KPMG Peat Marwick 



J<PMG Peat Marwick 

(' 

Chnrtere<..I Accountants 

1 ~·Floor 

19 L1nCJ S.J y Sr·e ~ ' 

Dtl 1 W ll1 ~Jf 0800 

A ust1,111" 

1 G November 1992 

rvlr ivl ick Palmer iv1LA 
Chai rm~rn, 
Public Accounts Con1n1ittee 
GPO l3ox 3721 
DAR\VlN NT 0801 

Dear ~tr Palmer, 

lncorpor J t1ng Touche qo ss AustrJl1J 

GDQ Box 1515 

C'arw1n ~JT 080 1 

/ u strn lta 

RE : DAL WAY - PUllLIC ACCOU~TS COI\II\IITTEE ENQUIRY 

T e1Pch o ne 10891 81 8 722 

~ iKS 1m i1 e I089l 4 1 0238 

During ?ur appearanc~ ~s witnesses at the abovementioned enquiry on 28 October I 992, Mr 
Geo_ff F11_1ch and I clanf1e_d a number of anomalies and omissions in the evidence given by 
earlier witnesses, and wl11ch had come to our attention from a review of evidence rranscripts 
made available to us. 

Subsequem to our appearance, it has become very apparent, from both media coverage and 
from a review of certain subsequent evidence transcripts (not all of which are available at the 
time of writing), that there have been further anomalies and omissions in evidence given, 
which rellect adversely upon !Y1r Finch and myself, and my fonner finn of Touche Ross. 

This situation is of very serious concern to ~1r Finch and myself, and to my partners in 
KPMG Peat Marwick, which as you are aware, now incorporates the Touche Ross firm (since 
April 1990). 

Whilst I am aware that scheduled examination of witnesses has now been concluded, I also 
understand (albeit from a Channel 8 television news item of Friday 13 November 1992) that 
" .. . the witnesses from Toucl1e Ross are likely to be recalled .. ". 

Being unaware of your own official position in this regard at this time, I seek your advice and 
assistance as to your preferred method of our availing ourselves of the essential opportunity to 
respond to the further serious anomalies and omissions in subsequent evidence which, you 
will appreciate, has very adversely reflected upon the reputations of Mr Finch, myself and 
Touche Ross. 

This might be by way of our reappearance (as suggested by the media) or a formal written 
subrnission responding to the issues with which we take exception, or both. 

Similarly, we have now had, subsequent to our earlier examination, the opportunity to ~e~iew 
~rn<l consider the cJocun1ent titled "DJ\LWA Y PTY LTD - A report prepared for the M1rnster 
for Industries and Development covering the Department's inv?lvement in the Government's 
ac4uisition, ownership and sale of the Company" by a Mr David Hunt. 

W c had former! y understood that this document was not a public document and therefore 
unavailable to us. 

11 • • • •• ••• ' , ••• - · · 
I ' , ' •• , • t ..... 111 



We hold very serious concerns regarding the outrageous 1misrep.r~s~ntation of the role of 
Toud1e Ross in the events lending up to the Governments ncqu1s1t1on of the assets and 
business of Darwin Joinery & Furniture l\lanufacturing Pty Ltd ns alleged in the 
abovemcntioned document. 

-
\Vith the benefit of hindsight it is most unfortunate that; 

a) we had not seen this document prior to our earlier appearance. 

b) the author, Mr Hunt was not personally involved in the events which he alleges Touche 
Ross had an intimate involvement in, 

c) tv1r Hunt, even in the abovementioned circumstances, did not take the opportunity, (let 
alone give us the courtesy) of clarifying his erroneous allegations prior to their 
publication .in this document, which, it now seems, is a central piece of evidence before 
your commlttee. 

Now that the scheduled examination of witnesses has concluded. we were anxious to take this 
earliest opponunity to make you aware of our further serious concerns and seek your advice 
and assistance. 

Yours faithfully, 
KPMG Peat Marwick 

/ / , / 

-11 / ..: ~ - / -- -~ 
l 

P.A. DEWSBURY 
PARTNER 
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Mr Phil Dcwsbury / " . 
KPMG 
Chartered Accountants 
GPO Box 1616 
DAR WIN NT 0801 

Dear Mr Dewsbury, 

G;) 2 S·J r: · 
OAR '.'/ !~ t-.,. C2G' 

/§I1il:r? .;1 ' 
/:y'v,. --· S Dccc ITi bcr , 199! 

/

.,v..; ·_I ,, • ' ', -
, I I . I \ 

1---/ . ·, - \,_ \ 

\
' -;- ·: ' \ : . ' . \ 

l ·I • 

\ . ·, . /- //'! ) )- _i \ . o~c c ' 

DALV'/AY: PUilLIC ACCOUNTS COIVLvl!TTEE L'lQUIRY 

I note your concerns in relation to evidence presented to the Public Accounts 
Committee regarding the role of Touche Ross in the DJFM/Dalway saga. 

At this stage, the Committee has resolved to seek clarification of your concerns by 
way of a sworn written submission. 

With respect to the document prepared by David Hunt of the Department of 
Industries and Development, I suggest you make direct representation to that 
Department. 

However, you may be assured that the document at issue is not a central piece of 
evidence before the Commirtee. It is sirnpiy the Dcpartmen(s perspective of evenls 
that occurred leading up~and including the sale of Dalway Pty Ltd. ,, 

Yours sincerely, 



GEOFFREY DONALD FINCH 
EXTRACT FROM DIARY DURING THE PERIOD 2 JANUARY 1990 TO 30 MARCH 1990 --- - -
CLIENT: DARWIN JOINERY & FURNITURE MANUFACTURING PTY. LTD. 
DATE NARRATION HOURS 

3/ 01/90 Meeting at DID with Tony & John Pastrikos to discuss refinancing of 1.50 
group. 

6101190 Attending DJFM to discuss the General Manager'at contract & prepare 2.00 
model to ,alculate the effect of assets sales. 

8101/90 Reversal of 30/11/89 balance date adjustments, telephone T Pastrikos 1.20 
re: meeting 9/1 /90. telephone General Manager re: position. 

9/ 01/90 Meeting to review refinancing & sale of group assets. 1.60 
10/01/90 Telephone ANZ Bank re: Dec Nc's 0.20 
11/01/90 Telephone Tony Pastrikos & Charlie ANZ Bank re: Dec Nc's 0.30 
12J01/92 Preparation of Dec Nc's 5.00 
13101/90 Preparation of budget for Jan-June 90 with expected cash flow & 4.00 

financial position 
14/01/90 Preparation of proposal for increase in equity and alternatives which are 6.00 

available. discussion of financial position with management. 
15101/90 Meeting with ANZ to discuss Dec figures & present financial position, 7.50 

preparation of meeting with TIO & Fradkin re: current status of DJFM & 
action taken. 

16/01/90 Meeting with the Doctor. assisting in the preparation of a 5 year plan to 7.50 
determine the future viability and funding require for the survival of the 
business. Visit to Development House to view DJFM work. 

17/01/90 Meeting with OJF M to discuss 5 year plan & additional funding strategy 7.00 
with Barry Fradkin & company management. Draft report to obtain 
additional equity. Telephone John Na~r re: Fradkin visit. 

18/01/90 Draft report to obtain additional equity, discussion with prospective 5.50 
general manager. 

19/01/90 Complete draft of report, telephone to arrange meetings with ANZ & DID, 7.50 
telephone Esanda re: effect of Report, telephone re: payment of wages. 

20/01/90 Complete report for equity from the Government 3.50 
21/01/90 Collect cash flow & production reports for circulation to Financiers 1.00 
22101/90 Photocopy and delivery of the report to the Steering Committee 6.90 

members, review of Dec trading results, review of Fradkin report. 
preparation of notes for meeting with Barry slade, Geoff Masters ANZ 
Bank. meeting with DID re: DJFM request for funding. 

23/01/90 Meeting with ANZ Barry Slade, Geoff Masters re: present position of 2.10 
DJFM; review position of GDF to consent to act. 

24/01/90 Meeting with Steering Committee; meeting with general manager re: 3.50 
management controls etc. 

f(} I . 

---- ---··-- - ---- ~---- _____ .._ __ 

---- ----------· - - - ----- - ~ 

-- -- ----·-
COMMENTS 

Refinancing of Pastrikos Family investments requested by the Steering 
Committee at 14/12/89 me~ting . 

Assets sales reviewed consisted of Pastrikos Family properties. 

--
Assets sales reviewed consisted of Pastrikos F amili_Pro~rt i es 

Information prepared for the Steering Committee to monitor OJFM's 
performance during the next 6 m~nths . 

-- - - ----------

- --
Company Doctor - Fradkin 

This is the Report prepared for John Pastrikos dated 20/1190. 

This is the Report prepared for John Pastrikos dated 20/1/90. 

-
This is the Report prepared for John Pastrikos dated 20/1/90. 

----
This is the Report ~Eared for __ ~~-h!' Pastrikos ~~!e_-92_0}_1!~0 . _______ 

This Report is the monthly Steering Committee information package. 

:; 
0 -------o 

ANZ Bank were considering their future options including the o 
appointment of a Receiver & Manager. ,, ~ ~ 
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f GEOFFREY DONALD FINCH 
EXTRACT FROM DIARY DURING THE PERIOD 2 JANUARY 1990 TO 30 MARCH 1990 ---- --- -- -- - - -- - -- ~ - -

~UENT: DARWIN JOINERY & FURNITURE MANUFACTURING PTY. LTD. -- --·-------- ---

DATE NARRATION HOURS ----
COMMENTS 

- -

26'01/90 Financial model adjustments to Tony Watson DID 2.50 T Watson advised adjustments to the 5 year project iOns that were ente red 

... in the model to recalculate the profitability and funding requirements . 

. 
2102190 Telephone G Riley re general manager redundancy package; confirm 0.60 

with T Watson re : same 
6/U'2190 Preparation of Profit & Loss & Cash Flow for February 1990 to Dec 1990 3.20 D Edwards was managing OJFM and requested the DJFM financial 

based on information prepared by Dennis Edwar~s. model to calculated monthly trading projection and cash flow to Dec 90 
(T Watson was not p~esen!). 

7/U'2190 Preparation of amended cash flow projections eta for DID 3.00 T Watson advised adjustments to tt)e 5 year projections that were entered 
in the model to recalculate the profitability and funding requirements. 

·--------
9/02190 Telephone Tony Watson re : NT Govt Eroposal; telephone John Naylor 0.30 

--------- ---~ ---- ·-- - - --- ~ ------ - -

12102190 Draft alternatives available for payment of funds to creditors, discussion 4.50 T Watson requested advice of the alternatives available which ensured 

regarding action after commencement of business, a meeting DID and that additional funds provided would be used for their intended purpose, 
Mildrens (G James) and information concerning the requirements for commencement of a 

business. DID meeting with P Caldwell. - ------- ---------
14/02190 Ale for Jan 90 processing entry. 3.50 Preparation for next Steerin9_ Com~1ttee mee!i!ig . 
15/02190 Entries for Jan Ne, review expenditure & prepare correcting entries. 3.50 Preparati_on for next Steeri~g Committee me~~ng 
19/02190 Complete Jan 90 Ale's 1.20 Preparation for next Steering Committee meeting. -------------- -
20/02190 Telephone ANZ, Esanda re: meeting of Steering Committee; revise 3.20 A summary of OJFM assets and liabilities at 16/2190 was prepared by 

calculations on information as at 16/02190 for company, copy accounts TWatson on 20/2/90 and I was requested to update the 5 year projections 
for company. with this information. -------·--

21/02190 Meeting at DID to discuss contract and implications of the liquidation; 4.80 Meeting with T Watson. 
meeting with G James to discuss contract. 

22l02190 Draft consent to act; review of contract. 1.00 Consent to act as L~~~~tor of DJFM. 
·- --- -

23/02190 Draft notices re : sale of business. 1.50 --- -------------- -- ----- ··------
27/02190 Meeting to discuss matters relating to sale of business. 2 .00 Pre tiquic!_<!!~~~!!'a~~rs.:__ ----·----- ·- _____ 
6/03/90 Meeting to discuss purchase & sale of business at Mildrens office 3.00 Meeting requested by D Edwards, present G James. T Watson & D 

Edwards -
7103/90 Meeting at DID to discuss action prior to settlement for the restructuring 2.50 ---------

27/03/90 Discussion with TR & Co Adelaide re: tax position of winding up of trust; 1.70 
draft declaration of solvency & telephone Tony Pastrikos; telephone Guy 
Riley re: winding up; telephone TIO re: proxy for members meeting ----- ---· -- ... 

28/03/90 Obtaining signatures for Declaration of Solvency, lodging forms, 3.00 
arranging meeting of members, draft minutes, telephone creditor. 

-----·-

118.80 

fj )_ 



I 
GEOFFREY DONALD FINCH 
EXTRACT FROM DIARY DURING THE PERIOD 2 JANUARY 1990 TO 30 MARCH 1990 
CLIENT : DALLOWAY PTY. LTD. 
DATE NARRATION . HOURS 

9/03/90 Prepare cash flow to 31/12/90 & P&L statement 3.50 
~ 

1Q/03/90 Review list of plant & equipment at DJFM premises 4.00 
15/03/90 WIP stocktake 2.00 
16/03/92 Complete inventory cost of plant & e~Ement 1.50 
17/02190 Stocktake of timber; discussion with Pastrikos family re : tax loses in 2.00 

DJFM I 

19/03/90 Meeting with Tony Watson. Peter Caldwell, Denni~ Edwards to discuss 2.30 
the proposed agenda for the director's meeting 

20/03/90 Telephone Tony Watson re: addition~I entries for director's meeting 0.50 
-

21/03190 Meeting of Directors. taking minutes etc 8.50 
22103/90 Draft minuted of meeting of directors; telephone Tony Watson re: 5.40 

information for meeting; review schedule of assets. 
27103190 Telephone Tony Watson & Geoff James re: minutes & forms; telephone 0.90 

Dennis Edwards re: minutes & application of name etc. 
28/03/90 Filing change of Directors & registered office; discussion with Dennis 2.00 

Edwards 
29/03/90 Draft statutory notices for change of registered office; telephone Tony 0.80 

Watson re: shares held in trust. 

33.40 

-- ----- ----· 

- - ---·--- -----
------------

----·----
COMMENTS 

D Edwards requested the preparation of the trading projection and-cash 
flow to Dec 90. 

!denti!ication of DJF~ ~ss~!~ -~~~ -~fa!~~!_s~~~ t~ ga~~~~~y ~--~~-=-~~== 
Identification o~ DJ£.~ a~~!~~~~ ~~!~of ~al~~ga~~w~y ________ 
Identification of OJF~ asse!~ as a date of sale to Q~D~~ay ----·-----
Identification of DJFM assets as a date of sale to Oalloway 

. -

- - ----- - ---·- -
Attendance a m~£'.!ing t_<?. _ P~C! _ _Y.1_de_~~~~g~~~~~J~ ~~re~to!:; ?f _Dall<?w_ay __ 

-
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W 1.U LlLllC 1- lV~~ 
~his is t.he ANNEXURE marked E referred to 
in the Sworn Statement,.rf Philip ~snle1gh 
Dewsbury s~worn on ... (':/ ... dav of.~~~··.-:--:-19~ ..... 
before me. . . · -

G.L. MATIHEWS - . ~ ..•..... 

/ 
\ / 

~ 

30 Ma=ch 1990 

The Secre~.a~y 

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS 
35 VRD DRIVE 

WOODLEIGH GARDENS NT 
PH:277829 

The Depa_·"-trrent of I.r1dusL1" & IP-~lelopnent 
G?J Eox 4160 
DARWTI~ HT 8801 

Atte..~tion Mr P cald-.-P-11 

INVOICE NO. 

Attending to all rna~ters in respect of providing 
financial advisory services; including prep3.Iation 
of revised. cash flCMT a.rid p:::-ofit projections to 
31.12. 90; revi~ list of plant and equipnent, 
~ .... ,.....,__,_ • ...---".r .; ~ r.~C"s .c.;..., i shor1 s+-,.....,,-'\r and f"'V'"'\nduct 
...;l_..._,..__~. ~"'··· ~. ~.J...~..:..~ : ~ ....... ._. • .....,........ t--\...,1\....;. \w4..I 

physical inspect.ion prior to the acquisition of 
the rosiness fran Darwin Joinery & F\mliture 
Manufacturing Pty Limited.; attending ~ting at 
DID to discuss rreeting of Di.rectors; attending 
Directors ~ting and prepllation at nunutes; 
attending to statutory matters relating to change 
of registered off ice, change of 
directors/ secreta_ry, proposed change of narre. 

To Dishlrserrents 
Registration of Ccnpany Narre 
Travelling 
Photocopying and Fax 

OUR FEE 

$ 10.00 
14.80 
21.00 

PAYMENT IS NETT 30 DAYS ON INVOICE 
STATEMENTS WILL NOT BE ISSUED 

Touche Ross Services Pty . L1m1led 
~P8 2~:: 4~4~ 
Darwin NI 0801 

7914 

$5481.00 

45.80 

$5526.80 
--------------

a Touche Ross . 

N 1mr ;a PtY ·Li.mi ted. ............ ....... .... -......... .......... - ...... ·-·--·---·············-···--·······-·-··-······-···· 
Dal.left.I Y - _ Inv No .7 914 ................................ . 

Date 30. 03. 90 .. .. . .. . . . Rel 0075 .. ... .. ··················· 
Amount $5526. 80·····-········-··· 
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APPENDIX 2 - UST OF WITNESSES 

27/8/92 Mr Jeff Blake Territory c.abinets 

27/8/92 Mr Allan Garraway Professional Adviser to 
Territory c.abinets 

27/8/92 Hon Fred Finch MI.A Minister for Transport & 
Works 

28/8/92 Ex-Jaguar Joinery 

2/9/92 Mr A Geoff James Legal Practitioner/Director of 
Dalway 

2/9/92 Mr Adam Gordon Consultant for Desliens 

7/9/92 Mr Steve Margetic Director of Dalway 

7/9/92 Mr John Pamikos OwnerofDJFM/Directorof 
Dalway 

8/9/92 Mr Adam Gordon Supra 

8/9/92 Mr Steve Margetic Supra 

8/9/92 Mr John Pamikos Supra 

9/9/92 Mr Tony CahilJ Accountant to Dalway 

9/9/92 Mr Tony Pamikos Accountant to Dalway 

19/10/92 Mr Jack Linton Project Coordinator, Tipperary 
Developments 

19/10/92 Mr John Briers Manager, Multiplex Pty Ltd 

19/10/92 Mr Richard Galton Transport & Works 

20/10/92 Mr Ron Findlay Chief Archit~ State Square 
Project 

20/10/92 Mr Peter McGuin Transport & Works 

20/10/92 Mr Mal Sciacca Aa;ountant to DJFM 
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20/10/92 

20/10/92 

20/10/92 

21/10/92 

21/10/92 

21/10/92 

22/10/92 

22/10/92 

22/10/92 

22/10/92 

27/10/92 

27/10/92 

27/10/92 

28/10/92 

28/10/92 

29/10/92 

29/10/92 

29/10/92 

29/10/92 

30/10/92 

Mr Warren Day 

Mr Perry Miller 

Mr Villy 0 lsen 

Mr Warren Day 

Mr Geoff Bre-wster 

Mr Tony Watson 

Mr David McDougal 

Mr Otto Alder 

Mr Wayne Bastion 

Mr Peter Caldwell 

Mr David MacDougall 

Mr Barry Fradkin 

Mr Jim Bell 

Mr Jim Bell 

Mr Phil Dewsbury 
Mr Geoff Finch 

Mr S R Glvanagh 

Mr Graham Lu~ 

Mr Alan Sprigg 

Mr Mick Palmer 
Mr Robyn Chalker 
Cdr Terry O'Brien 
Sgt Matt Sodoli 

Mr David Hunt 

218 

Ex Department of Law 

Kitchen Ware house 

Danska Cabinets 

Supra 

ANZ Olpel C:Ourt 

ExDID 

ANZ Olpel C:Ourt 

ExDID 

Ernst & Young 

ExDID 

Supra 

Director, Dalway 

Director/General Manager, 
Dalway 

Supra 

Touche R~ 
Touche R~ 

DID 

DID 

DID 

Police C:Ommi~ioner 
Assistant C:Ommi~ioner 
NT Police 
NT Police 

DID 



30/10/92 Mr Neil Almond DID 

4/11/92 Mr Phil Temple CEO, TIO 
Mr John Nayler General Manager, Finance, 

TIO 

4/11/92 Mr Phil Temple Supra 
Mr John Nayler Supra 

5/11/92 Mr Phil Temple Supra 
Mr John Nayler Supra 

9/11/92 Mr Peter Caldwell ExDID 

9/11/92 Mr Colin James Ernst & Young 

9/11/92 Mr Leo Venturin Director CFM 

9/11/92 Mr Lyal Mackintosh Secretary, Department of 
Industries & Development 

10/11/92 Mr Terry Maddox Tipperary Developments 

11/11/92 Mr Tony Watson Supra 

11/11/92 Hon Fred Finch MI.A Supra 

11111192 Minister for Lands & Housing 

12/11/92 Hon Steve Hatton MI.A Minister for Industries & 
Development 

12/11/92 Hon Marshall Perron MI.A Chief Minister 

13/11/92 Hon Barry Coulter MI.A Deputy Chief Minister and 
Treasurer 
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LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF THE NORTHERN TERRITORY 

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE 

INQUIRY INTO DALWAY PTY LTD 

The N.T. Public Accoun~ Committee is currently conducting an inquiry into two 
matters referred to it by the Chief Minister, being: 

1. The trading operations of Dalway Pty Ltd and specifically 

(a) the reasons for its continuing losses during the period or 
Government ownership; 

(b) the write down of the value of the assets from the time of 
purchase to the time of sale. 

APPENDIX 3.1 

2. Whether the sale of Dalway Pty Ltd was conducted in an appropriate 
manner and in a manner which ensured the maximum amount of 
money was returned to the public account. 

Persons or organisations who wish to make a submission or who believe they may 
have any relevant information should contact: 

The Secretary 
Public Accounts Committee 
GP 0 Box 3721 
DARWIN NT 0801 

Phone: (089) 461 427 or 461 459 
Fax: (089) 812 528 

by Friday 7 August, 1992. 

MICK PALMER 
Chairman 

The Public Accounts Com.mince is authorised by the Legislative ~mbly to. conduct in~cs ~to any 
· · · f ts and ,..~nditurc of public morucs on 

matters referred to it which could affect the keeping o accoun --r-

behalf of the Northern Territory Government. 
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To appear in the NT News: 

Sat 22nd August s 
sun. 23rd August 
Mon. 24th August 
Tues. 25th August1 
Wed. 16th August~ 

Order No. 167783 - C\e-~s,\,e~ S 

I(., 1 ~O""- - S Q~.D r~\ 
INQUIRY INTO 

DALWAY P1Y LTD 

As pan of its inquiry into Dalway Pty Ltd. the 
Public Accounts C.Om.mittcc will be holding 
Public Hearings on Thursday, 27th August 
and Friday, 28th August 1.992 to take evidenre 
into the trading operations of Dalway Pty Ltd 
and specifically 

(a) the reasons for its continuing losses 
during the period of Government 
ownership; 

(b) the write down of the value of the assets 
from the time of purchase to the time of 
sale; and 

whether the sale of Dah\·ay Pty Ltd was 
conducted in an appropriate manner and in a 
manner which ensured the maximum amount 
of money was returned to the public account. 

The Hearings arc open to the public and 'Will 
be held in the Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
Qian Building commencing at 10.00 a.m. 

Persons whing to give evidence should 
contact the Committee Secretary, Ms Sue Lee 
at: 

GPO Box 3721 
DARWIN NT 0801 

Tel: (089) 461459 
Fax: (089) 816 158 

Further information can be obtained as above. 

MICK PALMER, MLA 
Chairman 
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APPENDIX 3.3 

I ' 

NORTHERN TERRITORY OF AUSTRALIA 

DEPARTMENT OF LAW 

our Ref: A9107046 

Telephone: (089) 89-7030 

17 August 1992 

Mr Mick Palmer MLA 
Chairman 
Public Accounts Committee 
Legislative Assembly of the NT 
GPO Box 3721 
DARWIN NT 0801 

Dear Mr Palmer 

I refer to your request for leg~l advice dated 13 August 1992, 
in which you .ask five queBtions . 

I advise as follows: 

1 . Natural Justice 

The Committee is not bound by the rules of natural 
justice. 

The requirements of natural j'J~tice involve two elements: a 
fair hearing and impartin l j ty ( o~· the rule against bias). 
Exactly what fulfils these requir~ments varies from case to 
case. 

In respect of the fair h 0 ~t·)n<1 obligation, this would 
involve -

an outline or subst~nr:~ of the information or 
statement on which th<..! decision i _s proposed to be 
based {in partj cular, ~tate1;1ents that are adverse to 
any witness); 

an opportunity to comment on the information or 
statements, and to present the witness' case. 

This js an appropria1:e prcc~dure to accord natural justice. 

The remedy for failing to accord natural justice to 
witnesses is political. It may bring the Committee into 
public disrepute or may lend to action by Parliament. 
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may Choose to accord 
The Committee 
determines to be natural justice, as 

witnesses what it 
the immediate case 

before it requires. 

Natural justice does not require 
legal representation. 

an automatic right to 

(a) · Legal counsel 

It is well established that counsel may be present at 
a hearing conducted by a committee of Parliament. In 
the senate, for example, a witness may consult c~un~el 
concerning his legal rights only with the permission 
of the Committee Chairman: see Odgers at 501. 

A procedure or guideline enabli_ng the Committee to 
permit or deny legal representation - as in House of 
Representative Procedure (12); Senate Resolution (14); 
and PAC Draft Guideline (16) is within the 
prerogative of the Committee. 

• 
(b) Exercising the __ 9i§c_retion tc ___ perm:l~-~al counsel to 

be present 

Procedure {al_L~~g~_l of you% _letterl 

This rule indicates that witnesses will be permitted 
legal counsel on request. This is a decision for the 
Committee. It is an appropriate ru 1 e for the 
Commi tte·· ~ to adopt. 

( c) The scope of leqa!__ ~ .ounsel 

The position ::ldoptt>rl hy t-.he Senate 
Securities and Exc-h~ng~ j ~ ~ummrtri sed 
t yp i c a 1 of Sen ate pr r' r t-. i. r:: ~ . 

Committee 
below and 

on 
is 

Since th~ Committee c-0mm~nct?d public hearings in July 
1970, it afforded wit-n~s~es the right to have counsel 
present to advise thPm . It readily granted 
adjournments tc1 wi t.n~~~t>~ ~0 that they could seek 
legal advice should tht> --011r~e of the inquj ry cause 
the witn~ss to wish j+:. . 

However, couns~~l wa~ net t>ermi tted to examine the 
witness for whom he was acting nor to examine or 
cross-examine other witnesses. He was not permitted 
to give advice during the hearing unless the witness 
sought that advice after making application to the 
Chairman. The Committee €mphasized, however, that 
counsel was not permitted to give evidence on behalf 
of the witness. Counsel's role was the ref ore that of 
adviser nnd he could be cal 1 ed upon by the witness. 
He could not of his own motion object to questions on 
behalf of the witne~s. 

See Commonwealt1 Parliamentary Paper No. 168 (1972) 
Parliamentary Committees: Pnwers Over and Protection 
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Afforded to Witnesses, at 20-21 (hereafter 
"Commonwealth Report"). 

Accordingly, the following statement should be read 
out or handed to witnesses: 

( 1) 

( 2) 

( 3) 

(4) 

A witness at a Cammi ttee hearing may, with the 
approval of the Chairman/Committee, be 
accompanied by his own counsel for the purpose of 
advising him as to his rights. We share the 
view, often expressed, that it is undesirable for 
witnP-sses to have the right to cross-examine 
other witnesses either themselves or through 
their counsel. As a general rule we think this 
would unnecessarily prolong investigations and 
would tend to formalise them. 

On some occasions th~ witness is in a position 
where he is, in n sense, on trial, e.g. a charge 
of contempt. On these and perhaps other limited 
occasions, there may be good reason for the 
Committee allowing counsel for a witness to 
cross-examine other witnesses. The occasion for 
al lowing cross-examination is, therefore, as we 
see it, a rnatt~r for the Chairman in the light of 
the particular ci rcumst=3nces. It should not be 
assumed, however, that cross-examination wi 11 be 
automatically allowed. 

As a general rule, provided he shows due respect 
to the Committee and is restrained and proper in 
his interventions, counsel may interrupt the 
testimony of his client for the purpose of 
advising l!im. Co11n~~1 shouJd not, of course, 
attempt to give the '?.Vidence for his client or 
tell the witne~~ wh~t to say. The advice he 
gives must be r.~J evAnt to the answer which the 
witness is ahottt t .0 gJ ':"f' . 

If an objection is t~lr~n, it may save time for 
the Committee to ~djo1Jr'1 so that the Chairman can 
discuss it with r'"'nn~Pl or. the Chairman might 
invite counsel t-.n d€> ' '~lop, shortly, the point 
involved. r;~np~·~lly speaking, however, we 
envisage that counsel's role will be confined to 
that of adviser t:0 his client. 

Procedures W_ and_l~) 

These 
Rules 
rules. 

rules are appropriate, b~t perhaps too general. 
(3) d (4) bovo should supplement these ( 1 ) , ( 2 ) , an a -

Procedure (e) 

This is an appropriate rule. 
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2. The Protection of Witnesse~ 

Parliamentary privilege relates to the special rights and 
immunities which belong to the Parliament, its· Members and 
others, which are considered essential for the operation of 
the Parliament. These rights and immunities allow the 
Parliament to meet and carry out its proper constitutional 
role, for Members to discharge their responsibilities to 
their constituents and for others properly involved in the 
parliamentary process to carry out their duties and 
responsibilities without obstruction or fear of prosecution. 

(a) Scope of statutory pr_o.t~~~ion 

Nothing a witness says in evidence before the 
Conunittee can be used against him or her in any 
subsequent criminal or civil proceeding. 

All witnesses cippearing before a committee enjoy all 
the privileges of Parliament: section 5 Legislative 
Assembly (Fowert; and Privileges) Act: 

" ( 1) There h 11 b f d f h d b t d s a e .re~ om o speec , e a es an 
proceedings in the Assembly and that freedom 
shall not be imp~ached or questioned in any court 
or place outside the As~embly. 

"(2) Neither a member nor any other person is liable 
in any action, suit or other legal proceeding 
(whether civil or criminal), for or in respect 
of any statement made or act done in the course 
of .the conduct of the business of the Assembly 
during a meeting of the Assembly or by or on 
beh~lf of 0r wi t-h th~ ~uthori ty of th~ Assembly 
or l .n the cours~ of the conduct of the business 
of a committeP rl111-ing a meeting of that 
committee or by or ':ff1 behn 1 f of or with the 
authorj ty of a r.nmmi tt~P. '' 

Standing Order 790 cnnfi l'm~ t·his position. 

The "course of the r.nnrinr.i: of the business of a 
committee" may b~ tc:lk~n t-_r, irir:lude: 

the givin~ of ~vid~nc~ befor~ Parliament 
committee, and e"/j denc~ so given; or a 

the presentation or submission of a document to 
Parliament or a ~ommitt~e; 

the preparation of a dc~cument for . . purposes of or 
incidental to the transacting f 
business; and o any such 

the formulation, makifja or 
document, inclurUng a report, 
an order of the Assemb :1. y or a 
document so formuJated, 'llade or 

publication of a 
by or pursuant to 
cornrni ttee and the 
published. 
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See Erskine May at 689 . 

Insofar as this privilege exceeds that of the House of 
Representatives and its committees, it will to that 
extent at least be invalid (Northern Territory 
(Self-Government) Act 1978, section 12). The 
privileges relevant to the House of Representatives 
and its comrni ttees are set out in the Par 1 iamentary 
Privileges Act 1987. 

(b) Scope of common law protectio~ 

The statutory protection is ~onsistent with the common 
law position: R v Wainscot ( 1899) 1 WALR 77; Goff in 
v Donnelly (1881) 50 LJQB 303 at 305; Gatley on Libel 
and Slander (8 ed) para 425; Holding v Jennings 
(1979] VF. 289; f\BC_v __ ~hat~e_rton (1986) 46 SASR 1 at 
18. 

The privilege of freedom of speech includes: 

immunity of Members fr~>m legal proceedings for 
anything said by th~m in the course of 
parliamentary j:'roi:-~edings (e.g. an action for 
defamation); 

immunity c·f parli a.mentary witnesses from being 
questioned or impeached for evidence given before 
the Assembly or its Committees. 

This privilege is di~cussed in Erskine May at 84-94 
and Browning at 688-6~0. 

Section 21 of the Leg isl at it'e Assembly (Powers and 
Privileges) Act provides that where a witness 
appears n 11rsuan1: to a ~ummon~; issued under section 19, 
he/she "may not be c:omp~l Jed to answer a question 
except f by] leav~ nf the Chairman of the 
Committee". 

Section 22(2) provides that a witness who appears 
pursuant to a E.ection 19 summons may refuse to answer 
a question if the answer -

( a ) would tend to jncriminate him of an offence 
against a law of the Commonwealth or of a State 
or Terri to1·y; or 

(b) was irrelE~vant t.o the matter into which the 
Assembly was inquiri~g or into which th~ 

'tt ,.. ~i1t.hori~~t:?d by the Assembly to comm1 ee wa;""'I ,.... 
inquire. 

It is clear that this provision di~places the common 
law (see below) in rt:?spect of a w1 tness who appears 
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to a section 19 sununons. The position 
in answer h The Act has created a might be summarised t us: 
privilege that does not exist at commonThla~ f.or a 
certain class of witness but not others .. ' e. as1 s of 
the distinction would seem arbitrary and illogical. 

w~ 
· In four cases: Sor by v Commonweal th ( 1983) 152 CLR 
281; Pyneboard v TPC ( 1983) 152 CLR 328; Controlled 
Consultants Pty Ltd v CSSR for Corporate Affairs 
(1984) 156 CLR 385; Corporate Affairs Commission v 
Yuill (1991) 172 CLR 319, the following issue was 
considered by the High Court of Australia. 

The question was whether a statute had removed the 
common law privilege against self-incrimination that 
applied to a statutory (non-parliamentary) inquiry. 
The courts said that in deciding whether the common 
law privilege was eJ:cluded, one had to look at the 
language and purpo~e of the sections: Pyneboard at 
341. 

Using these cas~s, one could argue that the purpose of 
sections 21 and 22 is to take away the common law 
obligation to answer g~J1~rally, not just for 
witnesses who ar·e summoned . 

My view is that this argument will fail as a matter 
of law. I consider section:; 21 and 22 will be held 
to mean what they say, that is, that only a summoned 
witness has thf• statutory pr0tection even though the 
distinction m~y be ~l~~~Prl ~~ nrbitrary or illogical. 

If errors are found in l~gislation, they must be 
corrected by Farliament. Jt is not the function of 
the courts to correct th~m: Bristol Guardians v 
Bristol Waterworks Cn r1914l AC 379 at 388. Thus, 
while terms can be :introduct::d into a statute to give 
effect -:0 its cl~~r jnt~ntion by remedying mere 
defects of lan9uage ~nd to rectify obvious misprints 
(R v Wilcock (1845) 7 QB 317) or misdescriptions 
(Oxford University (Chr111celloi-, Masters and 
Scholars) Case (1613) 10 Co Rep 53b at 57b), no 
provision which is not in th~ statut·e can otherwise be 
implied to remedy an omission, even if it is evidently 
unintentional: Gladstone t• Bower (1960] 2 QB 384 
at 396. 

Having concluded that, as a matter of law, voluntary 
witnesses enjoy no pri vi 1 ege against self­
incrimi nation, it then becomes a policy decision for 
the Committee to decide whether, as a matter of 
Qr~c~ice, it would allow voluntary witnesses the 
pr1v1lege against self-incrimJ.nation. 

Clearly, a refusal to allow the privilege will attract 
adverse comment· The questj on for the Committee is -
In all the circumstances, does it think it a fair 
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thing to re~use the pri vi l~ge? My opinion on this 
question is irrelevant to the Committee's decision. 

Common law 

It would seem that a person who appears voluntarily 
before the Committee would be subject to the more 
onerous common law provisions. 

A witness must answer all questions relevant to the 
Committee's terms of inquiry or reference. The 
following extract from Erskine May, at 680, indicates 
the position: 

"A witness is bound to answer all questions 
whi~h the committee sees fit to put him, and 
cannot excuse himself, for example, on the ground 
that he may thereby subject himself to a civil 
action, or because he has taken an oath not to 
disclose the matter about which he is required to 
testify, or becnuse the matter was a privileged 
communicatjon to him, as where a solicitor is 
called upon to disclose the secrets of his 
client, or on the ground that he is advised by 
counsel that he cannot do so without incurring 
the risk of incrim]nating himself or exposing 
himself to a civil suit, or that it would 
prejudice him as defendant in litigation which is 
pending, some of which would be sufficient 
grounds of excuse in a court of law .. . 

"How~ver, a witness who is unwilling to 
answer a question, aft~r stating why he desires 
to be excused fl·om ~n~'~'ering, may appeal to the 
Chair whether in t11~ r~ircumstances, or for the 
reason stai:ed by hj m, h'7· ought to answer. He may 
also requE~st that th~1 whole or part of his 
evidence should not b~ p'..tbli shed ... 

d if "If a que!;tion should be objecte to, or 
any difference ~hould arise in .regard to the 
examination of~ wjt.ness, that witness is 
directed t ·y thP r:h~ j rm Rn to withdraw, and the 
committee pror.eed~ to c-0n~ider . the matter. When 
the committee has com~ to a decision the witness 
is again called in, rtnr:l the examination proceeds." 

If the Committee seeks to prPss the issue, the witness 
must answer or face the possibility of contempt 
proceedings: Commonw~~ l th F.eport, para 78-80: see 

Appendix A. 

Comment on Stan~iJ_!lg_ 9r_der _ l 

In the absenc~ of an order or practice of 
Legislative As~embly, the Committee is requ~red 
follow the practice of the Hc" .. tse of Representatives. 

the 
to 
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d es not prevent the 
This Standing Order' of course' o 
Assembly adopting an order or. practice contrary to 
that of the House of Representatives. 

3. Protection of Committee Me$ers 

4. 

· 1 di"fference in the protection afforded There is no materia 
·tt and w1·tnesses before committees. members of commi ees 

Deficiencies in Protection _?_f_~_i t?1-esses(Members 

I am unable to identify any major 
of protection. However, it 
Parliaments in Australia take the 
waive the privilege that h~s 
witnesses. 

deficiencies in the level 
should be noted that 
view that Parliament can 
attached to members or 

The Commonwealth Report, states, ~t paragraph 27: 

"It has already been indicated that evidence g~ven 
by a witness before 8 committee cannot be u~ed a?a1nst 
him in subsequ~nt proceedings. Clearly his evidence 
could not, without the consent of the House before 
whose committee· it was given, be used against him 
in subsequent ci vi 1 or crirrd nal proceedings to prove 
the commission of a crim~ or a civil wrong. There 
seems no reason to doubt that on the same basis it 
could not be used to prove an admission by him to 
challenge his credit or to rebut denials in .·cross­
examination." 

5. Questioning of Witne~s~s 

It 1s clear that th~ L~ai.s]::iti·,;- p Assembly h~s power, by 
reference to the P')Wers nf t-. 11~ House of Representatives 
(Legislative Assemhly (F0k'erE" and Privileges) Act, 
section 4(1)) to protect witn~s~~s appearing before the 
Assembly or a committee of thA A~s~mbly. 

Any act which operat~s to th~ ~is~dvantage of a witness who 
has ~o appeared, being act .ion t-r1l:en on account of evidence 
given by that witness, wjJJ he~ hreach of privilege. This 
could include violence or t}·q - ~C1ts of violence or other 
punitive action or the bringinq (")f legal proceedings. 

The questioning of a witne~s by the media would not 
necessarily constitute s 1.t(:h a breach unless it was of such 
a nature and degree to constitute a significant 
disadvantage to the Nitness . If the questioning took place 
within the precincts of the A~sembly, then providing the 
questioner had legal authority to be present within those 
precincts, the position wnuld be the same. 

A person may be askE~ d a qu~stion about his/ber evidence to 
the .co~mittee and may respond. Such questioning is 
perm1~s1ble. The only limit is where the questioning 
const1 tutes a contempt of the As5embly under section 9 of 
the Legislative Assembly (Powers and Privileges) Act. 



Yours sincerely 

STEPHEN HERNE 
A/ASSISTANT SECRETARY 
EXECUTIVE AND POLICY 

SH42 
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2. 3 

104/5 

104/6 

2. 4 

104/7 

ITEM 3 

APPENDIX 3.4 

TiO TERRITORY INSURANCE OFFICE 

MINUTE PAPER 

c: . 1 ~pec1a Boarc ~eetinc held on 7th Apri_ 1988 

:~e Board conf irmec the ~inutes subject to 
c~anging the last parasraph to read as follows -

Accordinsly, the Board had no option but to 
allow the programme to proceed but, because 
the Boa rd' s position had been compromised, it 
could not retrospectively endorse 
management's action. 

These r~inutes WP.re then confirmec as amended. 

102nc Board Meeting helc on 25th/26th February 
1982 

The Board RESOLVED 
additional Minute, 
this meeting -

to include the following 
which had been omit tea, for 

The Board RESOLVED that TIO would regard its 
loan to Hunger fords in the nature of 
subordinate loan capital until further 
notice. TIO will maintain an ongoing 
interest calculation in its books (currently 
10% p.a.) accrued but not due item. TIO will 
not expect cash payments unless at some time 
in the future, depending upon the success of 
the company, TIO exercises its option to call 
up either the interest or the loan plus 
outstanding interest if it so desires. TIO 
also has the right to convert these amounts 
to eauity capital. 

ACTION LIST 

104/8 - - The Board noted the Action List and requested 
the following item be added -

3(a)l 

104/9 

104/10 

104/11 

N.T. House - Entry Design 101/30 June 1988 

Local Investment Policy 

The Board again considered the discussion paper 
distributed as Agenda Item No. 7.1 at the 
February 1988 Meeting. The following 
resolutions were then taken -

( a ) 

( b) 

Investment in this area would be limited to 
7.5% of TIO's total investment portfolio. 

The maximum amount for any o~e investme~t 
be limited to $lm with a proviso that this 
may be increased in special cases. 

- 2 -



104/12 

104/13 

104/14 

104/15 

104/16 

104/17 

104/18 

104/19 

104/20 

104/21 

TiO TERRITORY INSURANCE OFFICE 

MINUTE PAPER 

( c) Involvement to be on the basis of a 
minority shareholder. 

( c) 

( e ) 

Board representation: TIC would normally 
reauire representation on Boards on the 
basis of i:s share of eauity in the company. 

Expected return: As a general target to be 
the hond rate plus 3% to be achieved in 

three years. 

( f) Preferred industries: These would be N.T. 
industries with gooc prospects and which do 
not represent an unacceptable compounding 
of risk for the TIO in the event of a major 
cyclone or other disaster. 

{g) Gearing Ratio: Should be in line with the 
industry standard after equity 
participation. 

{h) Management: TIO must be satisfied that the 
management of the company is qualified, 
experienced and reputable and is generally 
competent to manage the business profitably 
and in compliance with the company's code. 

{i) Business Plan and P. & L. Projections: TIO 
will reauire a detailed Business Plan and 
P. & L. Projections for at least a five 
year period. Both the Plan and Projections 
~ust be supportable by reference to past 
results of the applicant company, other 
companies or by market surveys, or 
statistical analysis of official or 
otherwise verifiable data. 

( j) Past Results: Trading, P. & L. and Balance 
Sheet data for the last three years must be 
provided, pref er ably audited. An audit of 
the company's books may, in any case, be 
required. 

(k) Company Accounts & Financial Controls: The 
audit will be used to assess the adequacy 
of the company's accounting system and its 
financial controls. Changes to these may 
be required as a condition for TIO eouity. 

(1) Labour & Other Resources: A satisfactory 
labour supply, both as to auantity and 
ouality, and the availability of other 
necessary resources will need to be 
demonstrated. 

- j 
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104/22 

ITEM 4 

ITEM 5 

5.1 

104/23 

5.2 

104/24 

5.3 

104/25 

5.4 

104/26 

104/27 

104/28 

104/29 

5.5 

104/30 

TiO TERRITORY INSURANCE O~FICE 

( m) 

BOARD 

Nil 

MINUTE PAPER 

Genuine N ~ c .~. ompanies: Applicant 
cor.ipanies roust be able to show that they 
are genuine N.T. companies, registered in 
the N.T. and controlled in the N.T. 
Companies with operations interstate must 
show that these are controlled from the 
N.T. and not vice versa. 

PERFORMANCE REPORTS 

Overview - TIO Operations Summary March 1988 

The Board noted this report and the Deputy 
General Manager's and General Manager's co~ments 
re profitability trends. 

Individual Classes/Budget/Previous Year 

The Board noted this report. 

General Insurance Profitability Report 

The Board noted this report together with the 
General Manager's comments regarding an emerging 
profit in Motor .. but potential downward 
vulnerability in Workers Compensation. 

Motor Class Performance Report 

The Board noted the .improved performance of this 
class of business and the continuing initiatives 
of management to further improve profitability. 

With regard to the relatively high lapse rates, 
the Board asked if a schedule of characteristics 
of the types/categories of lapses could be 
conducted to see if a particular trend emerged. 

The Board RESOLVED that management review Motor 
Vehicle premiums quarterly but that 
implementation of the quarterly increases be a 
decision of management in the future in light of 
market conditions and that the Board be informed 
of the actions taken frorn time to time. 

The Board again stressed that the primary 
concern must be profitability. 

R/I Problem Schedule 

Noted. 

- 4 -
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APPENDIX 3.6 

I 
s·JMMARY 

• 

DJFM will not su=vive, even in the short term, unless 
additional funding is provided. 

Cash will be exhaus~ed by early Februar£~~@TIJJ~'1J~ 
Financial projections indicate that the business can be 

~t~;~ in the long term subject to cer~i@sm~ITuurara 

The key risk areas are: 

sales projection/mix not achieve@ 

productivity :;::roblems result in g~o~~~~ill~JJ~ 
margins below budget 

recruitment pla~ not achieved (management problems 
not overcome) 

key people resign 

overhead blow out (unlikely) 

timing - can e==~ciencies be achieved before the 
money runs out.. 

Debt foregiveness ~y DID/TIO could not be supported, 
there are no debt se=vicing costs (in the short ter.m) on 
this debt. 

The only reason why the Pastrikos family should forgive 
its loan to DJFM is to improve the quality of DJFM's 
balance sheet with a view to attracting additional 
private equity - a~ unlikely situation. 

Request made of the TIO to commit now that it will 
convert $2M of its convertible notes in 1992 is 
unreasonable. 

The Pastrikos family must sell its property portfolio 
quickly to liquidate its debt (S2M) to the ANZ - the 
family has been hedging on this. 

A formal Board needs to be established. 

The Pastrikos family will need to pass.managemen~ 
authority to the General Manager (within strategies/ 
parameters approved by the Board). 

Funding request of $1.SM, if agreed to, would need to be 
arranged on non-cormnercial terms: 

it would be unsecured 

no return at least until l~te 1992. 

tw019013 



( ..__, .._... - - - -

Because of the non-commercial nature of the proposed 
additional funding, it would seem inappropriate to have 
this advanced by the TIO (SL SM would r~~~1l~ ~t?X~~~('"C2 
1.5% of TIO's assets). B-~"\::::::J~~ 0 u'V u QJ 

Attraction of an additional equity partner in the short 
term would seem unlikely. fT0GMWTI'1f'1fJ ~'~ 
If it were agreed that the additional ~~~v~ ~~ 
provided, then the preferred mehtod of doing so would be 
as a straight forward loan with a fourth change taken 
over the assets of DJFM (for appearan'TI!j@~DJJ~IB~'1J~ 

Unfortunately time has not enabled more sophisticated 
funding techniques to be explored/discussed with the TIO. 

Money alone will not cor=ect the problems of DJFM - all 
it will do is provide some time for management and 
advisors to address the underlying problems. 

With the losses historically running at the rate of 
S200,000 pm, Sl.SM does not buy very much time . , 
particularly when several people need to be recruited 
for key positions. 

tw019013 
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APPENDIX 3.6 

DARWIN JOINERY & F'URNITURE ~ACTUR~mcn~ 

Employees -

STAKEHOLDERS AS AT 31.12.89 

70+. people includin~~~@fil}?Jlf ~ 
hol~day pay/L.S.L. approx. Sl90,000 
(preferred creditors) 

Trade Creditors - $495,000 ~®~~Dlrlf]]J] 
TIO 

ANZ 

Esanda 

S2.8M debt outstanding 
specialised secur· 
S3.4) plus mortga 
value also lirnite~~~ 
security taken by ANZ. 

against 
o truction cost 

'rt~ .......... '-'11.....1...Jm~crr~ 

$0.3M debt against third charge security 
with DID/ANZ. 

$2.0M debt to Pastrikos family against 
property portfolio with approximately 
M.V. of $2.7M maximum (not family homes) 

SO.SM debt to DJFM against second charge 
security after TIO 

S6SO,OOO debt to old Darwin Joinery/KP 
Bu~lders (Security unknown) 

third charge security with TIO/DID 
covering overdraft excess. 

leasing of Sl.lM against machinery and 
second charge over Pastrikos real estate 
portfolio. 

Pastrikos Family S2M debt to ANZ {of which $1.SM 
on lent to DJFM) 

D I D 

personal guarantees to ANZ and 
Esanda 

$800,000 assets transferred 
from the old business to DJFM 

$650,000 debt to ANZ ~ia old 
Darwin Joinery/K P Builders 

s200 ooo debt to DJFM secured by third 
charge security with TIO/ANZ 

Other preferred creditors 
Taxation Department 
$130,000 

tw019013 
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APPENDIX 3.7 

---
CARWIN JOINERY & FURN!TUR!: MANUFAC'!'I:PWill ~TB~ 

b I11J~ 
DARW!N JOINERY & FURNITURE MANUFACTUF.!NG UNIT TRUST 

A. 

1 . 

2. 

3 • 

4 . 

5. 

INVESTMENT 

The ~overr.ment to tak~ suchlTi\~~~W~~~~ 
(equity and/or debt) in the!Jt6~~laSi~~ ~ ~ 
as to be i~ a position to control the business as 
share/uni~ holders and through the Board. 

The Pastr~kos :amily to have :irst =ight o: 
refusal ~o buy back the Government's interest in 
the business up until 30.6.92. 

Shou~d the Gcvernment choose to transfer any of 
its interest in the business-to a third party 
prior to 30.6.S~, it will not transfer e:fective 
cont=ol to the tbird party wi~hout the conser.t cf 

h p ... k - · 1 . ~.e _as~ri.os :ami y in~erest. 

After 30.6.92 ~he Government will be empowe=ed to \... . . , d. 
transfer its i~terest in t~e -usiness, inc-u ing 
control, to a~y party. 

After 30.6.92, the Gover!'lme~t is to receive a 
premium return on its inves~~ent in the business 
above that to be received by the Pastrikos family 
and any other investors until such time as the 
Government's interest is taken cut in full by the 
Pastrikos family or a third party. 



B. 

1 . 

THE COMP.A...~Y - D~FM 

Conditions orecedent of the Gove~~1 82~~~t 
will be that the Company provide dcct:Jnentation ~o 

~~~f ~~~~~~~ent from the rt~Z ~~~~nTill~L!~ 
~hat any past events of default in respect c: 
facilities provided by the ANZ and Esanda to 

the Company will be fo~?l'f1MMf7~L! 

'!'hat the ANZ will convert~~v'2o~tj..!J mm 
existing overdra=t/loan faci:i~ies to a ter~ 

~:~~;:.~;ro! ~!~~;~0~~9~@~~~'1~Cc2 
extensions o= terms ~~i.M..i~clj ~ 
review. 

That the ANZ a~d Esa~da wil~ r.ct take lega~ 
actio~ against the Company to recover their 
:acilities ~hilst they a=e ccnducted within 
ar=angements. 

That the ANZ will not exercise any right a: 
set o:: in respect to ar.y credit funds held 
~n any account in the name o: the Compa~y/ 
Trust.. 

2. All documentation and legal requirements are to =e 
in place to ~he satisfaction of t~e Government 
before any Government funds are made available to 
the Company. 



c. 

1 . 

2. 

3 • 

?AS~R!KOS ?A.~:LY 

£~~®W~Jt~ 
~cans made by NJ Pastrikos and Sons P/L and ~ 
F=esarn P/~ to DJFM are to be fo=given be:o=e o= 
at the same time that the Gove::me~~~~Ats 
investment in the business. ~@ LMJLMJD'lrTIT~IB 

~he interest rate subsidy present~y made available 
by Department of Industries a~~f"57Cf0J 
Pastrikos & Sons PiL through ilYl~~~~l.f\J U &C) 
within 90 dc.ys o:: the Gover:unent maki:ig its 
investment in the business. 

Any balance of :unds held en deposit by the ANZ in 
?:'espect of the interest rate subsidy may, at the 
Governments discretion be paid to DJFM as an 
i~terest rate subsidy in respect to the proposed 
term faci~ity a: $6GC,OOO with the ANZ. 



c. 

1. 

2. 

3 • 

£~~®TIF?f2~ 
:.oans made bv NJ Past=~kos a:ld Sons P / _ and 
?:-esa=:i ? / :. t:) :;.;F~ a=e to be fo=;:..·..;e:: t>e:=o=e o:-

~~v~~~=~~e i~;.~~e ::~~~i~~:s ~0·1e~W t:fl~[{Lf Lf m~ 
':'he interest =ate subsidy present:y mace avai.:able 
"=>y De~a=t.-ne:i~ o: !~c!us~ries a~~f\r?liif\)~ 
?ast=:..kcs & Sons P; L through ~~JJve~JS\j LJ ~ 
w~~h;..n 90 ca~/S o: the Gove=:unent maki.:ig :..ts 
;..nves~-ner.~ i:i the ~us:.ness. 

Any ba~ance cf :~r.ds held en deposit by the ANZ in 
=espect o: ~~e i.nterest rate subsidy may, at the 
Governments c~sc=etion be paid to DJF~ as an 
in~erest ra~e subs:.dy i:i respect to t~e proposed 
~erm :aci:;..ty o: S6GC,OOO with the A.~Z . 

• • • • -



D. 

1 . 

2 . 

3 • 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Government to have the r~ght to appoint a 
majority of Di=ectors to sit on the Board o: the 
Coman'.( ar:.d _there . would be no J,1µq1~:0Ji~'tf~1Ci]f\)~ 
rna]ority o= appointed Directtm1~~~~ll'j Ll ~ 

The Gene=al Manager is not fu~~fffM~~~~ 
c~rnpany.but is to attend Bo~~~~C!J3 B1eU ~~ 
discretion of the Board. 

Gov~t~e~t nominat~d Di=ec~~~Mh~~CTf ~~ 
basis to be determined, to~~~W~~"'J Ll ~ 
:ndustries ar.d Developme~~ or i~s delegate. 





• 

• 

• 

APPENDIX 3.8 

Company's ::i:iancial p:-ojec~ions we~e !':le ~ ~~~ 
take. out of Af!Z/Eeand.a resulting · ~ ~Jr¥ Ll iJ l ~~ 
requirement or S2... ~ 

Following Cabinets approval of assistance up to S2M 
(sW?ject to acc~p~ance of conditim~~~~S'Sl~rc2 
f arnily) the fam:.l~ .. was asked to c~~~~il'j Ll ~ 
~usiness coulc o;e=ate ef:ectively witn t~e aporoved 
level of func~ng. -

As a result, rev~sed projec~ions were tendered by the 
company seek~ng :u..~d~~g of SJ.SM (+Sl.SM). 

The Depart..~ent o: Incustries and Development with 
assistance from Touche Ross has examined the latest 
projections and has con£irmed the requi=ement £or 
funding at $3.5M. 

Increase in fundi~g can be reconciled as follows: 

reduced sales projections/more 
conservative tim~~g of debtor 
collections (period to 30.6.93) 

increase in over~eads over the 
same period 

reduction in repayments on Government 
funding 

increased working capital requirement 

Sl.8M 

SO.lM 

Sl.9M 

$0.4M 

$1.SM 

Sales in five months to 30.6.90 have been reduced by 
$0. 7M to $2.3M. 

Debtor collection policy was to receive cash in the 
month sales occurred. 

New debtor collection and creditor ~ayment policies dare 
more conservative and should be achieved or bettere · 

Funding is scheduled to be provided progressivelyfup to 
SSM b June 1990) and because o 

Novembe~ 1990 ($2. Y . may not need to be 
conservative cash flow assumptions 
fully drawn. 

tw029009 
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Cash flow projection indicates a grad~~~ 
Government assistance down to Sl.8M by 30.6.93. 

The business will require 
Government assis~ance (if approve 
February 1990, which would need to 
initially on an unsecured basis. 

Commercial solicitors are prepar~faoqwne~~&:::-, 
target date for completion of 15~b1!.ti'.~~QJ LJ LJ IBJ~ 
Critical date for completion is prior to 23.2.90 -
expiry date of ~ax Commissioner~~mnwf\~vment_of 
group tax. .UV \.W ~ lJdJ lNLl ra ~ ! er---. rN 

~ L '-) 
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anC. c=ed.i-tor paymen': 
ac:i.:.eved or should. be 

policies a.=e 
~et:~e=eC.. 

mo=e 
:unCi~q ~s s:~e~u~eC. ~o be ?:ovideC ?==~ess~vely ~? ~o 
NovenWe= 1990 (S2.8SM Cy Ju.~e 1990) a..~C ~ecause o: 
conse=va~ive cash !low assu.~?~ions may no~ need ~o be 

:~l.ly c=awn. 
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APPENDIX 3.10 

Appendix 5.5 

DISBURSME1'1 A.l\ffi DRAWD0\\1' OF GOVER.l\cMET\'T FU!\DING 

INITIAL INJECTION $2,000,000 

IV\Z Bank 
Esanda 
Australian Taxation Office 
Employees 
Supplier (major) 
Unsecured Trade Creditors 
Unexiured Performance Bonds 
lnitia1 Working Capital 

WORKING CA.PIT AL Ii\JECTIO~ D~.\ WDOWN Sl,500.000 

2 August 1990 
23 August 1990 
12 November 1990 
20 December 1990 

$,000 's 

108 
810 
130 
90 
40 

622 
150 
50 

2.000 

100 
175 ..,.,­__ .) 

1.000 
1.500 
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.\ll\lSTER FOR L\DLSTRIEs .\.\D DEVELOP\IE\T 

Mr J H B Bell MBE 
Chairman of Direc~o=s 
Dalway Pty Ltd 
PO Box 38371 
WINNELLIE NT 082! 

Dear Mr Bell 

Your letter dated 12 December 1991, addressed to the 
Secretary, Depa=t~ent of Indust=ies and Development, 
refers. 

APPENDIX 3.12 ~ 

The contents of you= le~ter, and the facts relating to 
the Company's present situation, and the Directors 
responsibilities and potential liabilities in relation 
thereto, have been considered. 

l advise you ~hat the Northern Territory Government 
agrees to underwrite the operating expenses of Dalway 
Pty Ltd whilst ever the Government is the sole owner of 
the Company, provided such expenses are incurred in the 
normal course of prudent business. That is to say, that 
should Dalway Pty Ltd, or its assets, be sold at some 
future time, this undertaking would not extend to a 
subsequent owner. 

It is also advised that our intention is to continue 
with the proposal to dispose of the business, in an 
orderly fashion, at the earliest opportunity. 



I t=~s~ ~~a! ~~e Di=ec~o=s s~a~l conside= :~.:s 
un~e=~3~i~g as 5u!~.:ci~n~ ~~ e~abl~ :~em :~ con~i~ue ~~ 

e:cec:i~~ t:ie.:.= cu~.:.~s :.~ =e.:..3. :.:on :.~ ::ie cr:~o.::1g 

ope=a:ions a: c~e Compa~y. 

ST;:v;: HA~TCN 



GPO Box 2455 
DARWIN NT 0801 
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Executive Summary 

Desliens Business Consultants and ANZ Capel Court Corporate Services was appointed in 
late November, 1992 to prepare and execute a plan of action for the disposal of Dalway 
Pty. Ltd. achieving, et al: 

to obtain the best possible selling price, with maximum benefit to the Northern 
Territory community. 

to seek to ensure that the business can remain based in Darwin as a viable business. 

After advertising locally, nationally and internationally throughout February and March the 
consultants received indications from 15 prospective parties of their interest in purchasing 
Dalway Pty. Ltd. and/or its assets. Of these, three parties eventually confirmed their 
intentions of submitting firm proposals. One subsequently withdrew. Final offers were 
received from Territory Cabinets Pty. Ltd. and a consortium of local businessmen 
including the Venturin and Sitzler Groups together with a minority position held by Mr. 
John Pastrikos. 

Extensive negotiations and discsussions were required to substantiate the two offers to 
establish the basis of their financial off er including their ability to acquire funding and 
operate the business in a viable manner. 

The alternative of liquidation was also evaluated. 

The final position is set out below. 

Land & Buildings 
Plant & Equipment 
Debtors 
Stock 
Work in Progress 

Less: 
Employee Claims 

The Consortium 

$1,750,000 

Unsecured Creditors $ 372,000 

Nett Assets $1,378,000 

Less: 

Estimated 
Liquidation 
$1, 100,000 
$ 200,000 
$ 135,000 
s 143,500 
$ 17,600 
$1,596,100 

$ 69,00Q 
s 372,000 

$1, 155, 100 

Territory 
Cabinets 
$1,250,000 
$ 310,000 
$ 270,000 
$ 287,000 
$ 176,000 
$2,293,000 

$ 69,000 
$ 372,000 

$1,852,000 



Future Losses on committed forward contracts 
General Contracts 
Parliament House 

Sl,378,000 $1, 155, l 00 

$ 350,000 
$ 400.000 
$ 1, 102,000 

In addition the offer from Territory Cabinets contained extensive and onerous conditions 
of sale whereas those from The Consortium are commercial in nature. 

Recommendations 

The recommendation from Desliens Business Consultants and ANZ Capel Court 
Corporate Services is to accept the offer from The Consortium. This recommendation is 
based upon the following assessments: 

I. The offer from The Consortium, after allowance for the payment of external and 
trade creditors is $276,000 in excess of that provided_by _Tenitory Cabin.ets Pty. 
Ltd. and $273,000 in excess of estimated liquidation returns; 

2. the indemnity and warranty requirements requested in Territory Cabinets' Conditions 
of Sale were particularly onerous when compared to those required in the off er from 
The Consortium; 

3. the structure of the offer from The Consortium was clean and left no requirement to 
settle substantial issues relating to the value of stock, work in progress etc. which 
had the potential for extensive on-going negotiation and the likelihood of a reduced 
dollar amount at settlement; 

4. the majority shareholders in The Consortium are of substance and held in high 
regard in the financial community; 

5. The Consortium shareholders have the business capacity to ensure the on-going 
financial stability of the company. 

6. liq~idation would result in the loss of employee positions and a potentially lengthy 
penod for the recovery of funds. 



1. Introduction 

Desliens Business Consultants and ANZ Capel Court Corporate Services is pleased to 
submit its report and recommendations in respect of the sales of Dalway Pty. Ltd. 
(Dalway). 

In so doing the consultants wish to highlight certain aspects which have arisen since the 
awarding of our mandate which have created obstacles in the bringing together of a 
suitable purchaser through the protracted negotiation stages. Specifically these relate to 
undertakings apparently given to Mr. John Pastrikos to hold a final right of refusal to 
match or better the highest off er and which were not made known until late in the 
proceedings of negotiations and the open and damaging political discussions surrounding 
Dalway and its financial position. It should also be said that the financial position at the 
time of being awarded the consultancy was in fact far worse than we had expected and 
did not improve despite the consultants bringing a number of issues to the attention of our 
client. 

Notwithstanding these complications we have been able to table for your consideration an 
off er to purchase which is acceptable given the problems which have arisen and provides a 
return to the vendors which is the best that can be achieved given the circumstances of 
the company and the difficult economic times at hand. 



2. Background 

Desliens Business Consultants and ANZ Capel Court Corporate Services were appoint_ed 
by the Department of Industries and Development (DID) on 21st November, 1991 (with 
formal terms and conditions provided 2nd December, 1991) to prepare and execute a plan 

for the disposal of Dalway Pty. Ltd. 

On-going reports were submitted to DID as follows: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Preliminary Report and action plan - 6th December, 1991 

Projected Monthly Cash flow and funding requirements - 3rd February, 1992 

Information Memorandum and Progress Report - 20th February, 1992 

Progress Report on Sale - 30th March, 1992 

Advertisements for the sale of Dalway commenced in February 1992 and were placed in 
local, national and international (Hong Kong, Singapore and Malaysia) newspapers. The 
possibility of sale into the Asian market was further explored through the distribution of 
Synopses and Infonnation Memoranda to ANZ Group offices in the Tokyo, Hong Kong, 
Singapore, Taipe~ Kuala Lumpur and Jakarta with subsequent follow up communication 
to provide further background and emphasis on the attractiveness of the acquisition 
opportunity. 

Associates of Desliens Business Consultants were also canvassed with Synopses and/or 
Information Memoranda being distributed to over 80 furniture manufacturers and timber 
businesses throughout Malaysia and to a manufacturers association in Hong Kong. 

Through the above process some 15 expressions of interest in various forms were received 
and this resulted in several requests for the Information Memorandum and Business 
Synopsis. (refer our Progress Report dated 30th March, 1992). 

Following further discussions with the above parties, two initial potential purchasers came 
forward expressing definite interest in acquiring Dalway, namely the Pastrikos Family and 
MODE Pty. Ltd. 

The ~astrikos Family lodged a formal Expression of Interest on 21st April, 1992. At a 
meetmg on the 6th May, 1992 Mr. John Pastrikos was advised that this would not be 
acceptable_ in te~ of _price and structure and was requested to bring forward a firm 
proposal, mcludmg projected cash flows and balance sheets and formal evidence of the 
availability of funding. 



On 8th May, 1992 we were contacted by Tenitory Cabinets Pty. Ltd. requesting copies 
of the Information Memorandum. They subsequently advised that they would be 
submitting a formal offer for the purchase ofDalway. 

In order to expedite the sale of the business, MODE Pty. Ltd., Mr. Pastrikos and Territory 
Cabinets Pty. Ltd. were requested to submit offers by the close of business on 15th May, 
1992. On the day MODE advised that they had decided not to proceed. 



3. Offers Received 

Both the Pastrikos Family and Territory Cabinets submitted offers whic_h were discus~ed 
at length. Additional detail and consideration was requested of both parties to be supplied 

by the close of business on 21st May, 1992. 

These offers may be summarised as follows: 

The Consortium 

The Pastrikos Family offered an amount of $1,750,000 for Dalway on a "walk-in, walk­
out" basis for the company and its present assets (Attachment 1 ). Conditions of the offer 

specify: 

3 .1 the liabilities of DID, the Territory Insurance Office and all other external and 
trade creditors will become the responsibility of _the Northern Territory 

Government (NTG); 

3.2 the NTG is to indemnify Dalway in respect of contingent liabilities - specifically 
covering any action brought by a former General Manager, Mr. Dennis Edwards 
and any future claims which may arise in relation to work performance completed 
by the company prior to acquisition; 

3.3 funding of $1,250,000 to be provided by the National Australia Bank (to a 
maximum of 50% of valuation of land and buildings) and subject to certain terms 
and conditions, the majority of which are deemed standard for a commercial loan 
of this nature. 

The balance of funding, viz. $500,000 is to be provided by shareholders loans. 

The nett bottom line is an amount of $1,377, 906, viz. acquisition price of $1,750,000 less 
external creditors of $372,094 (as at 15th May, 1992). 

In the opinion of the consultants there were a number of weaknesses to this offer. : 

• 

• 

• 

a valuation of the_ land and buildings was unlikely to reach the specified $2,500,000 
necessary to provide bank funding of $1,250,000; 

no evidence was provided of the existence or availability of share holders to provide 
the necessary shareholders funding; 

projected cash flows and a projected balance sheet were not available until later in 
the week. 



As a result of the discussions in which these issues and other matters of clarification were 
sought, a letter of confirmation was sent to the Pastrikos Family (Attachment 2). A 
response was requested by 4 .3 0 pm on Thursday 21st, 1992. 

On that ~~te a letter was received (Attachment 3) advising that the necessary funding of 
$1.75 ~on to ~ur.chase would be supplied by a group of Territory businessmen (The 
Consort!~) cons1stmg of _Mr. Leo Venturin (representing the Venturin Group), Mr. 
Michael ~itzle: (representing ~itzler Bros. Pty. Ltd.), Mr. SJ (Steve) Margetic 
(representing Sitzler Bros. (Darwin) Pty. Ltd.) and Mr. John Pastrikos (representing the 
Pastrikos Family). 

This was confirmed by their letter of 22nd May, 1992, {Attachment 4) enclosing details of 
the make-up of this funding, budget profit and loss and cash flows and other details. The 
profit projections show a small operating profit at the end of the first year based on debt 
funding. However, we are informed that it is likely that the purchase will be totally equity 
funded. 

Territory Cabinets Pty. Ltd. 

An offer was received to acquire the business of Dalway on a "walk-in, walk-out" basis 
which valued the various assets of the company at Sl,891,000. Against this amount the 
proponents provided for deductions ($478,000) to cover unsecured creditors and 
employee claims. A further deduction ($750,000) was made to cover their assessment of 
forward losses on contracts in hand. Essential elements of the proposal are given in 
Attachment 5. including an extensive list of conditions of sale to which the offer was 
subject. 

The nett offer was $663,000 . 

The consultants reviewed the proposal and after extensive investigation and enquires 
submitted an evaluation of the Territory Cabinets proposal (Attachment 6.). Territory 
Cabinets were then advised that their final offer should be in place no later than 21st May, 
1992 as a result off which a proposal was received which, on the swface, appeared to 
improve the original offer (Attachment 7). A comparison of the Tenitory Cabinets offers 

is as follows: 

Land & Buildings 
Plant & Equipment 
Debtors 
Stock 
Work in Progress 

Less: 

Original Of!" er 
$1,250,000 
$ 310,000 
$ 211,000 
$ 100,000 
$ 20,000 
$1,891,000 

Revised Off er 
$1,250,000 
$ 310,000 
$ 270,000 
$ 287,000 
s 176,000 
$2,293,000 



Employee Claims 
Unsecured Creditors 

Nett Assets 

Less: 
Future Losses on committed forward contracts 

General Contracts 
Parliament House 

$ 70,000 
$ 408,000 

$1,413,000 

$ 350,000 
$ 400,000 

$ 663,000 

$ 69,000 
$ 372,000 

$1,852,000 

$ 350,000 
$ 400,000 
$ 1,102,000 

The revised offer contained a number of qualifications in respect of Debtors, Work in 
Progress and Stock which in the opinion of the consultants, would result in the 
Government recovering an amount (potentially) substantially less than that offered and 
made the improvement more apparent than real. It was also still subject to the extensive 
list of conditions of sale. 



4. Liquidation 

The possibility of a liquidation of Dalway and its assets has been considered as an 
altern:ative to the above offers. 

Having regard to the current depressed economic situation and more particularly the state 
of the commercial property market and increased sales activity anticipated through general 
Bank foreclosures, consideration was given to likely realisable values. 

Our estimates of amounts receivable are: 

Land & Buildings 
Plant & Equipment 
Debtors (recovered at 50c in the dollar) 
Stock (realised at 50c in the dollar) 
Work in Progress (valued at lOc in the dollar) 

Less: 
Employee Claims 
Unsecured Creditors 

Nett Assets 

SI, 100,000 
s 200,000 
s 135,000 
s 143,500 
$ 17.600 

$1,596, 100 

s 69,000 
s 372,000 

$1, 155, 100 

Additional costs would be required in the form of appointment of Receivers, real estate 
agents and auction fees, conservatively as $50,000. 

Clearly the returns associated with this course of action, the additional time for recovery, 
coupled with loss of employee positions and other issues do not make liquidation an 
appropriate option. 





A Tr ACH1\1ENT 1 

Initial Off er - Pastrikos Family 



15 May 1992 

~liens 
Business Consultants 
G?J Box 2455 
DARWIN NI' 0801 

D:!ar Sirs 

OFFER FCR OM.RAY Pl'Y LID 

'1'le Pastrikos Family 
ro aJx 37444 
W.innellie NI' 0821 
Phone 089 470994 
Fax 089 470205 

Further to our Expression of Interest lcxiged with your office at lO:OOarn on 
21 April 1992 and on the basis that options one and o...io as set c:nit in para~ 
2.2 of that offer a.re oot acceptable to your office \-.ie rrM suhn.i.t the following 
fem.al offer. 

The Pastrikos Family will offer an am::runt of $1,750,000 for Dalway Pty Ltd, 
being a one off paynent on a walk in walk out basis for the ccrrpany with 
its present assets as at this date.. The liability of the Departnent of 
Industries and DeveloptEilt, Territory Insurance Office and all other 
external and trade creditors will becate the resp::msibility of the lt:>rthem 
Territory Govemrent. The Govemrent on sale 1NOU1.d al So indannify Dalway 
Pty Ltd in respect of contingent liabilties. This offer is also subject to 
the critical factors as set out in paragraph 2.1 of our original offer 
handed to you on 21 April 1992. 

A letter fran the National Australia Bank dated 15 May 1992 is attached. shewing 
approval of funding of $1,250,000. The baJ.ance of funds, nanely $500,000, will 
be raised by way of share capital. 

The National Australia Bank has fully analysed the cash flC7.t.'5 and other 
financial infonnation pertaining to the 00.Siness supplied by the Pastri.kcs 
Family and have satisfied thanselves as to the viability of the 00.Siness prior 
to approval of the loan funds. 

We also refer to the letter sent to your office by Waters Janes M::Connack dated 
14 May 1992 and reiterate the request contained the.rein, that if any offers are 
sul:mi.tted at or al::ove the level of our offer of Sl,750,000, that Jolm Pastrikos 
be given full details of those offers so that he nay sul:mit a revised P:rotX>Sal 
by 29 May 1992. 

Should you require any further infonnation please do not hesitate to contact 
Mr John Pastrikcs on 470994. Settlerent could be sp=siily achieved. 

Yours faithfully 

);,/l; 
"I ,,..J l 
f1 ~-

John Pastri.kcs 
On behalf of the 
Pastri.kcs Family 



, . National Australia ·~Bank 
Nauonal Ausuaua 
Sank Lmuted 

our ref: PO:MDH 

15th May 1992 

Mr John Pastrikos 
PO BOX 37444 
WINNELLIE NI' 0821 

Dear Tony 

A.C.N. 004 044 937 

82 Mitchell Street 
(PO Bax 4321) 

DAIMIN NT 0801 

PIDNE: (089) 46 7511 -

RE: INDICATIVE LETIBR OF OFFER 

We ref er to our recent discussions and are pleased to advise the 
Bank's willingness to approve finance for the a~sition of all 
the shares in Dalway Pty Ltd subject to the follCMing tenns and 
corxlitions: 

FACILITY 

: PASTRIKOS GROUP 

Fully Drawn Mvance 

: Up to $1.250,000.00 (One Million, '!Wo 
Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) 

: Initially 12 ~nths Interest Only, then 
arrortising over 5 Years. 

APPLICATION FEE : 1% ($17,500.00) 

INI'EREST FATE : The Bank's Base Rate, currently 12% pa. 
(variable) for the first 12 nonths, then 
plus a margin of 1.5% pa thereafter. 
(Subject to confi.Dnation) • 

LINE FEE 0.4% pa charged half yearly in arrears. 

STAMP DUI'Y/LEG?US All Stamp Duty/Legal Costs will be for the 

••• /2 

account of the borrc;1Ner. 

First Registered Mortgage Debenture aver the 
assets of Dalway Pty Ltd. 
Guarantee and Indennity for $1,250,000 fran 
Dalway Pty Ltd in favour of the borrower. 
First Registered Mortgage over the 
eoonawarra Road propertY· 
Guarantee and Indennity for $1,250,000 fran 

Shareholders/DirectOrs • 



. . 
PAGE 2 

Approval of the prep:>sed facility is further subject to the 
follrMing tems/conditions/requi.remmts: 

- Shareholders injecting $500,000.00 by way of paid up capital. 
Shareholding structure t.o be acceptable to the Bank 

- Fresh Valuation at the borrower's expense to be addressed to the 
Bank for Mortgagee purposes. Valuer is to be acceptable to the 
Bank and Valuation should shc::M a value of not less than 
$2,500,000 for larrl and buildings only. 

- Provision of quarterly trading results. 

- Undertaking t.o sell other assets if additional funds are 
required.. 

- Provision of copy of executed purchase agreetent with tenns and 
conditions acceptable to the Bank. In partiotlar all debts and 
creditors to be taken out prior to settlem:mt. · 

- Provision of subsequent nortgages on properties c:Mled by the 
Pastrikos family. 

- P~lim:mt House contract in favour of Dalway to be in place 
prior to purchase. 

Should you wish to proceed on the basis outlined above, please 
contact the Bank at your earliest o~rtunity. 

On advice that your offer to purchase is accepted by the NT 
~erment, we ¥Kmld then proceed to fonnalise an application for 
finance. 

Yours faithfully 

PETER <lfil.J 
SENIOR OM1ERCIAL MANAGER 



ATIACHMENT 2 

Letter of Confirmation 





Mr. John Pastrikos 
P.O. Box 37444 
Winnellie N.T. 0821 

Dear Sir, 

/Jdl LS ~ Lb U Lf; U'-':J ~ 

Business Consultants 

20 May, 1992 
Ref: DES/051192 

CONFIRMATION OF DISCUSSIONS 

We ref~r to and wish to confirm our understanding of our discussions of this morning 
in relation to your offer of 15th May, 1992 for Dalway Pty. Ltd. and the information 
sought in our letter of 18 th May, 1992 as follows: 

1. Projected cash flows and balance sheets will be available by midday, Friday 22nd 
May, 1992; - - . 

2. The names of shareholders and confirmation of their ability and willingness in this 
capacity available by midday, Friday 22nd May, 1992; 

3. A formal valuation to meet the requirements of your bankers is being prepared and 
you will ensure that, if the complete valuation documentation is not available by 
Friday, a letter from the valuer stating his valuation will be available. The valuer 
has been selected from the ban!Cs list of approved valuers; 

4. If there is any gap between the valuation and that required by your bankers then 
any shortfall in debt funding can and will be made up by your shareholders; 

5. Working capital will mostly come from within the assets of the business. However 
if there is any shortfall in working capital the Pastrikos family has the ability to 
bring in extra funding from its shareholders; 

6. The offer for Dalway Pty. Ltd. includes the following assets; employee 
entitlements, debtors, WIP, stock, plant & equipment, land and buildings, and 
leases. It specifically excludes the Northern Territory Government funds, TIO loan 

and external and trade creditors; 

7. Indemnification is sought from the Government in respect to any future claims that 
might arise in relation to work perfonnance completed by the companyprior to 
acquisition. A further indemnification is sought covering the action of a former 
General Manager, Mr. Dennis Edwards against the company. ~y way of 
clarification the offer is subject to specifically paragraph two of Sectlon 2.1 of 

your Expression of Interest of 21 April, 1992. 

GPO Box 2455 
DARWIN NT 0801 

Tel: (089) 41 0388 
Fax: (089) 41 0121 



8. If the Pastrikos offer is accepted a Heads of Agreement will be executed within 
seven days and deposit money equal to 100/o of the purchase price paid; 

9. Settlement by 20th June, 1992 is acceptable to you. 



ATTACHMENT 3 

Advice of The Consortium 





21 May 1992 

~liens 
susineSs Consultants 
~ Box 2455 
~ Nr 0801 

rear Sir 

Further to our letter of 15 May 1992 v.ie advise that the funds of $1.7S million 
to purchase will be supplied by a group of Territor:y businessnen consisting of 
the follCMing: · 

Mr I.so Venturin (representing the Venturin Group) 

Mr Michael Sitzler (representing Sitzler Bros Pty Ltd) 

Mr SJ (Steve) Margetic (representing Sitzler Bros (Darwin) Pty Ltd), and 

Mr John Pastri.kos (:i:epresenting the Pastrikcs Family). 

Should you require any further infoz:mation please contact any of the 
atovaTentioned parties. 

Yours faithfully 

Leo Venturin 

Steve Margetic 

{ 

JL,// 
dJ (n~JM"Y. 
J John Pastrikos 





ATTACHMENT 4 

Confirmation of Consortium Off er 





22 MaY 1992 

cesliens 
B.JSj,neSS Consultants 
G?J EOX 2455 
~ NT _ 0801 

cear Sil:S 

QFFER Fm DAmAY P1Y I1ID 

The Pastrikcs Family 
ro B:>x 3"'444 
Wi.nnellie NI' 0821 
Ph:Jne 089 470994 
Fax 089 470205 

~refer to your letter dated 21 May 1992 and advise as follows: 

1. CXlr' group will acquire the total share capital of Dalway Pty Ltd and. will 
continue to trade through that entity. __ _ _ _ . 

2. We confiI:m that the furrling for the purchase will :be provided by' the 
follCNling Terri tcrian b.lsinessnen: 

Mr I.ea Ventw;in (representing the Venturin Group) 

Mr Michael Sitzler (representing Sitzler Bros Pty Ltd) 

Mr SJ (Steve) Margetic (representing S1tzler Bros ( Danri.n) -Pty Ltd) 

3. We confiI:m your understanding of the share holding in that Mr John 
· Pastrikos will·· hold 10% of the capital -at the outset-With:· an ability to 
acquire up to 25% of total capital over the following three years. 
Thereafter the 25% may be increased through a sell down of the rana.ining 
shareholders equity. 

The renaining shareholders will at settlerrent hold the balance of 90% of 
the equity. 

4. The 10% shareholding will be held by Mr J Pastrikcs and will oo funded by 
the businessrren and their associated businesses listed in p::>.int 2 aOOve. 

5. The following inforrcation is also supplied: 

Projected cash flows 

We are unable to prepare a balance sheet at acquisition da~ ~t.this 
st.age due to the-uncertainty of the value of assets at acqw..siuon 
date . HorM=ver, as discussed at our neeting at around 5 . OOpn Thursday 
21 May 1992 ~ will be acquiring the business of Dalway Pty Ltd 
togetlle.r with the follc:Ming assets: 

* Land & Buildings 
* Plant & Machinery 
* Trade Cebtors 
* Stcx:k 
* W:Jrk in progress 



-2-

--Xhese as~cts should be subject. tD an audit: re:._riew b:! .. t.l-)e CCir.pa."T'.f' s 
auditors prior to date of acqii.sition. 

Agreed with Po.int 6 of your letter dated 20 May 1992 (refDFS/051/92). 

Agreed with Point 7 of your letter dated 20 May 1992 (ref DFS/051/92) 
and in::ludes contingent liabilities for ¥wOrkers canpensation claims. 

Heads of Agreetent, which is to t:e prepared. by the Govemrrent' s 
Solicitor, will l:e signed within seven days after re:eipt· of agreetent 
of our offer at which ti.Ire dep:>sit m:mey ~ to 10% of the p.irchase 
price wil be paid. Our legal representative will re:_rui.re at lea.st 48 
hours to review the Heads of Agl:'eE:!mnt, so re=eipt of the draft Heads 
of Agreatent is requested within 5 days fran the Govemrrent' s 
Solicitor. 

Settlercent by 20 June 1992 is acceptable to us. 

Should you require any further infoIJTiation please contact either John 
Pastrikos, the businessrren listed in Point 2 or our financial advisor 
Mr Col.in Jarres of EI:nst & Young. ' 

ohn Pastrikcs On :behalf of 
myself, I.ea Venturin, 
Michael Sitzler and 
Steve Margetic 

- - . .. 



A TrACHMENT 5 

Territory Cabinets Pty. Ltd. 
Initial Proposal 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The directors and shareholders of Territory Cabinets Pty Ltd are competcni 
-!Xpericnccd industry operators capable of rationalising and managing the busjn~ of 

Dalway Pty Ltd. 

The merger of the businesses of Jaguar and Dalway provides the best prospects for the 
retention and success of a large scale joinery in Darwin. The combined operation gives a 
market share of 51% and compliments tb.e existing ~gths and weakness_including the 
strong Jaguar computer design techniques (both companys use the CAD CAM 
computer system). 

Territory Cabinets Pty Ltd firmly believes that Dalway Pty Ltd can not commercially 
5urvive as a separate business as evidenced by the massive losses that have been incurred 
and are still being incurred. 

The worth of the Dalway acquisition is the realisable asset value less the losses to be 
jicurred on Dalway's future com!nitted contracts. 
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TERRITORY CABINETS PTY LTD 
TRADING AS JAGUAR KITCHENS 

. 
• 
! 

1 
, 

.. 
' • 
! 

BACKGROUND ' 

Territory Cabinets was established ~o take over the existing busin~ of Jaguar Joinery Pty Ltd. 
- - . 

l 
r 
• 

1 

' - f 

The Directors ofTerritory Cabinets.~ Ltd throu-~ ~eir operation ofBudg~t Homes Pty . - j 
Ltd had been dealing with Jaguar Joinery Pty Ltdsi:iiee 1983-aS therr.niaJo-r suppifei.-ofbigh _ ... _.-.:.-:-_·..:._ ___ .. :· -J· 

.. . - .. - - -·-- .. . . . . . .... - - ... ' . 
· q~ty and durable kitchens and built-in_furniturefo_r their J:io~;--.·-- .. : · ·:_.-- __ -~. :.·- ~".· ~-07: ·J 

. -: . .. . . . ·- . - - . - ... J 
However, when they became aware that JagUar Joiner)' Pty Ltd was in financial difficulty-.. -:.::::-_- - · ._: -- : 

it became imperative for Budget Homes to fmd an alternative supplier to continue to maintain - . · J 

the standard and quality of kitchens for their houses. 1 

After market research and a feasibility study they decided to acquire the business of Jaguar 
Joinery Pty Ltd and rationalise its operation so that it would rninimjse the economic effect 

of Dal way's pricing policy, and at the same time continue the supply of kitchens for their houses . 

. --- - ------ - - -

I 
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THE MERGER OF DAL WAY AND TERRITORY CABINETS PTY LTD 

BUSINESS PLAN 

MARK.ET ANALYSIS 

According to the information contained in the Information Memoraridu.m for the Sale of 
Dal way Pty Ltd the total market for Joinery is estimated to be approximately $9,000,000.0U 

Of this Dalway Pty Ltd was budgeted to secure 40% of the market namely $3,600,000.00. 
Territory Cabinets Pty Ltd has budgeted for a conservative $1,000,000.00 in sales making 
total sale of $4,600,000.00 for the combined operation. This will be just over 500/o of the total 
market. The other 38 Joinery workshop share the balance of the market between them. They 

would not have the capacity to handle the large contracts that the new operation will undertake. 
As a result of th.is there will be no further impact on the existing market of joinery in the 
Northern Territory. 

CASH FLOW 

Ca.sh flow has been prepared on the basis of merging the two factories under the one roof 
at the Dalway premises. 

The c~h flow indicates a cash surplus of approximately $17,928, after allowing for all 
operational and funding costs. (See Appendix b). 

STAFFING 

The organisational structure of Dal way has been exarnm· ed and · ·t· 11 h. ill · · 
1 

. m1 ia y t IS structure w 
remam m p ace until a full ~e t h bee d · · · . . n as n ma e. It lS envisaged that most of the employees 
of both cornparues will be empl d b b . . . . oye Y t e new operator, however, it is envisaged that some 
rat1onahsat1on will be made within the first twelve months of operation. 



DESIGN AND R & D EXPER.fISE 

Tue n~ entity will have the inhoure design capability for developing ne\V concepts and products 
that were not previously available to Dalway Pty Ltd. Its fully tested and operational CAD 
Sy,r.ern and the experience of current Jaguar Kitchens staffhas the ability to greatly increase 
the product range. 

CONTRACTS 

It is envisaged that the new operation will be able to handle any 13.!gejoinery and fur:niture 
contraets that may arise in the forereeable fu~ including such contracts as Parliament House. 
The company also proposes to undertake and complete existing work in progress. 

NEW NAME 

The Directors consider that a new marketing strategy will involve the renaming of both 

operations. 



0FFE~ TC1 .PURCHASE 

We submit our offer to purchase Dalway Pty Ltd and continue the business. The ofTer is 
subject to the various conditions of sale as detailed in appendix (c). 

The composition of our ofTer is: 

(a) Land and buildings 
(b) Plant and equipment 
(c) Debtors 
(d) Stock 
(e) Work in progress 

Less: Employee claims 
Unsecured creditors 

Net Assets 

Less: Future losses on committed 
forward contracts 
- General contracts 
- Parliament 

70000 
408000 

350000 
400000 

Sl250000 
310000 
211000 
100000 
20000 

18'91000 

478000 

1413000 

750000 

$ 663000 
-------------



Appendix Cal 

CURRENT FINANCIAL POSITION 

OF DALWAY PTY LTD AND BUSINESS 

-
. . -- -- . ---· -- -

--...... ~--- ·--- - - ·-- -------· 

•• -.a • -_ . ........ -. . -

and 
. . .._ . 

. . -:·. ·--- ..:.:.-:.-....-~_::.·.-......·:-:-::- · ·-- ..... ~-·- . - - . 
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cRrTI.oE· OF- MANAGEMENT ·:-.-:-::~:.::~:;::-:::~ -:_-,-=-~:::.:-~-~:-. 
. - ._ - ~ ... . 

.. . _.. .. .. . -:- - ·:::.=·:-.·-:: ::~. : •. ~- ·=-= .... ... __ 
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._ .. 

The business of the company has been conducted by: 

(a) Darwin Joinery and Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd until it 

went into liquidation in 1990. 

(b) Dalway Pty Ltd from 1990 to date. 

What is apparent is that under both administrations the owners 

have not priced and quoted work in accordance with industry 

standards and accordingly have both suffered massive financial 

losses. 

The foregoing statement is supported by the information provided 

to support the assessment of losses on forward con.tracts· . -
.. ·. :-.-:· -· 

contained in this· appendix. Further ·information. is ·available ·if 

required . 

.... _. ... -.--~--~- --------..................... ~a .......... ~ ...... 1zzz 
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ASSESSMP;NI OF LOSSES ON 

fORWF\tD CC~7B.ACTS 

Fo~ard contracts comprise: 

- Genera~ Contracts 
Parliament House 

TOTAL 

l.Om 

l.5m 

$2.Sm 

====-·= 

Our assessment of the loss factor is as follows: 

General contracts 35% of $lm 
Parliament House Sl.Sm 

...:.. . .. .•. . .. - ·-- ·· - .: 

35'0000 

. 400000 

· .. s1soooo 
~--- -: . ~ - : aca~_=:•-: 

··-··.· . . . . . · -· .;- - .... - .... 
. ... . ..._.._.. . 

- - ·- -- . • ._. ... .. •;Ill... . ·-- .. -... • • • 
·• . · . . _:_:!· ·-· .· .. : : . -- . 

~- :~.~..:~--

. Tb.e basis of our assessment is as follows: · :- ·: :·:--:_ .·. --... - :- - ·--·~·---:--- . ·. -·· -
:· - ·, ~ : ~ . :. .. - -.. . 

(a) Determination of 35% W&ite-off . 

The following is a random sample of contracts won by Dalway 

which were also quoted by Jaguar Joinery using acceoted 

industry standards. 

CONTRACT 

........ _. -···~ -·----- -- ..... ------. 
PARA.P VILLAGE 

HAWKINS & CLEMENTS 
LAT I FE 
CARINYA FLATS · 

BARCLAYS 37 HOUSES 

ASC FITOUT 

TOTAL VALUE 

& .. 

DAL WAY 

fRICE 

s 

203000 

24090 

10979 

165600 

300000 

105000 

-~-~-----

808669 

•:a • .::a• C::E 

JAGUAR 
PRICE ~IFFERENCE 

s s 

·- 300000 - --970·0·0 

32000 7910 

18500 7521 

290000 124400 

440000 - - 140000 

130000 25000 

---~~--- .. ----~..-~--

1210500 401831 

:s•=·-=-· c•c:m•c• 



.ie. 

-

--·· --

Jagu3.r price 
:2:!.0500 

Less: Profit 10% 
121050 

-~------

1089450 

Less: Dal way price 808700 

----.--.-

LOSS 
$280750 

======= 

280750 x 100 = 34.72\ 

808700 1 

The foregoing is supported by the company's 1991 Audited 

Financial Statements. 

Sales 

Cost of sales 

Overheads 

Per profit and loss 

Abnormal items 

Loss 

Add back 

$2.120 

$0.85 

$1.295 

Rent & interest received $0.132 

TRADING LOSS $(1.427) 

======= 

... .. • • - tt.. 

$4.353 100% 

======= ======= 

$3.575 82% 

$2.205 51% 

$5.780 133% 

$1.427 

$4.353 

======= 

33% 

100% 

------­_____ ...__ 

._ 
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(b) Parliament House· 

Jaguar tendered price 

Dalway's accepted price 

• A. .. - . . ~ 

l.9m 

l.Sm 

$0.4m 

======= 

··:= - .· - -
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description of. 

property 

AO'STRALIAN SECO'RITIU COMMISSION 

Pore ~07 (cont) 

SCK!OUU A '
2

) 

INTEU.STS IN LAND 

Estimated Valua~ion PArticulars 

r • •' 

Where Short 

(1) V&lua- :aaliaable :or ratinq ot tan&.noy po!!setusion pa.:-:ic--=l~i 

tion value purpoee8 of deed& of title 

may be 

obtained 

s s s 

Valua:ion of property per Auatrali&n V&l\.iation O!!iee 

Va.l~atioo of 5/l.2/91 Sl,900,00C 
_....,.. ______ __ 

.. 
r 

Quick •ale va.lua a.nd reeoqn~tion of weaknesa of other 

r 
~ .. 

r 
r 
. 

r 
... • 

r 
i 

r 
r 
c. -
r . 
• 

f 
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AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES COMMISSION 

Form 507 

R E P 0 R T 

Australian Company No.: 009 650 417 

A S T 0 A F F A I R S 

CALWAY PTY LTD 

Paragraph 147(2}(b), 

Subsections 430(1), 

436(4), 448(5), 475(1} 

475{2), 497(5} 

Assets and Lia..bilities as at 14th May 1992 

( 1) I Valuation \Estimated 

l \ realisabl· 

l 

l 

l 

l 

I 

l 

I 

l. Assets not specifically charged -

Interests in land as detailed in Schedule A 

Sundry debtors as detailed in Schedule B 

cash on hand 

Cash at bank 

Bl. 

Bl-

Stock as detailed in annexed inventory B2 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
1 ·. - ~ . --... 

I 
I 

ooo·s 

s 

1900 

211 

Nil __ · -~~ I 

Nil 

160 

values 

000'9 

s 

1250 

211 

· - · Nil 

Nil 

. 100 

(a) 

(b) 

(C) 

( d) 

( e) 

( f) 

( g) 

( h) 

Work in progress as detailed in annexed inventory BJ I 156 

I 
I 
I 
I 

20 

Plant and equipment as detailed in annexed inventory B4 465 310 

Other assets as detailed in Schedule C 

2. Assets subject to specific charges, as detailed 

in Schedule 0 

Less: Amounts owing as detailed in Schedule D 

Total assets 

REGISTERED AGENT NO. 

LODGED BY: 

ADDRESS: 

PHONE No. 

~·=-- -~=--

... 
. -· 

I Nil I Nil 

1--------1--------------1----------
1 I 2092 I 1891 

Is I I 
I I I 
1--------1--------------1----------

1 2s92 I 1891 

!--------------!----------
- - ··· - - -- -

LODGED WITH THE COMMISSION ON: 



3. 

s. 

6. 

7. 

l 
8. 

9. 

AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES COMMISSION 

Form 507 (cont) 

Total e•timated realisable value• 

Le•• clai~s by employ~A as detailed in Schedule F. 

Less amounts owing and secured by debenture or floating 

charge over assets (June 1991 Balance - Accrual of interest 

to be added) • 

Less preferential creditors, other than employee&, 

as detailed in Schedule F 

Estimated amount available for unsecured creditors 

Balances owing to partly secured creditors as detailed in 

Schedule G 

Total claims ($ 

Security held (S 

Creditors (unsecured) as detailed in Schedule H 

Amount claimed (S 

Contingent assets S 

Estimated to produce (S 

Contingent liabilities S 

}as detailed in Schedule I 

I 
I 

OOO·a 

s 
1891 

70 I 
1----
1 

I 
I 
I 

1821 

7508 

1----------
.1 

I 
I 

(5687} 

1------------
(5687) 1 

l-:--~---

---1 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 4oa 1 408 

1-----------1-------------
1 

I 
I 

(6095) 

Unknown 

! Estimated to rank for (S 

Estimated •deficiency/•surplus 

) as detailed in Schedule J I 
I 

Unknown 

( 

I 
[ 

[ 

( ' 
I 

-:-__: .: _.. .... . : .. 

(Subject to coats of •ad.ministration/•liquidator) 

Share capital 

Iaeued $2.00 

Paid up S2.00 

l --· -
~---~ .. . 

.. - . . ~ 

I Unknown 

... -I ::_:-~_:_:__-:.~---

I 
I 
I 



AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES COMMISSION 
Fon: 507 (CO~t) 

~~Ii.EDU'"'..;: 9 < ) 

SUNDRY DEBTOFS ~INCLUDING L~ .~ DEBTORS) 

Name and address of Amount Amount Deficiency Particulars 

debtor owing realisable of security 
(if any l 

s s s 

As per attached listing at 14/5/92 provided by Calway statf. 

Less: 

Amounts which after enquiry 

unrecoverable: 

Affordable off ice furniture 

A.P.G. 
cash sales 
Oakhill 
Fairweather 
Holand Stolte 
Jaguar Joinery 
Marble a.nd Ceramic 

Multiplex 
Nigthcliff Builders 

Baxter 
Retentions 
united constructions 
Universal carpets 

Less: 

of Calway staff, considered 

2450 v 
280 v 

66 v 
482 ./ 
299 V-

2000 /./ 
320 
120 ~ 

54957 V' 3000 
10395 / 

7163 ./' 
~ 

~ 

Amounts invoiced in advance of work being performed 

A.C.S. 
Dept. of Defence 

. -
NET RECOVERABLE AMOUNT 

INVOICED 
AMOUNT 

ESTIMATED 
PRODUCTION 

COST 

~ 6750 
35000 47250 

----------""· ----------
40000 

----------

• • • 

held 

Ex'planatl.on of 
deficiency 

86743 

----------
264806 

54000 

----------
210806 -

aaaau::aaasz: 



---------------------------===========~-- --

SCHEDULE ?. l 

CASH ON RAND AND BANX 

Cash on Hand 

Cash float held on pre.mises 
S600 

----------

Cash at Bank 

Term deposit with Westpac 
S300,000 

Less: 

Overdraft secured against deposit - Approximately 
S300,000 

---------
NIL 

----------

• 



I · 

Finished Goods 

Actual stocktake Febniary 1992 

SCHEDULE 82 

STOCK 

computer generated theoretical stock 31/3/92 

Raw Materials 

Actual stocktake February 1992 

Computer generated theoretical stock 31/3/92 

S202237 

$187000 

S256333 

S258000 

. - . 
• 

Realisable 

Valuation Value 

SO\ 93500 93500 

our 66500 6500 

Assessment 

---------
Sl60,000 s100000 

--------

.. 



f 

I 
I . 
I ! 
-· - -

f 1 ~--""-· 

SCHEDULE 83 

WORK IN PROGRESS 

w.I.P. value as per attached list at 14/5/92 

Less: 

Unrecoverable amounts relating to completed/uncha.rgeable 

jobs as highlighted on listing 

NET REALISABLE VALUE 

• • • 

278867 

122852 

Sl56015 

•am••-
.::. 

... . 

• 



,,,,...-----------------------------------~~--~-

r . 
• 

r, 
I 

r: 
l 

r 

r 

r 
I 

I 
i 

I 

SCHEDULE 84 

PU.~ 1\lffi EQUIPMENT 

Plant and equipment at WDV per attached list 

Motor vehicles at WDV per attached list 

Off ice equipment at WDV per attached list 

Storage equipment at WDV per attached list 

Computer equipment at WDV per attached list 

Loose tools at WDV per attached list 

Fencing at WDV per attached list 

Valuation of plant and equipment, fixtures and fittings per 

Australian Valuation Office valuation of 5/12/91 

Quick sale value and recognition of specialised nature of 

bulk of plant and equipment and computer equipment - 2/3 

~ ,_;:_: . .::.~ ··---
~~;;;;;;~===~-----==-=~-·--· ·-·. -· --

• 

608121 

54317 

216216 

30309 

133918 

18742 

6204 

51067827 

.z;:====s=z== 

$465000 

$310000 



I 

I 
I 
I 
I ! 
TJ 

I 

AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES COMMISSION 

Form ;:, / (cu,•~) 

SCHEDULE E 

CLAIMS BY EMPLOYEES 

Employee : a name and atlcire•t1 W&yes 

Holiday 

~~y 

s s 

Employees as per attached schedule 

Estimated entitlement by Calway Pty Ltd 

Soliday Pay 

Lonq service leave 

• . - ~ • 

Lonq service 

leave 

s 

Estimated 

lia.bilit~ 

s 

65 

5 

---
70 

------- -



Name &Ad address of creditor 

As per attached listing 

Add: 

AOSTRAI.I:JJ SECUR.ITIES COMMISSION 

cC:'Ul 307 (cont) 

SCHEDULE H 

UNSECURED CREDITORS 

Amount claimed 

by creditor 

s 

Amount admitted 

as owing 

s 

Accrual of accounting, audit and other administrative 

fees and costs 

· .... 

• .. • --

Reasons tor 

difference between 

amount claimed and 

admitted (if any) 

350594 

57000 

$407594 

----------

• 



Appendix <bl 

• 

1. Cash Flow 

A projected cash flow of the merged Dalway/Jaguar business 

for the period 1st July 1992 to 30th June 1993 is attached. 

2. Eauity/Bank Funding 

Correspondence from the National Australia Bank expressing 

interest in providing finance is attached. We are 

satisfied that the lending criteria of the bank can be 

met. Additional equity in the form of assets . from the 

Jaguar business and the funding of the future Dalway 

trading losses will be provided by Territory Cabinets Pty 
Ltd. 



CALWAY/JAGUAR MALGAIUTED C.AS>i FL()l.J in192 TO 30/6193 
( 

DALWAY/JAGUAR CA~ FLOIJ 

J'" A~IG SEP OCT ..... 
HOV DEC JAN F~ KAA APR JUH iOTAL s s s 'UY s s s s $ s s s s s 

I 

j SALES 368CXX) 368CXX) 4i'9aX) 4i4QX) 552'CXX) 4c!3<XXl l22COO 36&XX) 36&XXJ '2:76CXXJ 3Z200J 
_ LfSS: COST OF SALES 

1 ~;ng stock 1CXXXX) iCXXXX) 1CXOX) 1txXXXJ 1CXXXD 1cxxm 1CXXXX) 1cxxm iCXXXX) 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) icxx:m 1CXXXX) \ 0pen;ng WlP 2CXXX) 220800 220800 220!00 248400 24&400 331200 2!98CX) 193200 22a50J Z20eOO 16S600 2aXX) Ka er-ials 110400 110400 124200 124200 165600 144900 96600 110400 1i0400 !2800 96600 103SOO 1~ Direct labour 73600 1l60J 82800 82BOO 110400 96600 64400 73600 73600 55200 64400 69CXX) 92aXX) 1 Subcontractora ~ 36800 4i400 4~~ 55200 48300 3ZZX> ll.800 36&X) '2:761Xl 322('0 34500 46'XXX) 
I 

ConsumablH 500 500 500 500 soo 500 soo 500 500 500 500 500 6COJ l Fre;ght 1840 1840 2070 2070 276D 2415 16iO 1&40 ,&40 1~ 1610 ins 2JaX) Oalw.y contract loaaea i2Sooo 1CXXXX) icxxm 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) 9CXXXl 5(XXX) 35CXX) 2.SCXX) 15CXX) 5CXX) S<XXl rscxm 
468140 643940 67'1770 67ino 7!2.860 731115 676510 64794/J 54U4/J 503280 521110 41'9825 7339600 

LESS: Closing stock 1CXXXXl 1CXXX)) 1CQXX) 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) icxxm 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) 1CXXXX) ~IP 220800 220800 220aOJ 248.t.OO 248400 331200 289800 193200 220800 220800 165600 i93200 193200 
COST OF SALES 147l40 32314/J 350970 323370 434460 2999'15 2867io 35474/J 22054/J 182480 255510 186625 3365800 
GROSS PltOFITCLOSS) 220660 44860 63030 90630 11754/J 18.30e5 35290 13260 i47460 93520 66490 , 5 8.375 , l:S4200 
LESS: Operating expenses 
Accounting 2000 200) 200) 2CXX) 200) 2CXX) 2CXX) 2CXX) 2CXX) 200) 2CXX) 2CXX) 21.(XX) Advertising 5000 SCXXJ SCXXJ SCXXl 5CXX> 5CXXl 5CXXJ 5CXXl 5CXX) 5CXXl 5cm 50CO 6CXX1J Bank f tts isoo 1500 1500 1500 1500 1500 isoo 1500 1500 1500 1500 1500 1eal) Clean1ng 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 6CXX) Depreciation 3CXXX) 3CXXX) 3CXXX) 3CXXX) 3(XXX) 3CXXX) 3CXXX) 3CXXX) 300X) 3CXXX) 300X) 3CXXXl 36CXX1J Electricity 5CXXl 500) 5CXXl 5CXXl 5CXXJ SCXXl SCXXl 5CXXl 5CXXJ 5CXXl 5CXXl 50CO 6CXX1J Insurance 8CXK) &CXXJ 8CXX) 8CXX) !(XX) !(XX) !(XX) 8CXX) 8CXX) 8CXX) 8CXX) 8CXX) 96CXX) Interest 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 9CXX) 1~ Leasing charges 1248 1248 1248 1248 1248 1248 121.a 1248 1248 1248 1248 121.a 14976 Leg•l ftts & sta.p duty 120COO 1CXXX) 13CXXXJ Ptotor vehicle costs 5CXXl 5CXX> 5CXXl 5CXXJ 5CXXJ 500) SCXXJ 5CXXJ 5CXXJ SCXXl 5CXXJ SCXXl 6'XXXl P•yroll tax 5430 5430 5!90 5890 7270 6580 4970 5430 S430 4510 4970 5200 67tXX) 
Pr-inting post & stat 3CXX) 300) 3CXX) 3CXl) 3<XXl 3CXX) 3CXX) 3CXX) 3CXXJ 3CXX) 3CXX) 3CXX) 36CXX) 
Rates 6CXX) 1CXX) 1CXXl 1CXXl 9CXX) 
Repairs & Kainten.nce 15CXXl 5CXXJ SCXXJ 5CXXJ 5CXXJ SCXXl 5CXXJ 5CXXJ SCXXl SCXXJ 5CXXJ 5CXXl 100X) 
S.l•ries 35000 35CXXl 35CXXl 35CXXl 35CXXl 35CXX> 35CXXl 35CXX> 35CXXl 35CXX> 35CXXl 35CXXJ 42(XXX) .. Staff ameniti~s 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 6f.XY:, 
Security 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 6Cx:xJ 
Subscriptions 500 500 1500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 1500 8CXX) 
Super•nnuation 3258 325! 3534 3534 4362 3948 2982 325! 325! 2706 29!2 3120 l.0200 
Tr•1ning coats 1086 1086 i11s 1178 14SJ. i316 994 ,086 10&6 902 994 1040 131.CX) 
Telephone 3500 3500 3500 3500 14£XX: 
Tr•vel & accOllOdation icm iexx> 1coo 1CXXl 1CXX) 1CXX) 6IXX. 
~••te dispoul 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 6IXX. 

252022 i33022 133350 123!50 125334 129592 121194 12.3022 126522 121366 121194 12e1oe 163857c 

Opereting profitCloas> <31362) CM162) <70320) (33220) (7794) 53493 (85904) (109762) 20938 C27846> (54704) 3026 7 ( '-043 7 t 

ADO: Other inc09e 
Ae-nt re1:e1ved 5192 5i92 5192 5192 5192 5192 5192 5192 5l92 5192 5192 5192 62.30L 
!nterest rece1ved 

5192 5192 5192 5192 5192 5192 5192 5~2 5192 5192 5192 5192 6230£ 

NET PROFITCLOSS) (26170) C8Z97Q) <6512!) (28028) (2602) 58685 (80712) (104570) 26130 C2Z654) {49512) 35459 (34207' 

AOD : tton c.sn iteas 
Depreciation 3QCXX) 30000 3CXXX) 3CXXX> 3CXXX> 3CXXXJ 30CXX> 30CXX> 3(XXX) 3CXXX) 3(XXX) 3<XXX) 36'XXX 

CASH SURPLUSCDEFICIT) 3830 (52970) <35128> 1972 27398 88685 C50712) (74570) 56130 7346 (19512) 65459 17921 

J 

... - • • • • • 



National Australia~Bank 
N.toonaJ Austr"l.ha 
S&nk ums~~ 

. our ref: PO:MDH 

1~tl1 May 1992 

Mr Alan Ganaway 
84 Smith Street 
~ NT 0801 

Dear Alan 

RE: TERRI'IDRY CAB~ Pl'Y' L'ID 

A.C.N. 004 044 937 

82 Mitchell Street 
(PO Box 4321) 
DAm1N NT 0801 

PHJNE: (089)46 7511 

I refer to our discussions with yourself and your clients 
regarding the aquisition of Dalway Pty Ltd. 

In teIJTls of those discussions I advise that the Bank ¥.UU.ld be 
interested in prov'i.ding loan funds to finance the purchase. OUr 
noJ:Inal lending criterion lNOU1.d need to be net including servicing 
and provision of adequate ·security. In this regard we ~ look 
to see a debt/security ratio of oo nore than 80% of satisfactory 
property sec:urity. 

I look forward· to your :resp:mse in due course. 

Yours faithfully 

P£'T•ER ™EN 
srNIOR ~ MANAGER 



Appendix (c) 

CONDITIONS OF SALE 

Indemnity and warranty is required in respect of: 

1. Contract claims and damages. 

2. Unpaid taxes including income tax, payroll tax, sales tax 

and any other tax including any penalties or fines. 

3. Directors and employees benefits including wages and 

salaries, long service leave, annual leave, superannuation. 

4. 

5. 

6 • 

7 . 

8 • 

9 . 

10. 

11. 

12. 

13. 

14. 

15. 

16. 

Award conditions. 

Work health. 

Safety standards. 

Building regulations. 

Relevant Government regulations and requirements. 

Litigation relating to events prior to purchase. 

Winding up proceedings. 

Accounting records are complete and correct. 

Corporations Law and Taxation Law requi~ements met 0 

Options or other grant for issue of further shares. 

Shares purchased are completely unencumbered. 

Cost of audit of 1992 Financial Statements if required. 

That all assets with exception of the leases of the Holden 

Vacationer and Mitsubishi truck, are completely 

unencumbered. 
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3 • 

4 • 

1 

CONTENTS 

Revised off er to Purchase 

Original off er to Purchase 
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Services and Desliens Business Consultants 
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(a) Land & Buildings 
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{c) Debtors 
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(e) Work in Progress 

(f) Employee Claims 

(g) Unsecured Creditors 

(h) Future Losses on Committed Forward Contracts . ... _-_.:.. 

(i) General Contracts 
(ii) Parliament House 



_+!!B_R:TORY CAB!!i'ETS PTY. 
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Territory Cabinets 
Revised Proposal 

ATIACHMENT 7 





REVI~ED OFFER TO PURCHASE . 

We submit our revised offer to purchase Dalway Pty Ltd and 
continue the business. The revised offer is subject to the 
various conditions of sale as detailed in appendix (c) - of our 
uriginal offer to purchase and the attached - commentary & 
conditions. 

The composition of our offer is: 

(a) 
(b) 
( c) 
( d) 
( e) 

Land and buildings 
Plant and equipment 
Debtors 
Stock 
Work in progress 

Less: Employee claims 
Unsecured creditors 

Net Assets 

69,000 
372,000 

Less: Future losses on committed 
forward contracts 
-General contracts -· 
-Parliament House 

350,000 
400,000 __ ...., ____ _ 

$1,250,000 
310,000 
270,000"" 

- 287 I 000 X 

176,000 x _____________ ._, 

2,293,000 

441,000 ,,. 
.... -------- ...... -~ 

·1,852,000 y 

750,000 
----------------
$1,102,000 
========== 



OFFER TO PURCHASE 

We ~11bmit ou= offer to pu1chase· Dalway Pty Ltd and continue the 

..:>usiness. 

rhe off er is subj~ct to the various conditions of sale as 

detailed in appendix (c). 

The composition of our offer is: 

(a) Land and buildings 

~b) Plant and equipment 

,c) Debtors 

<d) Stock 

e) ~ork in_ progress- · 

Less: Employee claims 

Unsecured creditors 

Less: Future losses on committed 

orward contracts 

- General contracts 

Parliament House 

. - - . . ... .. 
:... . · - - _-. - ... • . . r -

. --... ··· -- .. _ 
. - -.. 7 oooo-

408000 
._.._ ____ ,... 

350000 

400000 

---------

$1250000 

310000 

211000 

100000 
-

- - - -· · - ' 20000 

-------------
1891000 ·-- - r 

478000 

1413000 

750000 

$663000 

--------------



I 

SL11\1MARY 

Land & Buildings 
P!ant & Equipment 
Debtors 
Stock 
Wark in Progress 

Less: 
Employee Claims 
Unsecured Creditors 

Nett Assets 

Less: 
Future Losses on committed forward contracts 

General Contracts 
Parliament House . -

Territory Cabinets 

$1,250,000 
S 310,C~C 

$ li 1,000 
s 100,000 
s 20.000 
$1,891,000 

s 70,000 
$ 408,000 

$1,413,000 

s 350,000 
$ 400.000 
$ 663,000 

. . - - .. ... - - -

- .. - . - ·- - - -- -

5/19/92 

• 

Real Position 

$1,900,000 
$ 465,000 
S 270,0GG 
s 325,000 
s 176.000 
$3' 136,000 

s 69,000 
s 372,000 

$2,695,000 

$2,695,000 

-· .. -· · - · ~- - . - .,_ ~ 



-

4(a) - LAND ~UILDINGS - $1,250,000 

With ti1e lirnited time available we have only been able to 
discuss the Australian Valuation Office valuation with Mr. M .. 
Mooney (Sworn Valuer) and have not commissioned a formal 
valuation of the property. We are of the opinion that Mr. M. 
Mooney would value the property for considerably less than the 
Australian Valuation Office and we have not changed our 
assessment of $1,250,000. 

- .- . -

- -- - - ----- -- ··· . .. . . · -
- - .. - . 

.. ... . ··-- ·- - _ ___ .. ... . - - - --·- - - -· ~ ... ~.: . ·--= ·.:."· :,;_·: ... _ -=~=-- ... -. :-------_-._ ..: · ... · ... :.. .. -: . -
--~- - -~ . . --------·""·' 



4(b) - PLANT & EQUIPMENT - $310,000 

We have reviewed the valuation by the Australian Valuation 
Office of the plant & equipment, fixtures and fittings. 

The valuation is a single line assesment _ with no supporting 
information, qualification and expertise of the valuer (of 
specialised equipment) and has no reference to recent sales. 

We believe our assessment of $310,000 is the current market 
value. 

-- . - . 

-­
·-

- ---· ·- ------------



4(c\ - DEBTORS - $270,017 

Debtors ·are a constantly changing position and the· amount will -
1ot be o.ble to be qudntif ied until the actual date & time of 
•ettlement. 

·1e do not take issue with your assessment of $270,017. (which is 
>ased on a point in time after our assessment). 

nur offer is to purchase the debtors with the vendor to warrant 
.he amount and collectability within 45 days. 

J 



ildl - STOCK - $~87,000 

Stock is a constantly changing position nnd the amount will not · 
be able to be quantified until the actual date and time of 
settlement. 

Stock of Finished Goods 

We note the purported value of the stock of finished 
goods is 75% of manufactured cost. 

We have reviewed our assessment and do not concurr. 

We leave our offer for Finished Go6ds at 50% of 
Cost i.e. 

Raw Materials 

$93500 

We -note your advice that Dal way management are of .. 
the opinion that very .little of the_ raw m~te_rial. ~:·- .·· ... -.. ... .-.:.. . 
stock is · no:t·~ - ~f full value· . . . -:-~~~-.. ---~ - .. -- :~ = · • .. ___ .. . _ _ ___ . - , . -·- . - . _ _. .- --- · -

Our off er is -to purchase the raw material stock· --- ·· - ~ ·­
usable within 45 . days at _cost. . and the usable _st~.ck . ··- ·-· -
that will not be consumed within 45 days at 25% of 
cost. 

On that basis the vendor should be able to warrant $193500 
---------
$287000 
--------------

·- ------------ - ·- - -



l 

4(e) - WORK IN PROGRESS - $176,000 

work in Progress is a constantly changing · position and· the ·· -
amount wlll not be able to be quantified until the actual date 
and time of settlement. _ . · -

We do not take issue with your assessment of $176,000. 

Our offer is ·to purchase the work in progress at the lower of 
cost or net realiable value as assessed on the day of the 
settlement. ~ 

- -- . . - -..... ... 

--- - ----·--

- ·-- .. ... . .... 
. - - .... ·--· . - . . . 

-· .. --.. .. ·----··----
-·· ·- - ··- · - ·-- - - · . .. -

. . ._ --.--.~ .. .._._..... • - · .. ... . · - -· - - ............ -1 - · · - -



1 

4(£) - EMPLOYEE CLAIMS -=._$69,000 

Employee · claims is a constantly changing position and-the amount -
will- not.be able to be quantified until the .actual date and time 
of settlement.. · 

We do not take issue with your assessment of $69,000 and our 
offer is to accept the liability with the vendor warranting that 
the amount is correct and all liability disclosed. 

_____ ....... -- ---- ·- __ .... . -



I 
I 

4(g) - UNSECURED CREDITORS - $372,000··· 

Unsec~=ed Creditors is a consrantly changing positio~ and the 
amount will not be able to be quantified until the actual date 
and time of settlement. 

We do not take issue with your assessment of $372,000 and our 
offer is to accept the unsecured creditors with the vendor 
warranting the amount is correct and all liabilities are 
disclosed. 

- .. -- - .. .. ·-- - ---



4(h) - FUTURE LOSSES ON COMMITTED FORWARD CONTRACTS 

·-

(i) General Contracts - $350,000 

No critic1sm has -been made of our assessment and methodology 
used with the exception of the questioning of the random sample 
of contracts used. 

We are satisfied that the particulars of the John Holland 
contract raised in discussion does not change our concern as to 
Dalway's underpricing. 

(ii) Parliament House - $400,000 

We stand -·by our ·asses.sment-.:_and do not believe we can revise our 
assessment without completing a full costing o~ the contract . 

. : (Note we. · do -. not --know the ·-final -. particulars ·of .the- co_ntract) ····-- We -
reiterate -that ~:we · would· be ·prepared to enter into an- arrangement 
to complete __ the contract on . a cost plus basis if- you._.believe our 
assessment is incorrect. ·- - · ··· ·--· ·-·- -· · · · 

-- ~--

- · - ------

l 
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APPENDIX 3.14 

Indemnity iUld warranty is required in respect of: 

1. Contract claims and damages. 

2. Unpaid taxes including income tax, payroll tax, sales tax and any other tax including any 

penalties or fines. 

3. Directors and employees benefits including wages and salaries, long setvice leave, annual 

leave, superannuation. 

4. Award conditions. 

5. Work health. 

6. Safety standards. 

7. Building regulations. 

8. Relevant Government regulations and requirements. 

9. Litigation relating to events prior to purc~e. 

10. Winding up proceedings. 

11. Accounting records are complete and correct 

12. 
Corporations Law and Taxation Law requirements met 

13. Options or other grant for issue of further shares. 

14 . . 
Shares purchased are completely unencumbered. 

15. 
Cost of audit of 1992 Financial Statements if required. 



16. That ass assets with exception of the leases of the Holden 

Vacationer and Mitsubishi truck, are completely unencumbered. 

17. Any costs incurred after purchased (sic) date in respect of rental 

of Albatross Street shed. 

18. Liabilities: 

(a) Creditors and accrued expenses to be no more than 

$408000. 

(b) Wages and leave entitlements to be no more than $70000. 

( c) No other liabilities. 

19. Assets to be physically present and value to be not less than as 

contained in this offer. 

20. Caveat on title to be discharged 

21. J. Pastrikos to stand down immediately upon acceptance of offer. 

22. Satisfactory answers to our letter of 13/5/92 (copy attached). 

23. Other conditions and warranties in accordance with the normal 

legal contracts regarding sale of companies. 

2 



APPENDIX 3.15 

NORTHERN TERRITORY OF . Ausrur.·rA 

DEED OF INDEMNITY 

./ ... ~ 
::lIS DEED is made the '- day of·~..:--'-~<--..._1991 
BET\-JE~ THE NORTHERN TERRITORY OF AUSTRALIA 
(hereinafter called "the Territory") of the one part 
a~d JAMES HUSBAND BARR BELL (hereinafter called "the 
Director") of the other part. 

WHEREAS 

A. The Territory has requested the Director to: 

(i) accept appointment as a Directer of 
DALWAY PTY LTD 

1(ii) carry out certain duties and functions and to 
exercise certain powers in his capacity as 
Director of the Company. 

B. The Director has agreed to the aforesaid requests 
on the basis that the Territory indemnifies and 
holds the Director harmless pursuant to the term of 
this Deed. 

NOW THIS DEED WI'!'NESSETH AS FOLLOWS: 

That the Territory hereby irrevocably and 
unconditionally agrees to indemnify and keep 
indemnified the Director from and against all 
actions, proceedings, claims, demands, liabilities, 
losses, expenses (legal or otherwise) and payments 
whatsoever arising out of any act or omission by 
him in good faith as Director of the Company or in 
any way done or omitted to be done arising out of 
his holding of the off ice of Director of the 
Company. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Territory has executed this . 
indemnity on the day and year first hereinbefore written. 

SIGNED for and on behalf of ) 
THE NORTHERN TERRITORY OF ) 
AUSTRALIA pursuant to the ) 
contracts Act in the presence ) 
of: - ) 
/~ Z:-~v . ~~ ~ 

~~ 
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DALWAY INQUIRY - TABLED DOCUMENTS 

I D~ON TENDERER DATE NO. I 
Note - Mr J Blake to Des.liens/Capel Coun re.questing additional Blake 27/8/92 
information dated 12/5 

Letter to Marshall Perron, Chief Minister from Mr Blake dated 25/Sm - Parish 2718/92 
Dalway Pty Lui ('Da.Jway') (Blake) 

Department of Transport & Works ('T & W) Ministerial Briefing re Finch 27/8/92 
State Square - Parliament House - Joinery Package dated 72,/1/92 

Supreme Court: Packages undertaken by DaJway- Information supplied Finch 21!8m 
to JK dated 4/6/92 

Letter from Mr Bell, Chairman, DaJway dated 8/5/92 to Mr Hatton, James 2/9/92 
Minister for Industries & Development, re concern operatiom of DaJway 

Adam Gordon - Opening Statement Gordon 219192 

Comments on Liquidation Values dated fax date 21/8/92 Gordon 2/9192 

Written Submmion prepared by Mr Steve Margetic to Committee dated Marge tic 7/9192 
6/9/92 

Letter to Contracts Manager, Multiplex Constructiom Pty Ltd from 119192 
Mr Bell, DaJway re State Square Development - Tender for Joinery 

dated 17/9/90 

Document headed Darwin Joinery and Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd, Pastrik~ 7/9/92 

Darwin Joinery and Furniture Manufacturing Unit - Arrangements and 

Conditions - Given by Mr Perron, Chief Minister to J Pastrikos dated 

2/2/90 

Letter to Waters James & O'Neil from Mr Caldwell, Department of Pastrikos 119192 

Industries & Development (DID), dated 15/3/90 re Purchase of Darwin 

Joinery and Furniture Manufacturing Pty l.Jd (DJFM) 

Letter from Mr Bell, Chairman of the Dalway Board to Mr Pastrikos of Pastrikos 7/9/92 

1119191 re Your Employment 

Letter dated '30/9191 from Mr G James of Mildrcm to the Secretary, Parish 7/9/92 

DID re J N Pastrikos 

Advice from Mr W Day for Solicitor for the Northern Territory dated Parish 8/9/92 

14/1/92 to Secretary, DID re Application for interim injunction, Dalway (Gordon) 

Advice from Mr W Day for Solicitor for the Northern Territory dated Parish 8/9/92 

(Gordon) 
2712192 to Secretary, DID re Caveat 



I DESCRIPTION TENDERER DATE NO. I 
File Note - Re Darwin Joinery d.ated 18/9/89 from Watson, DID 8/9/92 See 

17 

Statement of Colin James d.ated 3/6/92 8/9192 

Memorandum dated 29/1/90 to Chief Minister from Minister for Parish 8/9/92 

Industries and Development re Darwin Joinery and Furniture (Pastrikos) 

Manufacture Pty Ltd. 

Organisational Chan of DaJway Pty Ltd Parish 8/9/92 
(Pastrikos) 

Contract Manager, Dalway, job description Parish 8/9/92 
(Pastrikm) 

Memorandum to the Trcamrcr from Minister for Industries & Parish 8/9/92 

Development re DaJway Pty Ltd dated 6/6/91 (Pastrikos) 

File Note by Mr Watson, Busin~ Analys'7 DID re Darwin Joinery and Bailey 819192 
Furniture Manufacturing dated 9/8/89 (Pastrikos) 

Letter to Principal, State Square Project from Mr J Linton, Tipperary Bailey 8/9/92 See 

Development Pty Ltd re Supreme Court - Joinery dated 10/8189 (Pastrikos) 1 

Memorandum to Minister from Secretary, DID re Sale of DaJway Pty 9/9192 

Ltd dated 29/5/92 

Letter from Mr Linton, Tipperary Developments Pty l.J.d to Principal, Parish 19/10,92 1 

State Square Project re Supreme Court Joinery dated 10/8/89 (Linton) 

Tabled 819/92 

Letter from Mr Galton, T & W, to Mr Linton, Tipperary Developments Parish 19/10/92 2 
re State Square - Supreme Court Joinery dated 14/8/89 (Linton) 

File Note by AR Watson, Busin~ Analyst re Darwin Joinery & Parish 19/10,92 3 
Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd d.ated 27 /9/89 (Linton) 

Letter from Mr Linton, Tipperary to Mr Watson, DID re State Square - Parish 19/10/92 4 
Darwin Joinery dated 4/10/89 (linton) 

Document titled State Square Development - Parliament House - Brears 19/10,92 5 
Tender for Joinery; P20 Sub Packages (a) to (t) - Addendum 1, 2, 3 

Letter to Multiplex from Mr Maddox, Project Manager, Tipperary re Brea.rs 19/10192 6 
State Square Development - Parliament House - P20 Joinery Package 
dated '30/4192 

Letter from Mr Cosgrove, Multiplex to Dalway re State Square Drears 19/10,92 7 
Development, Parliament House Joinery Works, Letter of Intent dated 
13/5/92: Unsigned See No. 10 (or signed letter 



I DESCRIPTION TENDER.ER DATE NO. I 
Memo to Minister for Industries & Development from Mr C.avanagb., Findlay 20/10/92 8 
Acting Secretary re DJFM dated 14n.J90 

Statement by Terry Cosgrove - Joinery dated 8/9/92 McGuin 20/10/92 9 

Signed letter from Mr Cosgrove, Multiplex to Dalway re Letter of McGuin 
Intent dated 13/5192 

20/10/92 10 

Letter from Mr James, Mildrcns to Waters James re Pastrikos v NT & Bailey 21/10192 11 
DaJway dated 19/5192 (Day) 

Affidavit - Ncctarios Pastrikos v NT & Dalway dated 18/12/91 Bailey 21/10192 12 
(Day) 

Letter to Graham Lucas from J Pastrikos dated 26/11/91 re request for Bailey 21/10192 13 
meeting (Lucas) 

Letter to Geoff Finch, Touche R~ from Mr Watson, DID re DJFM Parish 21110/92 14 
dated 25/9/89 (Watson) 

Touche Rem Report - DJFM - Investigation Report Parish 21/10/92 15 

(Watson) 

Touche Ross Report - DJFM: Undated apprOL Jan/Feb 1990 Parish 21/10/92 16 

(Watson) 

File Note from Mr Watson, DID re Darwin Joinery dated 18/9/89 Bailey 21/10/92 17 

(Watson) 

Memorandum from Mr Watson, DID to ~t Secretary re DJFM Bailey 21/10/92 18 

dated 25/9/89 (Watson) 

Memorandum from Mr Alder, Secretary, DID to Minister for lndumics Bailey 21/10/92 19 

& Development dated 24/1/90 re DJFM (Watson) 

Memorandum from Mr Alder, Secretary, DID to Minister for lndumics Bailey 21/10/92 20 

& Development re DJFM dated 29/1/90 (Watson) 

Letter from Mr Slade, ANZ Bank to Mr Watson, DID re DJFM dated Bailey 21/10192 21 

1/2/90 (Watson) 

Cabinet Decision 6338 - DJFM dated 30/VJO Parish 21/10192 22 

(Watson) 

&tract from 29/1/90 Memorandum - DJFM ref 1W 29003 Bailey 21/10192 23 

(Watson) 

Memorandum from Secretary, D.LD. to Minister for Indumics & Parish 21/10192 24 

(Watson) 
Development re DJFM undated -



I DESCRIPTION TENDERER DATE NO. I 
a) Memorandum from Secretary, DID to Minister for Industries & Bailey 21/10/92 25 

Development dated 9!2J90 re DJFM (Watson) 

b) Memorandum from Minister for Industries & Development to Chief 

Minister -re DJFM dated 9(}J90 

Memorandum from Mr M ~(Capel Court) to Mr N. Almond, DID Bailey 21/10/92 26 

dated re DJFM 15/12'89 (Watson) 

Memorandum from Mr M ~ (Capel Court) to Mr N. Almond, DID Bailey 21/10/92 27 

re DJFM dated 19/12189 (Watson) 

Memorandum to Chief Minister from Minister for Industries & Bailey 21/10/92 28 

Development re Jaguar Kitchens dated 29/5/92 (Watson) 

Notes - Financial Assistance to DJFM Bailey 22/10/92 29 

(Alder) 

Letter from Mr J Past:rikos, DJFM to Mr Perron, Chief Minister re Parish ll/10/92 30 

Report on current financial situation dated 20/1/90 (Alder) 

File Note by De~ Robertson and David Hunt re Dalway - Meeting Parish ll/10/92 31 

with Mr Past:rikos dated 29/1/91 (Caldwell) 

Memorandum to Minister for Industries & Development from Mr Parish ll/10/92 32 

Alder, Secretary re DJFM dated '22/2/90 (Caldwell) 

Memorandum to Minister for Industries & Development from Parish '12/10/92 33 

Mr D Robertson, Acting Secretary re Dalway dated 5/12/90 ( c.aldwcll) 

Lener from Mr P Caldwell to Mr J Bell re Dalloway Pty Ltd dated Bailey 22/10/92 34 

18/4/92 attaching letter from Mr Past:rikos re Kneal Factory) ( Caldviell) 

DID Summary of Terms of Territory's Loan Agreement with Dalloway Fradkin 27/10/92 35 

dated 20/3/90 

File Note from MR D Hun'7 DID re Dalway Ply Ltd dated 20/3/91 Bailey 27/10/92 36 

(Fradkin) 

Memorandum from the Board of Directors to Mr J Y cudall and Parish 27/10/92 37 

Mr J Pastrikos re ~ment dated sn/91 (Fradkin) 

Curriculum Vitae of Mr Jim Bell u at 27/10192 Bell 27/10/92 38 

Lener from Mr Bastion, Ernst & Young to Mr Bell, Dalway, re Stock Parish 27/10/92 39 

Report dated 25!3/92 

Letter to Mr Bell, Dalway, from Mr Danny Fuller, CSR re Deliveries to Bell 27/10/92 40 

Lot 1626 dated 12fl/92 



I DESCRIPTION TENDERER DATE NO. I 
/ 

Job Running for 2 Months or more - Extract Bell 27/10,.<)2 41 

Extract he.adcd 1. Security from Mr Bell's Board Meeting Minutes Bell 27/10/92 42 

Submission for 123rd Board Meeting of TIO held on 20/1/90 - DJFM Bailey 28/10/92 43 

(Dcvisbwy) 

Letter to Chairman, Territory Imurancc Office (TIO) from Mr J Bailey 28/10,.<)2 44 
Pastrikos enclOOllg Report on Current Fmancial Pcmtioo dated 20/lm (Dcvisbury) 

Fax to DID re Periods Mr c:avanagh acte.d as CEO, DID Cavanagb 29/lOm 45 

Letter to Secretary, DallO'Na)' Pty Ltd from Mr Cavanagh, A/Secretary, Cavanagh 29/lOm 46 
DID re Approval of Loan date.d 4/4f)O 

File Note re Dalway from Graham Lucas, Ministerial Adviser, Office of Parish 29/10,.<)2 47 

Minister for Industries & Development dated 3/6m (Lucas) 

Note to Fred from Lucas dated 25/5192 re Team of F.mployment of Parish 29/10192 48 
John Pastrikm (Lucas) 

Press Interview - B. Coulter, Darwin Joinery dated 13/6/90 Parish 29/10/92 49 

(Sprigg) 

File Note from Mr Watson re Dalway Pty Ud received DID Secretariat Parish 29/10/92 50 

24n/90 (Sprif,g) 

Statement by Sodoli on Police Investigation N<Yr TO BE COPIED OR Comm in_ 29/10/92 51 

RELEASED Palmer 

CSR Invoices - Proccsvd 28/1192 Comm in 29/10/92 52 

Palmer 

Cabinet Submmion - Dalway Pty Ud - Minister for Industries & Bailey 30/11/92 53 

Development - dated 6/9/91 (Hunt) 

Letter from Mr James to Waters James McCormack re N. Pastrikm v Parish 30/11/92 54 

NT of A and Dalway Pty Ltd dated 15/5/92 

Letter from Mr James, Mildrcm to Waters James re Pastrikm v NT & Parish 30/11/92 SS 

Dalway dated 19/5/92 

Memorandum to Minister for Industries & Development from Parish 30/10/92 56 

Mr C Fuller, Secretary, DID re DJFM dated 27/6/88 

Memorandum to Minister for Industries & Development from Parish 30/10/92 57 

Mr Fuller, Secretary re DJFM application for A~staoce dated 15/4188 

. 



I DESCRIPTION TENDERER DATE NO. l 
Memorandum to Secretary, DID from Amstant Secretary, Busin~ Parish 30/10/92 58 

Development, DID re Application for Financial Assistance date.d 

15/4/88 

Unsigned lener from Touche R~ to Mr V Hawke, TIO re Darwin Parish 4/11~2 59 

Joinery. Commercial Joinery Market date.d 30/6/88 (Temple) 

Lener from Mr P Temple, TIO to Mr J Pastrikos re Marketing Swvey Parish 4/11~2 60 

dated 16/5/88 (Temple) 

Handwritten notes of TIO Meeting 3/3/88 - J Pastrik~ P.T., V Jl Bailey 4/11192 61 

(Temple) 

Report on Darwin Joinery Pty Ltd from Mr P Ple.dge, Ernst & Whinney Parish 4/11192 62 

to Mr V Hawke, TIO dated 12!3/88 (Temple) 

Minutes of TIO Meeting of 26/4/88 with Ernst & Whinney & Darwin Parish 4/11192 63 

Joinery (Temple) 

McGregor Marketing Report on Darwin Joinery Research prepared for Parish 4/11/92 64 

Ernst & Whinney on behalf of TIO dated 9/5/88 (Temple) 

Darwin Joinery - Market Swvey Study for Tl.Dlber based Furniture by Parish 4/11192 65 

Touche R~ datcd June 1988 (Temple) 

Minutes of TIO 106th Board Meeting dated 30/6 - 1/7/88 Parish 4/11/92 66 

(Temple) 

Note to BARRY from Mr Perron dated 15/6 Parish 4/11192 67 

(Temple) 

Minutes of TIO 107th Board Meeting dated '12t-29n /88 Parish 4/11192 68 

(Temple) 

Memorandum to Manager, Financial ScrviCC'S, TIO from Property Parish 4/11/92 69 

Manager re Building Contract for New DJ.'s Factory dated 8/11/88 (Temple) 

Letter from Mr I Summers., Pannell Kerr Forster to Mr Temple, TIO Parish 4/1VJ2 70 

dated 13n /88 re DJ. Furniture Manufacturing Pty limitc.d (Temple) 

File Note from Mr Watson, DID re Dalloway Pty Lid dated 11/5/88 Bailey 5/11/92 71 

(Edwanb) 

Fax from Mr D Edwards re Revised Budget - Part of Board Papers of Edwards 5/11192 71 
' 

23/4/90 A 

Minutes of TIO 106th Board Meeting held 30/6 - 1/7/88 Temple 5/11192 72 



I DESCRIPTION TENDERER DATE NO. I 
Certificate of Occupancy for Lot 3283 Coonawarra Road, Winnellie Temple 
dated 2/5/89 

5/11J92 73 

Letter to Mr Pastrikos, Darwin Joinery from Mr V Hawke., TIO re Parish 5/11~2 74 
TIO - NT Government House Fitout Works dated 10/1/89 (Temple) 

Memorandum to K. Cooke, TIO from VVGH re Darwin Joinery dated Parish 5/11J92 75 
5/6187 (Temple) 

Memorandum to Mr V Hawke., General Manager, TIO from K Cooke Parish 5/11~2 76 
re DJFM dated 3/4189 (Temple) 

Darwin Land Services Report & Valuation of DJFM dated 23/5/89 Temple 5/11~2 fl 

SubIJlis.goo for TIO 12Dth Board Meeting re DJFM dated 22r-29~/89 Parish 5/11J92 78 
(See also 98) (Temple) 

Memorandum to Mr Temple, TIO from Mr J Nayler, General Manager Parish 5/11J92 79 
re DJFM dated 23/1/90 {Temple) 

TIO Minute paper of 123/38 re DJFM Parish 5/l]J92 80 

(Temple) 

Fax to Mr J Nayler, TIO from Mr Watson, DID re Proposed Rescue Parish 5/11~2 81 

Package dated 8n.J90 (Temple) 

Letter to DID from Mr J Nayler, TIO re DJFM dated 14!1J90 Paris.h 5/11192 82 

(Temple) 

TIO Minute Paper of Meeting 124/44 Parish 5/11J92 83 

(Temple) 

Minutes of no 124th Board Meeting re DJFM held OD ll-13!1J90 Parish 5/11/92 84 

(Temple) 

Letter to Mr Alder, Seactary, DID from Mr Temple, 110 re DJFM Parish 5/1VJ2 85 

date.d 23n.J90 (Temple) 

Submission for TIO 125th Board Meeting held on 29-'31Jf3/90 re DJFM - Parish 5/11192 86 

Developments following the February Meeting of the TIO Board (Temple) 

Submission for TIO 141st Board Meeting held on 28-29/8/90 re Dalway Parish 5/11/92 87 

Pty Lld - TIO Future Strategies (Temple) 

Letter from Mr Bell, Dalway to Mr L Mactintmh, DID re Dalway: Bailey 9/11/92 88 

Information Memorandum dated 21.flJ92 
(Mackintosh) 

Memorandum to Seactacy, DID from Mr D Hunt, Busin~ Analyst re Bailey 9/11/92 89 

Dalway dated 10/1/92 
(Mackintosh) 



I DESCRIPTION TENDERER. DATE NO. I 
Fax from Mr James, Mildrens to Mr A Gordon dated 14/5/92 re Bailey 9/11/92 90 

approach from Mr P~ (Mackin~) 

-
Memorandum to Minister for Industries & Development from Mr Parish 9/11/92 91 

Robertson, Acting Secretary re Dalway Pty Ud dated 15/9/91 (Caldwell) 

Memorandum to Minister for lndumics & Development from Mr Parish 9/11~2 92 

Alder, Secretary re Dalway dated 11.18/91 (Caldwell) 

Memorandum to Steve (Mr Hatton) from G . (Mr Lucas) re Dalway Pty Parish 9/11/92 93 

Ltd dated 23/4/91 (Caldwell) 

Letter to Mr Maddox, Tipperary Developments from Mr Cmgrovc, Maddox 10/11~2 94 

Multiplex re State Square Development - Parliament House Joinery P20 
dated 29/8/91 

Letter to Mr McGuinn, T & W from Mr Maddox, Tipperary re State Parish 10/11192 95 

Square - Parliament House - P20 Joinery Pack.age Tender Report dated (Maddox) 

21Jl/CJ2 

Lener to Mr Maddox, Tipperary from Mr Brcars, Multiplex re State Parish 10/11192 96 

Square - Parliament House Award of P20 Joinery Pack.age dated 1812192 (Maddox) 

Letter to Manager, Multiplex from Mr Maddox, Tipperary re State Parish 10/11192 97 

Square - Parliament House - P20 Joinery Package dated 1912192 (Maddox) 

Minutes of TIO 120th Meeting held on '11!;-29~/89 - DJFM (See 78) Bailey 11/11192 98 

(Finch) 

Lener to Mr P Temple, TIO from Mr Alder, Secretary, DID re DJFM Parish 11/11192 99 

dated 'l2/'l/90 (Watson) 

File Note from Mr Watson re DJFM dated 5/'lMJ Bailey 11/11192 100 
(Watson) 

Submismon for TIO 121st Meeting held on 26-27/10/90 - DJFM Bailey 11/11192 101 
(Finch) 

Minutes of DJFM Steering C.Ommittec Meeting - 5/10/89 Bailey 11/11192 102 
(Finch) 

Memorandum to Noel Crehan, T & W re State Square - Supreme Parish 11/11192 103 
C.Ourt - Furniture & Fitout dated 14/12'89 (Finch) 

Media Release from Transports and Works Minister Fred Finch dated Parish 11111192 104 
15/3m re Darwin Joinery (Finch) 



I DE:SCRIPTION TENDER.ER DATE NO. I 
T & W Ministerial Briefing - State Square - FF & E plus Joinery dated Bailey 1111VJ2 105 -14!3!90 

(Finch) 

Sunday T urilorian News item "Dalway Reaps Benefits" dated 30/6/91 Bailey 11111/92 106 
(Finch) 

Internal Minute to Richard Galton re State Square - Supreme Court - Parish 11111192 107 
FF & E dated 15fl.l90 (Finch) 

Letter to Mr Linton, Tipperary from Mr Galton, T & W re State Parish 11/11/92 108 
Square - Supreme Court - FF & E dated 15fl.l90 (Finch) 

Letter to Dalway from Mr Brears, Project Manager re State Square Parish 11111192 109 
Development - Supreme Court Sub-Let Works Contract SOD.037 dated (Finch) 
24n/90 

Memorandum to Mr Brcars, Multiplex from Bob Britton, Ralph & Parish 11/11192 110 
Beattie, Bosworth Pty Ltd re Supreme Court dated 1018/90 (Finch) 

Letter to Tipperary from Mr Gallon, T & W re State Square - Supreme Parish 11/11192 111 
Court - Loose Furniture dated 812191 (Finch) 

Letter to Tipperary from Mr Gallon, T & W re State Square - Supreme Parish 11/11192 112 
Court - Loose Furniture dated 25/1191 (Finch) 

Letter from Mr Linton, Tipperary to Mr Galton, T & W re Supreme Parish 11/11192 113 
Court - FF & E dated 24/1/90 (Finch) 

Letter from Mr Norris, T & W to Tipperary re State Square - Supreme Parish 11/1VJ2 114 

Court - FF & E dated 3/1/90 (Finch) 

Internal Minute re Supreme Coun - Tiling and FF&.E - Meeting of Parish 11/11192 115 

29/12/89 (Finch) 

Letter to Tipperary from Mr Galton, T & W re State Square - FF & E Parish 11/11192 116 

dated 20/12/89 (Fmch) 

Minute from Mr Crehan, T & W to Director, Projects Branch re State Parish 11/11192 117 

Square - Supreme Court - FF&. E dated 19/12/89 (Finch) 

T & W Ministerial Briefing from Mr Norm re Stale Square - Supreme Parish 11/11192 118 

Court - FF&E dated 15/12189 (Finch) 

Fax from Tipperary to Mr Crehan, T & W re Supreme Court - FF & E Parish 11/11192 119 

dated 15/12189 (Finch) 

utter to Mr Crehan, T & W from Mr Linton, Tipperary re Supreme Parish 11/11192 120 

Court - FF & E dated 14/12'89 (Finch) 



[ DF.SCRIPTION TENDERER DATE NO. I 
DID Statement headed "Dalway Pty LUI - cam Ac:Rt' dated 13/9/91 Bailey lUll/92 121 

- (Ortmann) 

Memorandum to Minister for Industries & Development from Mr Bailey 12/11192 122 

Alder, Secretary re Loan Agreement with Dalloway date.d 19!3/90 (Hatton) 

Statement to PAC by Chief Minister, Mars.ball Perron handed down Perron 12'11192 123 

12'11/92 

File Note - Meeting between Mr Chard, DID and Mr Hawb; no on Parish 12'11192 124 

23/5188 re Darwin Joinery (Perron) 

Summary of Pr~iDF)i between Darwin Joinery & no to enter into Bailey 12/11192 125 

financial arrangements for the establishment of a new Furniture (Perron) 
Manufacturing Indusay from John Pastrikos, Darwin Joinery to Chief 
Minister, Mars.ball Perron undated 

File Note to Mars.ball Perron, Chief Minister re no visit to Darwin Parish 12/11192 126 

Joinery dated 5/1/89 (Perron) 

File Note re Meeting with no, Woods Bagot & no re Darwin Joinery Poole 12J11Jl)2 127 

dated 9/1/89 (Perron) 

Touche Ross Report extract - Attitudes to Darwin Joinery Poole 12Jlll'J2 128 
(Perron) 

Extract TIO Minutes re DJFM - Developments following the February Parish 12'11192 129 
Board Meeting (Perron) 

PACH~ - Opening Statement by TttJISW'Cr, Bany Coulter handed Coulter 13/11192 130 
down 13/11192 

Extract of no Meeting re Darwin Joinery - IDVCStment Propmal Parish 13/11192 131 
104/112 (Coulter) 

Letter to DID from Touche Ross - Invoice re DJFM - Preparation of Coulter 13/11192 132 
~tigation Report dated '}2,/9/89 

Letter to Secretary, DID from Touche Ross - l.ovoicc re Dalloway Pty Coulter 13/11192 133 
Limited - Attending to all matters of providing financial advisory 
services dated 30/3/90 

Darwin Joinery & Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd - Attachment B - Coulter 13/11J92 134 
Touche Ross Report 

Letter to Mr D Edwarm, Dalloway from Mr Watson, DID re Parish 13/11192 135 
Application for Finance dated 6/4/90 (Coulter) 



AVO 

CAD/CAM 

CD 

CIM 

Dalloway 

Dalway 

Danksa 

DID 

DJFM 

FF&E 

Jaguar Joinery 

NIES 

Mr Pastrikos 

PCG 

T&W 

TIO 

ABBREVIATIONS 

Australian Valuation Office 

C:Omputer Aided Design/C:Omputer Aided Manufacturing 

Cabinet Decision 

C:Omputer Integrated Manufacturing 

Dalloway Pty Ltd 

Dalway Pty Ltd 

Danksa Cabinet Making 

Department of Industries & Development 

Darwin Joinery & Furniture Manufacturing Pty Ltd 

furniture, fittings and equipment 

Jaguar Joinery Pty Ltd 

National Industries Extension Scheme 

Mr John Pamikos 

Project C:Ontrol Group for the State Square Project 

Department of Transport & Works 

Territory Insurance Office 
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